
*Please note: Times are approximate.  
**The Town shall provide reasonable accommodation for those with disabilities on a case by case basis. Please send 
accommodation requests to clerk@gmfco.us by 4pm on the date of the meeting. 

Town of Green Mountain Falls 
Board of Trustees Meeting Agenda 
P.O. Box 524; 10615 Green Mountain Falls Road 
Green Mountain Falls, CO 80819 
Tuesday, August 17, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 

Zoom Meeting Link and Login Info 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84547201025?pwd=SU5mRG1GNGFYQklVK3hYZ1pqV2Jrdz09 

Zoom meeting ID= 845 4720 1025 Meeting password= 704681 For Dial-in only: 1-346-248-7799 

To make a public comment please pre-register by 4pm on the day of the meeting via email: clerk@gmfco.us 
 

REGULAR MEETING: 

TIME*  ITEM 
DESIRED 

OUTCOME 
7:00 1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
7:00 2. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, OR CORRECTION TO THE AGENDA  
7:00 3. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Accounts Payable from July 30th, 2021, to August 16th, 2021 
b. BOT Meeting Minutes from August 3rd, 2021 

BOT Action 
Desired 

7:05 4. Presentation by Brajan Pirnia – GMF Fireworks Collage Information 
Only 

7:20 5. PRT Fitness Court Recommendation Continued from 8/3/2021 BOT Action 
Desired 

7:40 7. PPRTA Ballot Questions for November 2022 BOT Action 
Desired 

8:00 8. November 2021 GMF Election Ballot Questions BOT Action 
Desired 

8:20 9. Municipal Code Rewrite BOT Action 
Desired 

9:20 10. REPORTS 
a. Trustee Reports 
b. Committee Reports 
c. Staff Reports 

Information 
Only 

9:25 11. CORRESPONDENCE Information 
Only 

9:30 12. PERSONS PRESENT NOT ON THE AGENDA: 3 MINUTES PER SPEAKER  
9:40 13. Executive Session: §24-6-402(4)(e), C.R.S., Determining positions relative to 

matters that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, 
and instructing negotiators regarding the Catamount Trail Closure. 

BOT Action 
Desired 

10:00 14. ADJOURN  
 

mailto:clerk@gmfco.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84547201025?pwd=SU5mRG1GNGFYQklVK3hYZ1pqV2Jrdz09
mailto:clerk@gmfco.us


Town of Green Mountain Falls
Vendor Invoices Journal

from July 30, 2021 to August 16, 2021

Date Reference Entity Number Name Acct Number Acct Name Amount
1-00-00-2000 General-Accounts Payable        
07/30/2021 92401 coloradosta0000 Colorado State Froest Service 2-10-00-5702 Capital Improvement-Administration-Capital - Fire Mitigation 222
07/31/2021 025 wilsonwllli0000 Wilson Williams LLP 2-10-00-4040 Capital Improvement-Administration-Grants - State - DOLA 3 (Planning Code Rewrite) 2730.1
07/31/2021 07312021 brianbundy0000 Brian Bundy 1-10-02-5113 General-Administration-Operations-Services - Professional 600
07/31/2021 55 Hoffman Hoffman, Parker, Wilson & Carberry 1-20-02-5114 General-Interdepartmental-Operations-Services - Town Attorney 1828.64
07/31/2021 6 Hoffman Hoffman, Parker, Wilson & Carberry 1-20-02-5114 General-Interdepartmental-Operations-Services - Town Attorney 2125.5
08/06/2021 211445 CIRSA Cirsa 1-20-02-5107 General-Interdepartmental-Operations-Insurance - Property/Casualty Liability Premiums 537.79
08/09/2021 672A2AF2-0024 springsit Springs IT 1-20-02-5110 General-Interdepartmental-Operations-Services - IT 136
08/12/2021 18096 springsit Springs IT 1-20-02-5110 General-Interdepartmental-Operations-Services - IT 125
08/13/2021 08132021 brianbundy0000 Brian Bundy 1-10-02-5113 General-Administration-Operations-Services - Professional 600
Total For 1-00-00-2000 General-Accounts Payable      8905.03

Jane Newberry, Mayor

Angie Sprang, Town Manager



 TOWN OF GREEN MOUNTAIN FALLS 
Regular Board of Trustee Meeting 

August 3, 2021 – 7:00 P.M. 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
Board Members Present 
Mayor Jane Newberry 
Trustee Margaret Peterson 
Trustee Katharine Guthrie 
Trustee Sunde King 
 
Town Manager 
Angie Sprang 
 
Town Clerk 
Matt Gordon 
 
Administrative Assistant 
Not present 

Board Members Absent 
Trustee Chris Quinn 
 
Town Attorney 
Not present 
 
Public Works 
Not present 
 
Marshal’s Dept. 
Virgil Hodges 
 
Planning Director 
 

 
 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call/Pledge of Allegiance 
Mayor Newberry called the meeting to order at 7:02pm. Pledge recited 
 
2. Board of Trustees Oath of Office: Sunde King 
Mayor Newberry completed the oath of office with new Trustee Sunde King. 
 
3. Additions, Deletions, or Correction to the Agenda 
Mayor Newberry moved to approve the agenda as presented. Seconded by Trustee guthrie. Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
4. Consent Agenda 
Trustee Peterson asked questions about the accounts payable as well as 7/20 minutes, trustee Peterson 
moved for the executive session. Town Clerk Gordon stated that he would correct the minutes. 
 
Mayor Newberry moved to approve the consent agenda with corrections. Seconded by Trustee Guthrie. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
5. Public Hearing: Mucky Duck Liquor License Application 
Mayor Newberry moved to open public hearing at 7:08pm.  
 
Members of the public shared comments regarding the liquor license application for the Mucky Duck. 
 
Town Clerk Gordon shared evidence and findings. 
 
Applicant Dakota Griffith expressed desire to have a liquor license. 
 
Trustee Peterson moved to approve liquor license application. Seconded by Trustee Guthrie. Motion 
passed unanimously 
 



  
 

Regular meeting resumed 7:13pm 
 
6. Proclamation Recognizing Creek Week 2021 
Mayor Newberry read the creek week proclamation in full. 
 
Trustee Peterson requested to have the PRT Committee organize activities and volunteers for creek 
week. 
 
Trustee Peterson moved to recognize creek week. Seconded by Trustee Guthrie. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
7. FMAC Notification and Evacuation Plan Recommendation 
FMAC Chair Douglas provided details regarding the FMAC’s recommendation for adopting a notification 
and evacuation plan. 
 
Chair Douglas clarified that the notification system would not be considered for recommendation this 
evening but is for the BOT’s information and that the notification system discussion would come around 
again during the creation of the Town’s budget. Chair Douglas thanked Nate Scott and Rich Bowman for 
putting the evacuation plan together. 
 
Trustee Guthrie expressed confusion on the placement of safe zones and requesting adding the location 
at the lake into the instructions 
 
Trustee King asked for a re-review of the directions given in the evac plan, focusing particularly on e El 
Paso Ave which was incorrectly listed as S El Paso Ave 
 
Trustee Guthrie moved to approve the evac plan with corrections, Seconded by Trustee Peterson. 
Motion passed three yay one nay. Mayor Newberry requested to have the plan resubmitted to the BOT 
at a future date. 
 
Mayor Newberry asked Chair Douglas about if the notification sirens had been presented to the Fire 
Department. Chair Douglas confirmed that the committee had not. Mayor Newberry requested to have 
the committee reach out to the Fire Department. Chair Douglas agreed that the FMAC would reach out 
to the Fire Department. 
 
Mayor Newberry moved to table the notification plan. Seconded by Trustee Guthrie. Motion passed 
unanimously.  
 
8. PRT Committee Fitness Court Recommendation 
Chair Stroope presented on the fitness court recommendation. Recommendation opened with a video 
about the fitness court. Chair Stroope moved on to discussing the various conditions required for the 
fitness court to be financially backed up by Historic Green Mountain Falls Foundation, HGMFF. 
 
Mayor Newberry asked about the life of the fitness court. Chair Stroope clarified that it would last up to 
20 years and the art is licensed for 5 years and that HGMFF would cover the costs. 
 
Trustee Peterson asked about other work at the park and expressed the necessity to work on the park 
and pool and asked what is stopping HGMFF from doing those projects rather than the fitness court.  
 



  
 

PRT Chair Stroope expressed that someone should work on the projects shared by Peterson by applying 
for grants.  
 
Trustee Guthrie responded to Trustee Peterson’s question and expressed that the fitness court would 
positively impact the access for all goals outlined by the Town and expressed in the CDBG grant 
application submitted by the town. Trustee Guthrie asked a clarifying question regarding the placement 
of the fitness court. Chair Stroope provided clarifying comments regarding his recommended placement. 
 
Mayor Newberry asked about access to Wi-Fi and costs, Town Manager Sprang provided clarification 
that American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds can be a potential funding sources as well as other grant 
opportunities through Great Outdoors Colorado (GOCO) and other sources. Town Manager Sprang 
asked about scheduled maintenance, Chair Stroope clarified that the materials and equipment would be 
good for 20 years. 
 
Mayor Newberry requested additional info regarding Wi-Fi costs, maintenance costs and plans, and 
grant opportunities. 
 
Trustee Peterson expressed concerns regarding the overall aesthetics of the fitness court, Chair Stroope 
clarified that only 10 are built a year and that Keith Harring selects the artworks that are available. 
Trustee Peterson clarified that she was talking about the equipment. Chair Stroope clarified that the 
equipment is standardized. 
 
Trustee King shared that there is the Sally Bush septic system and asked a question regarding the 
artwork placed on the fitness court and asked if the BOT has any say on what art is placed on the fitness 
court. Mayor Newberry clarified that the BOT would have say over the art and approval. 
 
Trustee Guthrie asked about time limits related to getting the court. Chair Stroope clarified that the 
Kirkpatrick foundation would have to get this into their next grant cycle and that the BOT would need to 
act quickly. 
 
Chair Stroope clarified that once a commitment is official with the Kirkpatrick foundation, the court 
could be shipped and stored. Chair Stroope clarified that the grants at the Kirkpatrick foundation would 
be reviewed at the end of the month. 
 
Mayor Newberry moved to continue until August 17th. Trustee Guthrie requested that Town Manager 
Sprang talk with econ dev folks at El Paso County about the fitness court. Seconded by Trustee guthrie. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
9. Reports 
Trustee Guthrie reported on a suggestion by Planning Commission Chair Todd Dixon regarding a 
dashboard on the town website for the planning commission. Chair Dixon provided further clarification. 
 
Trustee Peterson thanked everyone for their support of Bronc Day. 
 
Mayor Newberry echoed Trustee Peterson’s statement about bronc day, and shared that she received 
positive comments regarding the look of the parks, a call she fielded from the county commissioner 
regarding road work. 
 



  
 

Chair Douglas provided a quick update regarding FMAC activities, including various grant requests and 
assessments completed, planned private outreach activities for the Iona/Scott project, plans for 
education, and a map of private fuels mitigation work. 
 
Trustee Guthrie asked for clarification on town code about a clause referencing the ability of certain 
committees to raise funds. 
 
Trustee Peterson expressed the desire to host a session for the public to learn about private fuels 
mitigation funding sources from CUSP. 
 
Mayor Newberry suggested that Chair Douglas work with Trustee King about setting up a meeting 
regarding private fuels mitigation. 
 
Trustee Guthrie shared concerns she received from residents regarding working with CUSP and receiving 
funding help for private fuels mitigation. 
 
Town Clerk Gordon reported on BOT meetings and plans for the code rewrite, BOT meetings twice per 
month, 1st meeting for action items second meeting for code rewrite unless emergency or urgent items 
arise. Town Clerk Gordon also reported on his reassessment of correspondence policies inspired by 
working on a communications plan with Chair Todd Dixon and conversations with other Town Clerk 
colleagues. 
 
Town Manager Sprang provided a report regarding a miscommunication at the last BOT meeting on the 
cusp grant, and work on the roads going forward. 
 
Town Marshal Hodges opened with kudos to Kyle regarding the roads and shared positive comments 
regarding Heath, an Interstate Parking employee working in GMF. 
 
10. Correspondence 

 
11. Persons Present Not on the Agenda: 3 Minutes per Speaker 
Resident Esch shared public comment. 

 
12. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 8:45 pm. 
 
 
__________________________   ____________________________ 
Matt Gordon, Town Clerk/Treasurer  Jane Newberry, Town Mayor 



 
 

1 
 

 
 
Corey Y. Hoffmann 
Kendra L. Carberry 
Jefferson H. Parker 
M. Patrick Wilson 
 
Of Counsel  
J. Matthew Mire  
Hilary M. Graham 
Kathryn M. Sellars 

 
Denver Office 

511 16th Street, Suite 610 
Denver, CO 80202-4260 

(303) 825-6444 
 

Vail Office 
P.O. Box 2616 

Vail, CO  81658 
(970) 390-4941 

 
Daniel P. Harvey 

Ruthanne H. Goff 
Evin B. King 

Katharine J. Vera 
Elizabeth G. LeBuhn

TOWN OF GREEN MOUNTAIN FALLS 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM: JEFFERSON H. PARKER, TOWN ATTORNEY  
 KATHARINE J. VERA, ESQ. 
 
DATE: AUGUST 13, 2021 
 
RE: UPDATED REVISIONS TO GREEN MOUNTAIN FALLS MUNICIPAL 

CODE 
 

This memorandum provides an overview of the portions of the Town's Code that have been 
revised, deleted, or amended as part of a project to redraft the Town's Code.  Over the course of 
the past few months, the Town's attorneys have worked to update the Code in an effort to remain 
consistent with state law and to ensure the Code accurately reflects the Town's current practices 
and procedures.  A majority of the updates to the Code were made in order to remove superfluous 
language and to remove sections that contained bulky procedural information that does not need 
to be contained in the Code and can be instead maintained internally by the Town (e.g., lengthy 
procedural and technical specifications on construction procedures).   

The Town's attorneys worked with and received comments from the Town Manager, Town 
Clerk, and Town Marshal in making changes to the Code.  Attached to this memorandum are 
Microsoft Word compare documents for the existing Code and proposed changes, identifying the 
changed material in each chapter.  Below is an explanation of the major changes to each chapter, 
where elaboration was warranted.  Minor changes were not addressed.   

Changes to Chapter 1 

Article I:  Most changes to this Article were to remove superfluous language.  



August 13, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

2 
 

Article IV:  The Town opted to increase its maximum fine from $1,000.00 to $2,650.00 pursuant 
to C.R.S. § 13-10-113.  The Town also imposed imprisonment for up to one year under this same 
provision. 

The Town is considering a "hybrid option" of authorizing the maximum $2,650.00 penalty 
generally but providing for a reduced ($500.00) fine cap and no potential jail time for certain low-
level offenses such as traffic infractions, noise disturbances, littering, and animal related offenses 
which don’t have state counterparts that would otherwise require a jury.  This retains the Town's 
ability to collect higher fines on certain offenses (i.e., theft, harassment) while still reducing costs 
associated with jury trials, though not removing jury trials altogether as a possibility.  With this 
option the Town essentially decriminalizes only part of its Code.  While more work initially to 
determine which provisions may be decriminalized, this option does provide the Town with the 
ability to properly punish the more serious offenses without having to remove those offenses from 
its Code and thereby requiring the offenses to be written into county court rather than the Municipal 
Court.  The Town has not yet identified which offenses to classify as "low-level," and may need 
to work with the Trustees in identifying which offenses to "decriminalize."  

Relatedly, the definition of "misdemeanor" in Sec. 1-21 has been removed as this is a legal 
term that should not be interpreted differently by the Code, but should rather follow the 
interpretation of state statute.  Future references to the term "misdemeanor" will be removed unless 
the context is fitting.  Only the generic term "violation" should be used for a violation of the Code.  

Changes to Chapter 2 

Old Section 2-21; New Section 2-11:  Composition; eligibility and term of office; power 
Article XVIII, Sec. 11 of the Colorado Constitution was amended in 1994 to provide term limits 
for elected public officials in the state, including those for statutory towns.  Therefore, this Section 
needed to be amended to comply with the Constitution and the Mayor is limited to three terms of 
two years in office rather than four.  Amended to reflect the Town's decision in the 2018 election 
to move from 7 trustees to 5 trustees.  

Old Sections 2-30 and 2-31: Agenda, Board packets, and confidential materials; Order of 
business. These Sections are important guidance for handling Town business at public meetings, 
but do not necessarily need to be in the Code.  These were removed and will be adopted into a 
policy, rather than being contained in the code.   

Old Section 2-33; New Section 2-23:  Adoption of Ordinances.  This Section has been amended 
to remove the hearing process for ordinance adoption.  Adoption of ordinances is typically a 
legislative act by the Board, and a hearing is therefore not required.  Public comment can and 
should still be allowed at every public meeting where an ordinance is proposed for adoption, but 
allowing a full public hearing, requiring a workshop be held prior to consideration at a meeting, 
and requiring reading in full of the ordinance only serves to place additional unnecessary process 
on the Town.  The Town could keep these provisions if it verifies this process is followed for every 



August 13, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

3 
 

ordinance and still wishes to follow this process, but it is not recommended.  

Article III:  This Article regarding hearings has also been modified to remove unnecessary 
procedures that it is unlikely the Town follows.  They have also been simplified.  Former Section 
2-56 (now Sec. 2-46) did not comply with the Open Meetings Law.  

Old Section 2-83; New Section 2-63:  Town manager and town clerk, oath and bond.  The 
Town may set this requirement for a bond by Town officers if it so desires.  We could alternatively 
set this amount in the fee resolution rather than in the Code.  

Old Section 2-87; New Section 2-66: Removal from office.  Officers are handled differently 
under state law than employees are.  This section now follows the process of C.R.S. § 31-4-307.  

Article V:  This Article was previously reserved, and we have moved up the Code of Ethics to fill 
this space with minor revisions.  

Article VI:  Most deletions from this Article are already part of the Municipal Court Rules of 
Procedure, are inherent powers of a judge, or should be provided for administratively, and thus 
unnecessary for the Code.  Most notably we have added provisions for contempt of court and for 
seeking collections on unpaid fees and costs, as well as restitution for victims.  Under C.R.S. § 5-
16-111.5 of the Colorado Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, a collection agency collecting on any 
debt arising from past-due fines or fees due to any political subdivision within the state can only 
charge 18% in additional fees and costs and this limitation has been incorporated into the Code.  
This Article will need to be revisited once we discuss decriminalization and penalties to ensure 
compliance before final adoption. 

Article VII:  This Article pertaining to the Town Marshal has not been altered very much, but 
some outdated and concerning provisions were taken out (special marshals, duty to aid).  If there 
is no Town jail and if we decriminalize the Code this provision will need further revision.  The 
bond amount may also be changed or moved to determination by resolution if the Town desires.  

Article VIII:  Parking code enforcement officers have now been added to the Code.  

Article IX:  This Article may be the biggest change in the Code so far and has been rewritten to 
have the Town comply with state emergency management statutes known as the Colorado Disaster 
Emergency Act, C.R.S. § 24-7-33.5, et seq.  Under these changes, the Town Manager, and not the 
Mayor, holds most authority as the designated emergency manager with emergency manager 
powers as set forth in the statutes.  However, the mayor is the backup authority should the Town 
Manager be unavailable, and it is still the Mayor who must first declare a disaster emergency. 

Changes to Chapter 3 

As a preliminary matter, this Chapter has been renumbered from Chapter 4. There is no Chapter 3 
in the current Code.  



August 13, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 

4 
 

Article I: Removed the provision related to publication of financial statements because the Town 
voted in 2018 to no longer publish proceedings related to payment of bills, contracts, and rebates.   

Article III:  Removed the licensing section under the sales tax provision, because the Department 
of Revenue handles this and there are still business licenses required under Chapter 4.  

 Revenues from the 2% use tax should go to the general fund unless the Town is aware of 
any limitations placed on the use of these tax revenues when the tax was established.  The 1% 
additional use tax is restricted by its establishing documents, as correctly reflected in the Code. 

Article VI: This has been moved to Chapter 3 Revenue and Finance from Chapter 4 Franchises, 
as it better fits in the Chapter regarding revenues and taxes for the Town.  The tax is still valid and 
the calculation has not changed. The penalty has been updated to reflect the new general maximum 
penalty.  

Article VII: This has been moved to Chapter 3 Revenue and Finance from Chapter 4 Franchises, 
as it better fits in the Chapter regarding revenues and taxes for the Town. Emergency telephone 
service charges were recently addressed by HB-20-1293 and this Article needed minor changes to 
account for this updated statutory scheme.  Legislation makes it clear this is not a tax, but a fee to 
defray costs of program, which means it will be easier for the Town to adjust the rates as needed 
to defray these costs.  However, the fee cannot exceed the annual threshold amount established by 
the public utilities commission of the state of Colorado.  This current rate is $.50 per month.  This 
is the also the current rate in the Code. The Town could remove the 2% alternative in the Code, 
however, as it reads currently, the Code still complies with the PUC rate as it is the lesser between 
these two options which will ultimately be charged.  

Changes to Chapter 5 

New Section 5-14: The Section is new, as we want to limit the general penalty of $2,650.00 to the 
lesser $499.00 in these circumstances to avoid jury trials.  

Article II: This Article has been converted into a business licensing fee, rather than a business 
occupation tax.  The former tax likely violated TABOR in the manner in which the rate is set by 
resolution by the Board of Trustees, rather than approved by the voters at an election.  Without 
further information from the Town as to how and when this tax was established and how the tax 
has been historically collected and the rates at which this tax has been imposed, the tax is very 
likely unconstitutional. The Article was originally titled "business licenses" and the Town does 
currently collect a fee to issues business licenses.  Therefore, we think the intent of this section 
was to establish authority to issue business licenses and collect a fee for this issuance.  We have 
therefore made changes to this Article to implement the same.  The more general licensing 
requirements which apply to all licenses issued by the Town are addressed in Article I.  If the 
Town would like to us explore further whether the business occupation tax is valid, we can do so 
if more information is provided.  



August 13, 2021 
Page 5 
 
 

5 
 

Article III: This Article has been updated to the new statutory references in Title 44.  We also 
needed to establish who the liquor licensing authority is, and have set this entity as the Board of 
Trustees.  If this is incorrect and the Town uses another body as the Liquor Licensing Authority, 
this provision can be changed.  

Article VI: This Article combines medical and retail marijuana prohibition into one article for 
"regulated marijuana" which follows the new statutory scheme under Title 44.  All regulated 
marijuana sales remain prohibited in the Town.  The penalty is criminal in nature.  

Changes to Chapter 8 

For ease of use, this Chapter has not been renumbered.  We will likely move another Chapter 
forward to fill the gap at a later time, or may reserve a chapter.   

Article I: We have adopted the newest model traffic Code for the Town.  This 2020 version has 
had good reviews from users so far and will provide the Town with the most up-to-date traffic 
regulations including new provisions mechanized equipment like e-bikes and e-scooters. Most 
major provisions of the previous edition of the model traffic code, which account for the most 
citations (speeding, careless and reckless driving, etc), remain unchanged. There was a disconnect 
between Sections 8-2 and 8-4 regarding what the general speed limit in the Town is to be. We have 
corrected this to 20 mph. The Town may decide to increase or reduce this but it need to be 
consistent in both Sections.  

Old Section 8-9; New Section 8-5: Civil and criminal violations; right to jury trial, and 
penalties.  This Section has been changed to comply with state law regarding right to jury in 
criminal traffic matters.  Any person charged with a misdemeanor under counterpart state law or 
the Model Traffic Code will be entitled to a jury. For this reason, it is best not to reference the 
specific provisions that are criminal, as this might change over time. The Model Traffic Code does 
a good job of listing in the offense what the penalty is, and if it is a misdemeanor or noncriminal 
traffic offense. The fine for noncriminal traffic offenses has been capped at $499.00 so persons 
charged under these offenses will be not be entitled to a jury.  Paragraphs (e)(f) and (g) have been 
taken out of the Code and should be placed in the annual fee schedule.  The Town still has the 
option of keeping these in the Code if it does not want to place these in the fee schedule. 

Article II: Part 18 of the Model Traffic Code addressed abandoned vehicles on public property, 
so this section need only address abandoned vehicles on private property.  Minor changes have 
been made to account for this.  

Article III: This is new, and adopts the residential parking plan we drafted for the Town last 
summer.  It is consistent with the Parking Services Agreement recently reviewed by us.  That 
agreement goes into more detail over the establishment of parking areas and rates. The Code need 
only establish the means of violation and the parameters of the program.  

Changes to Chapter 10 



August 13, 2021 
Page 6 
 
 

6 
 

 Again, most of the changes to this Chapter were made to remove superfluous language 
 and superfluous provisions, and to remove outdated offense provisions. 

Article I: Deleted the classification of violations section because it isn't necessary to 
designate each violation in the code as class 1 or 2 petty offenses.  The Town's prosecutors likely 
already have fine and punishment schemes for all the violations the Town handles in municipal 
court that properly address the severity of each offense.  We added a violation and penalty section 
at the end of Article I that cites to Section 1-42 and addresses restitution and penalties.  

Article II: All changes to this Article were made to simplify and condense the provisions 
regarding offenses by or against public officers and government.  We included a provision that 
addresses civilians being prohibited from impersonating Town police vehicles, per the Town 
Marshal's suggestion.  

Article V and VI: Simplified and condensed provisions relating to theft and removed the 
offense relating to the use of "slugs" as it is rather outdated.  

Article VII:  Added marijuana definitions and updated language regarding possession of 
marijuana, public consumption of marijuana, drug paraphernalia and supply of marijuana to 
minors.  

Article VIII: The language in this article was updated to make it unlawful for minors to consume 
any alcoholic beverages, and not just fermented malt beverages.  We deleted the section regarding 
minors being prohibited in taverns, per the Marshal's comment.  Taverns are not a defined term, 
and bars are free to prohibit anyone under the age of 21 from entering their premises.  We did not 
remove Section 10-164 concerning fights at bars or disturbances, but it should be noted that this 
would be hard to enforce.  If there are consistently fights or noise disturbances at a bar, the Town 
may issue a warning and threaten action against the bar's license.  The Marshal noted that we 
should address liquor licenses for restaurants that have extended alcohol sales into their parking 
lots.  This is currently being addressed by temporary modification of liquor license premises during 
COVID.  However, some businesses may want to permanently alter their premises to include sales 
in newly configured outdoor spaces in parking lots or adjoining outdoor areas.  Under CRS § 44-
5-101 and Chapter 5 of this code, special licenses and permits can be acquired for liquor sales as 
well.  If the Town is interested in offering another type of permit, this is something we can address.  
We have included language to allow the possession of unopened containers in conjunction with 
alcohol takeout and delivery.   

Article IX: Most changes to this Article were made to simplify and condense the provisions 
related to offenses listed under this Article.  The offense related to prohibiting publications inciting 
hatred and violence poses first amendment issues, and was removed.  Publications are only illegal 
under state law if they make a direct call to violence or make specific threats of violence.  We 
believe this provision is largely addressed by the harassment provision.   



August 13, 2021 
Page 7 
 
 

7 
 

Article XI: The Town may want to consider expanding the curfew for minors to 12:00 a.m. to 
5 a.m. on weekends and may want to consider including an exception for driving to and from place 
of employment (this is implied, but not explicitly stated).  

 



CHAPTER 1 - General Provisions 

 

ARTICLE I - Code  

Sec. 1-1. - Adoption of Code.  

The published code known as the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, of which one (1) copy 
is now on file in the office of the Town Clerk and may be inspected during regular business hours, 
is enacted and adopted by reference as a primary code and incorporated herein as if set out at length. 
This primary code has been promulgated by the Town of Green Mountain Falls as a codification of all the 
ordinances of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, of a general and permanent nature through 
Ordinance No. 92-04, for the purpose of providing an up-to-date code of ordinances, properly organized 
and indexed, in published form for the use of the citizens and officers of the Town. . 

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-2. - Title and scope. - Code supersedes prior ordinances. 

This Code constitutes a compilation, revision and codification of shall supersede all the 
ordinancesother municipal codes consisting of compilations of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, 
Colorado, of a general and permanent nature, and shall be known as the Green Mountain Falls 
Municipal Code.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-3. - Purpose.  

The Board of Trustees finds, determines and declares that the ordinance codified in this Chapter is 
necessary for the general health, safety and welfare of the community.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-4. - Adoption of codes by reference.  

Codes may be adopted by reference, as provided by state law.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-5. - Matters not affected by repeal.  

The repeal of ordinances and parts of ordinances of a permanent and general nature by Section 1-44 of 
this Code shall not affect any offense committed or act done, any penalty or forfeiture incurred or any 
contract, right or obligation established prior to the time said ordinances and parts of ordinances are 
repealed. passed by the Board of Trustees. 

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-63. - Repeal of ordinances not contained in Code.  

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted



All existing ordinances and portions of ordinances of a general and permanent nature adopted by 
the Board of Trustees are included herein. Any ordinances or portions of ordinances not included 
in this Code which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Code are specifically repealed. to 
the extent of any inconsistency therein as of the effective date of the ordinance adopting this Code, 
except as hereinafter provided..  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-4. - Matters not affected by repeal.  

The repeal of ordinances and parts of ordinances of a permanent and general nature by Section 1-
3 of this Code shall not affect any offense committed or act done, any penalty or forfeiture incurred 
or any contract, right or obligation established prior to the time said ordinances and parts of 
ordinances were repealed.  

Sec. 1-57. - Ordinances saved from repeal.  

The continuance in effect of temporary and/or special ordinances and parts of ordinances, although 
omitted from this Code, shall not be affected by such omission therefrom, and the adoption of the 
Code shall not repeal or amend any such ordinance or part of any such ordinance. Among the 
ordinances not repealed or amended by the adoption of this Code are ordinances:  

(1)   Creating, opening, dedicating, vacating or closing specific streets, alleys and other 
public ways.  

(2)   Naming or changing the names of specific streets and other public ways.  

(3)   Establishing the grades of specific streets and other public ways.  

(4)   Establishing the grades or lines of specific sidewalks.  

(5)   Authorizing or relating to specific issuances of general obligation bonds.  

(6)   Creating specific sewer and paving districts and other local improvement districts.  

(7)   Authorizing the issuance of specific local improvement district bonds.  

(8)   Making special assessments for local improvement districts and authorizing 
refunds from specific local improvement district bond proceeds.  

(9)   Annexing territory to or excludingdisconnecting territory from the Town.  

(10)   Dedicating or accepting any specific plat or subdivision.  

(11)   Calling or providing for a specific election.  

(12)   Authorizing specific contracts for purchase of beneficial use of water by the Town.  

(13)   Approving or authorizing specific contracts with the State, with other governmental 
bodies or with others.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(14)   Authorizing a specific lease, sale or purchase of property.  

(15)   Granting rights-of-way or other rights and privileges to specific railroad companies 
or other public carriers.  

(16)   Granting a specific gas company or other public utility the right or privilege of 
constructing lines in the streets and alleys or of otherwise using the streets and alleys.  

(17)   Granting a franchise to a specific public utility company or establishing rights for 
or otherwise regulating a specific public utility company.  

(18)   Setting rates, tolls and charges for any water, sewer, utility or proprietary fee, unless 
otherwise specifically set forth in this Code.  

(19)   Appropriating money.  

(20)   Levying a temporary tax or fixing a temporary tax rate.  

(21)   Relating to salaries. or other employment conditions for Town officers and 
employees.  

(22)   Amending the Official Zoning Map.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-86. - Changes in previously adopted ordinances.  

In compiling and preparing the ordinances of the Town for adoption and revision as part of the 
Code, certain grammatical changes and other minor changes were made in one (1) or more of said 
ordinances. It is the intentionintent of the Board of Trustees that all such changes be adopted as part 
of the Code as if the ordinances so changed had been previously formally amended to read as such.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-9. - Effective date.  

This Code shall become effective on the date the ordinance codified in this Chapter, adopting this 
Code as the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, becomes effective.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 1-7—1-10—1-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Definitions, Usage and Interpretation  

Sec. 1-2111. - Definitions.  

In the construction of the Code and of all ordinances of the Town, theThe following definitions and rules 
of constructionwords and phrases, whenever used in this Code, shall be observed,construed as 
defined in this Section unless it shall be otherwise expressly provided in any section or ordinances,a 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



different meaning is intended from the context or unless inconsistent with the manifest intent of the 
ordinance:a different meaning is specifically defined and more particularly directed to the use of 
such words or phrases:  

(1)   Board of Trustees means the Board of Trustees of the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls.  

(2)   Code means the Code of the Town of Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, as 
published and subsequently amended, unless the context requires otherwise.  

(3)  Computation of time means the time within which an act is to be done, excluding the first and 
including the last day; but if the time for an act to be done shall fall on Sunday or a legal holiday, 
the act shall be done upon the day following such Sunday or legal holiday.  

(4)  (3) County means theEl Paso County of El Paso, Colorado and Teller County, 
Colorado, unless otherwise specified to mean only one of these counties.  

(5)  4) C.R.S. means Colorado Revised Statutes, including all amendments thereto.  

(6)  5) Day refers to the period of time between any midnight and the midnight following.  

(7)  6) Daytime and nighttime. Daytime is the period of time between sunrise and sunset. 
Nighttime is the period of time between sunset and sunrise.  

(8)  7) In the Town shall meanmeans and includeincludes all territory over which the Town 
now has, or shall hereafter acquire, the jurisdiction for the exercise of its police powers or 
other regulatory powers.  

(9)  8) Law denotes applicable federal law, the constitution and statutes of the State, the 
ordinances of the Town and, when appropriate, any and all rules and regulations which 
may be promulgated thereunder.  

(10)  May is permissive.  

(11)  Misdemeanor (9) Month means and is to be construed as meaning violation and is not 
intended to mean crime or criminal conduct.  

(12)  Month shall mean a calendar month.  

(13)  10) Oath shall be construed to include an affirmation in all cases in which, by 
law, an affirmation may be substituted for an oath, and in such cases the words swear and 
sworn shall be equivalent to the words affirm and affirmed.  

(14)  11) Ordinance means a law of the Town; provided that a temporary or special 
law, administrative action, order or directive may be in the form of a resolution.  

(15)  12) Owner, when applied to a building or land, shall include any part owner, 
joint owner, tenant in common, joint tenant or tenant by the entirety, of the whole or a part 
of such building or land.  

(16)  13) Person shall includemeans a firm, natural person, joint venture, joint stock 
company, partnership, association, club, company, firm, corporation, associationbusiness, 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



trust or other organization acting as a group, or unit as well as an individual. the manager, 
lessee, agent, servant, officer or employee of any of them. 

(17)  14) Preceding and following shall mean next before and next after, respectively.  

(18)  15) Property shall include real, tangible and intangible personal property.  

(19)  16) Public way shall include any street, alley, boulevard, parkway, highway, 
sidewalk or other public thoroughfare.  

(20)  17) Real property shall include lands, tenements and hereditaments.  

(21)  Shall is mandatory.  

(22)  (18) Sidewalk means the portion of the street between the curb line and the 
adjacent property line, intended for the use of pedestrians.  

(23)  19) State shall be construed to meanmeans the State of Colorado.  

(24)  20) Street means and includes any public way, highway, street, avenue, 
boulevard, parkway, alley or other public thoroughfare, and each of such words shall 
include all of them.  

(25)  21) Tenant or occupant, applied to a building or land, shall include any person 
who occupies the whole or a part of such building or land, whether alone or with others.  

(26)  22) Town means the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado.  

(27)  Written includes printed, typewritten, mimeographed or multigraphed.  

(28)  (23) Written means any representation in words, letters or figures, whether by 
printing or otherwise reproduced in permanent visible form. 

(24) Year shall mean a calendar year, unless otherwise expressed.  

(Prior code 1-1-2; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-2212. - Usage of terms.  

(a)   All words and phrases shall be construed and understood according to the common and 
approved usage of the language; but technical words and phrases and such others as may have 
acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning.  

(b)   When an act is required by an ordinance, the same being such that it may be done as well 
by an agent as by the principal, such requirement shall be construed as to include all such acts 
performed by an authorized agent.  

(Prior code 1-1-2; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-23. - Grammatical interpretation.  

The following grammatical rules shall apply in the ordinances of the Town:  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(1)  Gender. Every word in any ordinance importing the masculinec) Any gender shall extend to and 
be applied to females as well as males, and associations and bodies corporate as well as individuals shall 
be included. includes other genders. 

(2)  Singular and plural. The (d) When not inconsistent with the context, words in the plural 
number include the singular number includes the plural and, and words in the singular number 
include the plural includes the singular. number. 

(3)  Tenses. (e) The terms shall and must are mandatory, and the term may is permissive. 

(f) Words used in the present tense include the past and future tenses and vice versa, unless 
manifestly inapplicable.  

(4)  UseSec. 1-13. – Computation of wordstime.  

Except as provided by applicable State law, in computing a period of days, the first day is excluded 
and phrases. Words and phrases not specifically definedthe last day is included. However, if the last 
day of any period is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the period shall be construed 
accordingextended to the context and approved usage of the language. include the next day which is 
not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. 

(Prior code 1-1-2; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 1-2414—1-4020. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - General  

Sec. 1-4121. - Titles and headings not part of ordinance.  

The title of any section or subsection of this Code shall not be deemed to in any way restrict, 
qualify or limit the effect of the provisions set forth and contained in such section or subsection. 
Chapter and Article titles, headings and titles of sections and other divisions in the Code or in 
subsequent supplements may be inserted in supplements to the Code for the convenience of 
persons using the Code, and are not part of the ordinances.  

(Prior code 1-1-2; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-42. - Authorized acts.  

When an ordinance requires an act to be done which may as well be done by an agent as by the 
principal, such requirement shall be construed to include all such acts when done by an authorized agent.  

(Prior code 1-1-2) 

Sec. 1-43. - Prohibited acts.  

Whenever in Town ordinances any act or omission is made unlawful, it includes causing, allowing, 
permitting, aiding, abetting, suffering or concealing the fact of such act or omission.  

Formatted: list0, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: list0, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt



(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-4422. - Repeal shall not revive any ordinancesordinance.  

The repeal of an ordinance shall not repeal the repealing clause of such ordinance or revive any 
ordinance which has been repealed thereby.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-4523. - Publication of ordinances.  

All ordinances, as soon as may be possible after their passage, shall be recorded in a book kept for 
that purpose and authenticated by the signature of the Mayor or the Town Clerk. All ordinances of 
a general or permanent nature and those imposing any fine, penalty or forfeiture shall be published 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town. Such ordinances shall not take effect until thirty 
(30) days after such publication, except for ordinances calling for special elections or necessary 
for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health or safety, which shall be set forth in a 
separate section.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 1-24. - Copy of Code on file.  

This Code may be inspected by any interested person at any time during regular office hours, but 
may not be removed from the Town Clerk's office except upon proper order of a court of law. 

Sec. 461-25. - Severability.  

The provisions of this Code are hereby declared to be severable, and if any section, provision or 
part thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, the remainder of this Code shall continue in 
full force and effect, it being the legislative intent that this Code would have been adopted even if 
such unconstitutional matter had not been included therein. It is further declared that if any 
provision or part of this Code, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances, is held 
invalid, the remainder of this Code and the application thereof to other persons shall not be affected 
thereby.  

(Prior code 1-1-4) 

Sec. 1-4726. - Amendments.  

Any additions or amendments to this Code shall be adopted as ordinances as required by state law, 
and when passed in such form as to indicate the intention to make the same a part thereof, shall be 
incorporated into this Code so that reference to it as Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code shall 
be understood as including such additions or amendments.  

(Prior code 1-1-3) 

Sec. 1-4827. - Certification of Code.  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



The Mayor and Town Clerk shall carefully examine at least one (1) copy of the Code adopted by 
this ordinance to see that it is a true and correct copy of the Code. The copy of the Code as 
originally adopted or amended, certified and sealed shall constitute the permanent and general 
ordinances of the Town and shall be so accepted by the courts of law, administrative tribunals and 
all others concerned.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-4928. - Supplementation of Code.  

(a)   The Board of Trustees shall cause supplementation of the Code to be prepared and printed 
from time to time as it may see fit. All substantive, permanent and general parts of ordinances 
passed by the Board of Trustees or adopted by initiative and referendum, and all amendments and 
changes in temporary and special ordinances or other measures included in the Code prior to the 
supplementation and since the previous supplementation, shall be included.  

(b)   It shall be the duty of the Town Clerk, or someone authorized and directed by the Town Clerk, 
to keep up to date the one (1) certified copy of the book containing the Code required to be filed 
in the office of the Town Clerk for the use of the public.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-50. - Sale of Code books.  

Copies of the Code book may be purchased from the Town Clerk upon the payment of a fee to be 
set by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-51. - Altering or tampering with Code; penalties for violation.  

Any person who shall alter, change or amend this Code, except in the manner prescribed in this 
Article, or who shall alter or tamper with the Code in any manner so as to cause the ordinances of the 
Town to be misrepresented thereby shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable as provided by Section 
1-72.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 1-5229—1-7040. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - General Penalty  

Sec. 1-7141. - Violations.  

It is a violation of this Code for any person to do any act which is forbidden or declared to be 
unlawful, or to fail to do or perform any act required, in this Code.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 1-7242. - General penalty, continuing violations.  

Any person who shall violate or fail to comply with any provision of any Chapter of this Code for 
which a different penalty is not specifically provided shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable 
by a fine not exceeding onetwo thousand six hundred and fifty dollars ($1,0002,650.00), or by 
imprisonment not exceeding one year or by both such fine and imprisonment, except as hereinafter 
provided in Section 1-7343, and in addition, such person, shall pay all costs and expenses in the 
case, including attorney fees. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate 
offense.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-7343. - Application of penalties to juveniles.  

Every person who, at the time of commission of the offense, was at least ten (10) but not yet 
eighteen (18) years of age, and who is subsequently convicted of or pleads guilty or nolo 
contendere to, a violation of any provision of this ChapterCode, shall be punished by a fine of not 
more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per violation or count. Any voluntary plea of guilty or 
nolo contendere to the original charge or to a lesser or substituted charge shall subject the person 
so pleading to all fines and/or penalties applicable to the original charge. Nothing in this Section 
shall be construed to prohibit incarceration in an appropriate facility, at the time of charging, of a 
juvenile violating any section of this Code.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-7444. - Penalty for violations of ordinances adopted after adoption of Code.  

Any person who shall violate any provision of any ordinance of a permanent and general nature 
passed or adopted after adoption of this Code, either before or after it has been inserted in the Code 
by a supplement, shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable as provided by Section 1-7242 or 
1-43, unless another penalty is specifically provided for the violation.  

Sec. 1-45. - Prohibited acts.  

Whenever in Town ordinances any act or omission is made unlawful, it includes causing, allowing, 
permitting, aiding, abetting, suffering or concealing the fact of such act or omission.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-46. - Altering or tampering with Code; penalties for violation.  

Any person who alters, changes or amends this Code, except in the manner prescribed in this 
Chapter, or who alters or tampers with the Code in any manner so as to cause the ordinances of 
the Town to be misrepresented thereby shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable as provided 
by Section 1-42.  

Secs. 1-7547—1-9050. - Reserved. 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



ARTICLE V - Inspections  

Sec. 1-9151. - Entry.  

Whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce any ordinance, or whenever there is probable 
cause to believe that there exists an ordinance violation in any building or upon any premises 
within the jurisdiction of the Town, any public inspector of the Town may, upon presentation of 
proper credentials and upon obtaining permission of the occupant, or if unoccupied, the owner, 
enter such building or premises at all reasonable times to inspect the same or to perform any duty 
imposed upon him or hersuch person by ordinance. In the event the occupant, or if unoccupied, the 
owner, refuses entry to such building or premises, or the public inspector is unable to obtain 
permission of such occupant or owner to enter such building or premises, the public inspector is 
empowered to seek assistance from any court of competent jurisdiction in obtaining such entry.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 1-9252. - Authority to enter premises under emergency.  

Law enforcement officers certified with the State, members of the Green Mountain Falls Fire 
Department, other fire departments operating under a mutual assistance agreement or automatic 
aid agreement with the Town, certified emergency medical technicians and paramedics during the 
course of employment with a governmental agency are hereby granted the authority to enter private 
residences within the Town without invitation from the occupant or occupants of the residence at 
any time such person has reasonable grounds to believe a medical emergency is in progress within 
the subject premises and the occupant or occupants of such premises are incapable of consenting 
to the entry because of such medical emergency.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 1-53—1-93—1-11060. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Seal  

Sec. 1-11161. - Corporate seal.  

A seal, the impression of which shall contain in the center the word "Seal" and around the 
outer edge the words "Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado," shall be andis hereby is 
declaredestablished to be the Seal of the Town.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 1-112—1-130. - Reserved.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



CHAPTER 1 - General Provisions   

ARTICLE I - Code  

Sec. 1-1. - Adoption of Code.  

The published code known as the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, of which one (1) copy 
is now on file in the office of the Town Clerk and may be inspected during regular business 
hours, is enacted and adopted by reference as a primary code. 

Sec. 1-2. - Code supersedes prior ordinances. 

This Code shall supersede all other municipal codes consisting of compilations of general and 
permanent ordinances and parts of ordinances passed by the Board of Trustees. 

Sec. 1-3. - Repeal of ordinances not contained in Code.  

All existing ordinances and portions of ordinances of a general and permanent nature adopted by 
the Board of Trustees are included herein. Any ordinances or portions of ordinances not included 
in this Code which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Code are specifically repealed to 
the extent of any inconsistency therein as of the effective date of the ordinance adopting this 
Code, except as hereinafter provided..  

Sec. 1-4. - Matters not affected by repeal.  

The repeal of ordinances and parts of ordinances of a permanent and general nature by Section 1-
3 of this Code shall not affect any offense committed or act done, any penalty or forfeiture 
incurred or any contract, right or obligation established prior to the time said ordinances and 
parts of ordinances were repealed.  

Sec. 1-5. - Ordinances saved from repeal.  

The continuance in effect of temporary or special ordinances and parts of ordinances, although 
omitted from this Code, shall not be affected by such omission therefrom, and the adoption of the 
Code shall not repeal or amend any such ordinance or part of any such ordinance. Among the 
ordinances not repealed or amended by the adoption of this Code are ordinances:  

(1) Creating, opening, dedicating, vacating or closing specific streets, alleys and other 
public ways.  

(2) Naming or changing the names of specific streets and other public ways.  

(3) Establishing the grades of specific streets and other public ways.  

(4) Establishing the grades or lines of specific sidewalks.  

(5) Authorizing or relating to specific issuances of general obligation bonds.  

(6) Creating specific sewer and paving districts and other local improvement districts.  

(7) Authorizing the issuance of specific local improvement district bonds.  



(8) Making special assessments for local improvement districts and authorizing 
refunds from specific local improvement district bond proceeds.  

(9) Annexing territory to or disconnecting territory from the Town.  

(10) Dedicating or accepting any specific plat or subdivision.  

(11) Calling or providing for a specific election.  

(12) Authorizing specific contracts for purchase of beneficial use of water by the 
Town.  

(13) Approving or authorizing specific contracts with the State, with other 
governmental bodies or with others.  

(14) Authorizing a specific lease, sale or purchase of property.  

(15) Granting rights-of-way or other rights and privileges to specific railroad 
companies or other public carriers.  

(16) Granting a specific gas company or other public utility the right or privilege of 
constructing lines in the streets and alleys or of otherwise using the streets and alleys.  

(17) Granting a franchise to a specific public utility company or establishing rights for 
or otherwise regulating a specific public utility company.  

(18) Setting rates, tolls and charges for any water, sewer, utility or proprietary fee, 
unless otherwise specifically set forth in this Code.  

(19) Appropriating money.  

(20) Levying a temporary tax or fixing a temporary tax rate.  

(21) Relating to salaries or other employment conditions for Town officers and 
employees.  

(22) Amending the Official Zoning Map.  

Sec. 1-6. - Changes in previously adopted ordinances.  

In compiling and preparing the ordinances of the Town for adoption and revision as part of the 
Code, certain grammatical changes and other minor changes were made in one (1) or more of 
said ordinances. It is the intent of the Board of Trustees that all such changes be adopted as part 
of the Code as if the ordinances so changed had been previously formally amended to read as 
such.  

Secs. 1-7—1-10. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Definitions, Usage and Interpretation  

Sec. 1-11. - Definitions.  



The following words and phrases, whenever used in this Code, shall be construed as defined in 
this Section unless a different meaning is intended from the context or unless a different meaning 
is specifically defined and more particularly directed to the use of such words or phrases:  

(1) Board of Trustees means the Board of Trustees of the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls.  

(2) Code means the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, as published and 
subsequently amended, unless the context requires otherwise.  

(3) County means El Paso County, Colorado and Teller County, Colorado, unless 
otherwise specified to mean only one of these counties.  

(4) C.R.S. means Colorado Revised Statutes, including all amendments thereto.  

(5) Day refers to the period of time between any midnight and the midnight 
following.  

(6) Daytime and nighttime. Daytime is the period of time between sunrise and sunset. 
Nighttime is the period of time between sunset and sunrise.  

(7) In the Town means and includes all territory over which the Town now has, or 
shall hereafter acquire, the jurisdiction for the exercise of its police powers or other 
regulatory powers.  

(8) Law denotes applicable federal law, the constitution and statutes of the State, the 
ordinances of the Town and, when appropriate, any and all rules and regulations which 
may be promulgated thereunder.  

(9) Month means a calendar month.  

(10) Oath shall be construed to include an affirmation in all cases in which, by law, an 
affirmation may be substituted for an oath, and in such cases the words swear and sworn 
shall be equivalent to the words affirm and affirmed.  

(11) Ordinance means a law of the Town; provided that a temporary or special law, 
administrative action, order or directive may be in the form of a resolution.  

(12) Owner, when applied to a building or land, shall include any part owner, joint 
owner, tenant in common, joint tenant or tenant by the entirety, of the whole or a part of 
such building or land.  

(13) Person means a natural person, joint venture, joint stock company, partnership, 
association, club, company, firm, corporation, business, trust or organization, or the 
manager, lessee, agent, servant, officer or employee of any of them. 

(14) Preceding and following mean next before and next after, respectively.  

(15) Property shall include real, tangible and intangible personal property.  



(16) Public way shall include any street, alley, boulevard, parkway, highway, sidewalk 
or other public thoroughfare.  

(17) Real property shall include lands, tenements and hereditaments.  

(18) Sidewalk means the portion of the street between the curb line and the adjacent 
property line, intended for the use of pedestrians.  

(19) State means the State of Colorado.  

(20) Street means and includes any public way, highway, street, avenue, boulevard, 
parkway, alley or other public thoroughfare, and each of such words shall include all of 
them.  

(21) Tenant or occupant, applied to a building or land, shall include any person who 
occupies the whole or a part of such building or land, whether alone or with others.  

(22) Town means the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado.  

(23) Written means any representation in words, letters or figures, whether by printing 
or otherwise reproduced in permanent visible form. 

(24) Year shall mean a calendar year, unless otherwise expressed.  

Sec. 1-12. - Usage of terms.  

(a) All words and phrases shall be construed and understood according to the common and 
approved usage of the language; but technical words and phrases and such others as may have 
acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning.  

(b) When an act is required by an ordinance, the same being such that it may be done as well 
by an agent as by the principal, such requirement shall be construed as to include all such acts 
performed by an authorized agent.  

(c) Any gender includes other genders. 

(d) When not inconsistent with the context, words in the plural number include the singular 
number, and words in the singular number include the plural number. 

(e) The terms shall and must are mandatory, and the term may is permissive. 

(f) Words used in the present tense include the past and future tenses and vice versa, unless 
manifestly inapplicable. 

Sec. 1-13. – Computation of time.  

Except as provided by applicable State law, in computing a period of days, the first day is 
excluded and the last day is included. However, if the last day of any period is a Saturday, 
Sunday or legal holiday, the period shall be extended to include the next day which is not a 
Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. 



Secs. 1-14—1-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - General  

Sec. 1-21. - Titles and headings not part of ordinance.  

The title of any section or subsection of this Code shall not be deemed to in any way restrict, 
qualify or limit the effect of the provisions set forth and contained in such section or subsection. 
Chapter and Article titles, headings and titles of sections and other divisions in the Code or in 
subsequent supplements may be inserted in supplements to the Code for the convenience of 
persons using the Code, and are not part of the ordinances.  

Sec. 1-22. - Repeal shall not revive any ordinance.  

The repeal of an ordinance shall not repeal the repealing clause of such ordinance or revive any 
ordinance which has been repealed thereby.  

Sec. 1-23. - Publication of ordinances.  

All ordinances, as soon as may be possible after their passage, shall be recorded in a book kept 
for that purpose and authenticated by the signature of the Mayor or the Town Clerk. All 
ordinances of a general or permanent nature and those imposing any fine, penalty or forfeiture 
shall be published by title in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town. Such ordinances 
shall not take effect until thirty (30) days after such publication, except for ordinances calling for 
special elections or necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health or 
safety, which shall be set forth in a separate section.  

Sec. 1-24. - Copy of Code on file.  

This Code may be inspected by any interested person at any time during regular office hours, but 
may not be removed from the Town Clerk's office except upon proper order of a court of law. 

Sec. 1-25. - Severability.  

The provisions of this Code are hereby declared to be severable, and if any section, provision or 
part thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, the remainder of this Code shall continue in 
full force and effect, it being the legislative intent that this Code would have been adopted even 
if such unconstitutional matter had not been included therein. It is further declared that if any 
provision or part of this Code, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances, is held 
invalid, the remainder of this Code and the application thereof to other persons shall not be 
affected thereby.  

Sec. 1-26. - Amendments.  

Any additions or amendments to this Code shall be adopted as ordinances as required by state 
law, and when passed in such form as to indicate the intention to make the same a part thereof, 
shall be incorporated into this Code so that reference to it as Green Mountain Falls Municipal 
Code shall be understood as including such additions or amendments.  

Sec. 1-27. - Certification of Code.  



The Mayor and Town Clerk shall carefully examine at least one (1) copy of the Code adopted by 
this ordinance to see that it is a true and correct copy of the Code. The copy of the Code as 
originally adopted or amended, certified and sealed shall constitute the permanent and general 
ordinances of the Town and shall be so accepted by the courts of law, administrative tribunals 
and all others concerned.  

Sec. 1-28. - Supplementation of Code.  

(a) The Board of Trustees shall cause supplementation of the Code to be prepared and 
printed from time to time as it may see fit. All substantive, permanent and general parts of 
ordinances passed by the Board of Trustees or adopted by initiative and referendum, and all 
amendments and changes in temporary and special ordinances or other measures included in the 
Code prior to the supplementation and since the previous supplementation, shall be included.  

(b) It shall be the duty of the Town Clerk to keep up to date the one (1) certified copy of the 
book containing the Code required to be filed in the office of the Town Clerk for the use of the 
public. 

Secs. 1-29—1-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - General Penalty  

Sec. 1-41. - Violations.  

It is a violation of this Code for any person to do any act which is forbidden or declared to be 
unlawful, or to fail to do or perform any act required in this Code.  

Sec. 1-42. - General penalty, continuing violations.  

Any person who shall violate or fail to comply with any provision of this Code for which a 
different penalty is not specifically provided shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable by a 
fine not exceeding two thousand six hundred and fifty dollars ($2,650.00), or by imprisonment 
not exceeding one year or by both such fine and imprisonment, except as hereinafter provided in 
Section 1-43, and in addition, such person, shall pay all costs and expenses in the case, including 
attorney fees. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense.  

Sec. 1-43. - Application of penalties to juveniles.  

Every person who, at the time of commission of the offense, was at least ten (10) but not yet 
eighteen (18) years of age, and who is subsequently convicted of or pleads guilty or nolo 
contendere to, a violation of any provision of this Code, shall be punished by a fine of not more 
than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per violation or count. Any voluntary plea of guilty or 
nolo contendere to the original charge or to a lesser or substituted charge shall subject the person 
so pleading to all fines and/or penalties applicable to the original charge. Nothing in this Section 
shall be construed to prohibit incarceration in an appropriate facility, at the time of charging, of a 
juvenile violating any section of this Code.  

Sec. 1-44. - Penalty for violations of ordinances adopted after adoption of Code.  



Any person who shall violate any provision of any ordinance of a permanent and general nature 
passed or adopted after adoption of this Code, either before or after it has been inserted in the 
Code by a supplement, shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable as provided by Section 1-42 
or 1-43, unless another penalty is specifically provided for the violation.  

Sec. 1-45. - Prohibited acts.  

Whenever in Town ordinances any act or omission is made unlawful, it includes causing, 
allowing, permitting, aiding, abetting, suffering or concealing the fact of such act or omission.  

Sec. 1-46. - Altering or tampering with Code; penalties for violation.  

Any person who alters, changes or amends this Code, except in the manner prescribed in this 
Chapter, or who alters or tampers with the Code in any manner so as to cause the ordinances of 
the Town to be misrepresented thereby shall, upon conviction thereof, be punishable as provided 
by Section 1-42.  

Secs. 1-47—1-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Inspections  

Sec. 1-51. - Entry. 

Whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce any ordinance, or whenever there is 
probable cause to believe that there exists an ordinance violation in any building or upon any 
premises within the jurisdiction of the Town, any public inspector of the Town may, upon 
presentation of proper credentials and upon obtaining permission of the occupant, or if 
unoccupied, the owner, enter such building or premises at all reasonable times to inspect the 
same or to perform any duty imposed upon such person by ordinance. In the event the occupant, 
or if unoccupied, the owner, refuses entry to such building or premises, or the public inspector is 
unable to obtain permission of such occupant or owner to enter such building or premises, the 
public inspector is empowered to seek assistance from any court of competent jurisdiction in 
obtaining such entry.  

Secs. 1-52—1-60. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Seal  

Sec. 1-61. - Corporate seal.  

A seal, the impression of which shall contain in the center the word "Seal" and around the outer 
edge the words "Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado," is hereby established to be the Seal 
of the Town.  



1 
 

CHAPTER 2 - Administration and Personnel 

ARTICLE I - Elections  

Sec. 2-1. - Election procedure.  

Each regular election shall be held on the first Tuesday in April in even-numbered years and all 
special elections called by the Board of Trustees for any purpose shall be in the manner prescribed 
by the Colorado Municipal Election Code, current editionC.R.S. § 31-10-101, et seq., as amended.  

(Prior code 4-1-1) 

Sec. 2-2. - Write-in candidate'scandidate affidavit.  

No write-in vote for aany Town office shall be counted unless an affidavit of intent has been filed 
with the Town Clerk, by the person who desires the office and is qualified to assume the duties of 
that office if elected. The affidavit of intent shall be filed with the Town Clerk no later than sixty-
four (64) days before the day of the election as set forth in SectionC.R.S. § 31-10-306, C.R.Sas 
amended.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. No. 09-2017, § 1, 12-5-2017) 

Secs. 2-3—2-2010. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Mayor and Board of Trustees  

Sec. 2-2111. - Composition; eligibility and term of office; power.  

(a)   The corporate authority of the Town is by state law vested in a Board of Trustees, 
consisting of one (1) Mayor and six (6) Trustees, who shall be qualified electors residing within the 
limits of the corporation. The Mayor is elected for a two-year term. In the regular municipal election to be 
held in April 2002, six (6) Trustees shall be elected. The three (3) candidates for Trustee receiving the 
highest number of votes shall be elected for four-year terms, and the three (3) candidates for Trustee 
receiving the next highest number of votes shall be elected for two-year terms. At each regular election 
thereafter, three (3) Trustees shall be elected to serve four-year terms. . The Board of Trustees 
constitutes the legislative body of the Town, shall have power and authority, except as otherwise 
provided by statute, to exercise all power conferred upon or possessed by the Town and shall have 
the power and authority to adopt such laws, ordinances and resolutions as it shall deem proper in 
the exercise thereof. 

(b)  The  Each Trustee shall be a qualified elector and resident of the Town who has resided 
in the Town for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months immediately preceding the 
election, and is otherwise eligible to hold municipal office pursuant to law. If any Trustee shall 
move from or become, during the term of their office, a nonresident of the Town, they shall be 
deemed thereby to have vacated their office, upon the adoption by the Board of Trustees is hereby 
given the power to of a resolution declaring such vacancy to exist.  

(c) The Mayor is elected for a two-year term. At each regular election, three (3) Trustees shall 
be elected to serve four-year terms.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



2 
 

(d) No elected Mayor shall serve more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms in office.  

(e) No elected Trustee shall serve more than two (2) consecutive four-year terms in office.  

(f)  The Board of Trustees may appoint such other officers as it may deemdeems necessary for 
the good government of the corporationTown and may prescribe their duties and fix their 
compensation.  

(c)  No elected Mayor shall serve more than four (4) consecutive two-year terms in office.  

(d)  No elected Trustee shall serve more than two (2) consecutive four-year terms in office.  

(Prior code 2-1-1; Ord. 2001-03 §1; Ord. 01-2002 §1) 

Sec. 2-22. - Duties of12. - Mayor.  

(a)   The Mayor shall preside over the meeting of the Board of Trustees, and shall perform such 
duties as may be required of him or her by statute or ordinance.  

(b)  Insofar as required by statute, and for all ceremonial purposes, the The Mayor shall be the 
executive head of the Town. He or sheThe Mayor shall be the presiding officer of the Board of 
Trustees and shall vote on all matters before the Board of Trustees.  

(c)   The Mayor shall execute and authenticate by his or hertheir signature such instruments as 
the Trustees or any statutes or ordinances shall require.  

(d)   Except as may be required by statute, the Mayor shall exercise only such powers as the 
Trustees shall specifically confer upon him or her. such person. 

(Prior code 2-1-2) 

(e) In the absence of the Town Manager, the Mayor may assume any duty assigned to the 
Town Manager.  

Sec. 2-2313. - Mayor Pro Tem.  

At its first meeting following each biennial election, the Board of Trustees shall choose one (1) of 
the Trustees as Mayor Pro Tem who, in the absence of the Mayor from any meeting of the Board 
of Trustees or during the Mayor's absence from the Town, or his or herthe Mayor's inability to act, 
shall perform the duties of Mayor.  

(Prior code 2-1-3) 

Sec. 2-2414. - Acting Mayor.  

In the event of absence or disability of both the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, the Trustees may 
designate another of its members to serve as Acting Mayor during such absence or disability.  

(Prior code 2-1-4) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



3 
 

Sec. 2-25. - Board15. - Removal of Trustees; qualifications, vacancies.  

(a)  The Board of Trustees shall constitute the legislative body of the Town, shall have power and 
authority, except as otherwise provided by statute, to exercise all power conferred upon or possessed 
by the Town and shall have the power and authority to adopt such laws, ordinances and resolutions 
as it shall deem proper in the exercise thereof.  

(b)  Each Trustee.  

By a majority vote of all members of the Board of Trustees, any member of the Board of Trustees 
may be removed from office pursuant to the provisions and procedures provided by law.  

Sec.  shall be a resident of the Town who has resided in the Town for a period of at least twelve (12) 
consecutive months immediately preceding the election, and is otherwise eligible to hold municipal 
office pursuant to law. If any Trustee shall move from or become, during the term of his or her office, 
a nonresident of the Town, he or she shall be deemed thereby to have vacated his or her office, upon 
the adoption by the Board of Trustees of a resolution declaring such vacancy to exist.  

(c)  In case of death, resignation, vacation2-16. - Vacancies. 

(a) In case of death, resignation, or removal for cause of any of the Trustees during their term 
of office, the Board of Trustees, by a majority vote of all the members thereof, may select and 
appoint from among the duly qualified electors of the Town a suitable person to fill the vacancy, 
who shall hold the office until the next biennial Town election.  

(Prior code 2-2-1; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

(b) The Board of Trustees also has the power to fill a vacancy on the Board by ordering a 
special election, subject to the requirements of the Colorado Municipal Election Code, to fill the 
vacancy until the next regular election and until a successor has been elected and has complied 
with C.R.S. § 31-4-401. 

Sec. 2-26. - Removal of officers.  

By a majority vote of all members of the Board of Trustees, any member of the Board of Trustees 
may be removed from office pursuant to the provisions and procedures provided by law.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

2-17. - Compensation.Sec. 2-27. - Elected officials, salaries.  

There shall be no salary or compensation for elected officials of the Town.  

(Prior code 2-5-1) 

Sec. 2-2818. - Regular and special meetings.  

(a)   Regular Meetings. All regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held at Town 
Hall; 10615 Green Mountain Falls Road; Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, or at such other places 
as determined by Board of Trustees. Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



4 
 

monthly on the first Tuesday of each month, commencing at 7:00 p.m., or at such other dates and 
times as determined by the Board of Trustees.  

(b)   Special Meetings. Special meetings shall be called by the Clerk on the written request of 
the Mayor or any three members of Board of Trustees on at least twenty-four (24) hours written 
notice to each member of Board of Trustees; but a special meeting may be held on shorter notice 
if all members of Board of Trustees are present or have waived notice thereof in writing. No 
business shall be transacted at any special meeting of Board of Trustees unless the same has been 
stated in notice of such meeting.  

(Prior code 2-2-2; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. No. 2019-06, § 1, 2-3-2019) 

Sec. 2-2919. - Quorum.  

No action shall be taken unless a quorum is present. A majority of the Board of Trustees shall 
constitute a quorum. The Mayor shall be considered a Trustee for purposes of determining a 
quorum. A lesser number may adjourn from time to time and compel the attendance of absent members. 
Any member of the Board of Trustees, at any regular or special meeting, may, in writing, demand the 
attendance of the absent members, which said demand shall be entered on the record forthwith by the 
Town Clerk, who shall thereupon notify the absent members of the time and place of the meeting.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 2-3020. - Agenda, Board packets, and confidential materials.  

(a) All reports, communications, proposed ordinances, proposed resolutions, contracts, 
documents or other matters to be submitted to the Board of Trustees for discussion shall be 
delivered to the Town Clerk no later than 4:30 p.m. on the Thursday prior to the regular Town 
Board of Trustees meeting.  

(b) At the discretion of the Town Clerk, items submitted after the deadline may be added to 
the Board packets and placed on the agenda. If the item is not placed on the agenda for the current 
meeting, the item will be deemed timely submitted for the following meeting and will be placed 
on the following meeting's agenda.  

(c) The Town Clerk shall arrange a list of matters according to the order of business as 
described in Section 2-3121, thereby creating the agenda. A complete copy of the Board packet 
shall be emailed, and/ or mailed via U.S. Mail to each Trustee, the Town Manager, and the Town 
Attorney no later than the Friday preceding the meeting. The Board packet shall consist of the 
agenda, all materials for agenda matters, a copy of the draft minutes of the last preceding meeting, 
if available. Failure to receive the entire Board packet according to the provisions herein shall be 
cause for any trustee to move to table a matter until the next meeting.  

(c) The Town Clerk shall post copies of the agenda and the Board packet, except materials 
marked "confidential", to the Town's website no later than the close of business on the Friday 
preceding the meeting.  

(d) Any Trustee, the Town Manager, and/or the Town Attorney may mark any document 
"confidential" prior to submission to the clerkTown Clerk. Any document marked 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



5 
 

"Confidentialconfidential" shall remain confidential until its confidentiality is rescinded by the 
original submitter. Any dissemination by any Trustee, the Town Manager, or the Town Attorney 
of materials marked "confidential," via social media, publication in print or electronic form, or 
otherwise, shall be a violation of this Code and subject to sanctions by the majority of the Board 
including, but not limited to, without limitation censure and/or removal of office.  

(Prior code 2-2-2; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. No. 01-2014, § 1, 2-18-2014)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 01-2014, § 1, adopted Feb. 18, 2014, changed the title of § 2-30 from 
"Agenda" to read as herein set out. 

Sec. 2-3121. - Order of business.  

The order of business of a Board of Trustees meeting shall be as follows, unless otherwise 
determined by the Mayor:  

(1)   Call to order. The Mayor shall take the chair precisely at the hour appointed for the 
meeting and shall immediately call the Board of Trustees to order. The Mayor or temporary 
chairman shall preserve the order and decorum, decide all questions of order and conduct 
the proceedings of the meeting in accordance with the parliamentary rules contained in 
Robert's Rules of Order unless otherwise provided by ordinance.  

(2)   Roll call. Before proceeding with the business of the Board of Trustees, the Town 
Clerk shall call the roll of the members, and the names of those present shall be entered in 
the minutes.  

(3)   Reading the minutes. Unless a reading of the minutes of a Board meeting is 
requested by a member of the Board of Trustees, the minutes of the preceding meeting, 
which have been furnished by the Town Clerk to each Trustee, shall be considered 
approved if correct, and errors rectified if any exist.  

(4)   Reports by officers. Town officials and/or committees shall present such reports as 
may be required by the Board of Trustees.  

(5)   Old business. The Board of Trustees shall consider any business that has been 
previously considered and which is still unfinished.  

(6)   New business. The Board of Trustees shall consider any business not heretofore 
considered, including the introduction or readings of ordinances and resolutions.  

(7)   Petitions. Petitions, remonstrances, communications and comments or suggestions 
from citizens present shall be heard by the Board of Trustees. All such remarks shall be 
addressed to the Board of Trustees as a whole, and not to any member thereof. Such 
remarks shall be limited to a reasonable time and such determination will be in the 
discretion of the presiding officers. No person other than the individual speaking shall enter 
into the discussion without the permission of the presiding officer.  

(8)   Other business. Prior to adjournment, the Board of Trustees shall, as it deems 
necessary, consider such business as is not specifically provided for herein.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



6 
 

(9)   Adjournment. The Board of Trustees may, by a majority vote of those present, 
adjourn from time to time to a specific date and hour. A motion to adjourn shall always be 
in order and decided without debate.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 2-3222. - Resolution or motion required; roll call vote.  

Every subject coming before the Board of Trustees for its action shall be submitted by resolution 
or motion. The Town Clerk shall call the roll and the vote thereon shall be taken by ayes and nays 
or, at the option of the Mayor, a voice vote may be taken.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 2-3323. - Adoption of ordinances.  

(a)   The procedure for passing emergency ordinances necessary for the preservation of public 
property, health, welfare, peace, or safety is as follows:  

(1)   An emergency ordinance may be introduced at any regular or special meeting of 
the Board of Trustees by any member thereof.  

(2)   The emergency ordinance shall be read in full.  

(3)   If state law requires a public hearing prior to the adoption of any emergency 
ordinance, the Board shall set the matter for a public hearing.  

(4)   An emergency ordinance shall become effective upon an affirmative vote of three-
fourths (¾) of the members of the Board of Trustees.  

(b)   The procedure for passing all other ordinances is as follows:  

(1)   An ordinance may be introduced at any regular meeting of the Board of Trustees 
by any member thereof.  

(2)  No ordinance may be passed finally on the date it is introduced.  

(3)  Prior to the adoption of the ordinance, the Board shall hold a workshop at which public comment 
shall be heard.  

(4)  At a subsequent regular meeting of the Board of Trustees:  

a.  The ordinance shall be read in full, unless copies of the ordinance were made available to 
the public prior to the meeting and a majority of the Board members present vote to only 
read the title of the proposed ordinance;  

b.   After the reading of the ordinance, by title or in full, the Board shall hold a public 
hearing at whichallow public comment shall be heard; . 

c.  (3) After hearing public comment in a public hearing, the ordinance may be approved 
with or without amendment or rejected by a vote of the Board.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: list1, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



7 
 

(5)  4) If the ordinance is approved by a majority of the Board members present, it shall 
be published in accordance with State law and said ordinance shall become effective thirty 
(30) days after publication.  

(Prior code 2-2-2; Ord. No. 2-17-2015A, § 1, 3-17-2015; Ord. No. 6-16-2015B, § 1, 6-16-2015) 

Sec. 2-3424. - Committees.  

Any question pending before the Board of Trustees may be referred to the appropriate committee, 
or to a special committee for its consideration and report. When a question has been referred to a 
committee, such committee shall report thereon with its recommendation at the next meeting of 
the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 2-35. - Suspension of the rules.  

Any of the provisions of this Section may be temporarily suspended in connection with any matter 
under consideration by a recorded vote of three-fourths (¾) of the members present, except that this shall 
not be construed to permit any action that is contrary to state statute.  

(Prior code 2-2-2) 

Sec. 2-36. - Intergovernmental contracts.  

The Board of Trustees shall have the authority on behalf of the Town to enter into contractual 
arrangements with one (1) or more other local governments for the performance of any governmental 
service, activity or undertaking which could be performed by each of the local governments. Any such 
contract shall set forth fully the purposes, powers, rights, obligations and responsibilities, financial and 
otherwise, of the contracting parties. Such contract may be approved by the Board of Trustees by 
resolution or by ordinance.  

(Prior code 2-2-3) 

Sec. 2-372-25. - Oath and bond.  

All officers elected or appointed in any capacity shall take an oath to support the Constitution of 
the United States and the Constitution of the State. The Board of Trustees may provide that the 
payment of premiums on surety bonds of any officer of the Town shall be made by the Town 
Treasurer from funds so designated by the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-2-4) 

Sec. 2-26.2-38. - Removal from office.  

Any officer or employee appointed by the Board of Trustees may be removed from office or 
suspended for a specific time, with or without pay, by amajority vote of all Board of Trustee members 
whenever such officer shall, after a hearing before the Board of Trustees, be found guilty of a dereliction 
or violation of his or her duty, conduct unbecoming an officer or incompetency.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



8 
 

(Prior code 2-2-5) 

Sec. 2-39. - Work sessions.  

(a)   Work Session Board of Trustees Meetings -The Board of Trustees may meet informally on 
third Tuesday of each month, or at other times upon call of the Mayor or at the request of three 
members of the Board of Trustees to discuss matters pending or proposed.  

(b)   The Town Manager or Clerk shall prepare the agenda, after consultation with the Mayor, 
for work sessions. All matters to appear on the agenda shall be filed with the Town Manager or 
Town Clerk no later than twelve noon the Wednesday prior to the work session.  

(c)   Work sessions of the Board of Trustees are open to the press and public. No binding action 
may be taken at any work session. The Town Manger or Town Clerk, or his or her designee, shall 
keep brief minutes of work sessions.  

(Ord. No. 2019-06, § 2, 2-3-2019) 

Secs. 2-27—2-40—2-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Hearings  

Sec. 2-5141. - Purpose and applicability.  

The purpose of the rules of procedure contained in this Article is to provide a uniform, consistent 
and expeditious method of procedure for the conduct of all hearings held before the Board of 
Trustees and any other board, commission or official, hereinafter referred to as the hearing body, 
or shall be applied uniformly in all such hearings; provided, however, that any board, commission 
or official may supplement the provisions of this Article by the adoption of further rules of 
procedure not inconsistent herewith. All rules adopted to supplement the provisions of this Article 
by any board, commission or official shall be reduced to writing and copies thereof shall be made 
available to the public.  

(Prior code 2-7-1) 

Sec. 2-5242. - Quasi-judicial hearings.  

The provisions of Sections 2-52 through 2-57this Article shall be applicable only to those hearings 
where the Board of Trustees, board, commission or official is called upon to exercise a power of a 
judicial or quasijudicialquasi-judicial nature, which, for purposes of this Article, shall be deemed to 
consist of the following:  

(1)   Hearings before the Board of Trustees upon application for the issuance, or hearings 
for the suspension or revocation of, liquor or fermented malt beverage licenses; upon 
ordinances which zone or rezone realtyreal property; and upon all appeals from the 
decisions of any Town official, board or commission, where such an appeal is otherwise 
authorized, and which requires an evidentiary hearing to determine such appeal.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



9 
 

(2)   Hearings before the Board of Zoning Adjustment upon appeals from any decision 
of the Building Inspector or upon request for a variance or exception from the terms of any 
ordinance.  

(3)   Hearings before any board, commission or official respecting the issuance, 
suspension or revocation of any license issued by the Town.  

(Prior code 2-7-2) 

Sec. 2-5343. - Rights of participants.  

All quasi-judicial hearings shall be conducted under procedures designed to insureensure all 
interested parties due process of law and shall, in all cases, provide for the following:   

(1)  The administration of oaths to all parties or witnesses who appear for the purpose of testifying 
upon factual matters;  

(2)  The cross-examination, upon request, of all witnesses by the interested parties;  

(3)  (1) The stenographic or other verbatim reproduction of all testimony presented 
in the hearing, or an adequate summary of such testimony; and  

(4)  2) A clear decision by the hearing body which shall set forth the factual bases and 
reasons for the decision rendered.  

(Prior code 2-7-3) 

Sec. 2-5444. - Order of procedure.  

(a)   In all quasi-judicial hearings, the following order of procedure shall be followed:  

(1)   Presentation of those documents showing the regularity of the commencement of 
the proceedings and the form of the public notice given;  

(2)   Presentation of evidence by Town staff if required or deemed necessary by the 
hearing body; 

(3) Presentation of evidence by the applicant, petitioner, appealing party or 
complainant; and 

(3)  Presentation of evidence in support of the applicant, petitioner, appealing party or complainant 
by any other person;  

(4)  Presentation Opportunity for public comment, or presentation of evidence from any 
person opposing the application, petition, appeal or complaint; and  

(5)  Presentation of evidence in opposition to the various matters presented by the opposition.by 
any interested party.  

(b)   All documents or other items of physical evidence shall be marked with such identifying 
symbols as may be necessary to determine the exhibit referred to by any witness or other person.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



10 
 

(Prior code 2-7-4) 

Sec. 2-5545. - Rules of evidence.  

The hearing body shall not be required to observe any formal rules of evidence, but may consider 
any matter which a majority thereof concludes is reasonably reliable and calculated to aid the 
hearing body in reaching an accurate determination of the issues involved.  

(Prior code 2-7-5) 

Sec. 2-56. - Deliberation and notice2-46. - Notice of decisions.  

Each hearing body is hereby authorized to deliberate upon the issues presented at the hearing in private, 
nonpublic sessions; provided that noNo decision shall be effective except upon a vote of the members 
of the hearing body, conducted in an open session thereof, which shall be duly recorded in the 
minutes of the hearing body. Written copies of all decisions shall be delivered to the applicant, 
petitioner, appellant, complainant and other interested party requesting same.  

(Prior code 2-7-6) 

Sec. 2-5747. - Judicial enforcement and review.  

Any party aggrieved by any decision rendered by the hearing body in any quasi-judicial hearing, 
as well as department heads, authorized officials of the Town or the Town itself, may apply to have said 
decision reviewed by a court of competent jurisdiction, in accordance with the provisions of the 
Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure.  

(Prior code 2-7-7) 

Sec. 2-5848. - Administrative hearings.  

All other hearings before the Board of Trustees or any board, commission or official shall be 
deemed to be administrative hearings, the purpose of which is to obtain information to enable the 
Board of Trustees to determine legislative policy or to enable any board, commission or official to 
make recommendations to the Board of Trustees in accordance with the provisions of Sections 2-
5949 through 2-6353 hereof and in such a manner so as to enable any person desiring to be heard 
a reasonable opportunity for the presentation of his or hertheir views.  

(Prior code 2-7-8) 

Sec. 2-5949. - Commencement of proceedings.  

All proceedings conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Article shall be commenced in the 
manner provided by the ordinance or statute governing the matter.  

(Prior code 2-7-9) 

Sec. 2-6050. - Referral to hearing body.  

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



11 
 

Upon receipt by the Town Clerk or the secretary of any board, commission or other appropriate 
officer of the Town of any application, petition, notice of appeal, complaint or other instrument 
initiating a hearing, the same shall be referred to the Board of Trustees, board, commission or 
official having jurisdiction over the matter, and a date, time and place for hearing thereon shall be 
set by said Board of Trustees, board, commission or official, who shall direct public notice thereof 
to be given; provided, however, that the Board of Trustees or any board or commission may 
authorize its Town Clerk or secretary to set a date, time and place for hearing upon receipt of such 
instrument without the necessity for action by the Board of Trustees, board, commission or official.  

(Prior code 2-7-10) 

Sec. 2-6151. - Public notice.  

(a)  Public notice of the date, time, place, and purpose for all public hearings regarding the adoption 
of ordinances shall be posted at the Post Office and in a conspicuous place at Town Hall no later than 
three (3) calendar days after the Board of Trustees sets a public hearing and at least nine (9) calendar 
days before the public hearing.  

(b)  Public notice of the date, time, place, and purpose for all public hearings other than those regarding 
the adoption of ordinances shall be posted and published in accordance with State statute. If 
State statue does not specify the notice required, notice will at least be posted at the Post Office 
and in a conspicuous place at Town Hall no later than nine (9) calendar days before the public 
hearing.  

(Prior code 2-7-11; Ord. No. 9-1-2015B, § 1, 9-1-2015) 

Sec. 2-6252. - Preserving order.  

Each hearing body shall have the right to preserve order during the hearing and to take such steps, 
including the ejection of any disorderly or obstreperous person interfering with the proceedings, 
as may be necessary; and the hearing body may, prior to any presentations and as a condition to 
the taking of testimony or information from any person, require the registration of all persons 
desiring to be heard during the hearings. It may restrict the testimony of any person to the material 
issues pending before it and, to prevent duplicative or cumulative presentations, it may impose 
reasonable time restrictions on any person.  

(Prior code 2-7-12) 

Sec. 2-6353. - Adjournments.  

After commencement of any hearing, the hearing body may, if it is deemed necessary to obtain a 
full presentation, adjourn the hearing from time to time by publicly announcing the fact of such 
adjournment and the date, time and place when and where the adjourned hearing shall 
recommence, without the necessity of any further published notice thereof.  

(Prior code 2-7-13) 

Secs. 2-54—2-64—2-8060. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Officers and Employees  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: list0, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



12 
 

Sec. 2-8161. - Town manager appointment and duties. Manager. 

(a)   The Board of Trustees may appoint a Town Manager who shall hold office at the pleasure 
of the majority of the Board for an indefinite period. The Town Manager shall be selected solely 
on the basis of executive and administrative qualifications, with special emphasis on training and 
experience in municipal administration, and shall be compensated at a rate deemed appropriate by 
the Board of Trustees.  

(b)   The purpose of the Office of Town Manager is to provide for the centralization of the 
administrative operations and responsibilities of the Town, with the Town Manager to be the 
administrative head of the Town government under the direction and control of the Board of 
Trustees, and who shall be responsible to the Trustees for the efficient conduct of said office.  

(c)   The Mayor shall annually conduct a performance evaluation of the Town Manager and 
submit the same to the Board of Trustees for its review and approval.  

(d)   The Town Manager is measured on performance in the areas of: financial administration, 
staff management, Board assistance, liaison activities, citizen communication; planning and 
economic development; and other special or project related activities.  

(e)   The Town Manager shall nominate a department head or other senior employee of the 
Town to serve as acting Town Manager during the temporary disability or absence of the Town 
Manager. Such nominee, once confirmed by the Board of Trustees, shall perform the duties and 
exercise all the powers of the Town Manager during the period of disability or absence of the 
Town Manager, but shall receive no additional compensation therefor unless specifically 
authorized by the Board of Trustees. In the event of a vacancy in the position of Town Manager, 
an interim Town Manager may be appointed until the position is filled by regular appointment.  

(f)   Within six (6) months of appointment, the Town Manager shall be required to establish 
and maintain residency within a twenty-five (25) mile radius of the Town Hall.  

(g)   The Board of Trustees may assign the duties of the Town Clerk to the Town Manager.  

(h)  The Town Manager shall be the chief administrative officer of the Town government and may head 
one (1) or more of the departments of the Town. (h) The Town Manager's functions and duties 
shall be as follows:  

(1)   To be responsible to the Board of Trustees for the organization and efficient 
administration of all administrative departments of the Town, and to faithfully carry out 
directives and recommendations of the Board of Trustees in coordinating the administrative 
functions and operations of the various departments.  

(2)   To supervise the enforcement of all laws and ordinances of the Town, save and 
except to the extent that the administration of such enforcement is confined to other 
officials by law or ordinance.  

(3)   To appoint and discharge, subject to the review and consent of the Board of 
Trustees, the heads of Town departments, excepting any Town officer appointed by the 
Board of Trustees, such as the Municipal Court Judge and Town Attorney. The Town 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



13 
 

Manager shall also have the authority to employ, dismiss, suspend or discipline all 
departmental employees.  

(4)   To establish, subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees, appropriate personnel 
salary schedules and rules and regulations governing officers and employees of the Town.  

(5)   To issue administrative regulations and outline general administrative procedures 
applicable to areas and departments within the Town Manager's supervision which are not 
in conflict with the laws of the State or other Town ordinances.  

(6)   To recommend an annual budget to the Board of Trustees, administer the budget as 
finally adopted and keep the Board of Trustees fully advised at all times as to the financial 
condition of the Town, including providing an annual report of the Town's affairs and 
summary of operations of all departments.  

(7)   To recommend to the Board of Trustees for its consideration proposed ordinances, 
changes in ordinances and such other regulatory measures as may be deemed necessary, 
and to attend Trustee meetings with the right to take part in discussion, but not to vote.  

(8)   To supervise and be responsible for the purchase of all supplies, materials and 
equipment as authorized by the Board of Trustees for the various departments, divisions or 
services of the Town in a manner necessitated by and subject to the limitations imposed by 
law.  

(9)   To serve as public relations officer of the Town, and in such capacity to investigate 
and adjust all complaints filed against any employee, department, division or service of the 
Town and to cooperate with all community organizations whose aim and purpose is to 
advance the best interests of the Town and its citizens.  

(Ord. No. 03-2017, § 2, 3-21-2017)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-2017, § 2, adopted March 21, 2017, repealed the former § 2-81, 
and enacted a new § 2-81 as set out herein. The former § 2-81 pertained to town clerk, 
appointment and derived from Prior code 2-3-1. 

Sec. 2-8262. - Town clerk, appointment and dutiesClerk.  

(a)   The Board of Trustees at its first regular meeting after each biennial election shall appoint 
a Town Clerk, or may assign the duties of Town Clerk to the Town Manager. If a Town Clerk is 
appointed, the Clerk will be appointed at the first regular meeting of the Board after each biennial election.  

(b)   The Town Clerk's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)   To serve as Clerk to the Board of Trustees, to attend all meetings of the Board, and 
to keep a journal of all of its proceedings.  

(2)   To act as custodian of all of the Town's records, and all such records shall be open 
at all reasonable times for inspection by the electors of the Town.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



14 
 

(3)   To certify by his or herthe Town Clerk's signature all ordinances and resolutions 
enacted or passed by the Board of Trustees.  

(4)   To maintain a supply of forms for all petitions required to be filed for any purpose 
provided by the Board of Trustees.  

(5)   To countersign all warrants drawn on the Town treasury.  

(6)   To be custodian of all bonds of all officers or employees of the Town.  

(7)   To perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or at the direction 
of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. No. 03-2017, § 3, 3-21-2017)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-2017, § 3, adopted March 21, 2017, repealed the former § 2-82, 
and enacted a new § 2-82 as set out herein. The former § 2-82 pertained to town clerk, oath and 
bond and derived from Prior code 2-3-2. 

Sec. 2-8363. - Town manager and town clerk, oath and bond.  

Before entering upon the duties of office, the Town Manager and the Town Clerk, if appointed, shall 
take an oath of office and furnish a surety bond in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars 
($100,000.00) conditioned upon the faithful discharge of their duties.  

(Ord. No. 03-2017, § 4, 3-21-2017)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-2017, § 4, adopted March 21, 2017, repealed the former § 2-83, 
and enacted a new § 2-83 as set out herein. The former § 2-83 pertained to town clerk, duties and 
derived from Prior code 2-3-3. 

Sec. 2-8464. - Town Attorney, appointment.  

(a) The Board of Trustees at its first regular meeting after each biennial election shall appoint 
a qualified attorney at law as the Town Attorney and shall fix his or herthe compensation. In case 
a vacancy should occur in for such position.  The Board of Trustees may appoint an individual or 
entity to the office of Town Attorney,. The individual or entity appointed to the Boardoffice of 
Trustees shall appoint athe Town Attorney for the unexpired term.  

(Prior code 2-4-1) 

shall provide legal services as an independent contractor pursuant to the terms of an agreement 
approved by the Board of Trustees. TheSec. 2-85. - Town Attorney, duties.  

(a)   shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees.  

(b) The Town Attorney shall act as legal advisor to, and be attorney and counsel for, the Board 
of Trustees and shall be responsible solely to the Board of Trustees. The Town Attorney shall 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



15 
 

advise any officer or department head of the Town in matters relating to his or her official duties 
when so requested by the Board of Trustees and shall file with the Town Clerk a copy of all written 
opinions given by him or herthe Town Attorney.  

(b)  c) The Town Attorney shall prosecute ordinance violations and shall conduct cases in 
Municipal Court for the Town. The Town Attorney shall file with the TownCourt Clerk copies of 
such records and files relating thereto.  

(c)  d) The Town Attorney shall prepare or review all ordinances, contracts, bonds and other 
written instruments which are submitted to him or herthe Town Attorney by the Board of Trustees 
and shall promptly give his or hertheir opinion as to the legal consequences thereof.  

(d)  e) The Town Attorney shall call to the attention of the Board of Trustees all matters of law, 
and changes or developments therein, affecting the Town.  

(e)  f) The Town Attorney shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed for him or hersuch 
person by the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-4-2) 

Sec. 2-8665. - Appointed officers and employees, salaries.  

All appointed officers and employees of the Town shall receive such salary as shall be established 
by the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-5-2) 

Sec. 2-87. - Personnel policy2-66. - Removal from office.  

The Any officer appointed by the Board of Trustees shall establish and publish a personnel 
policy to include but not be limited to vacations, holidays, leave, jury duty, etc.  

(Prior code 2-6-1) 

Sec. 2-88. - Discipline and discharge.  

An employee may be discharged or disciplined for any removed from office or suspended for a 
specific time, with or without pay, by a majority vote of the following reasons:  

(1)  Refusal or inability to follow orders.  

(2)  Inefficiency.  

(3)  ViolationBoard of departmental regulations, general regulations or laws.  

(4)  Drinking on the job or working under Trustees, after a charge in writing has been delivered to the 
influenceofficer and a hearing before the Board of alcoholTrustees has occurred.  

Secs.(5)  Excessive tardiness.  

(6)  Willful destruction of Town property.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight



16 
 

(Prior code 2-6-67—2) 

Sec. 2-89-80. - Reserved.  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-2014, § 1, adopted May 6, 2014, repealed § 2-89, which pertained 
to town manager, appointment, and derived from Ord. No. 03-2013, § 1, adopted Jan. 7, 2014. 

Sec. 2-90. - Reserved.  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 03-2014, § 1, adopted May 6, 2014, repealed § 2-90, which pertained 
to town manager, duties, and derived from Ord. No. 03-2013, § 1, adopted Jan. 7, 2014. 

Secs. 2-91—2-100. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Reserved[1]Code of Ethics  

Sec. 2-81. - Conflicts of interest—General.  

(a) A "conflict of interest" for purposes of this Article, means:  
(1) Any pecuniary, property, or commercial benefit of any person covered by this 
Article or of any parent, spouse, or child of such person; or  
(2) Any personal or private interest of any person covered by this Article, in any matter 
proposed or pending before the Board or commission, as applicable. However, a "conflict 
of interest" does not include any matter involving the common public interest, or any matter 
in which a similar benefit is conferred upon or is available to all persons or property 
similarly situated.  

(b) No person subject to the requirements of this Article shall fail to comply with the applicable 
disclosure and non-action requirements of this Article.  
Sec. 2-82. - Disclosure and non-action—Matters involving conflict of interest.  

(a)  If the Mayor, any Board member, appointee or any member of a commission has a conflict 
of interest with regard to any matter before the Board or commission, as applicable, such person 
shall follow the disclosure and other requirements of this Section.  
(b)  At or before the time the matter is heard, the member shall disclose the interest to the Board 
or commission, as applicable. The member shall not vote on or otherwise take any formal action 
concerning the matter, shall not participate in any executive session concerning the matter, and 
shall refrain from attempting to influence any other member in voting on the matter.  
Sec. 2-83. - Town employees; other provisions concerning conflicts of interest.  

(a) No Town employee shall take any official action concerning any matter as to which the 
employee has a conflict of interest.  
(b) Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any 
employee, shall use for personal or private gain, or for any other personal or private purpose, any 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



17 
 

information which is not available to the public and which is obtained by reason of the person's 
position with the Town, or disclose any such information except as required by law.  
(c) Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any employee 
shall be eligible to contract with the Town for period of four (4) years after the conclusion of 
elected service or employment, as applicable. This includes any contracting entity in which any 
person covered by this Article has personal or private interest.  
 

Footnotes:  

--- (1) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2019-01, § 1, adopted Feb. 17, 2019, repealed Art. V, §§ 2-101—2-106, which 
pertained to social security and retirement and derived from Ord. 92-04 § 1; Ord. 1-1982 §§ 1—4.  

Secs. (d) The provisions of this Article shall be in addition to any applicable conflict of 
interest provision of the State statutes that are at least as restrictive as this Article, and shall 
supersede any such conflict of interest provisions of the State statutes that are less restrictive than 
this Article.  
Secs. 2-10184—2-12090. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Municipal Court  

Sec. 2-12191. - Municipal Court created.  

A qualified Municipal Court of record in and for the Town is hereby created and established 
pursuant to and governed by the provisions of state law to hear and determine cases arising under 
this Code.  

(Prior code 5-1-2) 

Sec. 2-122. - Appropriations.  

The Board of Trustees shall annually appropriate an amount sufficient to pay the salary of the Town 
Attorney's office, the clerical help, office help, office expense and expense of supplies necessary to carry 
out the provisions of this Article.  

(Prior code 5-1-3) 

Sec. 2-1232-92. - Municipal Judge; appointment.  

The Court shall be presided over by a presiding Municipal Judge, appointed by the Board of 
Trustees for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed and duly qualified. The Municipal 
Judge shall perform no other duties during the hours that Court is in session except such as may be 
approved by the Board of Trustees on motion or resolution. The Board of Trustees may appoint 
additional judges from time to time as may be needed to transact the business of the Court or to 
preside in the absence of the presiding Judge. The presiding Judge shall supervise and direct the 
Court's operations. Any Municipal Judge may be removed by the Board of Trustees for cause.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



18 
 

(Prior code 5-1-4) 

Sec. 2-12493. - Qualifications.  

The Board of Trustees may, by ordinance or resolution duly considered and adopted, establish 
from time to time such qualifications for the office of Municipal Judge as it may deem fit and 
proper and consistent with the procurement of persons of judicial temperament and ability.  At a 
minimum, the Municipal Judge shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of 
Colorado. 

(Prior code 5-1-5) 

Sec. 2-12594. - Oath and bond.  

Before entering upon the duties of his or her office, the Municipal Judge shall take and subscribe 
before a Judge of a court of record, and file with the Board of Trustees, an oath or affirmation that 
he or shesuch person will support the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution and laws 
of the State and the ordinances of the Town and will faithfully perform the duties of his or hertheir 
office.  

(Prior code 5-1-6) 

Sec. 2-126. - Salary.95. - Compensation.  

The annual salarycompensation of the Municipal Judge shall be set by the Board of Trustees, and 
payable as other salaries to Town employees... The Board of Trustees shall from time -to -time budget 
and appropriate monies for the compensation of the Municipal Judge.  

(Prior code 5-1-7) 

Sec. 2-12796. - Presiding Judge's powers.  

The presiding Municipal Judge shall have full power and authority to make and adopt rules and 
regulations for conducting the business of the Municipal Court. Such rules and regulations shall be 
reduced to writing.  

(Prior code 5-1-8) 

The Municipal Judge shall have all judicial powers relating to the operation of the court, subject 
to any rules of procedure governing the operation and conduct of municipal courts promulgated 
by the Colorado Supreme Court. The presiding judge shall have authority to issue local rules of 
procedure consistent with any rules of procedure adopted by the Colorado Supreme Court. 

Sec. 2-12897. - Ex officio Clerk.  

The Judge shall also be ex officio Clerk of the Court unless a separate Clerk of the Municipal 
Court shall have been appointed by the Judge by and with the consent of the Board of Trustees.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...



19 
 

(Prior code 5-1-9) 

Sec. 2-12998. - Record of proceedings.  

It shall be a duty of the Court Clerk to keep and maintain a verbatim record of all proceedings and 
evidence at trials, by either electric devices or stenographic means.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 2-130. - Acting Municipal Judge.  

In case99. – Contempt of the temporary absence, sickness or other inability of the Municipal 
Judge to act, the Mayor may appoint a competent person to act as such Municipal Judge until the 
disability of the Municipal Judge is removed. Such appointment must be in writing. An appointment of a 
permanent alternate by the Mayor, to be available upon said disability of the Municipal Judge, is hereby 
authorized and in the discretion of the Mayor.  

(Prior code 5-1-10) 

Sec. 2-131. - Jurisdiction and powers of Court.  

The Municipal Court shall have original jurisdiction of all cases arising under this Code and other 
ordinances of the Town, with full power to carry the same into effect and to punish violations thereof by 
the imposition of such fines and penalties as hereinprovided; it shall have power to compel attendance of 
witnesses and to punish for contempt of such Court by fine not to exceed one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00), or by jail sentence not to exceed five (5) days, and shall have all powers incident to a court 
of record in relation to the same.  

(Prior code 5-1-11; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

a) FailureSec. 2-132. - Examine complaints; file reports.  

The Court Clerk shall at all times receive and examine affidavits and complaints for the violation of 
this Code,and shall issue a summons or warrant in every case where there is probable cause to believe 
that an offense has been committed. He or she shall file monthly reports with the Town Clerk of all 
monies collected by him or her, either in the way of fines or otherwise, and shall on the last day of each 
month pay to the Town Treasurer all monies in his or her hands. The reports shall state the number of 
cases filed in his or her court, how the same were disposed of, and other matters of information 
concerning his or her office.  

(Prior code 5-1-12) 

Sec. 2-133. - Sessions of Court.  

There shall be regular sessions of Municipal Court for the trial of cases, and the Municipal Judge 
shall hear and determine complaints for the violation of any Town ordinances where there is probable 
cause to believe that an offense has been committed; provided, however, that it shall be lawful for the 
Municipal Judge to hold a special session of Municipal Court at any time, including Sundays, holidays and 
night court, if, in the discretion of the Judge, a special session is deemed advisable.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



20 
 

(Prior code 5-1-13) 

Sec. 2-134. - Hours.  

The Court shall be open during such hours as are set by the Municipal Judge with the consent and 
approval of the Board of Trustees, including such night sessions as the Board of Trustees shall approve. 
In case of any conflict between the Municipal Judge and the Board of Trustees as to said hours, the 
decision of the Board of Trustees shall govern. The Municipal Court shall be closed on Sundays and 
holidays except for special sessions.  

(Prior code 5-1-14) 

Sec. 2-135. - Rules of procedure.  

Any rules of procedure contained herein or promulgated by the Municipal Judge that conflict with the 
Rules of Procedure for Municipal Courts as promulgated by the State Supreme Court shall be invalid and 
of no force and effect.  

(Prior code 5-2-1) 

Sec. 2-136. - Commencement of action.  

An action for the violation of any ordinance of the Town shall be brought in the name of the People of 
the State of Colorado as Plaintiff against the person who is alleged to have violated the ordinances as 
Defendant, and shall be commenced by the filing of a complaint or by the issuance of a summons or 
citation or by both summons and a complaint. Each act or series of related acts committed by the same 
person, constituting a violation of any of the provisions of this Code, may be consolidated for the purpose 
of filing a complaint, issuing and serving summonses and subpoenas, trial and appeal, but the Judge 
shall impose a separate fine or penalty for each offense of which the defendant is convicted.  

(Prior code 5-2-2) 

Sec. 2-137. - Content of complaint or summons; warrant;, without adequate excuse, to obey a 
summons, subpoena.  

(a)  Every complaint or summons shall state the name of the defendant, the number of the chapter and 
section alleged to have been violated, the type of offense to which each of said sections relates, the 
date and place of each alleged violation that the defendant is known or believed to have committed 
such offense, and that the defendant is required to appear to answer the charge on a date and at a 
time and place designated in the complaint or summons. The complaint or summons, except as 
provided herein, shall be signed by the person alleging the violation, and the complaint shall be verified 
by the complainant unless he or she is a deputy marshal or a member of the personnel of the Court 
acting in his or her official capacity. Each warrant shall state the name of the defendant, the section 
and chapter alleged to have been violated and the date and place of the offense. Each subpoena shall 
state the name of the case, the name of the witness to whom the subpoena is directed, and that the 
witness is required to appear to give testimony on the date and at the time and place stated in the 
subpoena.  

(b)  It shall be sufficient to charge a violation of the provisions of this Code in any summons or complaint 
by reference to the section and subsection, if any, providing for such violation.  

(c)  Upon the filing of a verified complaint by a person not a deputymarshalor a member of the personnel 
of the Court acting in his or her official capacity, the Judge, Court Clerk or any authorized agent of the 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



21 
 

Court may issue a summons, or the Judge may issue a warrant against the defendant named in the 
complaint.  

(Prior code 5-2-3) 

Sec. 2-138. - Witnesses.  

The defendant and the Town shall be entitled to compel the attendance of any witnesses subject to 
the jurisdiction of the Municipal Court. Upon a written request to the Municipal Court for the attendance of 
a witness or witnesses subject to the jurisdiction of the Court,the Courtshall cause to be , or other court 
order served upon such witness a subpoena compelling his or her attendance at a given time in the 
Municipal Court for the purpose of giving testimony. All witnesses shall be entitled to a fee as established 
by resolution of the Board of Trustees, and such witness fees shall be paid by the party requesting the 
attendance of the witness and taxed as costs of the suit.  

(Prior code 5-2-4) 

Sec. 2-139. - Deliverance of summons or subpoena.  

(a)  Any summons or subpoena issued in accordance with this Articleshall be served in any case by any 
deputy marshalin the Town or in any particular case by any person specifically designated by the Court 
for that purpose.  

(b)  Any person who shall fail to appear in response to any summons or subpoena served on him or her 
shall be guilty of a violation of this Articleand upon conviction shall be punished pursuant to Section 1-
72 of this Code. (Prior code 5-2-5) 

Sec. 2-140. - Defects and objections as to form of summons.  

No objection to the form of any summons or complaint shall be considered by the Court because of 
any defect unless such objection was made by the defendant prior to trial of the case on its merits, but 
trial of the case on its merits shall not waive any objection theretofore made.  

(Prior code 5-2-6) 

that person may be deemed in contempt of the municipal court from which the summons, 
subpoena or other Sec. 2-141. - Bond may be given.  

Every person arrested for a violation of the provisions of this Code shall have the right to be taken 
before a Municipal Court, a Judge thereof, the Town Marshal or a deputy marshaldesignated by the Town 
Marshal, and to be admitted to bail on his or her executing a cash surety or recognizance bond 
conditioned that he or she will appear, on a day and hour therein mentioned, before the Municipal Court 
and not depart the Court, which bond shall be in an amount adjudged sufficient by said Judge or officer to 
insure the appearance of the defendant. Such bond shall be approved by one of the Judges of the 
Municipal Court and entry of the filing thereof shall be made in the Court docket.  

(Prior code 5-2-7) 

Sec. 2-142. - Forfeiture of bond.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



22 
 

In case any defendant in any case before the Municipal Court of the Town shall fail to appear 
according to the terms, requirements and conditions of his or her bond for appearance, or, appearing, 
shall depart the court without leave, the bond shall automatically be forfeited.  

(Prior code 5-2-8) 

Sec. 2-143. - Default.  

When any defendant, duly summoned or admitted to bail, fails to appear at the time his or her case 
is made returnable or set for trial, the Municipal Judge may issue a warrant for the arrest of the 
defendant.  

(Prior code 5-2-10; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 2-144. - Session open to public; exceptions.  

All cases in Municipal Court shall be open to the public; provided, however, that where the type of 
offense charged and the nature of the case are such that it would be to the best interest of the witnesses 
and/or defendant to exclude all persons not directly connected with the case, the Municipal Judge may 
order that the court be cleared of all persons not so directly connected with the case except qualified 
representatives of news agencies. This decision shall be solely in the discretion of the Municipal Judge.  

(Prior code 5-2-11) 

Sec. 2-145. - Explanation of defendant's rights.  

At the beginning of each court session, the Municipal Judge shall explain to the defendants their 
rights in Municipal Court, as well as the order of trial, and may also distribute a pamphlet to each 
defendant explaining such rights.  

(Prior code 5-2-12; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 2-146. - Continuance.  

A person who is duly summoned, who cannot be tried on account of the absence of witnesses or for 
any other good and sufficient cause, may request in open court a continuance of his or her case. The 
Municipal Judge may continue the matter upon terms set by him or her. Additional continuances may be 
granted upon application of the defendant or his or her attorney. However, in no case shall the total 
continuance exceed sixty-five (65) days, unless it appears to the Municipal Judge that extreme hardship 
will result. Where a person on appearance is on bond and a continuance is requested, the Municipal 
Judge shall have the power to continue the bond for a period of the continuance. Nothing herein shall 
affect the right of the Town Attorney to request a continuance.  

(Prior code 5-2-13; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 2-147. - Satisfaction of fines and costs.  

(a)  Refusal to pay fines; incarceration. Every person against whom any fine, penalty or forfeiture shall be 
recovered under the ordinances of the Town, who, being able, refuses or neglects to pay the same, 
together with the costs taxed therewith, when demanded upon execution, may be committed in default 
thereof to such jail as the Municipal Judge selects, until the fine, penalty or forfeiture and costs 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



23 
 

assessed are fully paid and satisfied, said person to be credited at the rate of two dollars ($2.00) per 
day of such incarceration.  

(b)  Inability to pay fines; alternate methods. Nothing contained in this Section shall require confinement 
in lieu of payment if the Municipal Judge is satisfied of the indigent status of the offender, nor shall 
anything contained in this Section prevent the Municipal Judge from decreeing that any such offender, 
regardless of financial status, be given alternative methods of satisfying the obligation to the Town 
created as a result of the conviction of an offense against the ordinances of the Town, including, but 
not limited to, the requirement that an affidavit under oath be filed, disclosing all assets of the offender, 
the imposition of work obligation for the benefit of the Town, or the setting of a reasonable bond, or 
allowance of probation, on such conditions as the Court feels will best serve justice and the object of 
Municipal Court procedures. Such conditions may be any that are reasonable and constitutional, 
including, but not limited to, an opportunity to pay by installment, or a requirement of working certain 
hours of specified days at such duties as the Town may direct.  

(c)  Inability to pay fines; refusal to comply. In the event any offender is given the opportunity of an 
alternate method of discharging his or her obligation to the Town and accepts the conditions incident 
thereto, and fails and neglects to perform such conditions, then such failure or refusal shall constitute a 
separate offense against the ordinances of the Town, and, upon conviction of such offense, the offender 
may be punished by imprisonment for not more than ninety (90) days, the imposition of a fine of not more 
than three hundred dollars ($300.00) or by both such imprisonment and fine; provided, however, that no 
such convicted person shall be confined for more than ninety (90) days for any one (1) conviction, except 
as herein provided for the willful failure to pay an imposed fine. In the event the Court determines the 
maximum allowable penalty should be imposed and finds the offender to be indigent, alternate 
requirements, aswas issued. Upon a finding of contempt, the penalties set forth in thisat Section or 
devised by the Court,1-42 of this Code shall be imposed. apply. 

(d)  Inability b) Failure by any person to pay costs; alternate methods. The Court may also 
determine the conduct themselves in a manner in which costs incurred shall be reimbursed to the 
Town, consistent with the considerationsdecorum and respect inherent in the concept of judicial 
proceedings in the municipal court shall be deemed a contempt of court. Upon a finding of 
contempt, the penalties set forth in thisat Section, the laws governing the same and the desire to 
achieve justice.  

(Ord. 92-04 § 1) 

Sec. 2-148. - Person in custody.  

A person in custody who cannot be tried on account of the absence of witnesses or other cause, and 
who cannot give bail for his or her appearance, may be confined to a security facility, not exceeding three 
(3) days, and in such case the Municipal Judge shall deliver to the officer committing such a person a 
commitment stating the cause of the detention.  

(Prior code 5-2-17; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 2-149. - Sentence suspended.  

The Municipal Judge is hereby authorized to suspend the payment of any fine, or any part thereof, 
assessed for a violation-42 of this Code or any ordinance. The Municipal Judge may impose reasonable 
conditions upon such suspension and revoke such suspension and reinstate the sentence for a violation 
of such conditions. shall apply. 

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



24 
 

(Prior code 5-2-18; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

(c) Contempt of court proceedings shall be held in accordance with Colorado Rules of Civil 
Procedure 107, as amended. 

Sec. 2-150100. - Fines paid to Town Treasurer.  

All fines or other monies collected in the Municipal Court for the violation of this Code or any of 
the ordinances of the Town shall be reported by the Municipal Court and paid to the Town 
Treasurer each month.  

(Prior code 5-2-19) 

Sec. 2-151101. - Imposition of court costs.  

There shall be imposed upon each defendant/ or respondent in the Municipal Court a cost of 
twenty-five dollars ($25.00) upon conviction of a violation of any Town ordinance, said 
disposition including but not limited towithout limitation the granting of a deferred sentence or 
deferred prosecution. No court costs shall be imposed in any case in which the charges are 
dismissed prior to prosecution or upon a finding by the Court of not guilty; nor shall any court 
costs be imposed should any defendant appear prior to the date of the first appearance and pay said 
fine to the Town Clerk.  

(Ord. 11-1984; Ord. 7-1989; Ord. 03-2007 §1) 

Sec. 2-102. – Restitution. 

(a) Restitution may be ordered by the Municipal Court on its own motion, or upon oral or 
written motion of the prosecutor where a victim of the crime suffered a pecuniary loss. Any order 
for restitution shall include one or more of the following: 

(1) An order of a specific amount of restitution be paid by the defendant; 

(2) An order that the defendant is obligated to pay restitution, but that the specific 
amount of restitution shall be determined within the ninety-one (91) days immediately 
following the order of conviction, unless good cause is shown for extending the time period 
by which the restitution amount shall be determined. Any such order shall set a date for a 
restitution hearing within the time limits prescribed if so requested by the defendant; 

(3) An order, in addition to or in place of a specific amount of restitution, that the 
defendant pay restitution covering the actual costs of specific future treatment of any victim 
of the crime. 

(b) The Municipal Court shall base its order for restitution upon information presented to the 
court by the prosecutor, who shall compile such information through victim impact statements or 
other means to determine the amount of restitution and the identities of the victims.  

(c) Any order for restitution entered pursuant to this Section is a final civil judgment in favor 
of the Town and any victim.  Any such judgment remains in force until the restitution is paid in 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



25 
 

full. Any order for restitution shall remain in force notwithstanding the termination of a deferred 
judgment and sentence or a deferred adjudication, the entry of an order of expungement pursuant 
to C.R.S. § 19-1-306, or an order to seal entered pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-72-7. 

Sec. 2-103. – Collections.  

If a person against whom any restitution, fine, penalty or costs has been assessed shall fail to pay 
any portion of such assessed amount when due, the Municipal Court may enter a judgment for the 
full amount, including any late fees as approved by the Board of Trustees by resolution, pursuant 
to the provisions of C.R.S. § 13-10-113(6) and C.R.S. § 18-1.3-506, as those statutes may be 
amended from time to time. Any such judgment may be referred by the Municipal Court to the 
Town Clerk for collection, and any costs of collection, up to a limit of eighteen percent (18%) of 
the amount owed, shall be assessed against such person. Interest shall accrue from and after such 
judgment in accordance with the provisions of C.R.S. § 5-12-102 as that statute may be amended 
from time to time. 

Sec. 1522-104. - Penalty assessments.  

Provided that all fines, fees and costs associated with the issuance of a summons and complaint 
for a traffic infraction are paid or mailed not more than twenty (20) days after the issuance of the 
summons and complaint, the assessment of points against the defendant's driving privileges shall 
be reduced as follows:  

(1)   For a violation in which there was no injury or property damage, and having an 
assessment of either three (3) or four (4) points, the assessment will be reduced by two (2) 
points.  
(2)   For a violation having an assessment of two (2) points, the assessment will be 
reduced by one (1) point.  
(3)   For all other violations, a court appearance is mandatory, except those violations 
not requiring a court appearance by law.  

(Ord. 04-2011 §1) 

Secs. 2-153105—2-170120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Marshal's Department  

Sec. 2-171121. - Creation, composition.  

There is hereby created a Marshal's Department for the Town which shall consist of one (1) Town 
Marshal and as many deputy marshalsasmarshals as may from time to time be deemed necessary 
for the safety and good order of the Town.  

(Prior code 2-8-1) 

Sec. 2-172122. - Departmental rules and regulations.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



26 
 

The Marshal's Department shall be operated and managed in accordance with such departmental 
rules and regulations as may from time to time be adopted by the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-8-2) 

Sec. 2-173123. - Appointment, powers and duties of the Town Marshal.  

At its first regular meeting following each biennial election, the Board of Trustees shall appoint a 
Town Marshal who shall be the head of the Marshal's Department. It shall be the duty of the Town 
Marshal to:  

(1)  See that the ordinances of the Town are duly enforced and the rules and regulations 
of the Marshal's Department obeyed, and to perform such duties as may be required by the 
Board of Trustees;  
(2)  Direct the operations of the Marshal's Department, subject to the rules and 
regulations thereof;  
(3)  Arrest any person violating any of the Town ordinances and take such violator before 
the Municipal Court for trial;  
(4)  Take charge of the Town jail, all prisoners confined therein and all those who are 
sentenced to labor on the streets or public works of the Town, and see that orders and 
sentences with reference to such are fully executed and complied with; and  
(5)  Render such accounts of the Marshal'sDepartment, his or herMarshal's Department, 
their duties and receipts as may be required by the Board of Trustees and keep the records 
of his or hertheir office open to inspection by the Board of Trustees at any time.  

(Prior code 2-8-3) 

Sec. 2-174124. - Oath and bond of Town Marshal.  

Before entering upon the duties of such office, the Town Marshal shall take and subscribe to an 
oath that he or shesuch person will support the Constitution and laws of the State, Constitution of 
the United States and ordinances of the Town, and that he or shesuch person will faithfully perform 
the duties of the office upon which he or shesuch person is about to enter. The Town Marshal shall 
furnish a surety bond to be approved by the Board of Trustees, in the amount of ten thousand 
dollars ($10,000.00), conditioned upon the faithful discharge of the duties of his or hertheir office.  

(Prior code 2-8-3) 

Sec. 2-175125. - Duties of deputy marshals.  

All members of the Marshal's Department shall have power and duties as follows:  
(1)   They shall perform all duties required by theTownthe Town Marshal.  
(2)   They shall suppress all riots, disturbances and breaches of the peace, apprehend all 
disorderly persons in the Town and pursue and arrest any person fleeing from justice in 
any part of the State.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



27 
 

(3)   They shall be the enforcement officers of the Town and shall see that the provisions 
of this Code and the laws of the State are complied with. They shall arrest without process 
all persons engaged in the violation in their presence of any provision of this Code or the 
laws of the State. Upon such arrest, they shall forthwith convey such offenders before the 
proper officer to be dealt with according to law; provided that they may incarcerate any 
person whom they shall arrest at a late and unusual hour of the night until the following 
morning; and provided further that, in the special cases relating to traffic offenses, they 
may release an arrested person upon his or hersuch person's written promise to appear in 
court.  
(4)   They shall report such offenses as may come to their knowledge to the proper Town 
official or they shall report the same to the Municipal Judge, securing a warrant for the 
arrest of offenders when desirable.  
(5)   They shall execute and return all writs and processes to them directed by the 
Municipal Judge in any case arising under a Town ordinance, and they may serve the same 
in any part of the County.  

(Prior code 2-8-4) 

Sec. 2-176126. - Oath of deputy marshals.  

Before entering upon the duties of his or hersuch office, each deputy marshalshallmarshal shall take 
and subscribe an oath that he or shesuch person will support the Constitution and laws of the State, 
the Constitution of the United States and the ordinances of the Town, and that he or shesuch person 
will faithfully perform the duties of the office upon which he or shesuch person is about to enter.  

(Prior code 2-8-5) 

Sec. 2-177. - Uniforms.  

Every deputy marshalshall wear at all times while on duty a uniform of the type and quality 
prescribed by the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 2-8-6) 

Sec. 2-178. - Duty of citizens to aid.  

It shall be the duty of all persons, when called upon by any deputy marshal, to promptly aid and 
assist such officer in the discharge of his or her duties.  

(Prior code 2-8-7) 

Sec. 2-179127. - Extraterritorial duty.  

The Town Marshal may, in his or hertheir discretion, upon request of the chief of police, town 
marshal or person exercising the functions thereof in any other jurisdiction, assign deputy 
marshalsunder his or hermarshals under their control, together with such equipment as he or shesuch 
person shall deem to be proper, to perform temporary duty in the requesting jurisdiction.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



28 
 

(Prior code 2-8-8) 

Sec. 2-180128. - Reserve marshals; appointment; powers.  

The Mayor may, upon any emergency, riot, pestilence, invasion or at any time he or shethe Mayor 
shall deem it necessary for the peace, good order or health of the Town, order the Town Marshal 
to appoint reserve marshalsformarshals for a specified time, not exceeding two (2) days, without 
the approval of the Board of Trustees. The Mayor may also, with the approval of a majority of the 
Board of Trustees, order the Town Marshal to appoint such number of reserve marshalsasmarshals 
as may be agreed upon by the Board of Trustees to serve upon days of election, public celebration 
and holidays, and said reserve marshals shall have and possess all the powers and privileges of 
regular policemenmarshals during the time for which they may be appointed.  

(Prior code Secs. 2-8-9) 

Sec. 129—2-181. -140. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIII – Special marshals. Parking Code Enforcement Officers 

Sec. 2-141. – Creation. 

There is created the position of special code enforcement officer. All special code enforcement 
officers shall be hired or designated as a special code enforcement officer by the Town Manager, 
and may be employees, agents or independent contractors (or employees thereof) of the Town. 
Such special code enforcement officers may be hired on a temporary or permanent basis, and may 
work full- or part-time hours. 

Sec. Any person desiring the services of a special marshal in or about his or her property or place of 
business, upon application to the Board of Trustees, may have any suitable person named for such 
special marshal duly appointed as such. Such special marshal shall take the usual oath of office and shall 
have the powers of a regular deputy marshalin and upon the premises for which he or she may have 
been appointed, but not elsewhere; provided, however, that special marshals so appointed shall be under 
the control of the Town Marshal. The person at whose instance such officer was appointed shall be 
responsible for the pay of such officer, and the Town shall in no case incur any liability whatever by 
reason of the appointment of such special marshal. No person appointed as a special marshal under the 
terms of this Section shall be considered a member of the Marshal's Department.  

(Prior code 2-8-10) 

Sec. 2-182. - Special marshals, shield.  

All special or reserve marshalsshall wear a shield having inscribed thereon "Special Marshal" while 
on duty. It shall be unlawful for any special marshalto wear his or her badge or shield when he or she is 
not performing the duties for which said marshal is employed.  

(Prior code 2-8-11) 

2-142 – Authority. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



29 
 

(a) Special code enforcement officers shall have the authority to enforce all parking 
regulations set forth in this the Town of Green Mountian Falls Municipal Code, including without 
limitation, the parking regulations set forth in the Model Traffic Code adopted by the Town in 
Chapter 10.04.   

(b) Special code enforcement officers may issue Municipal Court summonses and complaints 
for violations of the Code provisions they are authorized to enforce pursuant to subsection (a) 
hereof; provided that special code enforcement officers shall have no authority to detain or arrest 
individuals, or impound property. 

Secs. 2-143—2-150. - Reserved.   

ARTICLE IX - Emergency Management   

Sec. 2-151. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Chapter is for the town to establish and maintain a local emergency 
management agency as described in the Colorado Disaster Emergency Act, C.R.S. § 24-7-33.5, et 
seq in the event of an emergency.  For purposes of this Article, emergency event means the 
occurrence or imminent threat in the Town of widespread or severe damage, injury, or loss of life 
or property resulting from any natural or human cause, including without limitation flood, 
earthquake, wind, storm, hazardous substance incident, oil spill or other water contamination, 
volcanic activity, epidemic, air pollution, blight, drought, infestation, explosion, civil disturbance, 
hostile military or paramilitary action, or invasion. 

Sec. 2-152. – Emergency Manager.  

(a) The Board of Trustees hereby appoints the Town Manager as the emergency manager to 
direct appropriate planning, management and coordination in all phases of emergency 
management, including mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery. 
(b) The Mayor shall notify Secs. 2-183—2-200. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIII - the Colorado Division of Homeland Security Office of Emergency Protection  

Sec. 2-201. - Purpose.  

The Town will from time to timeManagement, in the future, in all probability, have within its corporate limits 
fire, flood, civil disturbances and riots, and, therefore, it is deemed in the best interestwriting of the 
existence of the Town to exercise certainlocal emergency police powers necessary and incidental 
tomanagement agency, the maintenancename of the safety, health and welfare of the citizens the Town. 
current emergency manager, and any other related information the division requests. 

(Prior code 2-9-1) 

Sec. 2-202. - Mayor's authority.  

2-153. - Powers of Emergency police powers shall be placed in the hands of the Mayor, and these 
powers shouldManager.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



30 
 

The following powers may be exercised by the emergency manager only in the event of an 
emergency event as herein contemplated, shall only be exercised for such period of time as the 
actual emergency exists, and, further, shall only be invoked after a declaration and proclamation of 
an emergency.  event: 

(Prior code 2-9-2) 

Sec. 2-203. - Powers of Mayor.  

In addition to any and all powers enumerated in this Code, the Mayor shall have further emergency 
powers necessary to preserve the peace and order of the Town as follows:  

(1)  The Mayor shall have the power to declare an emergency to exist when, in his or her opinion, 
one (1) or more of the following conditions exists:  

a.  There is extreme likelihood of danger of destruction of life or property due to unusual 
conditions;  

b.  Unusual or extreme weather conditions exist, making use of Town streets or areas difficult 
or impossible;  

c.  Civil unrest, commotion or uprising is imminent or exists; and/or  

d.  There is a stoppage or loss of electrical power affecting a major portion of the Town.  

(2)  The emergency shall be declared in a proclamation of the Mayor, which proclamation shall be 
delivered to the Town Marshal, who shall then see that said proclamation is delivered to all news 
media within the Town and who shall also use public address systems throughout the Town and 
immediately notify the public of said proclamation and that violators will be arrested and subject 
to penalty.  

(3)  After declaration of such emergency, the Mayor shall have the authority to exercise any or all of 
the following powers:  

a.  (1) To exercise any and all powers granted by state law or this Code;  
(2) To call upon regular and auxiliary enforcement agencies and organizations within 
or without the Town to assist in preserving and keeping the peace and the preservation of 
life and property of the citizenry of the Town;  
b.  (2) To close streets and sidewalks and to delineate areas within the Town wherein an 
emergency exists;  

c.  To impose a curfew upon all or any portion of the Town, thereby requiring all persons in such 
designated curfew areas to forthwith remove themselves from the public streets, alleys, 
parks or other public places; provided, however, that physicians, nurses and ambulance 
operators performing medical services, utility personnel maintaining essential public 
services, firemen and Town authorized or requested enforcement officers and personnel 
may be exempted from such curfew;  

d.  To order the closing of any business establishments anywhere within the Town for the period 
of the emergency, such businesses to include, but not be limited to, those selling intoxicating 
liquors, malt beverages, gasoline or firearms; and/or  

e.  The power to(3) To enter into reciprocal aid, mutual aid, joint powers agreements, 
intergovernmental assistance agreements or other contracts or plans with other 
governmental entities necessary for the protection of life and property, including the 
furnishing or exchange of supplies, equipment, facilities, personnel or services;  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



31 
 

(4) To promulgate such regulations as necessary to protect life and property and 
preserve critical resources, which regulations shall be confirmed at the earliest practical 
time by the Board of Trustees and shall be circulated to the public, including without 
limitation: 

a. Suspension of provisions of this Code that prescribe procedures for conduct 
of Town business, if strict compliance would in any way prevent, hinder or delay necessary 
action in coping with the emergency; 

b. The transfer or reassignment of Town staff for the purpose of performing or 
facilitating emergency services; 

c. The authorization of compensation for assistance providers; 
d. The waiver of all provisions for competitive bidding direct the purchasing 

agent to purchase necessary supplies in the open market at not more than commercial 
prices; 

e. The declaration of a public curfew; and 
f. Such other measures and regulations necessary to preserve the public peace, 

health and safety. 
(5) To direct protective actions, including without limitation shelter-in-place or Town 
evacuation; 
(6) To prescribe routes, modes of transportation and destinations in connection with an 
evacuation, including controlling ingress to and egress from an emergency area and the 
movement of persons within the area; 
(7) To provide for temporary housing;  
(8) To request county, state and federal assistance, compensation and grants in support 
of emergency and/or disaster preparedness, prevention, mitigation, response, continuity or 
recovery activities; and  
(9) To do any and all acts necessary and incidental to the preservation of life, limb and 
property within the Town.  

Sec. (Prior code 2-9-3) 

Sec. 2-204. - Time effective.  

2-154. – Emergency operations plan.  
(a) The emergency manager shall be responsible for preparing and keeping a current 
emergency operations plan, which shall delineate measures to be implemented by the Town before, 
during and after an emergency event. 
(b) The emergency operations plan shall identify department responsibilities, including 
requirements for maintenance of specific facilities, and department emergency procedures and 
critical resource information. 
Sec. proclamation specifying2-155. – Procedures for declaring emergency event.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



32 
 

(a) Declaration. The Mayor is authorized to declare that an emergency event exists when, in 
the Mayor's opinion and in consultation with exactnessthe emergency manager, such an event has 
occurred or the threat of such event is imminent. Declaration of an emergency event shall be in 
writing and shall describe the nature and circumstances of the emergency and the area in which the 
threatened. The emergency is declared to existmanager shall become effective upon its issuancebe 
responsible for the publication and dissemination of information to the public and shall file the 
declaration with the town clerk and forward a copy to the division. 

(b) Effect. A declaration of an emergency event shall automatically empower the emergency 
manager to exercise any and all of the emergency powers permitted by state and local law or this 
Chapter. The Board of Trustees shall convene to perform its legislative powers as the situation 
demands and shall receive reports through the emergency manager and evaluate and enact policy 
and other support as necessary. 

(c) Duration. A declaration of an emergency event shall remain in effect until the Board of 
Trustees or the emergency manager declares that the threat of danger has passed and publishes a 
notice effecting the same. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a state of emergency shall not be 
continued for more than seven days unless the board of trustees approves a longer duration. Any 
approval of a continuance or termination of an emergency event shall be filed with the Town Clerk 
and a copy shall be forwarded to the Colorado Division of Homeland Security Office of 
Emergency Management. 

Sec. .  

(Prior code 2-9-3) 

Sec. 2-205. - Duration of state of emergency.  

Any emergency proclaimed in accordance with the provisions of this Articleshall terminate after forty-
eight (48) hours from the issuance thereof, or upon the issuance of a proclamation determining an 
emergency no longer exists, whichever occurs first; provided, however, that upon declaration of a second 
or further emergencies to exist, the emergency powers set forth herein may be exercised during such 
further emergency period or periods, but never for more than forty-eight (48) hours in one (1) declared 
emergency period.  

(Prior code 2-9-3) 

2-156. – Line of succession.  

(a) If the Mayor is unable to perform any duties set forth in this Article, then the duties 
conferred on the Mayor shall be performed by the Mayor Pro Tem. 

(b) If the emergency manager is unable to manage an emergency event or otherwise unable to 
perform the duties set forth in this Article, then the duties conferred on the emergency manager 
shall be performed by the following, in descending order: the Mayor, then the Town Marshal, then 
the public works director, then the planning director, then the deputy Town Marshal. 

Secs. 2-206157—2-220160. - Reserved. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



33 
 

ARTICLE IXX - Planning Commission[2]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (2) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2020-03, § 1, adopted July 7, 2020, repealed the former Art. IX, §§ 2-221—2-
229, and enacted a new Art. IX as set out herein. The former Art. IX pertained to similar subject matter 
and derived from Prior code 6-2-1—6-2-9; Ord. No. 2019-05, § 1, adopted Oct. 15, 2019; Ord. No. 2019-
07, § 1, adopted Dec. 3, 2019.  

Sec. 2-221161. - Purpose.  

(a)   The Town is a rural mountain community in a natural setting characterized by 
mountainsides, boulders, streams, trees and other flora indigenous to its location, altitude and 
climate.  

(b)   Buildings and other improvements within the Town exhibit a prevailing rustic aspect 
subordinate to the environment. Dwellings designed for single-family residence predominate. 
Commercial, civic and residential activities are of a service, crafts, professional and recreational 
nature. It is the purpose of this Article to accomplish the preservation and enhancement of these 
conditions and qualities. Therefore, pursuant to the authority conferred by state statutes, there is 
created a Planning Commission for the Town.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 1, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-222162. - Powers and duties.  

The Planning Commission shall have the powers and duties as set forth in C.R.S. § 31-23-201, et 
seq., as amended, including, without limitation, the duty to formulate and approve a Master Plan 
for the Town and to make careful and comprehensive surveys and studies of present and future 
growth of the Town with due regard to its relation to neighboring territories. The plan shall be 
made with the general purpose of guiding and accomplishing a coordinated, well-adjusted and 
harmonious development of the Town and its environs which will, in accordance with present and 
future needs, best promote the health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity and general 
welfare as well as efficiency and economy in the process of development; including among other 
things adequate provision for traffic, beautification, promotion of safety from fire and other 
dangers, adequate provision for light and air, the promotion of healthful and convenient 
distribution of population, the promotion of good civic design and arrangement, wise and efficient 
expenditures of public funds and the adequate provision of public utilities and other public 
requirements. The Planning Commission shall review all proposed subdivisions, proposed zoning 
and such other matters relating to planning as is deemed advisable. The decisions of the Planning 
Commission shall be purely advisory in nature to the Board of Trustees. Upon the final adoption 
of the Master Plan by the Planning Commission, the same shall be presented to the Board of 
Trustees for its approval and the Master Plan shall be given primary consideration by the Board of 
Trustees. The Board of Trustees may amend or alter the Master Plan but only after the Planning 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



34 
 

Commission has had the opportunity to comment upon the proposed amendment. Any deviation 
from the Master Plan shall be determined to be an amendment to the Plan.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 1, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-223163. - Membership and term.  

(a)   The Planning Commission shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board of 
Trustees. In addition to five (5) regular, voting members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall 
serve as an ex officio member of the Planning Commission and may take part in discussions but 
shall not vote.  

(b)   The term of the ex officio member shall correspond to his or hertheir official tenure. The 
term of each voting member shall be three (3) years or until his or hertheir successor takes office. 
A voting member may be removed by the Board of Trustees upon the filing of a written statement 
by a member of the Board of Trustees if, after public hearing, the Board of Trustees finds the 
member has committed inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 1, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-224164. - Meetings.  

(a)   The Planning Commission shall meet at the call of the Town Manager or the Town 
Manager's designee.  

(b)   Public notice conforming to the requirements of Section 2-61 hereof and Chapter 16 of the 
Code shall be required prior to any public hearing.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 1, 7-7-2020) 

Secs. 2-225165—2-240170. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXI - Board of Adjustment[3]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (3) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2020-03, § 2, adopted July 7, 2020, repealed the former Art. X, §§ 2-241—2-
249, and enacted a new Art. X as set out herein. The former Art. X pertained to similar subject matter and 
derived from Prior code 6-3-1.2 A and Prior code 6-3-1.2 B.  

Sec. 2-241171. - Purpose.  

A Board of Adjustment is hereby created to hear and decide appeals from and review any order, 
requirement, decision or determination made by any administrative official charged with 
enforcement of this Code.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



35 
 

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 2, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-242172. - Powers and duties.  

(a)   The Board of Adjustment may overturn or modify any order, requirement, decision or 
determination made by an administrative official charged with enforcing this Code when it 
determines that the official incorrectly applied this Code or exceeded his or hertheir authority. In 
addition, where there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out 
the strict letter of this Code, the Board of Adjustment has the power, in passing upon all appeals, 
to vary or modify the application of the regulations or provisions of this Code relating to the use, 
construction or alteration of buildings or structures, or the use of land, so that the spirit of this 
Code is observed, public safety and welfare secured and substantial justice done.  

(b)   The concurring vote of four (4) members of the Board of Adjustment shall be necessary to 
reverse any order, requirement, decision or determination of any administrative official, or to 
decide in favor of the applicant any matter upon which it is required to pass under this Article or 
to effect any variation of this Article.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 2, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-243173. - Membership and term.  

(a)   The Board of Adjustment shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board of 
Trustees. In addition to five (5) regular, voting members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall 
serve as an ex officio member of the Board of Adjustment and may take part in discussions but 
shall not vote.  

(b)   The term of the ex officio member shall correspond to his or hertheir official tenure. The 
term of each voting member shall be three (3) years or until his or hertheir successor takes office. 
A voting member may be removed by the Board of Trustees upon the filing of a written statement 
by a member of the Board of Trustees if, after a public hearing, the Board of Trustees finds the 
member has committed inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 2, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-244174. - Meetings.  

(a)   The Board of Adjustment shall meet at the call of the Town Manager or the Town 
Manager's designee and shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of all appeals.  

(b)   Public notice conforming to the requirements of Section 2-61 hereof and Chapter 16 of the 
Code shall be required prior to any public hearing.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 2, 7-7-2020) 

Secs. 2-175—2-245—2-260180. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XI - Code of Ethics  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



36 
 

Sec. 2-261. - Conflicts of interest—General.  

(a)  A "conflict of interest" for purposes of this Article, means:  

(1)  Any pecuniary, property, or commercial benefit of any person covered by this Article or of any 
parent, spouse, or child of such person; or  

(2)  Any personal or private interest of any person covered by this Article, in any matter 
proposed or pending before the Board or commission, as applicable. However, a "conflict 
of interest" does not include any matter involving the common public interest, or any matter 
in which a similar benefit is conferred upon or is available to all persons or property 
similarly situated.  

(b)  No person subject to the requirements of this Article shall fail to comply with the applicable disclosure 
and non-action requirements of this Article.  

(Ord. No. 02-2014, 5-6-2014) 

Sec. 2-262. - Disclosure and non-action—Matters involving conflict of interest.  

(a)  If the Mayor, any Board member, appointee or any member of a commission has a conflict 
of interest with regard to any matter before the Board or commission, as applicable, he or she 
shall follow the disclosure and other requirements of this Section.  

(b)  At or before the time the matter is heard, the member shall disclose the interest to the Board 
or commission, as applicable. The member shall not vote on or otherwise take any formal action 
concerning the matter, shall not participate in any executive session concerning the matter, and 
shall refrain from attempting to influence any other member in voting on the matter.  

(Ord. No. 02-2014, 5-6-2014) 

Sec. 2-263. - City employees; other provisions concerning conflicts of interest.  

(a)  No Town employee shall take any official action concerning any matter as to which the employee has 
a conflict of interest.  

(b)  Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any employee, shall use 
for personal or private gain, or for any other personal or private purpose, any information which is not 
available to the public and which is obtained by reason of the person's position with the Town, or 
disclose any such information except as required by law.  

(c)  Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any employee 
shall be eligible to contract with the Town for period of four (4) years after the conclusion of 
elected service or employment, as applicable. This includes any contracting entity in which any 
person covered by this Article has personal or private interest.  
(d)  The provisions of this Article shall be in addition to any applicable conflict of interest provision of the 

State statutes that are at least as restrictive as this Article, and shall supersede any such conflict of 
interest provisions of the State statutes that are less restrictive than this Article.  

(Ord. No. 02-2014, 5-6-2014) 

ARTICLE XII - Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee[4]  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



37 
 

 

Footnotes:  

--- (4) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2020-03, § 3, adopted July 7, 2020, repealed the former Art. XII, §§ 2-701-2-
711, and enacted a new Art. XII as set out herein. The former Art. XIII pertained to Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Committee and derived from Ord. No. 05-2017, § 1, adopted Sept. 19, 2017.  

Sec. 2-271

Sec. 2-181. - Purpose.  

The Town's health, welfare, beauty, and economic vitality would best be served if there was more 
coordination in planning for the maintenance and improvement of its parks, recreation, and trails; 
therefore, the Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee, a standing committee, is hereby 
created.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 3, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-272182. - Powers and duties.  

(a)   The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall have the power and duty to 
formulate and approve a Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan; to review the maintenance and 
capital needs of the Town's parks, recreation facilities, and trails; to make recommendations to the 
Board of Trustees for additional resources that may be needed to address these needs; to 
recommend trail construction, maintenance, planning and acquisition; and to recommend capital 
projects that the Town should undertake to improve recreation facilities. The decision of the Parks, 
Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall be purely advisory in nature to the Board of 
Trustees. Upon the final adoption of any new version of the Master Plan by the Committee, the 
same shall be presented to the Board of Trustees for its approval.  

(b)   The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall have the power to solicit 
donations and carry out fundraising campaigns as approved by the Board of Trustees and in 
accordance with the Town's Donation Solicitation policy. All funds donated shall be accepted in 
accordance with the Town's Donation Acceptance policy and given to the Town Clerk for deposit 
in a special designated fund maintained for this purpose by the Town.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 3, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-273183. - Membership.  

The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall consist of five (5) members appointed 
by the Board of Trustees. All members shall be residents of the Town. In addition to regular 
appointed members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall serve as an ex officio member of the 
Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee and may take part in discussions but shall not 
vote.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 3, 7-7-2020) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Justified, Space Before:  0 pt, After:  10 pt



38 
 

Sec. 2-274184. - Annual report.  

At the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in February of each year, the chair of the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee will submit a written report to the Board of Trustees 
summarizing the work of the Committee during the preceding calendar year. At that time, the chair 
of the Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall also present for the Board of 
Trustees review and approval a proposed work plan for the new year.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 3, 7-7-2020) 

Secs. 2-275185—2-280190. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIII - Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee  

Sec. 2-281191. - Purpose.  

The public health, safety and welfare would best be served by effective coordination in fire 
mitigation activities between the Town and other regional governmental agencies. Therefore, a 
Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee is hereby established to advise the Board of Trustees and to 
coordinate with the El Paso County Emergency Management, the Colorado State Patrol, and other 
governmental agencies on fire-related issues affecting the Town and to develop a notification and 
evacuation plan for the Green Mountain Falls community.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 4, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-282192. - Powers and duties.  

The Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee shall have the power and duty to formulate fire 
mitigation plans, to coordinate with El Paso County Emergency Management, the Colorado State 
Patrol, and other governmental agencies on fire-related issues affecting the Town and to develop 
a notification and evacuation plan for the Green Mountain Falls community. The Fire Mitigation 
Advisory Committee shall work to carry out the recommendations in the "Action 
Recommendations for Structural Ignitability and Public Outreach" set forth in the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan, adopted June 25, 2019, on p. 93, Table 2. The Fire Mitigation 
Advisory Committee may make further recommendations to the Board of Trustees for additional 
resources that may be needed to address these needs, and to recommend projects that the Town 
should undertake to improve the Town's resiliency to fire-related hazards. All activities of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall be subject to final approval of the Board of Trustees of the 
Town.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 4, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-283193. - Membership.  

The Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board 
of Trustees. All members shall be residents of the Town. Persons interested in becoming members 
shall complete and submit an application in accordance with the Town's Policy on Advisory 
Committees, Appointments to Outside Agencies and Volunteers. In addition to regular appointed 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



39 
 

members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall serve as an ex officio member of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee and shall take part in discussions but shall not vote.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 4, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-284194. - Annual report.  

At the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in February of each year, the chair of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall submit a written report to the Board of Trustees summarizing 
the work of the Committee during the preceding calendar year. At that time, the chair of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall also present for the Board of Trustees review and approval 
a proposed work plan for the new year.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 4, 7-7-2020) 

Secs. 2-285195—2-290200. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIV - Boards, Committees and Commissions  

Sec. 2-291201. - Creation.  

Pursuant to the authority conferred by state statutes, there is hereby created a planning commission, 
a board of adjustment, a parks, recreation and trails advisory committee, and a fire mitigation 
advisory committee, which shall hereinafter for the purposes of this Article be referred to as 
"boards, committees, and commissions" or "board, committee or commission." All boards, 
committees, and commissions shall act in a purely advisory role to Board of Trustees unless 
expressly stated otherwise in this Code or statute.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-292202. - Applicability.  

The provisions of this title shall apply to all boards, committees, and commissions except when 
the topic is specifically addressed in the section related to the individual board, committee, or 
commission.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-293203. - Members and alternates; appointments and requirements.  

(a)  All members of any board, committee, or commission shall be residents of the Town and 
shall be appointed by Board of Trustees. In making appointments, the Board of Trustees shall 
strive to select members representative of all community demographic and stakeholder groups. If 
any member ceases to reside in the Town, membership shall immediately terminate. All boards, 
committees, and commissions shall consist of five (5) voting members. No member of the Board 
of Trustees and no Town employee shall serve as a voting member of any board, committee, or 
commission. No person shall serve as a member or alternate member of more than one (1) board, 
committee, or commission at the same time.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



40 
 

(b)  The Board of Trustees may appoint alternate members to any board, committee, or 
commission, not to exceed three (3) alternate members. Alternates are invited and requested to 
attend all meetings of the board, committee, or commission, but are not required to do so. Alternate 
members may take part in the discussion of any matter that comes before a board, committees, or 
commission, except for quasi-judicial matters, in which they may not participate unless they have 
been appointed in the place of an absent member. An alternate member may not vote on any matter 
unless designated to do so by the chair of the board, committee, or commission, in place of an 
absent member.  

(c)  Member Resignation. The chair shall inform the Town Clerk in writing within one week of 
any member's resignation.  

(d)  Persons interested in becoming members shall complete and submit an application in 
accordance with the Town's Policy on Advisory Committees, Appointments to Outside Agencies, 
and Volunteers.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-294204. - Terms of office and appointment.  

Appointments to all boards, committees, and commissions shall be made by the Board of Trustees 
for three-year terms. Members shall serve without compensation. Initial terms of membership shall 
be as follows: Two (2) members shall be appointed to a one-year term, two (2) members shall be 
appointed to a two-year term, and one (1) member shall be appointed to a three-year term. 
Thereafter, as the terms expire, all appointments shall be for a period of three (3) years. Any 
members whose term expires may seek reappointment. Term limits shall not apply.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-295205. - Quasi-judicial hearings.  

In any quasi-judicial or public hearing held before any board, committee, or commission, all 
evidence and testimony shall be presented publicly. The commission may use its expertise, 
technical competence, and specialized knowledge in evaluating evidence presented to it and shall 
have the power to weigh any evidence accordingly.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-296206. - Officer positions.  

Each board, committee and commission shall appoint a chair and vice-chair annually during the 
first meeting of each calendar year. Each board, committee and commission shall appoint a 
secretary who may be a non-member who is an employee of the Town. Each board, committee or 
commission shall operate in accordance with the rules of procedure in Section 2-297207. The 
board, committee or commission chair shall notify the Town Clerk in writing within one (1) week 
post-election of the names of officers.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



41 
 

Sec. 2-297207. - Rules of procedure.  

Each board, committee and commission shall hold all meetings at Town Hall at regular intervals 
as set forth in the board, committee or commission's adopted bylaws. All meetings shall be open 
to the public, after posting full and timely notice of date, time, place, and subject matter of the 
meeting at the Town's designated posting locations. At each meeting, the public shall be given an 
opportunity for public comment. Full and timely notice shall be deemed to be at least twenty-four 
(24) hours prior to the date and time of the meeting. Unless required otherwise in this Chapter, all 
boards, committees, and commissions shall meet regularly at least once each month, except when 
a quorum is not available, or there is no business to address. Each board, committee, or 
commission's secretary shall keep minutes of its meetings and records of its transactions, the 
secretary shall deliver them to the Town Clerk in a timely manner for submission to the Board of 
Trustees. Special meetings may be called by the chair, any three (3) members, or the Town 
Manager with at least twenty-four (24) hours' written notice. The chair has final authority to 
establish the agenda and will collaborate with other members and Town staff in its development. 
The chair or his or hertheir designee shall serve as the conduit of communication between the board, 
committee, or commission and the staff liaison and Board of Trustees. A majority of the appointed 
non-vacant seats shall constitute a quorum.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-298208. - Authority and responsibility.  

(a)   Boards, committees, and commissions shall exercise their authority and shall be 
accountable to comply with the board, committee or commission's approved work plan, the Board 
of Trustees' goals, and with other Board of Trustees adopted rules or regulations. Unless otherwise 
provided by law, no board, committee, or commission, and no member of any board, committees, 
or commission shall have authority to act on behalf of the Town, including without limitation 
approving contracts, negotiating deals, spending or allocating Town funds, and negotiating 
transactions involving real or personal property.  

(b)   Within ninety (90) days of creation, each board, commission or committee shall submit a 
set of bylaws to the Board of Trustees for review and approval. Bylaws shall, at a minimum, set 
the board, commission or committee's regular meeting date and time.  

(c)   Each board, committee or commission shall provide an agenda to the Town Clerk at least 
twenty-four (24) hours prior to the date and time of each meeting and shall provide the Town Clerk 
with approved minutes following every meeting.  

(d)   In collaboration with Town staff, each board, committee, and commission shall submit an 
annual budget request to Board of Trustees, which furthers the accomplishment of that plan. Once 
funding has been approved through the budgeting process, each board, committee, and commission 
may offer recommendations to the Town staff and Board of Trustees on the expenditure of those 
funds.  

(e)   No board, committee, or commission and no member of any board, committee, or 
commission shall have the authority to accept donations on behalf of the Town, to direct any Town 
employee, or to make operational decisions for the Town.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



42 
 

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-299209. - Recommendations to board of trustees.  

Each board, committee, and commission shall deliver recommendations to the Board of Trustees 
concerning its budget provisions and other matters within its purview as required herein, from time 
to time as directed by the Trustees, or as initiated by the board, committee, or commission. Board 
of Trustees shall approve annual board, committee, or commission work plans and may provide 
direction to boards, committees, and commissions regarding specific matters upon which the 
Board of Trustees desires the board, committee, or commissions to investigate and provide 
recommendations. Boards, committees, and commissions shall follow such direction and provide 
their recommendations to Board of Trustees via the means directed by the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-300210. - Removal.  

Except as provided otherwise in this Chapter, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to remove 
any member of any board, committee or commission at any time with or without cause. Upon 
removal, the Board of Trustees shall fill any vacancy for the remainder of the vacated position's 
term. If there is less than one (1) year remaining on the term, a person may, but need not, be 
appointed to fill the remainder of that term and the next full term.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-301211. - Staff liaison role.  

The Town Manager may assign Town personnel to assist boards, committees, and commissions 
with budget proposals or any other duties as is necessary for the boards, committees, or 
commissions to adequately perform their functions.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-302212. - Subcommittees.  

From time to time, the Board of Trustees or a board, committee, or commission may establish 
temporary or standing subcommittees to study issues or make recommendations. No formal action 
may be taken by a subcommittee. Subcommittee meetings shall be public meetings, shall comply 
with the rules of procedure set forth in Section 2-297207, and shall be attended by at least one (1) 
member of the board, committee or commission that formed the subcommittee. All subcommittee 
recommendations must be submitted to the appropriate board, committee, or commission.  

(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020) 

Sec. 2-303213. - Remote participation.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



43 
 

Members of any board, committee, or commission may participate in meetings remotely, 
and any remote participation shall be pursuant to rules and regulations adopted by the Board of 
Trustees, as they may be amended.  
(Ord. No. 2020-03, § 5, 7-7-2020)  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt



1 
 

CHAPTER 2 - Administration and Personnel  

ARTICLE I - Elections  

Sec. 2-1. - Election procedure.  

Each regular election shall be held on the first Tuesday in April in even-numbered years and all 
special elections called by the Board of Trustees for any purpose shall be in the manner prescribed 
by the Colorado Municipal Election Code, C.R.S. § 31-10-101, et seq., as amended.  

Sec. 2-2. - Write-in candidate affidavit.  

No write-in vote for any Town office shall be counted unless an affidavit of intent has been filed 
with the Town Clerk, by the person who desires the office and is qualified to assume the duties of 
that office if elected. The affidavit of intent shall be filed with the Town Clerk no later than sixty-
four (64) days before the day of the election as set forth in C.R.S. § 31-10-306, as amended.  

Secs. 2-3—2-10. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Mayor and Board of Trustees  

Sec. 2-11. - Composition; eligibility and term of office; power.  

(a)  The corporate authority of the Town is by state law vested in a Board of Trustees, 
consisting of one (1) Mayor and four (4) Trustees. The Board of Trustees constitutes the legislative 
body of the Town, shall have power and authority, except as otherwise provided by statute, to 
exercise all power conferred upon or possessed by the Town and shall have the power and authority 
to adopt such laws, ordinances and resolutions as it shall deem proper in the exercise thereof. 

(b) Each Trustee shall be a qualified elector and resident of the Town who has resided in the 
Town for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months immediately preceding the election, 
and is otherwise eligible to hold municipal office pursuant to law. If any Trustee shall move from 
or become, during the term of their office, a nonresident of the Town, they shall be deemed thereby 
to have vacated their office, upon the adoption by the Board of Trustees of a resolution declaring 
such vacancy to exist.  

(c) The Mayor is elected for a two-year term. At each regular election, two (2) Trustees shall 
be elected to serve four-year terms.  

(d) No elected Mayor shall serve more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms in office.  

(e) No elected Trustee shall serve more than two (2) consecutive four-year terms in office.  

(f)  The Board of Trustees may appoint such other officers as it deems necessary for the good 
government of the Town and may prescribe their duties and fix their compensation. 

Sec. 2-12. - Mayor.  

(a) The Mayor shall preside over the meeting of the Board of Trustees, and shall perform such 
duties as may be required by statute or ordinance.  



2 
 

(b) The Mayor shall be the executive head of the Town. The Mayor shall be the presiding 
officer of the Board of Trustees and shall vote on all matters before the Board of Trustees.  

(c) The Mayor shall execute and authenticate by their signature such instruments as the 
Trustees or any statutes or ordinances shall require.  

(d) Except as may be required by statute, the Mayor shall exercise only such powers as the 
Trustees shall specifically confer upon such person. 

(e) In the absence of the Town Manager, the Mayor may assume any duty assigned to the 
Town Manager.  

Sec. 2-13. - Mayor Pro Tem.  

At its first meeting following each biennial election, the Board of Trustees shall choose one (1) of 
the Trustees as Mayor Pro Tem who, in the absence of the Mayor from any meeting of the Board 
of Trustees or during the Mayor's absence from the Town, or the Mayor's inability to act, shall 
perform the duties of Mayor.  

Sec. 2-14. - Acting Mayor.  

In the event of absence or disability of both the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, the Trustees may 
designate another of its members to serve as Acting Mayor during such absence or disability.  

Sec. 2-15. - Removal of Trustee.  

By a majority vote of all members of the Board of Trustees, any member of the Board of Trustees 
may be removed from office pursuant to the provisions and procedures provided by law.  

Sec. 2-16. - Vacancies. 

(a) In case of death, resignation, or removal for cause of any of the Trustees during their term 
of office, the Board of Trustees, by a majority vote of all the members thereof, may select and 
appoint from among the duly qualified electors of the Town a suitable person to fill the vacancy, 
who shall hold the office until the next biennial Town election. 

(b) The Board of Trustees also has the power to fill a vacancy on the Board by ordering a 
special election, subject to the requirements of the Colorado Municipal Election Code, to fill the 
vacancy until the next regular election and until a successor has been elected and has complied 
with C.R.S. § 31-4-401. 

Sec. 2-17. - Compensation.  

There shall be no salary or compensation for elected officials of the Town.  

Sec. 2-18. - Regular and special meetings.  

(a) Regular Meetings. All regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held at Town 
Hall; 10615 Green Mountain Falls Road; Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, or at such other places 
as determined by Board of Trustees. Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held 



3 
 

monthly on the first Tuesday of each month, commencing at 7:00 p.m., or at such other dates and 
times as determined by the Board of Trustees.  

(b) Special Meetings. Special meetings shall be called by the Clerk on the written request of 
the Mayor or any three members of Board of Trustees on at least twenty-four (24) hours written 
notice to each member of Board of Trustees; but a special meeting may be held on shorter notice 
if all members of Board of Trustees are present or have waived notice thereof in writing. No 
business shall be transacted at any special meeting of Board of Trustees unless the same has been 
stated in notice of such meeting.  

Sec. 2-19. - Quorum.  

No action shall be taken unless a quorum is present. A majority of the Board of Trustees shall 
constitute a quorum. The Mayor shall be considered a Trustee for purposes of determining a 
quorum.  

Sec. 2-20. - Resolution or motion required; roll call vote.  

Every subject coming before the Board of Trustees for its action shall be submitted by resolution 
or motion. The Town Clerk shall call the roll and the vote thereon shall be taken by ayes and nays 
or, at the option of the Mayor, a voice vote may be taken.  

Sec. 2-21. - Adoption of ordinances.  

(a) The procedure for passing emergency ordinances necessary for the preservation of public 
property, health, welfare, peace, or safety is as follows:  

(1) An emergency ordinance may be introduced at any regular or special meeting of 
the Board of Trustees by any member thereof.  

(2) The emergency ordinance shall be read in full.  

(3) If state law requires a public hearing prior to the adoption of any emergency 
ordinance, the Board shall set the matter for a public hearing.  

(4) An emergency ordinance shall become effective upon an affirmative vote of three-
fourths (¾) of the members of the Board of Trustees.  

(b) The procedure for passing all other ordinances is as follows:  

(1) An ordinance may be introduced at any regular meeting of the Board of Trustees 
by any member thereof.  

(2) After the reading of the ordinance, by title or in full, the Board shall allow public 
comment. 

(3) After hearing public comment, the ordinance may be approved with or without 
amendment or rejected by a vote of the Board.  



4 
 

(4) If the ordinance is approved by a majority of the Board members present, it shall 
be published in accordance with State law and this Code and said ordinance shall become 
effective thirty (30) days after publication.  

Sec. 2-22. - Committees.  

Any question pending before the Board of Trustees may be referred to the appropriate committee, 
or to a special committee for its consideration and report. When a question has been referred to a 
committee, such committee shall report thereon with its recommendation at the next meeting of 
the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-23. - Oath and bond.  

All officers elected or appointed in any capacity shall take an oath to support the Constitution of 
the United States and the Constitution of the State. The Board of Trustees may provide that the 
payment of premiums on surety bonds of any officer of the Town shall be made by the Town 
Treasurer from funds so designated by the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-24. - Work sessions.  

(a) Work Session Board of Trustees Meetings -The Board of Trustees may meet informally on 
third Tuesday of each month, or at other times upon call of the Mayor or at the request of three 
members of the Board of Trustees to discuss matters pending or proposed.  

(b) The Town Manager or Clerk shall prepare the agenda, after consultation with the Mayor, 
for work sessions. All matters to appear on the agenda shall be filed with the Town Manager or 
Town Clerk no later than twelve noon the Wednesday prior to the work session.  

(c) Work sessions of the Board of Trustees are open to the press and public. No binding action 
may be taken at any work session. The Town Manger or Town Clerk shall keep brief minutes of 
work sessions.  

Secs. 2-25—2-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Hearings  

Sec. 2-41. - Purpose and applicability.  

The purpose of the rules of procedure contained in this Article is to provide a uniform, consistent 
and expeditious method of procedure for the conduct of all hearings held before the Board of 
Trustees and any other board, commission or official, hereinafter referred to as the hearing body, 
or shall be applied uniformly in all such hearings; provided, however, that any board, commission 
or official may supplement the provisions of this Article by the adoption of further rules of 
procedure not inconsistent herewith. All rules adopted to supplement the provisions of this Article 
by any board, commission or official shall be reduced to writing and copies thereof shall be made 
available to the public.  

Sec. 2-42. - Quasi-judicial hearings.  



5 
 

The provisions of this Article shall be applicable only to those hearings where the Board of 
Trustees, board, commission or official is called upon to exercise a power of a judicial or quasi-
judicial nature, which, for purposes of this Article, shall be deemed to consist of the following:  

(1) Hearings before the Board of Trustees upon application for the issuance, or hearings 
for the suspension or revocation of, liquor or fermented malt beverage licenses; upon 
ordinances which zone or rezone real property; and upon all appeals from the decisions of 
any Town official, board or commission, where such an appeal is authorized, and which 
requires an evidentiary hearing to determine such appeal.  

(2) Hearings before the Board of Adjustment upon appeals from any decision of the 
Building Inspector or upon request for a variance or exception from the terms of any 
ordinance.  

(3) Hearings before any board, commission or official respecting the issuance, 
suspension or revocation of any license issued by the Town.  

Sec. 2-43. - Rights of participants.  

All quasi-judicial hearings shall be conducted under procedures designed to ensure all interested 
parties due process of law and shall, in all cases, provide for the following:   

(1) The stenographic or other verbatim reproduction of all testimony presented in the 
hearing, or an adequate summary of such testimony; and  

(2) A clear decision by the hearing body which shall set forth the factual bases and 
reasons for the decision rendered.  

Sec. 2-44. - Order of procedure.  

(a) In all quasi-judicial hearings, the following order of procedure shall be followed:  

(1) Presentation of those documents showing the regularity of the commencement of 
the proceedings and the form of the public notice given;  

(2) Presentation of evidence by Town staff if required or deemed necessary by the 
hearing body; 

(3) Presentation of evidence by the applicant, petitioner, appealing party or 
complainant; and 

(4) Opportunity for public comment, or presentation of evidence by any interested 
party.  

(b) All documents or other items of physical evidence shall be marked with such identifying 
symbols as may be necessary to determine the exhibit referred to by any witness or other person.  

Sec. 2-45. - Rules of evidence.  



6 
 

The hearing body shall not be required to observe any formal rules of evidence, but may consider 
any matter which a majority thereof concludes is reasonably reliable and calculated to aid the 
hearing body in reaching an accurate determination of the issues involved.  

Sec. 2-46. - Notice of decisions.  

No decision shall be effective except upon a vote of the members of the hearing body, conducted 
in an open session thereof, which shall be duly recorded in the minutes of the hearing body. Written 
copies of all decisions shall be delivered to the applicant, petitioner, appellant, complainant and 
other interested party requesting same.  

Sec. 2-47. - Judicial enforcement and review.  

Any party aggrieved by any decision rendered by the hearing body in any quasi-judicial hearing 
may apply to have said decision reviewed by a court of competent jurisdiction, in accordance with 
the provisions of the Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure.  

Sec. 2-48. - Administrative hearings.  

All other hearings before the Board of Trustees or any board, commission or official shall be 
deemed to be administrative hearings, the purpose of which is to obtain information to enable the 
Board of Trustees to determine legislative policy or to enable any board, commission or official to 
make recommendations to the Board of Trustees in accordance with the provisions of Sections 2-
49 through 2-53 hereof and in such a manner so as to enable any person desiring to be heard a 
reasonable opportunity for the presentation of their views.  

Sec. 2-49. - Commencement of proceedings.  

All proceedings conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Article shall be commenced in the 
manner provided by the ordinance or statute governing the matter.  

Sec. 2-50. - Referral to hearing body.  

Upon receipt by the Town Clerk or the secretary of any board, commission or other appropriate 
officer of the Town of any application, petition, notice of appeal, complaint or other instrument 
initiating a hearing, the same shall be referred to the Board of Trustees, board, commission or 
official having jurisdiction over the matter, and a date, time and place for hearing thereon shall be 
set by said Board of Trustees, board, commission or official, who shall direct public notice thereof 
to be given; provided, however, that the Board of Trustees or any board or commission may 
authorize its Town Clerk or secretary to set a date, time and place for hearing upon receipt of such 
instrument without the necessity for action by the Board of Trustees, board, commission or official.  

Sec. 2-51. - Public notice.  

Public notice of the date, time, place, and purpose for all public hearings shall be posted and 
published in accordance with State statute. If State statue does not specify the notice required, 
notice will at least be posted on the Town's official website no later than nine (9) calendar days 
before the public hearing.  

Sec. 2-52. - Preserving order.  



7 
 

Each hearing body shall have the right to preserve order during the hearing and to take such steps, 
including the ejection of any disorderly or obstreperous person interfering with the proceedings, 
as may be necessary; and the hearing body may, prior to any presentations and as a condition to 
the taking of testimony or information from any person, require the registration of all persons 
desiring to be heard during the hearings. It may restrict the testimony of any person to the material 
issues pending before it and, to prevent duplicative or cumulative presentations, it may impose 
reasonable time restrictions on any person.  

Sec. 2-53. - Adjournments.  

After commencement of any hearing, the hearing body may, if it is deemed necessary to obtain a 
full presentation, adjourn the hearing from time to time by publicly announcing the fact of such 
adjournment and the date, time and place when and where the adjourned hearing shall 
recommence, without the necessity of any further published notice thereof.  

Secs. 2-54—2-60. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Officers and Employees 

Sec. 2-61. - Town Manager. 

(a) The Board of Trustees may appoint a Town Manager who shall hold office at the pleasure 
of the majority of the Board for an indefinite period. The Town Manager shall be selected solely 
on the basis of executive and administrative qualifications, with special emphasis on training and 
experience in municipal administration, and shall be compensated at a rate deemed appropriate by 
the Board of Trustees.  

(b) The purpose of the Office of Town Manager is to provide for the centralization of the 
administrative operations and responsibilities of the Town, with the Town Manager to be the 
administrative head of the Town government under the direction and control of the Board of 
Trustees, and who shall be responsible to the Trustees for the efficient conduct of said office.  

(c) The Mayor shall annually conduct a performance evaluation of the Town Manager and 
submit the same to the Board of Trustees for its review and approval.  

(d) The Town Manager is measured on performance in the areas of financial administration, 
staff management, Board assistance, liaison activities, citizen communication; planning and 
economic development; and other special or project related activities.  

(e) The Town Manager shall nominate a department head or other senior employee of the 
Town to serve as acting Town Manager during the temporary disability or absence of the Town 
Manager. Such nominee, once confirmed by the Board of Trustees, shall perform the duties and 
exercise all the powers of the Town Manager during the period of disability or absence of the 
Town Manager, but shall receive no additional compensation therefor unless specifically 
authorized by the Board of Trustees. In the event of a vacancy in the position of Town Manager, 
an interim Town Manager may be appointed until the position is filled by regular appointment.  

(f) Within six (6) months of appointment, the Town Manager shall be required to establish 
and maintain residency within a twenty-five (25) mile radius of the Town Hall.  



8 
 

(g) The Board of Trustees may assign the duties of the Town Clerk to the Town Manager.  

(h) The Town Manager's functions and duties shall be as follows:  

(1) To be responsible to the Board of Trustees for the organization and efficient 
administration of all administrative departments of the Town, and to faithfully carry out 
directives and recommendations of the Board of Trustees in coordinating the administrative 
functions and operations of the various departments.  

(2) To supervise the enforcement of all laws and ordinances of the Town, save and 
except to the extent that the administration of such enforcement is confined to other 
officials by law or ordinance.  

(3) To appoint and discharge, subject to the review and consent of the Board of 
Trustees, the heads of Town departments, excepting any Town officer appointed by the 
Board of Trustees, such as the Municipal Court Judge and Town Attorney. The Town 
Manager shall also have the authority to employ, dismiss, suspend or discipline all 
departmental employees.  

(4) To establish, subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees, appropriate personnel 
salary schedules and rules and regulations governing officers and employees of the Town.  

(5) To issue administrative regulations and outline general administrative procedures 
applicable to areas and departments within the Town Manager's supervision which are not 
in conflict with the laws of the State or other Town ordinances.  

(6) To recommend an annual budget to the Board of Trustees, administer the budget as 
finally adopted and keep the Board of Trustees fully advised at all times as to the financial 
condition of the Town, including providing an annual report of the Town's affairs and 
summary of operations of all departments.  

(7) To recommend to the Board of Trustees for its consideration proposed ordinances, 
changes in ordinances and such other regulatory measures as may be deemed necessary, 
and to attend Trustee meetings with the right to take part in discussion, but not to vote.  

(8) To supervise and be responsible for the purchase of all supplies, materials and 
equipment as authorized by the Board of Trustees for the various departments, divisions or 
services of the Town in a manner necessitated by and subject to the limitations imposed by 
law.  

(9) To serve as public relations officer of the Town, and in such capacity to investigate 
and adjust all complaints filed against any employee, department, division or service of the 
Town and to cooperate with all community organizations whose aim and purpose is to 
advance the best interests of the Town and its citizens.  

Sec. 2-62. - Town Clerk.  

(a) The Board of Trustees at its first regular meeting after each biennial election shall appoint 
a Town Clerk, or may assign the duties of Town Clerk to the Town Manager. 



9 
 

(b) The Town Clerk's duties shall be as follows:  

(1) To serve as Clerk to the Board of Trustees, to attend all meetings of the Board, and 
to keep a journal of all its proceedings.  

(2) To act as custodian of all the Town's records, and all such records shall be open at 
all reasonable times for inspection by the electors of the Town.  

(3) To certify by the Town Clerk's signature all ordinances and resolutions enacted or 
passed by the Board of Trustees.  

(4) To maintain a supply of forms for all petitions required to be filed for any purpose 
provided by the Board of Trustees.  

(5) To countersign all warrants drawn on the Town treasury.  

(6) To be custodian of all bonds of all officers or employees of the Town.  

(7) To perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or at the direction 
of the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-63. - Town manager and town clerk, oath and bond.  

Before entering upon the duties of office, the Town Manager and the Town Clerk shall take an 
oath of office and furnish a surety bond in the amount set by resolution of the Board of Trustees 
conditioned upon the faithful discharge of their duties.  

Sec. 2-64. - Town Attorney.  

(a) The Board of Trustees at its first regular meeting after each biennial election shall appoint 
a qualified attorney at law as the Town Attorney and shall fix the compensation for such position.  
The Board of Trustees may appoint an individual or entity to the office of Town Attorney. The 
individual or entity appointed to the office of the Town Attorney shall provide legal services as an 
independent contractor pursuant to the terms of an agreement approved by the Board of Trustees. 
The Town Attorney shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees.  

(b) The Town Attorney shall act as legal advisor to, and be attorney and counsel for, the Board 
of Trustees and shall be responsible solely to the Board of Trustees. The Town Attorney shall 
advise any officer or department head of the Town in matters relating to official duties when so 
requested by the Board of Trustees and shall file with the Town Clerk a copy of all written opinions 
given by the Town Attorney.  

(c) The Town Attorney shall prosecute ordinance violations and shall conduct cases in 
Municipal Court for the Town. The Town Attorney shall file with the Court Clerk copies of such 
records and files relating thereto.  

(d) The Town Attorney shall prepare or review all ordinances, contracts, bonds and other 
written instruments which are submitted to the Town Attorney by the Board of Trustees and shall 
promptly give their opinion as to the legal consequences thereof.  



10 
 

(e) The Town Attorney shall call to the attention of the Board of Trustees all matters of law, 
and changes or developments therein, affecting the Town.  

(f) The Town Attorney shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed for such person 
by the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-65. - Appointed officers and employees, salaries.  

All appointed officers and employees of the Town shall receive such salary as shall be established 
by the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-66. - Removal from office.  

Any officer appointed by the Board of Trustees may be removed from office or suspended for a 
specific time, with or without pay, by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees, after a charge in 
writing has been delivered to the officer and a hearing before the Board of Trustees has occurred.  

Secs. 2-67—2-80. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Code of Ethics  

Sec. 2-81. - Conflicts of interest—General.  

(a) A "conflict of interest" for purposes of this Article, means:  
(1) Any pecuniary, property, or commercial benefit of any person covered by this 
Article or of any parent, spouse, or child of such person; or  
(2) Any personal or private interest of any person covered by this Article, in any matter 
proposed or pending before the Board or commission, as applicable. However, a "conflict 
of interest" does not include any matter involving the common public interest, or any matter 
in which a similar benefit is conferred upon or is available to all persons or property 
similarly situated.  

(b) No person subject to the requirements of this Article shall fail to comply with the applicable 
disclosure and non-action requirements of this Article.  
Sec. 2-82. - Disclosure and non-action—Matters involving conflict of interest.  

(a)  If the Mayor, any Board member, appointee or any member of a commission has a conflict 
of interest with regard to any matter before the Board or commission, as applicable, such person 
shall follow the disclosure and other requirements of this Section.  
(b)  At or before the time the matter is heard, the member shall disclose the interest to the Board 
or commission, as applicable. The member shall not vote on or otherwise take any formal action 
concerning the matter, shall not participate in any executive session concerning the matter, and 
shall refrain from attempting to influence any other member in voting on the matter.  
Sec. 2-83. - Town employees; other provisions concerning conflicts of interest.  

(a) No Town employee shall take any official action concerning any matter as to which the 
employee has a conflict of interest.  



11 
 

(b) Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any 
employee, shall use for personal or private gain, or for any other personal or private purpose, any 
information which is not available to the public and which is obtained by reason of the person's 
position with the Town, or disclose any such information except as required by law.  
(c) Neither the Mayor, any Board member, appointee, commission member, nor any employee 
shall be eligible to contract with the Town for period of four (4) years after the conclusion of 
elected service or employment, as applicable. This includes any contracting entity in which any 
person covered by this Article has personal or private interest.  
(d) The provisions of this Article shall be in addition to any applicable conflict of interest 
provision of the State statutes that are at least as restrictive as this Article, and shall supersede any 
such conflict of interest provisions of the State statutes that are less restrictive than this Article.  
Secs. 2-84—2-90. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Municipal Court  

Sec. 2-91. - Municipal Court created.  

A Municipal Court of record in and for the Town is hereby created and established pursuant to and 
governed by the provisions of state law to hear and determine cases arising under this Code.  

Sec. 2-92. - Municipal Judge; appointment.  

The Court shall be presided over by a presiding Municipal Judge, appointed by the Board of 
Trustees for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed and duly qualified.  The Board 
of Trustees may appoint additional judges from time to time as may be needed to transact the 
business of the Court or to preside in the absence of the presiding Judge. The presiding Judge shall 
supervise and direct the Court's operations. Any Municipal Judge may be removed by the Board 
of Trustees for cause.  

Sec. 2-93. - Qualifications.  

The Board of Trustees may, by ordinance or resolution duly considered and adopted, establish 
from time to time such qualifications for the office of Municipal Judge as it may deem fit and 
proper and consistent with the procurement of persons of judicial temperament and ability.  At a 
minimum, the Municipal Judge shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of 
Colorado. 

Sec. 2-94. - Oath and bond.  

Before entering upon the duties of office, the Municipal Judge shall take and subscribe before a 
Judge of a court of record, and file with the Board of Trustees, an oath or affirmation that such 
person will support the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution and laws of the State 
and the ordinances of the Town and will faithfully perform the duties of their office.  

Sec. 2-95. - Compensation.  



12 
 

The annual compensation of the Municipal Judge shall be set by the Board of Trustees.. The Board 
of Trustees shall from time-to-time budget and appropriate monies for the compensation of the 
Municipal Judge.  

Sec. 2-96. - Presiding Judge's powers.  

The Municipal Judge shall have all judicial powers relating to the operation of the court, subject 
to any rules of procedure governing the operation and conduct of municipal courts promulgated 
by the Colorado Supreme Court. The presiding judge shall have authority to issue local rules of 
procedure consistent with any rules of procedure adopted by the Colorado Supreme Court. 

Sec. 2-97. - Ex officio Clerk.  

The Judge shall also be ex officio Clerk of the Court unless a separate Clerk of the Municipal 
Court shall have been appointed by the Judge by and with the consent of the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-98. - Record of proceedings.  

It shall be a duty of the Court Clerk to keep and maintain a verbatim record of all proceedings and 
evidence at trials, by either electric devices or stenographic means.  

Sec. 2-99. – Contempt of court.  

(a) Failure by any person, without adequate excuse, to obey a summons, subpoena, or other 
court order served upon that person may be deemed in contempt of the municipal court from which 
the summons, subpoena or other court order was issued. Upon a finding of contempt, the penalties 
set forth at Section 1-42 of this Code shall apply. 

(b) Failure by any person to conduct themselves in a manner consistent with the decorum and 
respect inherent in the concept of judicial proceedings in the municipal court shall be deemed a 
contempt of court. Upon a finding of contempt, the penalties set forth at Section 1-42 of this Code 
shall apply. 

(c) Contempt of court proceedings shall be held in accordance with Colorado Rules of Civil 
Procedure 107, as amended. 

Sec. 2-100. - Fines paid to Town Treasurer.  

All fines or other monies collected in the Municipal Court for the violation of this Code or any of 
the ordinances of the Town shall be reported by the Municipal Court and paid to the Town 
Treasurer each month.  

Sec. 2-101. - Imposition of court costs.  

There shall be imposed upon each defendant or respondent in the Municipal Court a cost of twenty-
five dollars ($25.00) upon conviction of a violation of any Town ordinance, said disposition 
including without limitation the granting of a deferred sentence or deferred prosecution. No court 
costs shall be imposed in any case in which the charges are dismissed prior to prosecution or upon 
a finding by the Court of not guilty; nor shall any court costs be imposed should any defendant 
appear prior to the date of the first appearance and pay said fine to the Town Clerk.  



13 
 

Sec. 2-102. – Restitution. 

(a) Restitution may be ordered by the Municipal Court on its own motion, or upon oral or 
written motion of the prosecutor where a victim of the crime suffered a pecuniary loss. Any order 
for restitution shall include one or more of the following: 

(1) An order of a specific amount of restitution be paid by the defendant; 

(2) An order that the defendant is obligated to pay restitution, but that the specific 
amount of restitution shall be determined within the ninety-one (91) days immediately 
following the order of conviction, unless good cause is shown for extending the time period 
by which the restitution amount shall be determined. Any such order shall set a date for a 
restitution hearing within the time limits prescribed if so requested by the defendant; 

(3) An order, in addition to or in place of a specific amount of restitution, that the 
defendant pay restitution covering the actual costs of specific future treatment of any victim 
of the crime. 

(b) The Municipal Court shall base its order for restitution upon information presented to the 
court by the prosecutor, who shall compile such information through victim impact statements or 
other means to determine the amount of restitution and the identities of the victims.  

(c) Any order for restitution entered pursuant to this Section is a final civil judgment in favor 
of the Town and any victim.  Any such judgment remains in force until the restitution is paid in 
full. Any order for restitution shall remain in force notwithstanding the termination of a deferred 
judgment and sentence or a deferred adjudication, the entry of an order of expungement pursuant 
to C.R.S. § 19-1-306, or an order to seal entered pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-72-7. 

Sec. 2-103. – Collections.  

If a person against whom any restitution, fine, penalty or costs has been assessed shall fail to pay 
any portion of such assessed amount when due, the Municipal Court may enter a judgment for the 
full amount, including any late fees as approved by the Board of Trustees by resolution, pursuant 
to the provisions of C.R.S. § 13-10-113(6) and C.R.S. § 18-1.3-506, as those statutes may be 
amended from time to time. Any such judgment may be referred by the Municipal Court to the 
Town Clerk for collection, and any costs of collection, up to a limit of eighteen percent (18%) of 
the amount owed, shall be assessed against such person. Interest shall accrue from and after such 
judgment in accordance with the provisions of C.R.S. § 5-12-102 as that statute may be amended 
from time to time. 

Sec. 2-104. - Penalty assessments.  

Provided that all fines, fees and costs associated with the issuance of a summons and complaint 
for a traffic infraction are paid or mailed not more than twenty (20) days after the issuance of the 
summons and complaint, the assessment of points against the defendant's driving privileges may 
be reduced as follows:  

(1) For a violation in which there was no injury or property damage, and having an 
assessment of either three (3) or four (4) points, the assessment will be reduced by two (2) 
points.  



14 
 

(2) For a violation having an assessment of two (2) points, the assessment will be 
reduced by one (1) point.  
(3) For all other violations, a court appearance is mandatory, except those violations 
not requiring a court appearance by law.  

Secs. 2-105—2-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Marshal's Department  

Sec. 2-121. - Creation, composition.  

There is hereby created a Marshal's Department for the Town which shall consist of one (1) Town 
Marshal and as many deputy marshals as may from time to time be deemed necessary for the safety 
and good order of the Town.  
Sec. 2-122. - Departmental rules and regulations.  

The Marshal's Department shall be operated and managed in accordance with such departmental 
rules and regulations as may from time to time be adopted by the Board of Trustees.  
Sec. 2-123. - Appointment, powers and duties of the Town Marshal.  

At its first regular meeting following each biennial election, the Board of Trustees shall appoint a 
Town Marshal who shall be the head of the Marshal's Department. It shall be the duty of the Town 
Marshal to:  

(1)  See that the ordinances of the Town are duly enforced and the rules and regulations 
of the Marshal's Department obeyed, and to perform such duties as may be required by the 
Board of Trustees;  
(2)  Direct the operations of the Marshal's Department, subject to the rules and 
regulations thereof;  
(3)  Arrest any person violating any of the Town ordinances and take such violator before 
the Municipal Court for trial;  
(4)  Take charge of the Town jail, all prisoners confined therein and all those who are 
sentenced to labor on the streets or public works of the Town, and see that orders and 
sentences with reference to such are fully executed and complied with; and  
(5)  Render such accounts of the Marshal's Department, their duties and receipts as may 
be required by the Board of Trustees and keep the records of their office open to inspection 
by the Board of Trustees at any time.  

Sec. 2-124. - Oath and bond of Town Marshal.  

Before entering upon the duties of such office, the Town Marshal shall take and subscribe to an 
oath that such person will support the Constitution and laws of the State, Constitution of the United 
States and ordinances of the Town, and that such person will faithfully perform the duties of the 
office upon which such person is about to enter. The Town Marshal shall furnish a surety bond to 
be approved by the Board of Trustees, in the amount set by resolution of the Board of Trustees 
conditioned upon the faithful discharge of the duties of their office.  



15 
 

Sec. 2-125. - Duties of deputy marshals.  

All members of the Marshal's Department shall have power and duties as follows:  
(1) They shall perform all duties required by the Town Marshal.  
(2) They shall suppress all riots, disturbances and breaches of the peace, apprehend all 
disorderly persons in the Town and pursue and arrest any person fleeing from justice in 
any part of the State.  
(3) They shall be the enforcement officers of the Town and shall see that the provisions 
of this Code and the laws of the State are complied with. They shall arrest without process 
all persons engaged in the violation in their presence of any provision of this Code or the 
laws of the State. Upon such arrest, they shall forthwith convey such offenders before the 
proper officer to be dealt with according to law; provided that they may incarcerate any 
person whom they shall arrest at a late and unusual hour of the night until the following 
morning; and provided further that, in the special cases relating to traffic offenses, they 
may release an arrested person upon such person's written promise to appear in court.  
(4) They shall report such offenses as may come to their knowledge to the proper Town 
official or they shall report the same to the Municipal Judge, securing a warrant for the 
arrest of offenders when desirable.  
(5) They shall execute and return all writs and processes to them directed by the 
Municipal Judge in any case arising under a Town ordinance, and they may serve the same 
in any part of the County.  

Sec. 2-126. - Oath of deputy marshals.  

Before entering upon the duties of such office, each deputy marshal shall take and subscribe an 
oath that such person will support the Constitution and laws of the State, the Constitution of the 
United States and the ordinances of the Town, and that such person will faithfully perform the 
duties of the office upon which such person is about to enter.  
Sec. 2-127. - Extraterritorial duty.  

The Town Marshal may, in their discretion, upon request of the chief of police, town marshal or 
person exercising the functions thereof in any other jurisdiction, assign deputy marshals under 
their control, together with such equipment as such person shall deem to be proper, to perform 
temporary duty in the requesting jurisdiction.  
Sec. 2-128. - Reserve marshals; appointment; powers.  

The Mayor may, upon any emergency, riot, pestilence, invasion or at any time the Mayor shall 
deem it necessary for the peace, good order or health of the Town, order the Town Marshal to 
appoint reserve marshals for a specified time, not exceeding two (2) days, without the approval of 
the Board of Trustees. The Mayor may also, with the approval of a majority of the Board of 
Trustees, order the Town Marshal to appoint such number of reserve marshals as may be agreed 
upon by the Board of Trustees to serve upon days of election, public celebration and holidays, and 
said reserve marshals shall have and possess all the powers and privileges of regular marshals 
during the time for which they may be appointed.  



16 
 

Secs. 2-129—2-140. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIII – Special Parking Code Enforcement Officers 

Sec. 2-141. – Creation. 

There is created the position of special code enforcement officer. All special code enforcement 
officers shall be hired or designated as a special code enforcement officer by the Town Manager, 
and may be employees, agents or independent contractors (or employees thereof) of the Town. 
Such special code enforcement officers may be hired on a temporary or permanent basis, and may 
work full- or part-time hours. 

Sec. 2-142 – Authority. 

(a) Special code enforcement officers shall have the authority to enforce all parking 
regulations set forth in this the Town of Green Mountian Falls Municipal Code, including without 
limitation, the parking regulations set forth in the Model Traffic Code adopted by the Town in 
Chapter 10.04.   

(b) Special code enforcement officers may issue Municipal Court summonses and complaints 
for violations of the Code provisions they are authorized to enforce pursuant to subsection (a) 
hereof; provided that special code enforcement officers shall have no authority to detain or arrest 
individuals, or impound property. 

Secs. 2-143—2-150. - Reserved.   

ARTICLE IX - Emergency Management   

Sec. 2-151. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Chapter is for the town to establish and maintain a local emergency 
management agency as described in the Colorado Disaster Emergency Act, C.R.S. § 24-7-33.5, et 
seq in the event of an emergency.  For purposes of this Article, emergency event means the 
occurrence or imminent threat in the Town of widespread or severe damage, injury, or loss of life 
or property resulting from any natural or human cause, including without limitation flood, 
earthquake, wind, storm, hazardous substance incident, oil spill or other water contamination, 
volcanic activity, epidemic, air pollution, blight, drought, infestation, explosion, civil disturbance, 
hostile military or paramilitary action, or invasion. 

Sec. 2-152. – Emergency Manager.  

(a) The Board of Trustees hereby appoints the Town Manager as the emergency manager to 
direct appropriate planning, management and coordination in all phases of emergency 
management, including mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery. 
(b) The Mayor shall notify the Colorado Division of Homeland Security Office of Emergency 
Management, in writing of the existence of the local emergency management agency, the name of 
the current emergency manager, and any other related information the division requests. 
Sec. 2-153. - Powers of Emergency Manager.  



17 
 

The following powers may be exercised by the emergency manager only in the event of an 
emergency event as herein contemplated, shall only be exercised for such period of time as the 
actual emergency exists, and shall only be invoked after a declaration and proclamation of an 
emergency event: 

(1) To exercise any and all powers granted by state law or this Code;  
(2) To call upon regular and auxiliary enforcement agencies and organizations within 
or without the Town to assist in preserving and keeping the peace and the preservation of 
life and property of the citizenry of the Town;  
(2) To close streets and sidewalks and to delineate areas within the Town wherein an 
emergency exists;  
(3) To enter into reciprocal aid, mutual aid, joint powers agreements, 
intergovernmental assistance agreements or other contracts or plans with other 
governmental entities necessary for the protection of life and property, including the 
furnishing or exchange of supplies, equipment, facilities, personnel or services;  
(4) To promulgate such regulations as necessary to protect life and property and 
preserve critical resources, which regulations shall be confirmed at the earliest practical 
time by the Board of Trustees and shall be circulated to the public, including without 
limitation: 

a. Suspension of provisions of this Code that prescribe procedures for conduct 
of Town business, if strict compliance would in any way prevent, hinder or delay necessary 
action in coping with the emergency; 

b. The transfer or reassignment of Town staff for the purpose of performing or 
facilitating emergency services; 

c. The authorization of compensation for assistance providers; 
d. The waiver of all provisions for competitive bidding direct the purchasing 

agent to purchase necessary supplies in the open market at not more than commercial 
prices; 

e. The declaration of a public curfew; and 
f. Such other measures and regulations necessary to preserve the public peace, 

health and safety. 
(5) To direct protective actions, including without limitation shelter-in-place or Town 
evacuation; 
(6) To prescribe routes, modes of transportation and destinations in connection with an 
evacuation, including controlling ingress to and egress from an emergency area and the 
movement of persons within the area; 
(7) To provide for temporary housing;  
(8) To request county, state and federal assistance, compensation and grants in support 
of emergency and/or disaster preparedness, prevention, mitigation, response, continuity or 
recovery activities; and  



18 
 

(9) To do any and all acts necessary and incidental to the preservation of life, limb and 
property within the Town.  

Sec. 2-154. – Emergency operations plan.  
(a) The emergency manager shall be responsible for preparing and keeping a current 
emergency operations plan, which shall delineate measures to be implemented by the Town before, 
during and after an emergency event. 
(b) The emergency operations plan shall identify department responsibilities, including 
requirements for maintenance of specific facilities, and department emergency procedures and 
critical resource information. 
Sec. 2-155. – Procedures for declaring emergency event.  

(a) Declaration. The Mayor and Town Manager are each authorized to declare that an 
emergency event exists when, in such person's opinion and in consultation with the emergency 
manager, such an event has occurred or the threat of such event is imminent. Declaration of an 
emergency event shall be in writing and shall describe the nature and circumstances of the 
emergency and the area threatened. The emergency manager shall be responsible for the 
publication and dissemination of information to the public and shall file the declaration with the 
town clerk and forward a copy to the division. 

(b) Effect. A declaration of an emergency event shall automatically empower the emergency 
manager to exercise any and all of the emergency powers permitted by state and local law or this 
Chapter. The Board of Trustees shall convene to perform its legislative powers as the situation 
demands and shall receive reports through the emergency manager and evaluate and enact policy 
and other support as necessary. 

(c) Duration. A declaration of an emergency event shall remain in effect until the Board of 
Trustees or the emergency manager declares that the threat of danger has passed and publishes a 
notice effecting the same. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a state of emergency shall not be 
continued for more than seven days unless the board of trustees approves a longer duration. Any 
approval of a continuance or termination of an emergency event shall be filed with the Town Clerk 
and a copy shall be forwarded to the Colorado Division of Homeland Security Office of 
Emergency Management. 

Sec. 2-156. – Line of succession.  

(a) If the Mayor is unable to perform any duties set forth in this Article, then the duties 
conferred on the Mayor shall be performed by the Mayor Pro Tem. 

(b) If the emergency manager is unable to manage an emergency event or otherwise unable to 
perform the duties set forth in this Article, then the duties conferred on the emergency manager 
shall be performed by the following, in descending order: the Mayor, then the Town Marshal, then 
the public works director, then the planning director, then the deputy Town Marshal. 

Secs. 2-157—2-160. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE X - Planning Commission



19 
 

Sec. 2-161. - Purpose.  

(a) The Town is a rural mountain community in a natural setting characterized by 
mountainsides, boulders, streams, trees and other flora indigenous to its location, altitude and 
climate.  

(b) Buildings and other improvements within the Town exhibit a prevailing rustic aspect 
subordinate to the environment. Dwellings designed for single-family residence predominate. 
Commercial, civic and residential activities are of a service, crafts, professional and recreational 
nature. It is the purpose of this Article to accomplish the preservation and enhancement of these 
conditions and qualities. Therefore, pursuant to the authority conferred by state statutes, there is 
created a Planning Commission for the Town.  

Sec. 2-162. - Powers and duties.  

The Planning Commission shall have the powers and duties as set forth in C.R.S. § 31-23-201, et 
seq., as amended, including, without limitation, the duty to formulate and approve a Master Plan 
for the Town and to make careful and comprehensive surveys and studies of present and future 
growth of the Town with due regard to its relation to neighboring territories. The plan shall be 
made with the general purpose of guiding and accomplishing a coordinated, well-adjusted and 
harmonious development of the Town and its environs which will, in accordance with present and 
future needs, best promote the health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity and general 
welfare as well as efficiency and economy in the process of development; including among other 
things adequate provision for traffic, beautification, promotion of safety from fire and other 
dangers, adequate provision for light and air, the promotion of healthful and convenient 
distribution of population, the promotion of good civic design and arrangement, wise and efficient 
expenditures of public funds and the adequate provision of public utilities and other public 
requirements. The Planning Commission shall review all proposed subdivisions, proposed zoning 
and such other matters relating to planning as is deemed advisable. The decisions of the Planning 
Commission shall be purely advisory in nature to the Board of Trustees. Upon the final adoption 
of the Master Plan by the Planning Commission, the same shall be presented to the Board of 
Trustees for its approval and the Master Plan shall be given primary consideration by the Board of 
Trustees. The Board of Trustees may amend or alter the Master Plan but only after the Planning 
Commission has had the opportunity to comment upon the proposed amendment. Any deviation 
from the Master Plan shall be determined to be an amendment to the Plan.  

Sec. 2-163. - Membership and term.  

(a) The Planning Commission shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board of 
Trustees. In addition to five (5) regular, voting members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall 
serve as an ex officio member of the Planning Commission and may take part in discussions but 
shall not vote. All members shall be residents of the Town 

(b) The term of the ex officio member shall correspond to their official tenure. The term of 
each voting member shall be three (3) years or until their successor takes office. A voting member 
may be removed by the Board of Trustees upon the filing of a written statement by a member of 
the Board of Trustees if, after public hearing, the Board of Trustees finds the member has 
committed inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  



20 
 

Sec. 2-164. - Meetings.  

(a) The Planning Commission shall meet at the call of the Town Manager or the Town 
Manager's designee.  

(b) Public notice conforming to the requirements of Section 2-61 hereof and Chapter 16 of the 
Code shall be required prior to any public hearing.  

Secs. 2-165—2-170. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XI - Board of Adjustment

Sec. 2-171. - Purpose.  

A Board of Adjustment is hereby created to hear and decide appeals from and review any order, 
requirement, decision or determination made by any administrative official charged with 
enforcement of this Code.  

Sec. 2-172. - Powers and duties.  

(a) The Board of Adjustment may overturn or modify any order, requirement, decision or 
determination made by an administrative official charged with enforcing this Code when it 
determines that the official incorrectly applied this Code or exceeded their authority. In addition, 
where there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out the strict 
letter of this Code, the Board of Adjustment has the power, in passing upon all appeals, to vary or 
modify the application of the regulations or provisions of this Code relating to the use, construction 
or alteration of buildings or structures, or the use of land, so that the spirit of this Code is observed, 
public safety and welfare secured and substantial justice done.  

(b) The concurring vote of four (4) members of the Board of Adjustment shall be necessary to 
reverse any order, requirement, decision or determination of any administrative official, or to 
decide in favor of the applicant any matter upon which it is required to pass under this Article or 
to effect any variation of this Article.  

Sec. 2-173. - Membership and term.  

(a) The Board of Adjustment shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board of 
Trustees. In addition to five (5) regular, voting members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall 
serve as an ex officio member of the Board of Adjustment and may take part in discussions but 
shall not vote. All members shall be residents of the Town 

(b) The term of the ex officio member shall correspond to their official tenure. The term of 
each voting member shall be three (3) years or until their successor takes office. A voting member 
may be removed by the Board of Trustees upon the filing of a written statement by a member of 
the Board of Trustees if, after a public hearing, the Board of Trustees finds the member has 
committed inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  

Sec. 2-174. - Meetings.  



21 
 

(a) The Board of Adjustment shall meet at the call of the Town Manager or the Town 
Manager's designee and shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of all appeals.  

(b) Public notice conforming to the requirements of Section 2-61 hereof and Chapter 16 of the 
Code shall be required prior to any public hearing.  

Secs. 2-175—2-180. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XII - Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee

Sec. 2-181. - Purpose.  

The Town's health, welfare, beauty, and economic vitality would best be served if there was more 
coordination in planning for the maintenance and improvement of its parks, recreation, and trails; 
therefore, the Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee, a standing committee, is hereby 
created.  

Sec. 2-182. - Powers and duties.  

(a) The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall have the power and duty to 
formulate and approve a Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan; to review the maintenance and 
capital needs of the Town's parks, recreation facilities, and trails; to make recommendations to the 
Board of Trustees for additional resources that may be needed to address these needs; to 
recommend trail construction, maintenance, planning and acquisition; and to recommend capital 
projects that the Town should undertake to improve recreation facilities. The decision of the Parks, 
Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall be purely advisory in nature to the Board of 
Trustees. Upon the final adoption of any new version of the Master Plan by the Committee, the 
same shall be presented to the Board of Trustees for its approval.  

(b) The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall have the power to solicit 
donations and carry out fundraising campaigns as approved by the Board of Trustees and in 
accordance with the Town's Donation Solicitation policy. All funds donated shall be accepted in 
accordance with the Town's Donation Acceptance policy and given to the Town Clerk for deposit 
in a special designated fund maintained for this purpose by the Town.  

Sec. 2-183. - Membership.  

The Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall consist of five (5) members appointed 
by the Board of Trustees. All members shall be residents of the Town. In addition to regular 
appointed members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall serve as an ex officio member of the 
Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee and may take part in discussions but shall not 
vote.  

Sec. 2-184. - Annual report.  

At the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in February of each year, the chair of the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee will submit a written report to the Board of Trustees 
summarizing the work of the Committee during the preceding calendar year. At that time, the chair 
of the Parks, Recreation and Trails Advisory Committee shall also present for the Board of 
Trustees review and approval a proposed work plan for the new year.  



22 
 

Secs. 2-185—2-190. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIII - Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee  

Sec. 2-191. - Purpose.  

The public health, safety and welfare would best be served by effective coordination in fire 
mitigation activities between the Town and other regional governmental agencies. Therefore, a 
Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee is hereby established to advise the Board of Trustees and to 
coordinate with the El Paso County Emergency Management, the Colorado State Patrol, and other 
governmental agencies on fire-related issues affecting the Town and to develop a notification and 
evacuation plan for the Green Mountain Falls community.  

Sec. 2-192. - Powers and duties.  

The Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee shall have the power and duty to formulate fire 
mitigation plans, to coordinate with El Paso County Emergency Management, the Colorado State 
Patrol, and other governmental agencies on fire-related issues affecting the Town and to develop 
a notification and evacuation plan for the Green Mountain Falls community. The Fire Mitigation 
Advisory Committee shall work to carry out the recommendations in the "Action 
Recommendations for Structural Ignitability and Public Outreach" set forth in the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan, adopted June 25, 2019, on p. 93, Table 2. The Fire Mitigation 
Advisory Committee may make further recommendations to the Board of Trustees for additional 
resources that may be needed to address these needs, and to recommend projects that the Town 
should undertake to improve the Town's resiliency to fire-related hazards. All activities of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall be subject to final approval of the Board of Trustees of the 
Town.  

Sec. 2-193. - Membership.  

The Fire Mitigation Advisory Committee shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Board 
of Trustees. All members shall be residents of the Town. Persons interested in becoming members 
shall complete and submit an application in accordance with the Town's Policy on Advisory 
Committees, Appointments to Outside Agencies and Volunteers. In addition to regular appointed 
members, one (1) Board of Trustee member shall serve as an ex officio member of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee and shall take part in discussions but shall not vote.  

Sec. 2-194. - Annual report.  

At the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in February of each year, the chair of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall submit a written report to the Board of Trustees summarizing 
the work of the Committee during the preceding calendar year. At that time, the chair of the Fire 
Mitigation Advisory Committee shall also present for the Board of Trustees review and approval 
a proposed work plan for the new year.  

Secs. 2-195—2-200. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIV - Boards, Committees and Commissions  

Sec. 2-201. - Creation.  



23 
 

Pursuant to the authority conferred by state statutes, there is hereby created a planning commission, 
a board of adjustment, a parks, recreation and trails advisory committee, and a fire mitigation 
advisory committee, which shall hereinafter for the purposes of this Article be referred to as 
"boards, committees, and commissions" or "board, committee or commission." All boards, 
committees, and commissions shall act in a purely advisory role to Board of Trustees unless 
expressly stated otherwise in this Code or statute.  

Sec. 2-202. - Applicability.  

The provisions of this title shall apply to all boards, committees, and commissions except when 
the topic is specifically addressed in the section related to the individual board, committee, or 
commission.  

Sec. 2-203. - Members and alternates; appointments and requirements.  

(a)  All members of any board, committee, or commission shall be residents of the Town and 
shall be appointed by Board of Trustees.  For purposes of this Chapter, "resident" shall mean a 
person who has resided in the Town and considered the Town their primary place of residence for 
a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months immediately preceding the appointment, and 
would otherwise be eligible to hold municipal office pursuant to law.  

(b) In making appointments, the Board of Trustees shall strive to select members 
representative of all community demographic and stakeholder groups. If any member ceases to 
reside in the Town, membership shall immediately terminate. All boards, committees, and 
commissions shall consist of five (5) voting members. No member of the Board of Trustees and 
no Town employee shall serve as a voting member of any board, committee, or commission. No 
person shall serve as a member or alternate member of more than one (1) board, committee, or 
commission at the same time.  

(c)  The Board of Trustees may appoint alternate members to any board, committee, or 
commission, not to exceed three (3) alternate members. Alternates are invited and requested to 
attend all meetings of the board, committee, or commission, but are not required to do so. Alternate 
members may take part in the discussion of any matter that comes before a board, committees, or 
commission, except for quasi-judicial matters, in which they may not participate unless they have 
been appointed in the place of an absent member. An alternate member may not vote on any matter 
unless designated to do so by the chair of the board, committee, or commission, in place of an 
absent member.  

(d)   The chair shall inform the Town Clerk in writing within one week of any member's 
resignation.  

(e)  Persons interested in becoming members shall complete and submit an application in 
accordance with the Town's Policy on Advisory Committees, Appointments to Outside Agencies, 
and Volunteers.  

Sec. 2-204. - Terms of office and appointment.  

Appointments to all boards, committees, and commissions shall be made by the Board of Trustees 
for three-year terms. Members shall serve without compensation. Initial terms of membership shall 



24 
 

be as follows: Two (2) members shall be appointed to a one-year term, two (2) members shall be 
appointed to a two-year term, and one (1) member shall be appointed to a three-year term. 
Thereafter, as the terms expire, all appointments shall be for a period of three (3) years. Any 
members whose term expires may seek reappointment. Term limits shall not apply.  

Sec. 2-205. - Quasi-judicial hearings.  

In any quasi-judicial or public hearing held before any board, committee, or commission, all 
evidence and testimony shall be presented publicly. The commission may use its expertise, 
technical competence, and specialized knowledge in evaluating evidence presented to it and shall 
have the power to weigh any evidence accordingly.  

Sec. 2-206. - Officer positions.  

Each board, committee and commission shall appoint a chair and vice-chair annually during the 
first meeting of each calendar year. Each board, committee and commission shall appoint a 
secretary from among the remaining members of each respective board, committee, or 
commission. Each board, committee or commission shall operate in accordance with the rules of 
procedure in Section 2-207. The board, committee or commission chair shall notify the Town 
Clerk in writing within one (1) week post-election of the names of officers.  

Sec. 2-207. - Rules of procedure.  

Each board, committee and commission shall hold all meetings at Town Hall at regular intervals 
as set forth in the board, committee or commission's adopted bylaws. All meetings shall be open 
to the public, after posting full and timely notice of date, time, place, and subject matter of the 
meeting at the Town's designated posting locations. At each meeting, the public shall be given an 
opportunity for public comment. Full and timely notice shall be deemed to be at least twenty-four 
(24) hours prior to the date and time of the meeting. Unless required otherwise in this Chapter, all 
boards, committees, and commissions shall meet regularly at least once each month, except when 
a quorum is not available, or there is no business to address. Each board, committee, or 
commission's secretary shall keep minutes of its meetings and records of its transactions, the 
secretary shall deliver them to the Town Clerk in a timely manner for submission to the Board of 
Trustees. Special meetings may be called by the chair, any three (3) members, or the Town 
Manager with at least twenty-four (24) hours' written notice. The chair has final authority to 
establish the agenda and will collaborate with other members and Town staff in its development. 
The chair or their designee shall serve as the conduit of communication between the board, 
committee, or commission and the staff liaison and Board of Trustees. A majority of the appointed 
non-vacant seats shall constitute a quorum.  

Sec. 2-208. - Authority and responsibility.  

(a) Boards, committees, and commissions shall exercise their authority and shall be 
accountable to comply with the board, committee or commission's approved work plan, the Board 
of Trustees' goals, and with other Board of Trustees adopted rules or regulations. Unless otherwise 
provided by law, no board, committee, or commission, and no member of any board, committees, 
or commission shall have authority to act on behalf of the Town, including without limitation 
approving contracts, negotiating deals, spending or allocating Town funds, and negotiating 
transactions involving real or personal property.  



25 
 

(b) Within ninety (90) days of creation, each board, commission or committee shall submit a 
set of bylaws to the Board of Trustees for review and approval. Bylaws shall, at a minimum, set 
the board, commission or committee's regular meeting date and time.  

(c) Each board, committee or commission shall provide an agenda to the Town Clerk at least 
twenty-four (24) hours prior to the date and time of each meeting and shall provide the Town Clerk 
with approved minutes following every meeting.  

(d) In collaboration with Town staff, each board, committee, and commission shall submit an 
annual budget request to Board of Trustees, which furthers the accomplishment of that plan. Once 
funding has been approved through the budgeting process, each board, committee, and commission 
may offer recommendations to the Town staff and Board of Trustees on the expenditure of those 
funds.  

(e) No board, committee, or commission and no member of any board, committee, or 
commission shall have the authority to accept donations on behalf of the Town, to direct any Town 
employee, or to make operational decisions for the Town.  

Sec. 2-209. - Recommendations to board of trustees.  

Each board, committee, and commission shall deliver recommendations to the Board of Trustees 
concerning its budget provisions and other matters within its purview as required herein, from time 
to time as directed by the Trustees, or as initiated by the board, committee, or commission. Board 
of Trustees shall approve annual board, committee, or commission work plans and may provide 
direction to boards, committees, and commissions regarding specific matters upon which the 
Board of Trustees desires the board, committee, or commissions to investigate and provide 
recommendations. Boards, committees, and commissions shall follow such direction and provide 
their recommendations to Board of Trustees via the means directed by the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 2-210. - Removal.  

Except as provided otherwise in this Chapter, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to remove 
any member of any board, committee or commission at any time with or without cause. Upon 
removal, the Board of Trustees shall fill any vacancy for the remainder of the vacated position's 
term. If there is less than one (1) year remaining on the term, a person may, but need not, be 
appointed to fill the remainder of that term and the next full term.  

Sec. 2-211. - Staff liaison role.  

The Town Manager may assign Town personnel to assist boards, committees, and commissions 
with budget proposals or any other duties as is necessary for the boards, committees, or 
commissions to adequately perform their functions.  

Sec. 2-212. - Subcommittees.  

From time to time, the Board of Trustees or a board, committee, or commission may establish 
temporary or standing subcommittees to study issues or make recommendations. No formal action 
may be taken by a subcommittee. Subcommittee meetings shall be public meetings, shall comply 
with the rules of procedure set forth in Section 2-207, and shall be attended by at least one (1) 



26 
 

member of the board, committee or commission that formed the subcommittee. All subcommittee 
recommendations must be submitted to the appropriate board, committee, or commission.  

Sec. 2-213. - Remote participation.  

Members of any board, committee, or commission may participate in meetings remotely, and any 
remote participation shall be pursuant to rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees, 
as they may be amended.  



CHAPTER 43 - Revenue and Finance 

ARTICLE I - General  

Sec. 43-1. - Fiscal year same as calendar year.  

The fiscal year of the Town shall commence on January 1 and end on December 31 of each year.  

(Prior code 3-1-1) 

Sec. 43-2. - Annual budget.  

Not later than the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in November of each year, the 
Budget Committee, or other duly authorized persons designated by the Board of Trustees, shall 
submit to the Board of Trustees the itemized annual budget for the ensuing fiscal year. The budget 
as approved by the Board of Trustees shall be adopted and administered in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado., C.R.S. § 29-1-101, et seq., as 
amended.   

(Prior code 3-1-2) 

Sec. 43-3. - Rate of tax levy.  

The Board of Trustees shall by resolution fix the rate of tax to be levied upon all the taxable 
property within the Town for municipal purposes and, through the Town Clerk, shall officially 
certify said levy to the County Commissioners of El Paso and Teller Counties prior to December 
16 of each year.  
(Prior code 3-1-3; Ord. 92-04 §1) 
Sec. 43-4. - Annual appropriation.  

The Board of Trustees shall pass an ordinance or resolution within the last quarter of each fiscal 
year for the next fiscal year. In such ordinance or resolution the Board of Trustees shall appropriate 
appropriating sums of money as are necessary to cover the items in its budget and to defray all 
necessary expenses and liabilities of the Town, specifying the objects and purposes for which such 
appropriations are made and the amount appropriated for each object and purpose. The total 
amount appropriated shall not exceed the probably amount of revenue that will be collected during 
the fiscal year.  

(Prior code 3-1-4; Ord. No. 06-21-2016A, § 1, 6-21-2016) 

Sec. 43-5. - Publication of financial statements.  

The Board of Trustees shall, within twenty (20) days after the adjournment of each regular or 
special meeting, publish such of its proceedings as relate to the payment of bills, stating for what 
the same are allowed, and the name of the person to whom allowed and to whom paid. It shall also 
publish a statement concerning all contracts awarded and rebates allowed.  

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



(Prior code 3-1-5) 

Sec. 43-6. - Deposits and investments.  

The Town Treasurerand/or Town ClerkTreasurer shall deposit all of the funds and moneys which 
come into his or hertheir possession by virtue of the office as Town Treasurer in one (1) or more 
responsible banks located in the State which have been designated by written resolution of the 
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees may also authorize the Town Treasureror Town 
ClerkTreasurer by written resolution to invest all or any part of such funds in securities which are 
authorized for such investment by stateState law.  

(Prior code 3-1-6) 

Sec. 43-7. - Annual audit.  

The Board of Trustees shall select a qualified person or entity as auditor and cause to be made an 
annual audit of the financial affairs and transactions of the Town in accordance with the 
requirements of stateState law.  

(Prior code 3-1-7) 

Secs. 43-8—43-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - General Fund  

and Special Funds

Sec. 43-21. - General Fund created.  

There is hereby created a fund, to be known as the General Fund, which shall consist of the 
following:  

(1)  All cash balances of the Town not specifically belonging to any existing special fund 
of the Town.  
(2)  All fixed assets of the Town (to be separately designated in an account known as the 
General Fund Fixed Assets) not specifically belonging to any existing special fund of the 
Town.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 4-22—4-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Special Funds  

Sec. 4-413-22. - Capital Improvement Fund.  

There is hereby established a special fund of the Town to be known as the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund.  

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 4-423-23. - Conservation Trust Fund.  

There is hereby created a Conservation Trust Fund pursuant to the provisions of SectionC.R.S. § 
29-21-101, C.R.Set seq., and such fund shall be received, budgeted, appropriated and used in 
accordance with the provisions of stateState law.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 3-33—4-43—4-6040. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IVIII - Sales Tax  

Sec. 4-613-41. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is to impose a sales tax on the privilege of selling tangible personal 
property at retail and on the furnishing of services upon every retailer in the Town.  

(Prior code 3-5-1; Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-623-42. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the definitions of words herein contained shall be as defined in 
SectionC.R.S. § 39-26-102, C.R.S., as amended, and said definitions are incorporated herein by this 
reference.  

(Prior code 3-5-2; Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-633-43. - Licenses.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling tangible personal 
property at retail or in the furnishing of services without first having obtained a license therefor. 
Such license shall be granted and issued by the Town Clerk and shall be in force and effect until 
December 31 of the year in which it is issued unless sooner revoked.  
(b)  Such license shall be granted and renewed only upon application stating the name and 
address of the person desiring such a license, the name of such business and the location and such 
other facts as the Town Clerk may require.  
(c)  It shall be the duty of each licensee, on or before January 1 of each year during which this 
Article remains in effect, to obtain a renewal thereof if the licensee remains in the retail business 
or liable to account for the tax herein provided, but nothing herein contained shall be construed to 
empower the Town Clerk to refuse such renewal except revocation for cause of the licensee's prior 
license.  
(d)  In case business is transacted at one (1) or more separate premises by one (1) person, a 
separate license for each place of business shall be required.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(e)  Any person engaged in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail or in the 
furnishing of services in the Town without having secured a license therefor, except as specifically 
provided herein, shall be guilty of a violation of this ArticleCode and punished as set forth in Section 
1-42.  
(f)   Each license shall be numbered, shall show the name, residence, place and character of 
business of the licensee and shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the place of business for 
which it is issued. No license shall be transferrable.  
(g)   No license shall be required for any person engaged exclusively in the business of selling 
commodities or in the furnishing of services that are exempt from taxation under State law.  

(Prior code 3-5-3; Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-643-44. - General provisions; exemptions.  

(a)   For the purpose of collection, administration and enforcement of this Article the provisions 
of SectionC.R.S, § 39-26-114, C.R.S., shall be deemed applicable and incorporated into this Article.  
(b)   The amount subject to tax under this Article shall not include the state sales and use tax 
imposed by Article 26, of Chapter 39, C.R.S.  
(c)   For the purpose of this Article, all retail sales shall be considered consummated at the place 
of business of the retailer, unless the tangible personal property sold is delivered by the retailer or 
his or her agent to a destination outside the limits of the Town or to a common carrier for delivery 
to a destination outside the limits of the Town.  
(d)   The gross receipts from sales shall include delivery charges when such charges are subject 
to the state sales and use tax imposed by Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., regardless of the place 
to which delivery is made.  
(e)   In the event a retailer has no permanent place of business or more than one (1) place of 
business in the Town, the place or places at which the retail sales are consummated for the purpose 
of this sales tax shall be determined by the provisions of Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., and by 
the rules and regulations promulgated by the Department of Revenue.  
(f)   For the purposes of collection, administration and enforcement of this Article, the sale of 
tangible personal property and services taxable pursuant to this Article shall be the same as the 
sale of tangible personal property and services taxable pursuant to SectionC.R.S. § 39-26-104, 
C.R.S., as amended.  

(Prior code 3-5-4; Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-653-45. - Schedule of sales tax.  

(a)  There is imposed, on all sales of tangible personal property and on the furnishing of all 
taxable services, a tax equal to two percent (2%) of the gross receipts.  
(b)  There is hereby imposed on all sales of tangible personal property and on the furnishing of 
all taxable services an additional tax equal to one percent (1%) of the gross receipts. This additional 
sales tax, by voter approval, is to be used for the purpose of maintaining current services, repair 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



and replacement of Town road maintenance and snowplowing equipment, the purchase of road 
maintenance materials and the maintenance, repair and improvements of Town parks and 
recreational facilities.  
(c)  The imposition of tax on individual sales shall be in accordance with schedules set forth in 
the rules and regulations promulgated by the Colorado Department of Revenue or by separate 
ordinance of the Town.  
(d)  The collection, administration and enforcement of this sales tax shall be performed by the 
Director of Revenue in the same manner as the collection, administration and enforcement of the 
state sales tax. The provisions of Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., as amended, and all rules and 
regulations promulgated by the Director of Revenue shall govern the collection, administration 
and enforcement of sales tax imposed by this Article.  

Secs.(Prior code 3-5-5; Ord. 01-2004 §1; Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, 8-7-2018) 

46—Sec. 4-6660. - Reserved.  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2018-07, § 1, adopted Aug. 7, 2018, repealed § 4-66, which pertained 
to election and amendments and derived from Prior code 3-5-6. 

Secs. 4-67—4-80. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIV - Use Tax  

Sec. 4-813-61. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Article, the definitions of words herein contained shall be defined as in 
SectionC.R.S. § 39-26-102, C.R.S., and said definitions are incorporated herein by reference.  

(Ord. 92-02 §1) 

Sec. 4-823-62. - General provisions and exemptions.  

(a)  The purpose of this Article is to impose a use tax of two percent (2%) thereof, and such 
additional use tax as may be approved by the voters of the Town, for the privilege of using or 
consuming in the Town any construction and building materials purchased at retail, and for storing, 
using and consuming in the Town any motor or other vehicles on which registration is required, 
purchased at retail or both.  
(b)  There is hereby imposed, effective July 1, 2004, an additional use tax of one percent (1%) 
thereof, by voter approval, for the privilege of using or consuming in the Town any construction 
and building materials purchased at retail, and for storing, using and consuming in the Town any 
motor or other vehicles on which registration is required, purchased at retail or both.  
(c)  The use tax shall not apply:  

(1)  To the storage, use or consumption of any tangible personal property, the sale of 
which is subject to a retail sales tax imposed by the Town.  

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(2)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property purchased for resale 
in the Town either in its original form or as an ingredient of a manufactured or compounded 
product, in the regular course of a business.  
(3)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property brought into the 
Town by a nonresident thereof for his or her own storage, use or consumption while 
temporarily within the Town; however, this exemption does not apply to the storage, use 
or consumption of tangible personal property brought into the State by a nonresident to be 
used in the conduct of a business in the State.  
(4)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property by the United States 
government or the State, or its institutions or political subdivisions, in their governmental 
capacities only, or by religious or charitable organizations in the conduct of their regular 
religious or charitable functions.  
(5)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property by a person engaged 
in the business of manufacturing, or compounding for sale, use or profit, any article, 
substance or commodity, which tangible personal property enters into the processing of or 
becomes an ingredient or component part of the product or service which is manufactured, 
compounded or furnished and the container, label or furnished shipping case thereof.  
(6)  To the storage, use or consumption of any article of tangible personal property, the 
sale or use of which has already been subjected to a legally imposed sales or use tax of 
another statutory or home rule town, city or city and county equal to or in excess of that 
imposed by this Article. A credit shall be granted against the use tax imposed by this Article 
with respect to a person's storage, use or consumption in the Town of tangible personal 
property purchased by him or her in a previous statutory or home rule town, city or city 
and county. The amount of the credit shall be equal to the tax paid by him or her by reason 
of the imposition of a sales or use tax of the previous statutory or home rule town, city or 
city and county on the purchase or use of the property. The amount of the credit shall not 
exceed the tax imposed by this Article.  
(7)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property and household 
effects acquired outside of the Town and brought into it by a nonresident acquiring 
residency.  
(8)  To the storage or use of a motor vehicle if the owner is or was, at the time of purchase, 
a nonresident of the Town and he or she purchased the vehicle outside of the Town for use 
outside of the Town and actually so used it for a substantial and primary purpose for which 
it was acquired and he or she registered, titled and licensed said motor vehicle outside of 
the Town.  
(9)  To the storage, use or consumption of any construction and building materials and 
motor and other vehicles on which registration is required if a written contract for the 
purchase thereof was entered into prior to the effective date of such use tax.  
(10)  To the storage, use or consumption of any construction and building materials 
required or made necessary in the performance of any construction contract bid, let or 
entered into at any time prior to the effective date of this Article.  

(Ord. 92-02 §2; Ord. 01-2004 §2) 



Sec. 4-833-63. - Collection, administration and enforcement of use tax.  

(a)  The use tax provided for in this Article shall be applicable to every motor vehicle for which 
registration is required by the laws of the State; no registration shall be made of any motor or other 
vehicle for which registration is not required; and no certificate of title shall be issued for such 
vehicle by the Department of Revenue or its authorized agents until any tax due upon the use, 
storage or consumption thereof pursuant to this Article has been paid.  
(b)  The use tax imposed by this Article shall be collected by the authorized agents of the counties 
involved.  
(c)  The proceeds of said use tax shall be paid to the Town in accordance with the agreement 
entered into by the appropriate agencies and the Town.  
(d)  The collection of the useUse tax for construction and building materials shall be administered 
by the Board of Trustees and is to be collected at the time the building permit application is submitted 
to the Planning Commission or to the Town Clerk.  
(e)  The collection and administration of the use tax imposed by this Article shall be performed by the 

Board of Trustees in substantially the same manner as the collection, administration and enforcement 
of the state sales and use tax.  

(Ord. 92-02 §3; Ord. 01-2004 §§3, 4) 

Sec. 4-843-64. - Revenues.  

(a)  Revenues collected by the two-percent use tax are to be used toward the payment of such 
municipal vehicles as the Board of Trustees determines are necessary and appropriate.  
(b)  Revenues collected by the one-percent additional use tax, approved by the voters, are to be 
used for the purpose of maintaining current services, repair and replacement of Town road 
maintenance and snowplowing equipment, the purchase of road maintenance materials and the 
maintenance, repair and improvements of Town parks and recreational facilities.  

(Ord. 92-02 §4; Ord. 01-2004 §5) 

Secs. 4-85—4-1003-65—3-80. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIV - Lodging Occupation Tax[1]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (1) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2018-05, §§ 1, 2, adopted Aug. 7, 2018, repealed the former Art. VI, §§ 4-101—
4-107, and enacted a new Art. VI as set out herein. The former Art. VI pertained to Lodging Tax and 
derived from Ord. 4-1982 §§ 1—6; Ord. 4-1983 §§ 1, 2.  

Sec. 4-1013-81. - Imposition of tax.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(a)  The provision of lodging rooms and accommodations to the traveling public results in the 
increased use of Town streets and rights-of-way, increased traffic, increased demands upon 
municipal services such as police protection and has a substantial effect upon the health, safety 
and welfare of the citizens of the Town and upon the expenditures budgeted by the Town which is 
a matter of local concern.  
(b)  The classification of the provision of lodging as separate businesses and occupations is 
reasonable, proper, uniform and nondiscriminatory; and the taxable amount hereby levied is 
reasonable, proper, uniform, nondiscriminatory, and necessary.  
(c)  There is hereby levied by the Town an occupation tax on the provision of lodging upon every 
lodging business furnishing any room or accommodation for less than one (1) month or thirty (30) 
consecutive days within the Town in the amount of four dollars and fifty cents ($4.50) per day, per 
occupied lodging room or accommodation.  

(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-1023-82. - Lodging defined.  

The provision of lodging means the transaction of furnishing rooms or accommodations to any 
person who, for monetary consideration, possesses or has the right to use or possess any room or 
rooms in a hotel, apartment hotel, lodging house, motor hotel, guest house, guest ranch, short-term 
rentals licensed pursuant to Chapter 6, Article VIII, of this Code, or any other place that furnishes 
sleeping accommodations under any concession, permit, right of access, license to use, other 
agreement or otherwise and for a period of less than thirty (30) consecutive days or which rental 
is on a weekly or daily basis.  

(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-1033-83. - Exemptions.  

Lodging Tax Exemptions. The following transactions shall be exempt from the tax imposed by 
this Article:  

(a)  Accommodations provided by the United States, the State of Colorado, its 
departments and institutions, and the political subdivisions of the State in their 
governmental capacities only.  
(b)  Accommodations provided by those charitable, religious and eleemosynary 
organizations that have received from the Internal Revenue Service status under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization, while in the conduct 
of their regular charitable, religious or eleemosynary functions and activities.  
(c)  Accommodations provided to a person who is a permanent resident of a hotel, motel, 
apartment hotel, lodging house, motor hotel, guest house, or other similar business pursuant 
to a written agreement for a period of at least one (1) month or thirty (30) consecutive days.  
(d)  Accommodations provided to a person without monetary consideration being paid to 
the vendor for such accommodations.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-1043-84. - Payment of tax.  

(a)  Every lodging business shall remit the lodging occupation tax not less than quarterly on 
account of lodging provided in the preceding quarter and not later than fifteen (15) days following 
the end of each quarter of the calendar year. Said payment shall be accompanied by a return 
containing such information and be in such form as the Town Clerk may prescribe.  
(b)  The burden of providing that any transaction is exempt from the tax shall be upon the lodging 
business.  

(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-1053-85. - Penalty for late payment.  

In the event payment of the lodging tax is not timely made as provided in Section 4-1043-84, the 
lodging business shall be required to pay unto the Town a fifteen percent (15%) penalty of the 
entire tax due for any given quarter.  

(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Sec. 4-1063-86. - Inspection of records.  

The Town, its officers, agents or representatives shall have the right to all reasonable hours and 
times to examine the books and records of the lodging businesses that are subject to the provisions 
of this Article and to make copies of the entries or contents thereof.  

(Ord. No. 2018-05, § 2, 8-7-2018) 

Secs. 4-107—4-1203-87—3-100. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Telephone Utilities Tax  

Sec. 3-101. - Definitions.  

As used in this Article:  

(1)  Base line count means the total number of lines for which the incumbent provider 
provides basic local exchange service within the Town on January 1, 1998.  

(2)  Basic local exchange service means basic local exchange service or basic service 
authorized by a certificate of public convenience and necessity, or otherwise, under Title 
40, Article 15, C.R.S., as amended or recodified from time to time.  

(3)  Incumbent basic local exchange service provider or incumbent provider means the 
company or entity providing basic local exchange service in the Town as of January 1, 
1998.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(4)  Inhabitant means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, company, 
firm, association, proprietorship or other entity residing or having a place of business 
within the Town.  

(5)  Line means a separate telephone number or telephone circuit identification number 
provided to a customer at retail, except that, to the extent a provider provides basic local 
exchange service through trunks, a line means a network access register, or its functional 
equivalent, provided to a customer at retail.  

(6)  New basic local exchange service provider or new provider means any company or 
entity other than the incumbent provider who enters the business of providing basic local 
exchange service.  

(7)  New provider's initial line count means the number of lines for which a new provider 
provides basic local exchange service within the Town thirty (30) days after that new 
provider's effective date, under Section 3-103.  

(8)  Provider means a company or entity providing basic local exchange service through 
use of its own facilities, through resale or through any combination of the two.  

Sec. 3-102. - Tax levied; amount.  

(a)  There is levied on and against each provider operating within the Town, a tax on the 
occupation and business of providing basic local exchange service at retail to inhabitants of the 
Town.  

(b)  The amount and payment rates of tax levied shall be as follows:  

(1)  The monthly tax rate to be paid by all providers shall be calculated by dividing the 
current annual amount of business and occupation tax paid by the incumbent provider, by 
the total number of lines for which a charge is made to all inhabitants on January 2, 1998 
by all providers, the result of which shall be divided by twelve (12). Such formula can be 
represented as follows:  

The incumbent's current tax liability 
  Total lines of all current providers 

÷ 12 =  Per monthly line rate   

 
(2)  The tax levied against each provider shall be calculated each August, shall be 
effective on the following January 1 and shall be payable on a quarterly basis, specifically, 
on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year.  

(3)  Each new provider that first becomes subject to this Article during any calendar year 
shall calculate its tax for that calendar year, as stated in paragraph (1) above, using as the 
number of provider lines, the number in the new provider's initial line count under Section 
3-104. Each such new provider shall prorate the tax from and including the month of the 
effective date, under Section 3-103, through the end of that calendar year. Each such new 
provider that first becomes subject to this Article within the first ten (10) months of a tax 
year shall pay that prorated tax in equal quarterly payments, beginning the month of its 
statement of new provider's initial line count under Section 3-104 of lines, and ending 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



December 31 of that tax year. Each such new provider that first becomes subject to this 
Article during the last two (2) months of the tax year shall pay its total prorated tax within 
sixty (60) days of the effective date. For each such new provider, the tax for the following 
year shall be computed as stated in paragraph (2) above, using, as the number of provider 
lines, the number in either the new provider's initial line count, or its June 30 statement of 
lines for the preceding year (if any), under Section 3-104, whichever statement comes later.  

Sec. 3-103. - Effective date; schedule of payments.  

For each provider, the tax levied by this Article shall commence on January 1, 1998, or on the date 
the provider first provides basic local exchange service with the Town, whichever is later. Except 
as this Article may otherwise provide, the tax shall be due and payable in quarterly payments.  

Sec. 3-104. - Initial and annual statements of company lines.  

An incumbent provider shall, on January 2, 1998, determine the total number of lines for which it 
then provides basic local exchange service within the Town (the base line count), and shall, by 
March 15, 1998, file with the Town Clerk a statement showing its determined total number of 
lines. On June 30 of each calendar year, each provider then subject to this Article shall determine 
the total number of lines for which it then provides basic local exchange service within the Town. 
By July 30 of the same calendar year, each such provider shall file with the Town Clerk a statement 
showing its determined total number of lines. In addition, a new provider that first becomes subject 
to this Article during any calendar year shall, thirty (30) days after that new provider's effective 
date under Section 3-103, determine the number of lines for which it provides basic local exchange 
service within the Town (new provider's initial line count), and shall file its statement of that 
number within sixty (60) days after the effective date. All statements shall be in such form as the 
Town Clerk may require, including oaths, verifications or acknowledgments.  

Sec. 3-105. - Failure to pay; penalty; Town action to collect.  

If any provider subject to this Article fails to pay the taxes as provided in Section 3-102, the full 
amount thereof shall be due and collected from such company, and the same, together with an 
addition of ten percent (10%) of the amount of taxes due, is a debt due and owing from such 
provider to the Town. The Town may commence and prosecute to final judgment, in any court of 
competent jurisdiction, an action at law to collect the debt.  

Sec. 3-106. - Inspection of records.  

To enforce this Article, the Town and its officers, agents or representatives shall have the right, at 
all reasonable hours and times, to examine and copy the books and records of every provider 
subject to this Article. They shall use these books, records and copies only to enforce this Article. 
Except under a court order, or in connection with enforcing this Article, they shall not divulge 
these books, records or copies to any other person.  

Sec. 3-107. - Tax not on interstate commerce; not a franchise.  

The tax provided in this Article is upon occupations and businesses in the performance of local 
functions and is not a tax upon those functions relating to interstate commerce. None of the terms 
of this Article mean that the Town grants any provider a franchise.  



Sec. 3-108. - Tax in lieu of certain other consideration.  

The tax levied in this Article is in lieu of all other occupation taxes on any provider subject to this 
Article. It is in addition to any otherwise applicable ad valorem taxes and other taxes and fees. It 
is in lieu of any free service furnished the Town by any provider.  

Sec. 3-109. - Violation of Section 5-84; penalty.  

Upon conviction, the Municipal Court shall punish any officer, agent or manager of a provider 
subject to this Article who fails, neglects or refuses to make or file the annual statement of accounts 
provided in Section 3-104 by a fine of not more than two thousand six hundred and fifty dollars 
($2,650.00). Each day after the statement becomes delinquent during which the officer, agent or 
manager so fails, neglects or refuses to make and file such statement is a separate and distinct 
offense.  

Sec. 3-110. - Offenses and liabilities to continue.  

All offenses committed and all tax liabilities incurred before amendment of this Article, under 
prior versions of the telephone utility tax, shall be and remain unconditionally due and payable, 
shall constitute a debt to the Town and shall be treated as though all prior applicable ordinances 
and amendments thereto were in full force and effect.  

Secs. 3-111—3-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Emergency Telephone Service Charge  

Sec. 3-121. - Emergency telephone service authority.  

The Town is a member of the Emergency Telephone Service Authority, which is the governing 
body responsible for administering enhanced 911 operations. The Authority has the power to 
contract for the installation and operation of an emergency telephone service in all areas authorized 
by the establishing intergovernmental agreement.  

Sec. 3-122. - Fees.  

There is imposed pursuant to C.R.S. § 29-11-100.1, et seq., as amended, upon all telephone 
exchange access facilities within the Town, an emergency telephone charge in an amount not to 
exceed the lesser of two percent (2%) of the tariff rate or fifty cents ($.50) per month for those 
portions of the service area for which emergency telephone services are provided. The funds so 
collected shall be spent solely to pay for the equipment costs, installation costs, costs directly 
related to the continued operation of an emergency telephone service and for the monthly recurring 
charges billed by the service supplier for said service. The Board of Trustees may, by ordinance, 
raise or lower the emergency telephone charge, but in no event shall such charge exceed the 
amount annually set by the Colorado Public Utilities Commission in accordance with C.R.S. § 29-
11-102, C.R.S. § 29-11-102.3, and C.R.S. § 29-11-102.5 

Sec. 3-123. – Collection.  

Telephone service suppliers providing telephone service in the Town are authorized to collect 
the emergency telephone charges imposed by this Article in accordance with C.R.S. § 29-11-

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



100.1, et seq., as amended, and to provide those funds to the Emergency Telephone Service 
Authority.  

Secs. 3-124—3-130. – Reserved.

ARTICLE VIII - Municipal Procurement Procedures[2]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (2) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, adopted Aug. 6, 2019, repealed the former Art. VII, §§ 4-121—4-
130, and enacted a new Art. VII as set out herein. The former Art. VII pertained to similar subject matter 
and derived from Ord. No. 10-6-2015B, § 1, adopted Oct. 6, 2015; Ord. No. 2018-09, § 1, adopted Nov. 6, 
2018.  

Sec. 4-121

Sec. 3-131. - Application and definitions.  

(1)  Except as set forth in Subsection (3)Paragraph 3 below, the procurement procedures set forth 
in this Article shall apply to every purchase to which the Town is a party, provided that the Town 
may vary from these procedures when necessary to comply with state or federal grant 
requirements.  

(2)  The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this Article. shall have the following 
meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:  

(a)  "Bids" shall mean either bids or proposals submitted in response to a written 
invitation for bids or a written request for proposals.  
(b)  "Town Manager" shall mean the Town Manager and the Town Manager's designee.  

(3)  The following purchases shall be exempt from the requirements of this Article:  
(a)  Insurance and Benefits. The procurement of all insurance and benefits, including 
renewals or extensions and related recordkeeping services. Insurance and benefits will be 
procured in a generally competitive manner as determined by the Town Manager.  
(b)  Legal Services. Outside legal service s, including related services, obtained by the 
Town Attorney's Office.  
(c)  Cooperative Purchasing. Products or services for which other public agencies have 
engaged in a competitive solicitation process and are able to have their bid prices extended 
to the Town, such as State Bid, GSA, or similar programs. The Town may also participate 
in joint procurements with other agencies in the Town's best interests. Town Manager 
approval is not required when cooperative purchases are made.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



Sec. 4-1223-132. - General requirements and thresholds.  

(1)  Written document. Every purchase shall be evidenced by a written document.  
(2)  Purchases of less than $10,000. A purchase in an amount of ten thousand dollars 
($10,000.00) or less may be approved by a Department Director without Town Manager or Town 
Board action. Competitive bidding is not required. However, even on these items, periodic 
telephone/online checks should be made to be certain the purchases are obtained at the lowest cost 
for the quality desired.  
(3)  Purchases of $10,000 - $25,000. A purchase in an amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000) 
to twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00) must be approved by the Town Manager. At least 
three written informal quotes must be solicited, unless an exception in Section 3-133, below, 
applies. When seeking written informal quotes, all quotes must be tabulated in detail and attached 
to the winning contract/invoice for future reference. If the recommended quote is not the lowest, 
an explanation must also accompany the contract/invoice.  
(4)  Purchases in excess of $25,000. Any item for services, projects, or equipment in this category 
must be approved by the Town Board of Trustees. The formal bid process set forth in Sections 43-
134 and 53-135, below, must be followed unless an exception applies. Responsibility for the 
advertising of formal bids will be that of the Department Director overseeing the purchase.  
(5)  Appropriation required. All expenditures for purchases shall be budgeted and appropriated. 
If a purchase is contemplated to extend beyond the current fiscal year, it must be subject to annual 
appropriation (unless otherwise permissible by elector vote or as determined by the Town 
Attorney).  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1233-133. - Comparative price quotations (between $10,000 and $25,000).  

(1)  When the amount of a purchase is between ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) and twenty-
five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), comparative price quotes by telephone, in person, or in writing 
from at least three (3) vendors or contractors shall be solicited, unless:  

(a)  The Town Manager determines that the public interest would be best served by 
negotiated contract with a single vendor or contractor or with specific vendors or 
contractors possessing unique skills or products or by joint purchase with or from another 
unit of government; or  
(b)  The Town Manager determines that the public interest would be best served by 
obtaining the goods or services through the formal bidding process.  

(2)  In case of a declared or pronounced emergency affecting the public peace, health or safety, 
the Town Manager may waive all requirements for price quotes. In such cases, the Town Manager 
may direct the appropriate Department Director to procure emergency needs by informal, open-
market procedures, at no more than current market prices, as expeditiously as possible.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1243-134. - Formal bidding required (in excess of $25,000).  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(1)  Formal bidding procedures shall be followed when the amount of a purchase exceeds twenty-
five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), unless the Town Board determines that the public interest will 
be best served by negotiated contract with a single vendor or contractor or with specific vendors 
or contractors possessing unique skills or products, or by joint purchase with or from another unit 
of government.  
(2)  In case of a declared or pronounced emergency affecting the public peace, health or safety, 
the Town Manager, Mayor, or Board of Trustees may waive all requirements for formal bidding. 
In such cases, the Town Manager, Mayor, or Board of Trustees may direct the appropriate 
Department Director to procure emergency needs by informal, open-market procedures, at no more 
than current market prices, as expeditiously as possible. If the Town Manager or Mayor waived 
such requirements, the Town Manager or Mayor, as appropriate. shall present a full report of the 
circumstances necessitating the emergency action at the next Town Board meeting with the 
potential option to extend the waiver of requirements for formal bidding.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1253-135. - Formal bidding procedures and selection criteria.  

(1)  When formal bidding is required pursuant to Section 43-134, at least ten (10) days prior to 
the deadline for receipt of bids, a request or invitation for sealed bids shall be published at least 
once in an area newspaper, sent to three (3) or more potential bidders, or posted via electronic 
solicitation.  
(2)  The Board of Trustees or Town Manager may pre-qualify vendors or contractors who wish 
to bid on Town purchases and limit acceptance of bids from such pre-qualified entities when 
determined to be in the best interests of the Town.  
(3)  Sealed bids shall be opened in public at the time and place stated in the public notice, unless 
all bidders have been notified of a change in such time or place by written addendum. A tabulation 
of all bids received shall be available for public inspection.  
(4)  After the bids have been reviewed, if the purchase will exceed the Town Manager's 
purchasing authority of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), the Town Manager shall submit 
a report to Town Board that contains an analysis of the bids, a recommendation for an award, and 
the reasons for the recommendation. The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder 
meeting the bid specifications, unless it is determined that the public interest would be better served 
by accepting another bid. Unless otherwise prohibited by federal or state law, bidders which have 
maintained a physical location inside the limits of El Paso County for a period of more than 365 
days prior to bid submission shall receive a 2%two percent (2%) preference with respect to bid 
price and bidders which have maintained a physical location inside the limits of the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls for a period of more than 365 days prior to bid submission shall receive an 
additional 2%two percent (2%) preference with respect to bid price.  
(5)  In determining whether the public interest would be better served by accepting a bid other 
than the lowest bid, the following factors shall be considered:  

(a)  The bidder's skill, ability, and capacity to perform the services or to furnish the 
materials., equipment or supplies required;  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(b)  Whether the bidder can perform the services or furnish the materials, equipment or 
supplies promptly, or within the time period specified, without delay or interference;  
(c)  The bidder's character, integrity, reputation., judgment., experience, and efficiency;  
(d)  The quality of the bidder's previous performance;  
(e)  The bidder's previous and current compliance with statutes, ordinances and rules 
relating to the purchase;  
(f)  The sufficiency of the bidder's financial resources necessary to perform the services 
or deliver the goods;  
(g)  The bidder's ability to provide future maintenance or service; and  
(h)  The number and nature of any conditions attached to the bid.  

(6)  All bids may be rejected if it is determined that such action is in the public interest. 
Negotiations may be entered into with one or more bidders in an attempt to adjust the services, 
products, or bid price as the Town deems in the public interest, and no additional bidding shall be 
necessary.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1263-136. - Amendments to purchase agreements.  

(1)  The Town Manager shall have authority to approve an amendment to a purchase agreement 
when the change order does not exceed ten percent (10%%) of the original agreement price and 
combined with the original agreement does not exceed the approved appropriation for said 
purchase.  
(2)  All other amendments to a purchase agreement previously approved by Town Board shall 
be approved or ratified by Town Board.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1273-137. - Principles and ethics.  

Every officer and employee of the Town 1s expressly prohibited from knowingly:  
(1)  Seeking or accepting any personal gift or money directly or indirectly, from any 
person, company, firm or corporation in connection with a purchase.  
(2)  Underestimating or exaggerating requirements to a prospective bidder for the 
purpose of influencing bids.  
(3)  Misrepresenting the quality of a bidder's products or services.  
(4)  Influencing the Town to make a purchase that will benefit the officer or employee, 
either directly or indirectly.  
(5)  Approving a purchase in which any employee, elected or appointed officer of the 
Town has an interest, without the approval of the Town Manager or Town Board.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(6)  No single purchase transaction shall be subdivided for the purpose of circumventing 
the dollar value limitations of this Policy.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Sec. 4-1283-138. - Special rules for procurements using federal funds.  

(1)  No local or geographical preference shall be given to any vendor for projects in which the 
Town will receive or anticipates seeking federal funds as reimbursement for or contribution toward 
a Town contract or project. However, nothing in this Subsection prevents the Town from requiring 
a vendor to comply with any applicable state licensing laws or from applying such preference 
when federal law expressly mandates or encourages it. When contracting for architectural or 
engineering services, geographic location may be considered, provided that such consideration 
leaves an appropriate number of qualified films to compete for the contract.  
(2)  Whenever the Town will receive or anticipates seeking federal funds as reimbursement for 
or any other form of payment or contribution toward a Town contract or project, the Town and 
any party contracting with the Town for such work shall take all necessary affirmative steps to 
assure that minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are 
used when possible. Affirmative steps shall include:  

(a)  Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women's business enterprises on 
solicitation lists;  
(b)  Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises are 
solicited whenever they are potential sources;  
(c)  Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or 
quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority business. and women's 
business enterprises;  
(d)  Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage 
participation by small and minority business, and women's business enterprises;  
(e)  Using the services and assistance of the small business administration, and the 
minority business development agency of the department of commerce; and  

(f)  Requiring general contractors, if subcontracts are to be let, to take the affirmative steps 
listed in subsections (2)(a) through (2)(fe) of this Section.  

(Ord. No. 2019-04, § I, 8-6-2019) 

Secs. 4-129—4-150. - Reserved.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: list1, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



CHAPTER 3 - Revenue and Finance 

ARTICLE I - General  

Sec. 3-1. - Fiscal year same as calendar year.  

The fiscal year of the Town shall commence on January 1 and end on December 31 of each year.  
Sec. 3-2. - Annual budget.  

Not later than the first regular meeting of the Board of Trustees in November of each year, the 
Budget Committee, or other duly authorized persons designated by the Board of Trustees, shall 
submit to the Board of Trustees the itemized annual budget for the ensuing fiscal year. The budget 
as approved by the Board of Trustees shall be adopted and administered in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, C.R.S. § 29-1-101, et seq., as 
amended.   
Sec. 3-3. - Rate of tax levy.  

The Board of Trustees shall by resolution fix the rate of tax to be levied upon all the taxable 
property within the Town for municipal purposes and, through the Town Clerk, shall officially 
certify said levy to the County Commissioners of El Paso and Teller Counties prior to December 
16 of each year.  
Sec. 3-4. - Annual appropriation.  

The Board of Trustees shall pass an ordinance or resolution within the last quarter of each fiscal 
year for the next fiscal year appropriating sums of money as are necessary to cover the items in its 
budget and to defray all necessary expenses and liabilities of the Town, specifying the objects and 
purposes for which such appropriations are made and the amount appropriated for each object and 
purpose. The total amount appropriated shall not exceed the probably amount of revenue that will 
be collected during the fiscal year.  
Sec. 3-5. - Deposits and investments.  

The Town Treasurer shall deposit all of the funds and moneys which come into their possession 
by virtue of the office as Town Treasurer in one (1) or more responsible banks located in the State 
which have been designated by written resolution of the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees 
may also authorize the Town Treasurer by written resolution to invest all or any part of such funds 
in securities which are authorized for such investment by State law.  
Sec. 3-6. - Annual audit.  

The Board of Trustees shall select a qualified person or entity as auditor and cause to be made an 
annual audit of the financial affairs and transactions of the Town in accordance with the 
requirements of State law.  
Secs. 3-7—3-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - General and Special Funds

Sec. 3-21. - General Fund created.  



There is hereby created a fund, to be known as the General Fund, which shall consist of the 
following:  

(1)  All cash balances of the Town not specifically belonging to any existing special fund 
of the Town.  
(2)  All fixed assets of the Town (to be separately designated in an account known as the 
General Fund Fixed Assets) not specifically belonging to any existing special fund of the 
Town.  

Sec. 3-22. - Capital Improvement Fund.  

There is hereby established a special fund of the Town to be known as the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund.  
Sec. 3-23. - Conservation Trust Fund.  

There is hereby created a Conservation Trust Fund pursuant to the provisions of C.R.S. § 29-21-
101, et seq., and such fund shall be received, budgeted, appropriated and used in accordance with 
the provisions of State law.  
Secs. 3-33—4-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Sales Tax 

Sec. 3-41. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is to impose a sales tax on the privilege of selling tangible personal 
property at retail and on the furnishing of services upon every retailer in the Town.  
Sec. 3-42. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the definitions of words herein contained shall be as defined in 
C.R.S. § 39-26-102, as amended, and said definitions are incorporated herein by this reference.  
Sec. 3-43. - General provisions; exemptions.  

(a) For the purpose of collection, administration and enforcement of this Article the provisions 
of C.R.S, § 39-26-114 shall be deemed applicable and incorporated into this Article.  
(b) The amount subject to tax under this Article shall not include the state sales and use tax 
imposed by Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S.  
(c) For the purpose of this Article, all retail sales shall be considered consummated at the place 
of business of the retailer, unless the tangible personal property sold is delivered by the retailer or 
his or her agent to a destination outside the limits of the Town or to a common carrier for delivery 
to a destination outside the limits of the Town.  
(d) The gross receipts from sales shall include delivery charges when such charges are subject 
to the state sales and use tax imposed by Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., regardless of the place 
to which delivery is made.  
(e) In the event a retailer has no permanent place of business or more than one (1) place of 
business in the Town, the place or places at which the retail sales are consummated for the purpose 



of this sales tax shall be determined by the provisions of Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., and by 
the rules and regulations promulgated by the Department of Revenue.  
(f) For the purposes of collection, administration and enforcement of this Article, the sale of 
tangible personal property and services taxable pursuant to this Article shall be the same as the 
sale of tangible personal property and services taxable pursuant to C.R.S. § 39-26-104, as 
amended.  
Sec. 3-44. - Schedule of sales tax.  

(a)  There is imposed, on all sales of tangible personal property and on the furnishing of all 
taxable services, a tax equal to two percent (2%) of the gross receipts.  
(b)  There is hereby imposed on all sales of tangible personal property and on the furnishing of 
all taxable services an additional tax equal to one percent (1%) of the gross receipts. This additional 
sales tax, by voter approval, is to be used for the purpose of maintaining current services, repair 
and replacement of Town road maintenance and snowplowing equipment, the purchase of road 
maintenance materials and the maintenance, repair and improvements of Town parks and 
recreational facilities.  
(c)  The imposition of tax on individual sales shall be in accordance with schedules set forth in 
the rules and regulations promulgated by the Colorado Department of Revenue or by separate 
ordinance of the Town.  
(d)  The collection, administration and enforcement of this sales tax shall be performed by the 
Director of Revenue in the same manner as the collection, administration and enforcement of the 
state sales tax. The provisions of Article 26 of Chapter 39, C.R.S., as amended, and all rules and 
regulations promulgated by the Director of Revenue shall govern the collection, administration 
and enforcement of sales tax imposed by this Article.  
Secs. 3-45—3-60. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Use Tax  

Sec. 3-61. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Article, the definitions of words herein contained shall be defined as in 
C.R.S. § 39-26-102, and said definitions are incorporated herein by reference.  
Sec. 3-62. - General provisions and exemptions.  

(a)  The purpose of this Article is to impose a use tax of two percent (2%) thereof, and such 
additional use tax as may be approved by the voters of the Town, for the privilege of using or 
consuming in the Town any construction and building materials purchased at retail, and for storing, 
using and consuming in the Town any motor or other vehicles on which registration is required, 
purchased at retail or both.  
(b)  There is hereby imposed, effective July 1, 2004, an additional use tax of one percent (1%) 
thereof, by voter approval, for the privilege of using or consuming in the Town any construction 
and building materials purchased at retail, and for storing, using and consuming in the Town any 
motor or other vehicles on which registration is required, purchased at retail or both.  
(c)  The use tax shall not apply:  



(1)  To the storage, use or consumption of any tangible personal property, the sale of 
which is subject to a retail sales tax imposed by the Town.  
(2)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property purchased for resale 
in the Town either in its original form or as an ingredient of a manufactured or compounded 
product, in the regular course of a business.  
(3)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property brought into the 
Town by a nonresident thereof for his or her own storage, use or consumption while 
temporarily within the Town; however, this exemption does not apply to the storage, use 
or consumption of tangible personal property brought into the State by a nonresident to be 
used in the conduct of a business in the State.  
(4)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property by the United States 
government or the State, or its institutions or political subdivisions, in their governmental 
capacities only, or by religious or charitable organizations in the conduct of their regular 
religious or charitable functions.  
(5)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property by a person engaged 
in the business of manufacturing, or compounding for sale, use or profit, any article, 
substance or commodity, which tangible personal property enters into the processing of or 
becomes an ingredient or component part of the product or service which is manufactured, 
compounded or furnished and the container, label or furnished shipping case thereof.  
(6)  To the storage, use or consumption of any article of tangible personal property, the 
sale or use of which has already been subjected to a legally imposed sales or use tax of 
another statutory or home rule town, city or city and county equal to or in excess of that 
imposed by this Article. A credit shall be granted against the use tax imposed by this Article 
with respect to a person's storage, use or consumption in the Town of tangible personal 
property purchased by him or her in a previous statutory or home rule town, city or city 
and county. The amount of the credit shall be equal to the tax paid by him or her by reason 
of the imposition of a sales or use tax of the previous statutory or home rule town, city or 
city and county on the purchase or use of the property. The amount of the credit shall not 
exceed the tax imposed by this Article.  
(7)  To the storage, use or consumption of tangible personal property and household 
effects acquired outside of the Town and brought into it by a nonresident acquiring 
residency.  
(8)  To the storage or use of a motor vehicle if the owner is or was, at the time of purchase, 
a nonresident of the Town and he or she purchased the vehicle outside of the Town for use 
outside of the Town and actually so used it for a substantial and primary purpose for which 
it was acquired and he or she registered, titled and licensed said motor vehicle outside of 
the Town.  
(9)  To the storage, use or consumption of any construction and building materials and 
motor and other vehicles on which registration is required if a written contract for the 
purchase thereof was entered into prior to the effective date of such use tax.  
(10)  To the storage, use or consumption of any construction and building materials 
required or made necessary in the performance of any construction contract bid, let or 
entered into at any time prior to the effective date of this Article.  



Sec. 3-63. - Collection, administration and enforcement of use tax.  

(a)  The use tax provided for in this Article shall be applicable to every motor vehicle for which 
registration is required by the laws of the State; no registration shall be made of any motor or other 
vehicle for which registration is not required; and no certificate of title shall be issued for such 
vehicle by the Department of Revenue or its authorized agents until any tax due upon the use, 
storage or consumption thereof pursuant to this Article has been paid.  
(b)  The use tax imposed by this Article shall be collected by the authorized agents of the counties 
involved.  
(c)  The proceeds of said use tax shall be paid to the Town in accordance with the agreement 
entered into by the appropriate agencies and the Town. 
(d)  Use tax for construction and building materials shall be collected at the time the building 
permit application is submitted to the Town.  
Sec. 3-64. - Revenues.  

(a)  Revenues collected by the two-percent use tax are to be used toward the payment of such 
municipal vehicles as the Board of Trustees determines are necessary and appropriate.  
(b)  Revenues collected by the one-percent additional use tax, approved by the voters, are to be 
used for the purpose of maintaining current services, repair and replacement of Town road 
maintenance and snowplowing equipment, the purchase of road maintenance materials and the 
maintenance, repair and improvements of Town parks and recreational facilities.  
Secs. 3-65—3-80. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Lodging Occupation Tax

Sec. 3-81. - Imposition of tax.  

(a)  The provision of lodging rooms and accommodations to the traveling public results in the 
increased use of Town streets and rights-of-way, increased traffic, increased demands upon 
municipal services such as police protection and has a substantial effect upon the health, safety 
and welfare of the citizens of the Town and upon the expenditures budgeted by the Town which is 
a matter of local concern.  
(b)  The classification of the provision of lodging as separate businesses and occupations is 
reasonable, proper, uniform and nondiscriminatory; and the taxable amount hereby levied is 
reasonable, proper, uniform, nondiscriminatory, and necessary.  
(c)  There is hereby levied by the Town an occupation tax on the provision of lodging upon every 
lodging business furnishing any room or accommodation for less than one (1) month or thirty (30) 
consecutive days within the Town in the amount of four dollars and fifty cents ($4.50) per day, per 
occupied lodging room or accommodation.  
Sec. 3-82. - Lodging defined.  

The provision of lodging means the transaction of furnishing rooms or accommodations to any 
person who, for monetary consideration, possesses or has the right to use or possess any room or 
rooms in a hotel, apartment hotel, lodging house, motor hotel, guest house, guest ranch, short-term 



rentals licensed pursuant to Chapter 6, Article VIII, of this Code, or any other place that furnishes 
sleeping accommodations under any concession, permit, right of access, license to use, other 
agreement or otherwise and for a period of less than thirty (30) consecutive days or which rental 
is on a weekly or daily basis.  
Sec. 3-83. - Exemptions.  

Lodging Tax Exemptions. The following transactions shall be exempt from the tax imposed by 
this Article:  

(a)  Accommodations provided by the United States, the State of Colorado, its 
departments and institutions, and the political subdivisions of the State in their 
governmental capacities only.  
(b)  Accommodations provided by those charitable, religious and eleemosynary 
organizations that have received from the Internal Revenue Service status under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization, while in the conduct 
of their regular charitable, religious or eleemosynary functions and activities.  
(c)  Accommodations provided to a person who is a permanent resident of a hotel, motel, 
apartment hotel, lodging house, motor hotel, guest house, or other similar business pursuant 
to a written agreement for a period of at least one (1) month or thirty (30) consecutive days.  
(d)  Accommodations provided to a person without monetary consideration being paid to 
the vendor for such accommodations.  

Sec. 3-84. - Payment of tax.  

(a)  Every lodging business shall remit the lodging occupation tax not less than quarterly on 
account of lodging provided in the preceding quarter and not later than fifteen (15) days following 
the end of each quarter of the calendar year. Said payment shall be accompanied by a return 
containing such information and be in such form as the Town Clerk may prescribe.  
(b)  The burden of providing that any transaction is exempt from the tax shall be upon the lodging 
business.  
Sec. 3-85. - Penalty for late payment.  

In the event payment of the lodging tax is not timely made as provided in Section 3-84, the lodging 
business shall be required to pay unto the Town a fifteen percent (15%) penalty of the entire tax 
due for any given quarter.  
Sec. 3-86. - Inspection of records.  

The Town, its officers, agents or representatives shall have the right to all reasonable hours and 
times to examine the books and records of the lodging businesses that are subject to the provisions 
of this Article and to make copies of the entries or contents thereof.  
Secs. 3-87—3-100. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Telephone Utilities Tax  

Sec. 3-101. - Definitions.  



As used in this Article:  

(1)  Base line count means the total number of lines for which the incumbent provider 
provides basic local exchange service within the Town on January 1, 1998.  

(2)  Basic local exchange service means basic local exchange service or basic service 
authorized by a certificate of public convenience and necessity, or otherwise, under Title 
40, Article 15, C.R.S., as amended or recodified from time to time.  

(3)  Incumbent basic local exchange service provider or incumbent provider means the 
company or entity providing basic local exchange service in the Town as of January 1, 
1998.  

(4)  Inhabitant means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, company, 
firm, association, proprietorship or other entity residing or having a place of business 
within the Town.  

(5)  Line means a separate telephone number or telephone circuit identification number 
provided to a customer at retail, except that, to the extent a provider provides basic local 
exchange service through trunks, a line means a network access register, or its functional 
equivalent, provided to a customer at retail.  

(6)  New basic local exchange service provider or new provider means any company or 
entity other than the incumbent provider who enters the business of providing basic local 
exchange service.  

(7)  New provider's initial line count means the number of lines for which a new provider 
provides basic local exchange service within the Town thirty (30) days after that new 
provider's effective date, under Section 3-103.  

(8)  Provider means a company or entity providing basic local exchange service through 
use of its own facilities, through resale or through any combination of the two.  

Sec. 3-102. - Tax levied; amount.  

(a)  There is levied on and against each provider operating within the Town, a tax on the 
occupation and business of providing basic local exchange service at retail to inhabitants of the 
Town.  

(b)  The amount and payment rates of tax levied shall be as follows:  

(1)  The monthly tax rate to be paid by all providers shall be calculated by dividing the 
current annual amount of business and occupation tax paid by the incumbent provider, by 
the total number of lines for which a charge is made to all inhabitants on January 2, 1998 
by all providers, the result of which shall be divided by twelve (12). Such formula can be 
represented as follows:  

The incumbent's current tax liability 
  Total lines of all current providers 

÷ 12 =  Per monthly line rate   

 



(2)  The tax levied against each provider shall be calculated each August, shall be 
effective on the following January 1 and shall be payable on a quarterly basis, specifically, 
on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year.  

(3)  Each new provider that first becomes subject to this Article during any calendar year 
shall calculate its tax for that calendar year, as stated in paragraph (1) above, using as the 
number of provider lines, the number in the new provider's initial line count under Section 
3-104. Each such new provider shall prorate the tax from and including the month of the 
effective date, under Section 3-103, through the end of that calendar year. Each such new 
provider that first becomes subject to this Article within the first ten (10) months of a tax 
year shall pay that prorated tax in equal quarterly payments, beginning the month of its 
statement of new provider's initial line count under Section 3-104 of lines, and ending 
December 31 of that tax year. Each such new provider that first becomes subject to this 
Article during the last two (2) months of the tax year shall pay its total prorated tax within 
sixty (60) days of the effective date. For each such new provider, the tax for the following 
year shall be computed as stated in paragraph (2) above, using, as the number of provider 
lines, the number in either the new provider's initial line count, or its June 30 statement of 
lines for the preceding year (if any), under Section 3-104, whichever statement comes later.  

Sec. 3-103. - Effective date; schedule of payments.  

For each provider, the tax levied by this Article shall commence on January 1, 1998, or on the date 
the provider first provides basic local exchange service with the Town, whichever is later. Except 
as this Article may otherwise provide, the tax shall be due and payable in quarterly payments.  

Sec. 3-104. - Initial and annual statements of company lines.  

An incumbent provider shall, on January 2, 1998, determine the total number of lines for which it 
then provides basic local exchange service within the Town (the base line count), and shall, by 
March 15, 1998, file with the Town Clerk a statement showing its determined total number of 
lines. On June 30 of each calendar year, each provider then subject to this Article shall determine 
the total number of lines for which it then provides basic local exchange service within the Town. 
By July 30 of the same calendar year, each such provider shall file with the Town Clerk a statement 
showing its determined total number of lines. In addition, a new provider that first becomes subject 
to this Article during any calendar year shall, thirty (30) days after that new provider's effective 
date under Section 3-103, determine the number of lines for which it provides basic local exchange 
service within the Town (new provider's initial line count), and shall file its statement of that 
number within sixty (60) days after the effective date. All statements shall be in such form as the 
Town Clerk may require, including oaths, verifications or acknowledgments.  

Sec. 3-105. - Failure to pay; penalty; Town action to collect.  

If any provider subject to this Article fails to pay the taxes as provided in Section 3-102, the full 
amount thereof shall be due and collected from such company, and the same, together with an 
addition of ten percent (10%) of the amount of taxes due, is a debt due and owing from such 
provider to the Town. The Town may commence and prosecute to final judgment, in any court of 
competent jurisdiction, an action at law to collect the debt.  

Sec. 3-106. - Inspection of records.  



To enforce this Article, the Town and its officers, agents or representatives shall have the right, at 
all reasonable hours and times, to examine and copy the books and records of every provider 
subject to this Article. They shall use these books, records and copies only to enforce this Article. 
Except under a court order, or in connection with enforcing this Article, they shall not divulge 
these books, records or copies to any other person.  

Sec. 3-107. - Tax not on interstate commerce; not a franchise.  

The tax provided in this Article is upon occupations and businesses in the performance of local 
functions and is not a tax upon those functions relating to interstate commerce. None of the terms 
of this Article mean that the Town grants any provider a franchise.  

Sec. 3-108. - Tax in lieu of certain other consideration.  

The tax levied in this Article is in lieu of all other occupation taxes on any provider subject to this 
Article. It is in addition to any otherwise applicable ad valorem taxes and other taxes and fees. It 
is in lieu of any free service furnished the Town by any provider.  

Sec. 3-109. - Violation of Section 5-84; penalty.  

Upon conviction, the Municipal Court shall punish any officer, agent or manager of a provider 
subject to this Article who fails, neglects or refuses to make or file the annual statement of accounts 
provided in Section 3-104 by a fine of not more than two thousand six hundred and fifty dollars 
($2,650.00). Each day after the statement becomes delinquent during which the officer, agent or 
manager so fails, neglects or refuses to make and file such statement is a separate and distinct 
offense.  

Sec. 3-110. - Offenses and liabilities to continue.  

All offenses committed and all tax liabilities incurred before amendment of this Article, under 
prior versions of the telephone utility tax, shall be and remain unconditionally due and payable, 
shall constitute a debt to the Town and shall be treated as though all prior applicable ordinances 
and amendments thereto were in full force and effect.  

Secs. 3-111—3-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Emergency Telephone Service Charge  

Sec. 3-121. - Emergency telephone service authority.  

The Town is a member of the Emergency Telephone Service Authority, which is the governing 
body responsible for administering enhanced 911 operations. The Authority has the power to 
contract for the installation and operation of an emergency telephone service in all areas authorized 
by the establishing intergovernmental agreement.  

Sec. 3-122. - Fees.  

There is imposed pursuant to C.R.S. § 29-11-100.1, et seq., as amended, upon all telephone 
exchange access facilities within the Town, an emergency telephone charge in an amount not to 
exceed the lesser of two percent (2%) of the tariff rate or fifty cents ($.50) per month for those 



portions of the service area for which emergency telephone services are provided. The funds so 
collected shall be spent solely to pay for the equipment costs, installation costs, costs directly 
related to the continued operation of an emergency telephone service and for the monthly recurring 
charges billed by the service supplier for said service. The Board of Trustees may, by ordinance, 
raise or lower the emergency telephone charge, but in no event shall such charge exceed the 
amount annually set by the Colorado Public Utilities Commission in accordance with C.R.S. § 29-
11-102, C.R.S. § 29-11-102.3, and C.R.S. § 29-11-102.5 

Sec. 3-123. – Collection.  

Telephone service suppliers providing telephone service in the Town are authorized to collect 
the emergency telephone charges imposed by this Article in accordance with C.R.S. § 29-11-
100.1, et seq., as amended, and to provide those funds to the Emergency Telephone Service 
Authority.  

Secs. 3-124—3-130. – Reserved.

ARTICLE VIII - Municipal Procurement Procedures

Sec. 3-131. - Application and definitions.  

(1)  Except as set forth in Paragraph 3 below, the procurement procedures set forth in this Article 
shall apply to every purchase to which the Town is a party, provided that the Town may vary from 
these procedures when necessary to comply with state or federal grant requirements.  

(2)  The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this Article. shall have the following 
meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:  

(a)  "Bids" shall mean either bids or proposals submitted in response to a written 
invitation for bids or a written request for proposals.  
(b)  "Town Manager" shall mean the Town Manager and the Town Manager's designee.  

(3)  The following purchases shall be exempt from the requirements of this Article:  
(a)  Insurance and Benefits. The procurement of all insurance and benefits, including 
renewals or extensions and related recordkeeping services. Insurance and benefits will be 
procured in a generally competitive manner as determined by the Town Manager.  
(b)  Legal Services. Outside legal service s, including related services, obtained by the 
Town Attorney's Office.  
(c)  Cooperative Purchasing. Products or services for which other public agencies have 
engaged in a competitive solicitation process and are able to have their bid prices extended 
to the Town, such as State Bid, GSA, or similar programs. The Town may also participate 
in joint procurements with other agencies in the Town's best interests. Town Manager 
approval is not required when cooperative purchases are made.  

Sec. 3-132. - General requirements and thresholds.  

(1)  Written document. Every purchase shall be evidenced by a written document.  



(2)  Purchases of less than $10,000. A purchase in an amount of ten thousand dollars 
($10,000.00) or less may be approved by a Department Director without Town Manager or Town 
Board action. Competitive bidding is not required. However, even on these items, periodic 
telephone/online checks should be made to be certain the purchases are obtained at the lowest cost 
for the quality desired.  
(3)  Purchases of $10,000 - $25,000. A purchase in an amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000) 
to twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00) must be approved by the Town Manager. At least 
three written informal quotes must be solicited, unless an exception in Section 3-133, below, 
applies. When seeking written informal quotes, all quotes must be tabulated in detail and attached 
to the winning contract/invoice for future reference. If the recommended quote is not the lowest, 
an explanation must also accompany the contract/invoice.  
(4)  Purchases in excess of $25,000. Any item for services, projects, or equipment in this category 
must be approved by the Town Board of Trustees. The formal bid process set forth in Sections 3-
134 and 3-135, below, must be followed unless an exception applies. Responsibility for the 
advertising of formal bids will be that of the Department Director overseeing the purchase.  
(5)  Appropriation required. All expenditures for purchases shall be budgeted and appropriated. 
If a purchase is contemplated to extend beyond the current fiscal year, it must be subject to annual 
appropriation (unless otherwise permissible by elector vote or as determined by the Town 
Attorney).  
Sec. 3-133. - Comparative price quotations (between $10,000 and $25,000).  

(1)  When the amount of a purchase is between ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) and twenty-
five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), comparative price quotes by telephone, in person, or in writing 
from at least three (3) vendors or contractors shall be solicited, unless:  

(a)  The Town Manager determines that the public interest would be best served by 
negotiated contract with a single vendor or contractor or with specific vendors or 
contractors possessing unique skills or products or by joint purchase with or from another 
unit of government; or  
(b)  The Town Manager determines that the public interest would be best served by 
obtaining the goods or services through the formal bidding process.  

(2)  In case of a declared or pronounced emergency affecting the public peace, health or safety, 
the Town Manager may waive all requirements for price quotes. In such cases, the Town Manager 
may direct the appropriate Department Director to procure emergency needs by informal, open-
market procedures, at no more than current market prices, as expeditiously as possible.  
Sec. 3-134. - Formal bidding required (in excess of $25,000).  

(1)  Formal bidding procedures shall be followed when the amount of a purchase exceeds twenty-
five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), unless the Town Board determines that the public interest will 
be best served by negotiated contract with a single vendor or contractor or with specific vendors 
or contractors possessing unique skills or products, or by joint purchase with or from another unit 
of government.  
(2)  In case of a declared or pronounced emergency affecting the public peace, health or safety, 
the Town Manager, Mayor, or Board of Trustees may waive all requirements for formal bidding. 



In such cases, the Town Manager, Mayor, or Board of Trustees may direct the appropriate 
Department Director to procure emergency needs by informal, open-market procedures, at no more 
than current market prices, as expeditiously as possible. If the Town Manager or Mayor waived 
such requirements, the Town Manager or Mayor, as appropriate. shall present a full report of the 
circumstances necessitating the emergency action at the next Town Board meeting with the 
potential option to extend the waiver of requirements for formal bidding.  
Sec. 3-135. - Formal bidding procedures and selection criteria.  

(1)  When formal bidding is required pursuant to Section 3-134, at least ten (10) days prior to 
the deadline for receipt of bids, a request or invitation for sealed bids shall be published at least 
once in an area newspaper, sent to three (3) or more potential bidders, or posted via electronic 
solicitation.  
(2)  The Board of Trustees or Town Manager may pre-qualify vendors or contractors who wish 
to bid on Town purchases and limit acceptance of bids from such pre-qualified entities when 
determined to be in the best interests of the Town.  
(3)  Sealed bids shall be opened in public at the time and place stated in the public notice, unless 
all bidders have been notified of a change in such time or place by written addendum. A tabulation 
of all bids received shall be available for public inspection.  
(4)  After the bids have been reviewed, if the purchase will exceed the Town Manager's 
purchasing authority of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), the Town Manager shall submit 
a report to Town Board that contains an analysis of the bids, a recommendation for an award, and 
the reasons for the recommendation. The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder 
meeting the bid specifications, unless it is determined that the public interest would be better served 
by accepting another bid. Unless otherwise prohibited by federal or state law, bidders which have 
maintained a physical location inside the limits of El Paso County for a period of more than 365 
days prior to bid submission shall receive a two percent (2%) preference with respect to bid price 
and bidders which have maintained a physical location inside the limits of the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls for a period of more than 365 days prior to bid submission shall receive an 
additional two percent (2%) preference with respect to bid price.  
(5)  In determining whether the public interest would be better served by accepting a bid other 
than the lowest bid, the following factors shall be considered:  

(a)  The bidder's skill, ability, and capacity to perform the services or to furnish the 
materials, equipment or supplies required;  
(b)  Whether the bidder can perform the services or furnish the materials, equipment or 
supplies promptly, or within the time period specified, without delay or interference;  
(c)  The bidder's character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency;  
(d)  The quality of the bidder's previous performance;  
(e)  The bidder's previous and current compliance with statutes, ordinances and rules 
relating to the purchase;  
(f)  The sufficiency of the bidder's financial resources necessary to perform the services 
or deliver the goods;  
(g)  The bidder's ability to provide future maintenance or service; and  



(h)  The number and nature of any conditions attached to the bid.  
(6)  All bids may be rejected if it is determined that such action is in the public interest. 
Negotiations may be entered into with one or more bidders in an attempt to adjust the services, 
products, or bid price as the Town deems in the public interest, and no additional bidding shall be 
necessary.  
Sec. 3-136. - Amendments to purchase agreements.  

(1)  The Town Manager shall have authority to approve an amendment to a purchase agreement 
when the change order does not exceed ten percent (10%) of the original agreement price and 
combined with the original agreement does not exceed the approved appropriation for said 
purchase.  
(2)  All other amendments to a purchase agreement previously approved by Town Board shall 
be approved or ratified by Town Board.  
Sec. 3-137. - Principles and ethics.  

Every officer and employee of the Town 1s expressly prohibited from knowingly:  
(1)  Seeking or accepting any personal gift or money directly or indirectly, from any 
person, company, firm or corporation in connection with a purchase.  
(2)  Underestimating or exaggerating requirements to a prospective bidder for the 
purpose of influencing bids.  
(3)  Misrepresenting the quality of a bidder's products or services.  
(4)  Influencing the Town to make a purchase that will benefit the officer or employee, 
either directly or indirectly.  
(5)  Approving a purchase in which any employee, elected or appointed officer of the 
Town has an interest, without the approval of the Town Manager or Town Board.  
(6)  No single purchase transaction shall be subdivided for the purpose of circumventing 
the dollar value limitations of this Policy.  

Sec. 3-138. - Special rules for procurements using federal funds.  

(1)  No local or geographical preference shall be given to any vendor for projects in which the 
Town will receive or anticipates seeking federal funds as reimbursement for or contribution toward 
a Town contract or project. However, nothing in this Subsection prevents the Town from requiring 
a vendor to comply with any applicable state licensing laws or from applying such preference 
when federal law expressly mandates or encourages it. When contracting for architectural or 
engineering services, geographic location may be considered, provided that such consideration 
leaves an appropriate number of qualified films to compete for the contract.  
(2)  Whenever the Town will receive or anticipates seeking federal funds as reimbursement for 
or any other form of payment or contribution toward a Town contract or project, the Town and 
any party contracting with the Town for such work shall take all necessary affirmative steps to 
assure that minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are 
used when possible. Affirmative steps shall include:  



(a)  Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women's business enterprises on 
solicitation lists;  
(b)  Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises are 
solicited whenever they are potential sources;  
(c)  Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or 
quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority business. and women's 
business enterprises;  
(d)  Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage 
participation by small and minority business, and women's business enterprises;  
(e)  Using the services and assistance of the small business administration, and the 
minority business development agency of the department of commerce; and  
(f)  Requiring general contractors, if subcontracts are to be let, to take the affirmative 
steps listed in subsections (2)(a) through (2)(e) of this Section. 



CHAPTER 65 - Business Licenses and Regulations 

 

ARTICLE I - Licensing Generally  

Sec. 65-1. - Applications.  

Applications for all licenses and permits required by any provision of this Code or any code 
adopted herein shall be made in writing to the Town Clerk in the absence of a specific provision 
to the contrary. Each application shall state the name of the applicant, the permit or license 
desired, the location to be used, if any, the time covered and the fee to be paid, and each 
application shall contain such additional information as may be needed for the proper guidance 
of the Town officials in the issuing of the permit or license applied for. (Prior code 7-1-1) 

 

Sec. 65-2. - Persons subject to license.  

Whenever in this Code, or in any code adopted herein, a license is required for the 
maintenance, operation or conduct of any business or establishment, for doing business or for 
engaging in any activity or occupation, any person or corporation shall be subject to the 
requirement if, by himself or herselftheir self or through an agent, employee or partner, the 
applicant holds himself or herselfthemself forth as being engaged in the business or occupation, 
solicits patronage therefor, actively or passively or performs or attempts to perform any part of 
such business or occupation in the Town. (Prior code 7-1-2) 

 

Sec. 65-3. - Forms.  

Forms for all licenses and permits and applications therefor shall be prepared and kept on 
file by the Town Clerk. (Prior code 7-1-3) 

 

Sec. 65-4. - Signatures.  

Each license or permit issued shall bear the signature of the Town Clerk, in the absence of 
any specific provision to the contrary. Such license or permit shall be in substantially the 
following form:  

No._________       State of Colorado  

By Authority of  
The Town of  
GREEN MOUNTAIN FALLS  

LICENSE  

PERMISSION IS HEREBY GIVEN TO ____________ TO MAINTAIN AND 
CARRY ON THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED BUSINESS OF ___________ 

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Style Definition ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



FOR THE TERM OF ____ MONTHS, BEING FROM THE ____ DAY OF 
_______ A.D., 1920__, TO THE _______ DAY OF ______ A.D., 1920__, BOTH 
DAYS INCLUSIVE.  

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF THE SIGNATURE OF THE TOWN CLERK IS 
HEREUNTO AFFIXED THIS ____ DAY OF _______ A.D., 1920__.  

              TOWN CLERK   

    

(Prior code 7-1-4; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

TOWN CLERK 

Sec. 65-5. - Investigations.  

Upon the receipt of an application for a license or permit where any provision of this Code 
or of any code adopted herein necessitates an inspection or investigation before the issuance of 
such permit or license, the Town Clerk shall refer such applications to the proper officer, board 
or commission for making such investigation within forty-eight (48) hours of the time of such 
receipt. The officer, board or commission charged with the duty of making the investigation or 
inspection shall make a report thereon, favorable or otherwise, within ten (10) days after 
receiving the application or a copy thereof. The County Health CommissionerInspector shall make 
or cause to be made an inspection in regard to such licenses in connection with the care and 
handling of food, the prevention of nuisances and the spread of disease, for the protection of 
health; the Building Inspector shall make or cause to be made any such inspections relative to the 
construction of buildings or other structures. All other investigations, except where otherwise 
specifically provided, shall be made by the Town Marshal or by another officer designated by the 
Town Administrator. (Prior code 7-1-5) 

Manager.  

Sec. 5-6-6. - Fees.  

In the absence of any specific provision to the contrary, allAll fees and charges for licenses or 
permits shall be paid in advance at the time application therefor is made to the Town Clerk. 
Except as otherwise provided, all license fees shall become a part of the General Fund. (Prior 
code 7-1-6) 

 

Sec. 65-7. - Termination of licenses; renewal.  

In the absence of any specific provision to the contrary, all annual licenses shall terminate 
on the last day of the Town's fiscal year. Unless specifically stated otherwise, all annual licenses 
may be renewed upon payment of the annual license fee to the Town Clerk without further 
examination or investigation. The Board of Trustees reserves the right to deny any license 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



renewal when it is deemed by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees that said license would 
endanger the health, safety and welfare of the Town. (Prior code 7-1-7) 

 

Sec. 65-8. - Building and premises.  

No license shall be issued for the conduct of any business and no permit shall be issued for 
any thing or act if the premises and building to be used for the purpose do not fully comply with 
the requirements of this Code and any code adopted hereby.. No such license or permit shall be 
issued for the conduct of any business or performance of any act which would involve a violation 
of Chapter 16 of this Code. (Prior code 7-1-8) 

  

Sec. 65-9. - Change of location.  

The location of any licensed business or occupation or of any permitted act may be changed; 
provided that ten (10) days' notice thereof is given to the Town Clerk in the absence of any 
provision to the contrary; further provided that the building requirements of this Code and any 
code adopted hereby are complied with. (Prior code 7-1-9) 

 

Sec. 65-10. - Inspections.  

(a)  Whenever inspections of the premises used for or in connection with the operation of a 
licensed business or occupation are provided for or required by this Code or by any code adopted 
herein or are reasonably necessary to secure compliance with any provision of this Code or any code 
adopted herein or to detect violations thereof, it shall be the duty of the licensee or the person in 
charge of the premises to be inspected to admit thereto for the purpose of making the inspection 
any officer or employee of the Town who is authorized or directed to make such inspection at any 
reasonable time that admission is requested, and it shall be unlawful for such person to fail or 
refuse to admit such officer or employee for such purpose.  

(b)  Whenever an analysis of any commodity or material is reasonably necessary to secure 
conformance with any provision of this Code or any code adopted herein or to detect violations 
thereof, it shall be the duty of the licensee whose business is governed by such provision to give 
to any authorized officer or employee of the Town requesting the same sufficient samples of such 
material or commodity for such analysis upon request, and it shall be unlawful for such licensee 
to fail or refuse to give such samples to such officer or employee.  

(c)  Conviction of a violation of any provision of this Article shall automatically forfeit and 
revoke any license issued under this Chapter; provided that there shall be no violation of this 
Article unless written demand is made upon the licensee or person in charge of the premises, 
in the name of the Town, stating that such inspection or sample is desired at the time it is 
sought to make the inspection of or obtain the sample. (Prior code 7-1-10) 

 

Sec. 65-11. - Revocation.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list0, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



The Board of Trustees may, upon seven (7) days' written notice to a licensee stating the 
contemplated action and in general the grounds therefor and after a reasonable opportunity to be 
heard, revoke any license issued by the Town if it finds that:  

(1)  The licensee has failed to pay the annual license fee;  

(2)  The licensee has failed to file any reports or furnish any other information that may 
be required by the provisions relating to the specific license; or  

(3)  The licensee has violated any of the terms of the provisions pertaining to his or hertheir 
license or any regulation or order lawfully made relating thereto; orexistingator existing at 
the time of the application for such license, would have warranted the refusal of the 
issuance of such license. (Prior code 7-1-11) 

; or 

(4) The licensee is in violation of any part of this Code.  

Sec. 65-12. - Return of fees.  

Upon refusal of any license, the fee therefor paid in advance shall be returned to the 
applicant. In the event that any license is revoked, all monies paid therefor shall be and remain 
the monies of the Town and no refund shall be made to any licensee. (Prior code 7-1-12) 

 

Sec. 65-13. - Posting license.  

It shall be the duty of any person conducting a licensed business in the Town to keep his or hertheir 
license posted in a prominent place on the premises used for such business at all times.  

Sec. (Prior code 7-1-13) 

5-14. – Violation.  

It is unlawful for any person to violate any part of this Article.  A violation of this Article is 
punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine dollars ($499.00). Each day of 
violation shall constitute a separate offense. In addition to any other available penalties, the Town 
may enjoin a person from engaging in business in the Town without a license required by this 
Article. 

Secs. 6-14—65-15—5-30. - Reserved. 

 

ARTICLE II - Business Licenses  

Sec. 65-31. - Definitions.  

Whenever inFor purposes of this Article, the words hereinafter defined or construed in this Section are 
used, theyfollowing terms shall, unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the 
following meanings:  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list1, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: list1, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(1)  Business means any business, trade, occupation, profession, avocation or calling of 
any kind.  

(2)  Employees means persons working for remuneration under the control and direction of an 
employer.  

(3(2)  Engaged in business means to carry on or take a part in the operation of a business as 
owner, operator or agent within the geographical limits of the Town. (Prior code 3-2-1) 

 

Sec. 65-32. - Distribution of tax. – License required. 

The Board of Trustees hereby finds, determines and declares that the relationship of the businesses 
and occupations being conducted in the Town to the municipal welfare and the expenditures of the Town 
requires a proper, just and equitable distribution of the tax burdens within the Town. After considering all 
matters in relation thereto, the tax imposed on each business herein defined is reasonable, proper, 
uniform, nondiscriminatory and necessary for a just and proper distribution of tax burdens within the 
Town. (Prior code 3-2-2) 

(a)  Every person desiring to engage in business within the Town shall first obtain a business 
license from the Town except as otherwise provided herein.  

(b)  The license herein requiredSec. 6-33. - Amount of tax.  

(a)  There is hereby levied and assessed for the period of one (1) year, and for each calendar year 
thereafter, an occupation tax upon every business except as otherwise provided herein for a sum 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(b)  Every person engaged in business within the Town shall be liable for this occupation tax except as 
otherwise provided herein.  

(c)  The tax herein provided shall not apply to the operation of any business exempt by federal or 
state law.  

(d)  The tax herein provided is upon occupations and businesses in the performance of local functions 
and is not a tax upon those functions relating to interstate commerce.  

(e)  The tax herein provided shall not apply to newsboys. (Prior code 3-2-3; Ord. 10-1987 §II; Ord. 1999-
02) 

(c) Nonprofit corporations are Sec. 6-34. - Exemption from tax.  

An employee is declared to be exempt from the tax herein provided. (Prior code 3-2-4) 

license requirements and fees set forth in this Article subject to approval by Sec. 6-35. - Payment 
of tax.  

(a)  Such tax shall be due and payable to the Town Treasurer on January 2 of each year. The tax, if not 
paid as herein provided, shall become delinquent on March 1 of the same year. Forall persons 
engaged in business for a period of less than a year, the tax shall be due and payable prior to the time 
the person engages in business.  

(b)  Upon receipt of the tax, it shall be the duty of the Town Clerk following proof of current nonprofit 
status. 

Sec. 5-33. – Business license fee.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list1, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



The fee required to executeobtain a business license under this Article shall be set by resolution of 
the Board of Trustees and included on the Town's fee schedule.  

Sec. deliver5-34. – Term of License.  

Licenses shall expire on December 31st of each year. To renew a license, Licensees shall apply to 
the operator of the business paying the tax a revenue receipt, showingTown on forms provided by the 
Town no later than November 1st of each year. 

Sec. name of the 5-35. – Separate license for each location.  

Any person paying the tax, the date of payment, theoperating, conducting or carrying on any business 
paying the tax, the period for which said tax is paid and the place at which the person conducts his or 
her within the City must obtain a separate license for each location of such business. (Prior 
code 3-2-5) 

Sec.  and a separate license for each business operated at the same location under a separate Federal 
Employer I.D. number or Social Security number. 

Sec. 6-36. - Classification.  

Every person doing business in more than one (1) store, stand or other place of business shall pay a 
separate tax for each place of business, unless such places of business are contiguous to each other, 
communicate directly with and open to each other and are operated as a unit. The business may be 
transferred from one (1) location to another without payment of additional tax. (Prior code 3-2-6) 

5-36. Sec. 6-37. - Unlawful procedure.  

It shall be unlawful for any person or his or hertheir agent to engage in or carry on a business 
in the Town for which an occupational taxa business license is required without first having paid 
the taxrequired business licensing fee and obtained a revenue receipt asobtaining the license 
required herein provided. For the purpose of this Article, the opening of a place of business or 
offering to sell followed by a single sale or the doing of any act or thing in the furtherance of the 
business shall be construed to be engaging in carrying on such business. (Prior code 3-2-7) 

 

Sec. 6-38. - Legal right of Town.  

The Town shall have the right to recover all sums due by the terms of this Article by judgment and 
execution thereon in a civil action in any court of competent jurisdiction. Such remedy shall be cumulative 
with all other remedies provided herein for the enforcement of this Article. (Prior code 3-2-8) 

Sec. 6-39. - Violations.  

Failure to comply with the terms of this Article by payment of taxes and to otherwise comply with the 
terms of this Article shall constitute a violation of this Article. (Prior code 3-2-9) 

Secs. 6-40—65-37—5-50. - Reserved. 

 

ARTICLE III - Alcoholic Beverages  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



Sec. 65-51. - State codes– Licensing authority.  

The Board of Trustees is hereby designated the Local Licensing Authority ("Authority") for 
purposes of exercising the duties and powers provided in the Colorado Liquor Code (C.R.S. § 44-
3-101, et seq.), the Colorado Beer Code (C.R.S. § 44-4-103, et seq.), and issuance of special event 
liquor permits pursuant to C.R.S. § 44-5-101, et seq. 

Sec. 5-52. – General provisions.  

The provisions of the Colorado Liquor Code (C.R.S. § 44-3-101, et seq.), the Colorado Beer Code 
(C.R.S. § 44-4-103, et seq.), and issuance of special event liquor permits pursuant to C.R.S. § 44-
5-101, et seq., together with rules and regulations of the Colorado Department of Revenue, Liquor 
Enforcement Division, which are applicable to local liquor license authorities and local liquor 
license applicants, are hereby adopted as part of this Article and are incorporated herein by 
reference, except to the extent of any inconsistency with the other provisions of this Article. 
Nothing herein shall be construed to alter or amend powers to condition, suspend or revoke a 
license. 

Sec. In all cases, State Liquor and Beer Code provisions rule. (Ord. 3-1989 §1) 

5-53. Sec. 6-52. - License required.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling alcoholic beverages within 
the Town without first securing an annual liquor license from the Town and from the State. (Ord. 
3-1989 §2) 

 A violation of this Article is punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine 
dollars ($499.00). Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense. 

Sec. 6-535-54. - License fees.  

In addition to those fees required by the State, fees payable to the Town shall be as 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees, as nonrefundable application fees. (Ord. 3-
1989 §3; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

 

Sec. 6-545-55. - Restaurant license required.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling alcoholic beverages within 
the Town without first securing an annual restaurant license as provided in Article V of this 
Chapter, unless exempt under the provisions of said Article. (Ord. 3-1989 §4) 

thereof.  

Sec. 6-555-56. - Fine in lieu of suspension.  

If so requested by a retail licensee convicted of a violation of the State Liquor or Beer Code 
and sentenced to a license suspension for a period of fourteen (14) days or less, the Town may 
agree to accept payment of a fine to be determined by the Board of Trustees in lieu of said 
suspension. Said fines collected by the Town are to be credited to the General Fund of the Town. 
(Ord. 3-1989 §5) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



 

Secs. 6-56—6-1005-57—5-70. - Reserved. 

 

ARTICLE IV - Mobile Food Vendors and Peddlers[1]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (1) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, adopted June 5, 2018, repealed the former Art. IV, §§ 6-101—6-
109, and enacted a new Art. IV as set out herein. The former Art. IV pertained to peddlers and solicitors 
and derived from Prior code 7-2-1—7-2-7; Ord. 92-04 § 1.  

Sec. 6-1015-71. - Mobile food vendors and peddlers licensed.  

It shall be unlawful for any mobile food vendor or peddler as defined herein to engage in such 
business within the corporate limits of the Town without first obtaining a license therefor in 
compliance with this Code.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1025-72. - Definitions.  

Whenever used inFor purposes of this Article, the words hereinafter definedfollowing terms shall, 
unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the following meanings:  

(1)  Mobile food vendor means a retail food establishment, designed and equipped to prepare or 
serve food for immediate consumption, which is readily movable, typically as a motorized or 
towed vehicle. The term mobile food vendor includes food trucks serving prepared meals, but does 
not include food delivery vehicles delivering food supplies to restaurants, hotels, businesses, or 
residences (such as grocery delivery vehicles, pizza delivery, or restaurant food and supply 
delivery).  

(2)  Peddler means any person, whether a resident of the Town or not, who sells and delivers or 
offers for sale to consumers any goods, wares, merchandise, fruits, vegetables or country produce, 
traveling from place to place, from house to house or from street to street, who shall sell or offer 
for sale and delivery any goods or other such articles while traveling on foot, by vehicle or any 
other type of conveyance, regardless of whether the items are for immediate or future delivery, or 
whether payment shall be immediate or in the future. The term peddler includes door-to-door sales 
people, but does not include individuals not engaging in commercial activity.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1035-73. - Application for a license.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(a)   Applicants for a peddler's license shall file with the Town Clerk at least five (5) days prior 
to the date upon which the applicant desires to begin his or hertheir business a sworn application in 
writing on a form to be furnished by the Town Clerk, which shall give the following information:  

(1)   Name and description of the applicant;  

(2)   The permanent home address and full local address of the applicant;  

(3)   A brief description of the nature of the business and goods shown for sale or for 
future delivery;  

(4)   If employed, the name, address and phone number of the employer, together with 
credentials establishing the exact relationship between the employer and employee;  

(5)   The length of time for which the right to do business is desired; and  

(6)   Two (2) identical photographs of the applicant which reasonably identify the 
applicant; such photographs to measure two (2) inches by two (2) inches.  

(b)  Applicants for a mobile food vendor's license shall file with the Town Clerk at least five (5) 
days prior to the date upon which the applicant desires to begin operation in the Town a sworn 
application in writing on a form to be furnished by the Town Clerk, which shall give the following 
information:  

(1)  Name and description of the mobile food vendor;  

(2)  The local address for the mobile food vendor applicant;  

(3)  The length of time for which the right to do business is desired;  

(4)  Proposed location and hours of operation for the mobile food vendor;  

(5)  Proof of permission to operate on the proposed site, or if the applicant seeks to 
operate on Town property a concurrent application for permission pursuant to Section 6-
105.5-75 of this Code.  

(6)  A proposed refuse control plan, including a wastewater disposal plan; and  

(7)  Proof of compliance with all applicable state regulations and health department 
licensing.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1045-74. - Investigation and issuance of license.  

(a)  For peddler applications, the following procedure shall be followed:  

(1)  Upon receipt of such application, an investigation shall be conducted at the direction 
of the Town Clerk to determine the applicant's business and whether such application is 
truly for a legitimate business purpose and whether, considering all circumstances, the 
granting of the license will not threaten the health, safety and welfare of the Town.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt



(2)  If, as a result of such investigation, it is discovered that the applicant is not intending 
to use the license for a legitimate business purpose or the granting of the license will 
threaten the health, safety and welfare of the Town, then the Town Clerk shall notify the 
applicant of the disapproval of such application and that no license will be issued 
thereunder, giving the reasons therefor.  

(3)  If, as a result of such investigation, the application is found to be satisfactory, the 
Town Clerk shall endorse the same on the application and, upon receipt of the necessary 
fees as set forth hereafter, shall execute and deliver to the applicant a license to carry on 
such business within the corporate limits of the Town for a period, not exceeding thirty 
(30) days, except as hereinafter set forth.  

(4)  The license so issued to a successful applicant shall contain the signature and seal of 
the issuing officer, the type of license issued, the kind of goods to be sold thereunder, the 
date of issuance, the expiration date thereof and a two (2) inch by two (2) inch photograph 
of the applicant.  

(b)  For mobile vending applications, the following procedure shall be followed:  

(1)  The Town Clerk shall investigate and determine whether the requirements for mobile 
food vendors set forth in this Article have been met and whether issuance of the license 
will jeopardize the health, safety and welfare of the Town. In making such a determination, 
the Town Clerk shall consider the following criteria:  

1.  Information contained in the application or supplemental information obtained 
from the applicant is found to be false in any material detail;  

2.  The applicant has failed to complete the application after having been notified 
of any additional information or documents required;  

3.  The location, size, or nature of the mobile food vending will create undue 
vehicular or pedestrian traffic congestion;  

4.  The location, size, or nature of the mobile food vending is incompatible with 
the neighborhood due to noise, hours, odors, or other impacts;  

5.  The applicant has failed to pay costs, fees or deposits for any previous special 
event or demonstration permit; and  

6.  The applicant has failed to abide by the terms or conditions of any previous 
special event or demonstration permit.  

(2)  If, as a result of such investigation, the application is found to be satisfactory, the 
Town Clerk shall endorse the same on the application and, upon receipt of the necessary 
fees as set forth hereafter, shall execute and deliver to the applicant a license to operate a 
mobile vending operation within the corporate limits of the Town for a period of time, not 
exceeding one (1) year, subject to annual renewal.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt



Sec. 6-1055-75. - Mobile food vendors operating on Town property.  

(a)  If a mobile food vendor desires to operate on Town property, the application shall be 
submitted to the Board of Trustees for consideration. In determining whether to grant the requested 
license, the Board, at its next available meeting, shall consider the following criteria in addition to 
the criteria set forth in Section 6-1045-74(b)(1):) of this Code:  

1.  Whether the mobile food vending operation can operate on Town property without 
interfering with other uses of such property.  

2.  Whether mobile food vending is compatible with the nature and purpose of the subject 
Town property.  

(b)  The Board of Trustees may deny, approve, or approve with conditions that are necessary to 
mitigate the negative impacts of the mobile food vending operation.  

(c)  No mobile food vendor may operate on property owned or controlled by the Town for more 
than three hundred sixty-five (365) days in any calendar year.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1065-76. - License fee.  

The license fee, which shall be charged in advance by the Town Clerk, shall be established by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1075-77. - Suspension/revocation of license.  

(a)  Licenses issued hereunder may be suspended or revoked by the Board of Trustees, after 
notice and hearing, for any of the following causes:  

(1)  Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the application for the 
license;  

(2)  Any violation of this Code;  

(3)  For peddlers, fraud, misrepresentation or false statement made while carrying on his 
or hertheir business or conviction of any crime or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; 
or  

(4)  Conducting the business in an unlawful manner or in such a manner as to constitute 
a breach of the peace or to constitute a threat to the health, safety or general welfare of the 
public.  

(b)  Notice of the hearing for suspension or revocation of a license shall be given in writing, 
setting forth specifically the grounds of complaint and the time and place of hearing. Such notice 
shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to the licensee at his or hertheir local address as set forth in the 
application at least five (5) days prior to the date set for the hearing.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(c)  Whether to suspend or revoke a license shall be determined by the Board of Trustees 
depending on the nature and severity of the violation, whether the licensee has had previous 
violations, and other similar factors.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1085-78. - Appeal.  

Any person aggrieved by the action of the Police or the Town Clerk in the denial, suspension, or 
revocation of the same shall have the right to appeal to the Board of Trustees. Such appeal shall 
be filed within fourteen (14) days after notice of the action complained of has been mailed to such 
person's last known address, by means of a written statement setting forth fully the grounds for the 
appeal. The Board of Trustees shall set a time and a place for the hearing and shall give notice to 
the appellant in the same manner as provided in Section 6-107(b).5-77(b) of this Code. The decision 
of the Board of Trustees shall be final and conclusive, except as provided by the laws of the State.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Sec. 6-1095-79. - Expiration of license.  

All licenses issued under the provisions of this Article shall expire on the dates set forth thereon.  

(Ord. No. 2018-02, § 1, 6-5-2018) 

Secs. 6-110—6-1205-80—5-90. - Reserved. 

 

ARTICLE V - Restaurants  

Sec. 6-1215-91. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the following words set out in this Section shall have the following 
meanings:  

(1)  Nonperishable food or drink means any food or drink which, when stored under normal 
conditions without refrigeration, will not support the rapid and progressive growth of 
microorganisms which cause food infections or food intoxication.  

(2)  Person means a natural person, partnership, association, company, corporation or 
organization or manager, agent, servant, officer or employee of any of them.  

(3)  Restaurant business means any place which is kept or maintained for the purpose of preparing 
or serving food or drink, except that restaurant business does not include:  

a.  Homes containing what is commonly known as the family unit, including guests.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt



b.   Automated food merchandising enterprises which supply only bottled, canned, 
cartoned or prepackaged nonperishable food or drink and those operations dispensing only 
chewing gum, salted nuts, nuts in their natural protective covering or packaged candies;  

c.   Grocery stores and similar establishments where food is not prepared or sold 
routinely for immediate consumption; or  

d.   Food or beverage manufacturing, processing or packaging plants which are not 
categorized as restaurant businesses, but are subject to regulatory controls under 
other local, state or federal laws or regulation. (Ord. 4-1989 §1) 

 

Sec. 6-1225-92. - License required; fee.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in theany restaurant business without first securing an 
annual restaurant license and paying a license fee as established by resolution of the Board of 
Trustees. This fee is payable at the time of the liquor license approval and/or issuance of a 
business license. (Ord. 4-1989 §2; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

A violation of this Article is punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine 
dollars ($499.00). Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense.

Sec. 6-1235-93. - License issuance.  

All applicants must comply with the business licenselicensing requirements of the Town in 
addition to the provisions of this Article. (Ord. 4-1989 §3) 

 

Sec. 6-1245-94. - Inspections.  

All applications for a restaurant license or renewal shall be accompanied by a current 
inspection report from the County Health Department indicating approval or disapproval by the 
County Health Inspector. (Ord. 4-1989 §4) 

 

Secs. 6-125—6-1405-95—5-110. - Reserved. 

 

ARTICLE VI - Medical– Regulated Marijuana Business Prohibition 

Sec. 6-1415-111. - Definitions.  

The following words, terms and phrases, when used inFor purposes of this Article, the following terms 
shall have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:  

Colorado Marijuana Code means Chapter 10 of Title 44, Colorado Revised Statutes, as may be 
amended from time to time. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list2, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Marijuana means all parts of the plant of the genus Cannabis whether growing or not, the seeds 
thereof, the resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, manufacture, salt, 
derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, including marijuana 
concentrate, but excluding industrial hemp, fiber produced from the stalks, oil, or cake made from 
the seeds of the plant, sterilized seed of the plant which is incapable of germination, or the weight 
of any other ingredient combined with marijuana to prepare topical or oral administrations, food, 
drink, or other product. 

Medical marijuana means marijuana that is grown and sold for a purpose authorized by section 14 
of article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution. 

Medical marijuana center,business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado 
Marijuana Code, including without limitation a medical marijuana-infused  store, a medical 
marijuana cultivation facility, a medical marijuana products manufacturer and optional premises 
cultivation operation shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Colorado , a medical marijuana 
testing facility, a marijuana research and development licensee, a medical marijuana business 
operator, or a medical marijuana transporter. 

Medical Marijuana Code, Title 12, Article 43.3, C.R.S. marijuana product means a product infused 
with medical marijuana that is intended for use or consumption other than by smoking, including 
but not limited to edible products, ointments, and tinctures. 

Patient and primary caregiver shall have the same meanings as set forth in Article 
XVIII, Section 14(1) of the Colorado Constitution. (Ord. 02-2011 §1) 

 

Regulated marijuana means medical marijuana, medical marijuana products, retail marijuana, and 
retail marijuana products, and includes without limitation any marijuana concentrate.  

Regulated marijuana business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado 
Marijuana Code to engage in the cultivation, consumption, or sale of regulated marijuana, 
including without limitation any retail marijuana business or medical marijuana business.  

Retail marijuana means marijuana that is cultivated, manufactured, distributed, or sold by a 
licensed retail marijuana business. 

Retail marijuana business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado Marijuana 
Code, including without limitation a retail marijuana store, a retail marijuana cultivation facility, 
a retail marijuana products manufacturer, a marijuana hospitality business, a retail marijuana 
hospitality and sales business, a retail marijuana testing facility, a retail marijuana business 
operator, or a retail marijuana transporter.  

Retail marijuana product means a product infused with retail marijuana that is intended for use or 
consumption other than by smoking, including but not limited to edible products, ointments, and 
tinctures. 

Sec. 6-1425-112. - Findings.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: p0, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p1, Justified, Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(a)   The Colorado Medical Marijuana Code, Section 12-43.3-101, et seq., C.R.S., clarifies state 
law regarding the scope and extent of Article XVIII, Section 14 and Article XVIII, Section 16 of 
the Colorado Constitution.  

(b)   This Article is necessary to protect and is enacted in furtherance of the public health, safety 
and welfare of the Town.  

(c)  This Article is intended to apply and shall apply to all property, businesses and business 
enterprises operating within the Town, whether stationary, mobile or virtual. (Ord. 02-2011 §1) 

 

Sec. 5-113. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is to promote the general public welfare and safety throughout the 
Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado by prohibiting the operation of regulated marijuana 
businesses to protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls.  

Sec. 6-143. - Uses5-114. – Regulated marijuana businesses prohibited.  

It is unlawful for any person to establish, operate, cause to be operated or permit to be operated a 
regulated marijuana business in the Town. The operation, ownership, establishment or conduct of 
a regulated marijuana business is unlawful and prohibited within the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls, Colorado.  

Sec. 5-115. – Patients and primary caregivers.  

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit, regulate or otherwise impair the protections 
of the use of medical marijuana by patients as provided in Article XVIII, Section 14 of the 
Colorado Constitution, or the provision of medical marijuana by a primary caregiver to a patient 
in accordance with article XVIII, Section 14 of the Colorado Constitution, the Colorado Medical 
Marijuana Code and rules promulgated thereunder. 

Sec. medical marijuana center, an optional premises cultivation operation or a medical marijuana-
infused products manufacturer facility in the Town. (Ord. 02-2011 §1) 

5-116Sec. 6-144. - Penalty.  

It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of this Article. Any such violation 
is hereby designated a criminal offense, and any person found guilty of violating the provisions of this 
Article shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished by a fine pursuant to Section 1-72 of this Code. (Ord. 
02-2011 §1) 

ARTICLE VII - [Marijuana Establishment Operations]  

Sec. 6-145. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this ordinance is to promote the general public welfare and safety throughout the 
Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado by prohibiting the operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana testing facilities and retail marijuana stores, in part 
because Amendment 53 conflicts with Federal law, and to protect the health, safety and welfare of the 
citizens of the Town of Green Mountain Falls.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(Ord. No. 01-2013, § I, 7-16-2013) 

Sec. 6-146. - Definitions.  

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, any terms used herein shall have the 
same meanings as provided in Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution. These definitions 
include, but are not limited to the following:  

(1)  Marijuana or marihuana means all parts of the plant of the genus cannabis whether growing or 
not, the seeds thereof, the resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, 
manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, including 
marihuana concentrate. "Marijuana" or "marihuana" does not include industrial hemp, nor does it 
include fiber produced from the stalks, oil, or cake made from the seeds of the plant, sterilized 
seed of the plant which is incapable of germination, or the weight of any other ingredient combined 
with marijuana to prepare topical or oral administrations, food, drink or other product.  

(2)  Marijuana accessories means any equipment, products, or materials of any kind which are used, 
intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, harvesting, 
composting, manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, 
analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, vaporizing, or containing marijuana, or for ingesting, 
inhaling, or otherwise introducing marijuana into the human body.  

(3)  Marijuana cultivation facility means an entity licensed to cultivate, prepare and package 
marijuana and sell marijuana to retail marijuana stores, to marijuana product manufacturing 
facilities, and to other marijuana cultivation facilities, but not to consumers.  

(4)  Marijuana establishment means a marijuana cultivation facility, a marijuana testing facility, a 
marijuana product manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana store.  

(5)  Marijuana product manufacturing facility means an entity licensed to purchase marijuana; 
manufacture, prepare and package marijuana products; and sell marijuana and marijuana 
products to other marijuana product manufacturing facilities and to retail marijuana stores, but not 
to consumers.  

(6)  Marijuana products means concentrated marijuana products and marijuana products that are 
comprised of marijuana and other ingredients and are intended for use and consumption, such 
as, but not limited to, edible products, ointments, and tinctures.  

(7)  Marijuana testing facility means an entity licensed to analyze and certify the safety and potency 
of marijuana.  

(8)  Medical marijuana center means an entity licensed by a State agency to sell marijuana and 
marijuana products pursuant to Section 14 of this Article and the Colorado Medical Marijuana 
Code.  

(9)  Retail marijuana store means an entity licensed to purchase marijuana from marijuana cultivation 
facilities and marijuana and marijuana products from marijuana product manufacturing facilities 
and to sell marijuana and marijuana products to consumers.  

(Ord. No. 01-2013, § I, 7-16-2013) 

Sec. 6-147. - Violation.  

The operation, ownership, establishment or conduct of marijuana cultivation facilities, marijuana 
establishments, marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana products facilities, marijuana testing 
facilities and retail marijuana stores thereof is unlawful and prohibited within the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls, Colorado.  



(Ord. No. 01-2013, § I, 7-16-2013) 

Sec. 6-148. - Penalty.  

It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of Article VI. Any such violation is hereby 
designed a criminal offense, and any person found guilty of violating the provisions of this Article 
VI shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished by a fine pursuant to Chapter, 1, Article IV, Section 1-
72. 42 of this Code.  In addition to other remedies available to the Town, the Town may commence 
an action to enjoin the alleged violation of any provision of this Article, or to authorize and compel 
the removal, termination or abatement of such violation. 

(Ord. No. 01-2013, § I, 7-16-2013) 

Secs. 5-117—5-130. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE VIIIVII - LICENSING OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS[2]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (2) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, adopted July 17, 2018, repealed the former Art. VIII, §§ 6-149—6-
161, and enacted a new Art. VIII as set out herein. The former Art. VIII pertained to similar subject matter 
and derived from Ord. No. 04-2017, § 1, adopted Sept. 27, 2017.  

Sec. 6-1495-131. - Purpose and scope.  

The purpose of this Article is to establish comprehensive licensing provisions for whole residential 
dwelling units made available for rent for a period of time less than thirty (30) days in duration to 
ensure minimum standards to safeguard life or limb, health, property, and public welfare by 
regulating and controlling the use and occupancy, location, and maintenance of residential 
dwellings available for rent. This Article does not apply to the furnishing of lodging services in 
hotels, motels, or lodges.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1505-132. - Applicability.  

All owners of residences within residential zone districts, including but not limited to R-1 and R-
2 Districts who rent or lease their entire property for a period of time less than thirty (30) days 
shall comply in full with all terms and conditions contained in this Article. Nothing in this Article 
shall require an owner to apply for a special use permit under Section 16-710 of the Green Mountain 
Falls Municipalthis Code.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1515-133. - Definitions.  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



For purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

Owner means the record owner of a residential dwelling unit or an authorized agent or designee 
thereof.  

Rent or lease means an agreement or act by which an owner gives to a tenant, for valuable 
consideration, possession and use of histheir property or a portion thereof for a definite term, at the 
end of which term the owner has an absolute right to retake control and use of the property.  

Short-term rental means the renting or leasing of an entire residential structure for monetary 
consideration for a period of time less than thirty (30) consecutive days, not including a bed and 
breakfast, residency unit, boarding or rooming house, or hotel. The definition does not include 
offering use of one's property to another where no fee is charged or collected.  

Town Manager means the appointed administrative official of the Town government, or, in the 
event of a vacancy, his or hertheir designee, whose duties and responsibilities shall conform to the 
requirements of Section 2-81 of the Green Mountain Falls Municipalthis Code.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1525-134. - License required.  

No owner shall allow any person to rent or lease, sublease or occupy any short-term rental as a 
tenant, renter, lessee, sublessee or otherwise, unless the owner has been issued a valid rental 
property license by the Town. Licenses are permitted in any zone district in the Town where 
residential occupancy is permitted, provided however, that no commercial space shall be used for 
a short-term rental. The short-term rental license must be renewed annually for every premises 
used as a short-term rental. A short-term rental license may be denied or revoked if the owner is 
not in compliance with the terms and conditions of license or any other applicable laws.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1535-135. - Taxes.  

All owners of short-term rentals are required to collect and remit sales and other applicable taxes. 
Evidence of issuance of a state sales tax license number is required as a condition of the Town 
Manager's consideration of a short-term rental license application.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1545-136. - Business license required.  

All owners of short-term rentals are required to possess a current Town business license for each 
short-term rental property. The business license must be renewed annually. Business license 
requirements under this Section shall conform to the requirements of Article II of this Chapter.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 6-1555-137. - License application; procedure; appeals.  

(a)  All owners of short-term rentals must obtain a short-term rental license . Conducting a short-
term rental without a valid license is a violation of this Chapter 6Article. A license application shall 
be provided by the Town, and an applicant shall provide the following information:  

(1)  Owner name, permanent address, and property address;  

(2)  Maximum occupancy of rental guests;  

(3)  Owner representative and contact information;  

(4)  Parking plan for guests indicating the manner in which the maximum permitted 
number of cars shall be parked so as to avoid any conflicts with neighboring properties or 
public right-of-way;  

(5)  Evidence of property and liability insurance;  

(6)  Proof of a valid business license;  

(7)  Proof of a valid sales tax license number;  

(8)  Proof of possession of the licensed premises; or  

(9)  If the applicant does not own the property where the licensed premises is located, the 
applicant must provide written documentation from the property owner allowing short-
term rentals on the licensed premises; and  

(10)  The license application fee set by the Board of Trustees.  

(11)  Other documents as required by the Town on its application form.  

(b)  Licenses are valid until December 31st of each year. The application fee shall be prorated 
on a monthly basis for any application filed for a license period commencing after January 1st 
Subject to the requirements of this Article, licenses may be revoked or renewed.  

(c)  Before issuing a short-term rental license, the applicant shall notify the Town Marshal and 
all owners of real property within one hundred fifty (150) feet of the proposed short-term rental 
property who shall be provided an opportunity to make comment on or object to the issuance of 
the license. The notice shall contain the property location, notice that the full application that may 
be copied and reviewed at the Town Hall, and notice that comments must be received within fifteen 
(15) days from the date on which the notice is given. The notice shall be posted on the property 
and at the Town Hall, and mailed at the applicant's expense.  

(d)  The Town Manager, after reviewing the license application and any public comments or 
objection shall approve, approve with conditions, renew, renew with conditions, deny, or revoke 
the short-term rental license. The Town Manager shall issue the decision within thirty (30) days 
after receiving a complete application and shall report all decisions at the next regular meeting of 
the Board of Trustees. A standard condition of approval shall be that the license, as issued, is 
temporary and conditional until the appeal period, as described in (e) below, has passed, or until 
any such appeal has been decided, whichever is later.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0", Space
After:  10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



(e)   Either the applicant or a property owner within one hundred fifty (150) feet of the proposed 
short-term rental property may appeal the Town Manager's decision to issue, issue with conditions, 
renew, renew with conditions, revoke, or deny a short-term rental license. Such appeal shall be 
filed with the Town Clerk in writing within fifteen (15) days of the decision being reported to the 
Town Board and shall be heard by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall promptly 
hear and decide all appeals. The decision of the Town Manager (if not timely appealed) or the 
Board of Trustees (if appealed), is the final decision of the Town for purposes of judicial review.  

(f)  Reserved.  

(g)   All permitted short-term rentals are subject to inspection under Section 65-10 of this 
ChapterCode. Licenses may be revoked or not renewed by the Town Manager if license conditions 
and requirements are not met or if more than three (3) violations of license conditions or the 
requirements of this Chapter are found within any one (1) license year.  

(h)  g) A short-term rental license is non-transferable and may be used only for the property for 
which it is issued. A short-term rental license is not transferrable upon the sale of the property.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018; Ord. No. 2019-08, § 1, 12-3-2019) 

Sec. 6-1565-138. - Limitations; renewal.  

(a)   An owner shall file with the Town a written application for a short-term rental license at 
least sixty (60) days prior to rental of the property. For a property owner operating a short-term 
rental under a prior Town approval, the property owner shall file a written application for a new 
license under this Article within sixty (60) days of the ordinance's effective date.  

(b)   The Town shall issue no more than sixty (60) short-term rental licenses. When the cap is 
reached, new license applications will be considered in order of the date received.  

(c)   Licenses shall expire on December 31st of each year. To renew a license, Licensees shall 
apply to the Town on forms provided by the Town no later than November 1st of each year.  

(d)   In considering issuance or renewal of a short-term rental license, the Town Manager or the 
Town Board, as appropriate, shall consider any conviction for a municipal code violation within 
the past year related to the property to be licensed.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018; Ord. No. 2019-08, § 2, 12-3-2019) 

Sec. 6-1575-139. - Local agent required.  

When the owner of a short-term rental property is not a natural person domiciled within El Paso 
or Teller County, Colorado, the owner shall appoint a natural person who is domiciled within either 
El Paso or Teller County, Colorado, to serve as the local agent of the owner for service of any 
notices related to the property or its license. An owner shall notify the Town in writing of any 
change in the appointment of a local agent within seven (7) days of such change.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt



Sec. 6-1585-140. - Fees.  

(a)   Applicants for short-term rental licenses, or the renewal thereof, shall pay the fee as set by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees at the time of submitting an application.  

(b)   A person wishing to appeal a decision of the Town Manager under this Article shall do so 
in writing to the Town Clerk and shall be the fee as set by resolution of the Town Board.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1595-141. - Posting requirements.  

(a)   An owner shall post the license, or a true copy thereof, conspicuously within the rental 
property for which such license has been issued.  

(b)   An owner shall display its license number on the face of any advertisement. For purposes 
of this Section, the term "advertisement" means the act of drawing the public's attention to a short-
term rental in order to promote the availability of the short-term rental.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1605-142. - Safety requirements.  

Each short-term rental shall comply at all times with all applicable building codes, standards and 
regulations.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018) 

Sec. 6-1615-143. - Enforcement.  

(a)   It is unlawful to violate any provision this Article.  

(b)   The Town may enforce the requirements of this Article by any or all of the following:  

(1)   The Town Manager shall issue a warning letter to persons conducting a short-term 
rental without a license.  

(2)   The Town Manager may revoke or refuse to renew a short-term rental license for 
any reason provided in this Article and may prohibit an owner from re-applying for a short-
term rental license for one (1) year following revocation or non-renewal.  

(3)   Persons found of violating any provision of this Article shall be punished in 
Municipal Court as hereinafter provided or, if not hereinafter provided, in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 2-136 and 1-72 of this Code; provided, that each separate act in violation 
of this Article, and each and every day or portion thereof during which any separate act in 
violation of this Article is committed, continued, or permitted, shall be deemed a separate 
offense.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted ...

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



1.   The Municipal Court may impose a civil penalty according to a schedule 
adopted by Resolution of the Board of Trustees. , not to exceed four hundred and 
ninety-nine dollars ($499.00) per violation. Each day of violation shall constitute a 
separate offense; 

2.   The Municipal Court may suspend a portion of the fine if the Court finds 
mitigating circumstances.  

(4)   Any remedies provided for in this Article shall be cumulative and not exclusive and 
shall be in addition to any other remedies provided by law.  

(Ord. No. 2018-04, § 1, 7-17-2018)  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0", Space After: 
10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: list1, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt



CHAPTER 5 - Business Licenses and Regulations  

ARTICLE I - Licensing Generally  

Sec. 5-1. - Applications.  

Applications for all licenses and permits required by any provision of this Code shall be made in 
writing to the Town Clerk in the absence of a specific provision to the contrary. Each application 
shall state the name of the applicant, the permit or license desired, the location to be used, if any, 
the time covered and the fee to be paid, and each application shall contain such additional 
information as may be needed for the proper guidance of the Town officials in the issuing of the 
permit or license applied for.  

Sec. 5-2. - Persons subject to license.  

Whenever in this Code a license is required for the maintenance, operation or conduct of any 
business or establishment, for doing business or for engaging in any activity or occupation, any 
person or corporation shall be subject to the requirement if, by their self or through an agent, 
employee or partner, the applicant holds themself forth as being engaged in the business or 
occupation, solicits patronage therefor, actively or passively or performs or attempts to perform 
any part of such business or occupation in the Town.  

Sec. 5-3. - Forms.  

Forms for all licenses and permits and applications therefor shall be prepared and kept on file by 
the Town Clerk.  

Sec. 5-4. - Signatures.  

Each license or permit issued shall bear the signature of the Town Clerk, in the absence of 
any specific provision to the contrary. Such license or permit shall be in substantially the 
following form:  

No._________       State of Colorado  

By Authority of  
The Town of  
GREEN MOUNTAIN FALLS  

LICENSE 

PERMISSION IS HEREBY GIVEN TO ____________ TO MAINTAIN AND 
CARRY ON THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED BUSINESS OF ___________ 
FOR THE TERM OF ____ MONTHS, BEING FROM THE ____ DAY OF 
_______ A.D., 20__, TO THE _______ DAY OF ______ A.D., 20__, BOTH 
DAYS INCLUSIVE.  

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF THE SIGNATURE OF THE TOWN CLERK IS 
HEREUNTO AFFIXED THIS ____ DAY OF _______ A.D., 20__.  

TOWN CLERK 



Sec. 5-5. - Investigations.  

Upon the receipt of an application for a license or permit where any provision of this Code 
necessitates an inspection or investigation before the issuance of such permit or license, the Town 
Clerk shall refer such applications to the proper officer, board or commission for making such 
investigation within forty-eight (48) hours of the time of such receipt. The officer, board or 
commission charged with the duty of making the investigation or inspection shall make a report 
thereon, favorable or otherwise, within ten (10) days after receiving the application or a copy 
thereof. The County Health Inspector shall make or cause to be made an inspection in regard to 
such licenses in connection with the care and handling of food, the prevention of nuisances and 
the spread of disease, for the protection of health; the Building Inspector shall make or cause to be 
made any such inspections relative to the construction of buildings or other structures. All other 
investigations, except where otherwise specifically provided, shall be made by the Town Marshal 
or by another officer designated by the Town Manager.  

Sec. 5-6. - Fees. 

All fees and charges for licenses or permits shall be paid in advance at the time application therefor 
is made to the Town Clerk. Except as otherwise provided, all license fees shall become a part of 
the General Fund.  

Sec. 5-7. - Termination of licenses; renewal.  

In the absence of any specific provision to the contrary, all annual licenses shall terminate on the 
last day of the Town's fiscal year. Unless specifically stated otherwise, all annual licenses may be 
renewed upon payment of the annual license fee to the Town Clerk without further examination 
or investigation. The Board of Trustees reserves the right to deny any license renewal when it is 
deemed by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees that said license would endanger the health, 
safety and welfare of the Town. 

Sec. 5-8. - Building and premises.  

No license shall be issued for the conduct of any business and no permit shall be issued for any 
thing or act if the premises and building to be used for the purpose do not fully comply with the 
requirements of this Code. No such license or permit shall be issued for the conduct of any business 
or performance of any act which would involve a violation of Chapter 16 of this Code.   

Sec. 5-9. - Change of location.  

The location of any licensed business or occupation or of any permitted act may be changed; 
provided that ten (10) days' notice thereof is given to the Town Clerk in the absence of any 
provision to the contrary; further provided that the building requirements of this Code are complied 
with.  

Sec. 5-10. - Inspections.  

(a)  Whenever inspections of the premises used for or in connection with the operation of a 
licensed business or occupation are provided for or required by this Code or are reasonably 
necessary to secure compliance with any provision of this Code or to detect violations thereof, it 



shall be the duty of the licensee or the person in charge of the premises to be inspected to admit 
thereto for the purpose of making the inspection any officer or employee of the Town who is 
authorized or directed to make such inspection at any reasonable time that admission is requested, 
and it shall be unlawful for such person to fail or refuse to admit such officer or employee for such 
purpose.  

(b)  Whenever an analysis of any commodity or material is reasonably necessary to secure 
conformance with any provision of this Code or to detect violations thereof, it shall be the duty of 
the licensee whose business is governed by such provision to give to any authorized officer or 
employee of the Town requesting the same sufficient samples of such material or commodity for 
such analysis upon request, and it shall be unlawful for such licensee to fail or refuse to give such 
samples to such officer or employee.  

(c)  Conviction of a violation of any provision of this Article shall automatically forfeit and 
revoke any license issued under this Chapter; provided that there shall be no violation of this 
Article unless written demand is made upon the licensee or person in charge of the premises, in 
the name of the Town, stating that such inspection or sample is desired at the time it is sought to 
make the inspection of or obtain the sample.  

Sec. 5-11. - Revocation.  

The Board of Trustees may, upon seven (7) days' written notice to a licensee stating the 
contemplated action and in general the grounds therefor and after a reasonable opportunity to be 
heard, revoke any license issued by the Town if it finds that:  

(1)  The licensee has failed to pay the annual license fee;  

(2)  The licensee has failed to file any reports or furnish any other information that may 
be required by the provisions relating to the specific license; 

(3)  The licensee has violated any of the terms of the provisions pertaining to their license 
or any regulation or order lawfully made relating thereto; or existing at the time of the 
application for such license, would have warranted the refusal of the issuance of such 
license; or 

(4) The licensee is in violation of any part of this Code.  

Sec. 5-12. - Return of fees.  

Upon refusal of any license, the fee therefor paid in advance shall be returned to the applicant. In 
the event that any license is revoked, all monies paid therefor shall be and remain the monies of 
the Town and no refund shall be made to any licensee.  

Sec. 5-13. - Posting license.  

It shall be the duty of any person conducting a licensed business in the Town to keep their license 
posted in a prominent place on the premises used for such business at all times.  

Sec. 5-14. – Violation.  



It is unlawful for any person to violate any part of this Article.  A violation of this Article is 
punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine dollars ($499.00). Each day of 
violation shall constitute a separate offense. In addition to any other available penalties, the Town 
may enjoin a person from engaging in business in the Town without a license required by this 
Article. 

Secs. 5-15—5-30. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE II - Business Licenses  

Sec. 5-31. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

(1)  Business means any business, trade, occupation, profession, avocation or calling of 
any kind.  

(2)  Engaged in business means to carry on or take a part in the operation of a business 
as owner, operator or agent within the geographical limits of the Town.  

Sec. 5-32. – License required. 

(a)  Every person desiring to engage in business within the Town shall first obtain a business 
license from the Town except as otherwise provided herein.  

(b)  The license herein required shall not apply to the operation of any business exempt by federal 
or state law.  

(c) Nonprofit corporations are exempt from the license requirements and fees set forth in this 
Article subject to approval by the Town Clerk following proof of current nonprofit status. 

Sec. 5-33. – Business license fee.  

The fee required to obtain a business license under this Article shall be set by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees and included on the Town's fee schedule.  

Sec. 5-34. – Term of License.  

Licenses shall expire on December 31st of each year. To renew a license, Licensees shall apply to 
the Town on forms provided by the Town no later than November 1st of each year. 

Sec. 5-35. – Separate license for each location.  

Any person operating, conducting or carrying on any business within the City must obtain a 
separate license for each location of such business and a separate license for each business operated 
at the same location under a separate Federal Employer I.D. number or Social Security number. 

Sec. 5-36. - Unlawful procedure.  

It shall be unlawful for any person or their agent to engage in or carry on a business in the Town 
for which a business license is required without first having paid the required business licensing 



fee and obtaining the license required herein. For the purpose of this Article, the opening of a place 
of business or offering to sell followed by a single sale or the doing of any act or thing in the 
furtherance of the business shall be construed to be engaging in carrying on such business. 

Secs. 5-37—5-50. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE III - Alcoholic Beverages  

Sec. 5-51. – Licensing authority.  

The Board of Trustees is hereby designated the Local Licensing Authority ("Authority") for 
purposes of exercising the duties and powers provided in the Colorado Liquor Code (C.R.S. § 44-
3-101, et seq.), the Colorado Beer Code (C.R.S. § 44-4-103, et seq.), and issuance of special event 
liquor permits pursuant to C.R.S. § 44-5-101, et seq. 

Sec. 5-52. – General provisions.  

The provisions of the Colorado Liquor Code (C.R.S. § 44-3-101, et seq.), the Colorado Beer Code 
(C.R.S. § 44-4-103, et seq.), and issuance of special event liquor permits pursuant to C.R.S. § 44-
5-101, et seq., together with rules and regulations of the Colorado Department of Revenue, Liquor 
Enforcement Division, which are applicable to local liquor license authorities and local liquor 
license applicants, are hereby adopted as part of this Article and are incorporated herein by 
reference, except to the extent of any inconsistency with the other provisions of this Article. 
Nothing herein shall be construed to alter or amend powers to condition, suspend or revoke a 
license. 

Sec. 5-53. - License required.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling alcoholic beverages within the 
Town without first securing an annual liquor license from the Town and from the State.  A violation 
of this Article is punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine dollars 
($499.00). Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense. 

Sec. 5-54. - License fees.  

In addition to those fees required by the State, fees payable to the Town shall be as established by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees, as nonrefundable application fees.  

Sec. 5-55. - Restaurant license required.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling alcoholic beverages within the 
Town without first securing an annual restaurant license as provided in this Chapter, unless exempt 
under the provisions thereof.  

Sec. 5-56. - Fine in lieu of suspension.  

If so requested by a licensee convicted of a violation of the State Liquor or Beer Code and 
sentenced to a license suspension for a period of fourteen (14) days or less, the Town may agree 
to accept payment of a fine to be determined by the Board of Trustees in lieu of said suspension. 
Said fines collected by the Town are to be credited to the General Fund of the Town.  



Secs. 5-57—5-70. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE IV - Mobile Food Vendors and Peddlers 

Sec. 5-71. - Mobile food vendors and peddlers licensed.  

It shall be unlawful for any mobile food vendor or peddler as defined herein to engage in such 
business within the corporate limits of the Town without first obtaining a license therefor in 
compliance with this Code.  

Sec. 5-72. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

Mobile food vendor means a retail food establishment, designed and equipped to prepare or serve 
food for immediate consumption, which is readily movable, typically as a motorized or towed 
vehicle. The term mobile food vendor includes food trucks serving prepared meals, but does not 
include food delivery vehicles delivering food supplies to restaurants, hotels, businesses, or 
residences (such as grocery delivery vehicles, pizza delivery, or restaurant food and supply 
delivery).  

Peddler means any person, whether a resident of the Town or not, who sells and delivers or offers 
for sale to consumers any goods, wares, merchandise, fruits, vegetables or country produce, 
traveling from place to place, from house to house or from street to street, who shall sell or offer 
for sale and delivery any goods or other such articles while traveling on foot, by vehicle or any 
other type of conveyance, regardless of whether the items are for immediate or future delivery, or 
whether payment shall be immediate or in the future. The term peddler includes door-to-door sales 
people, but does not include individuals not engaging in commercial activity.  

Sec. 5-73. - Application for a license.  

(a) Applicants for a peddler's license shall file with the Town Clerk at least five (5) days prior 
to the date upon which the applicant desires to begin their business a sworn application in writing 
on a form to be furnished by the Town Clerk, which shall give the following information:  

(1) Name and description of the applicant;  

(2) The permanent home address and full local address of the applicant;  

(3) A brief description of the nature of the business and goods shown for sale or for 
future delivery;  

(4) If employed, the name, address and phone number of the employer, together with 
credentials establishing the exact relationship between the employer and employee;  

(5) The length of time for which the right to do business is desired; and  

(6) Two (2) identical photographs of the applicant which reasonably identify the 
applicant; such photographs to measure two (2) inches by two (2) inches.  



(b)  Applicants for a mobile food vendor's license shall file with the Town Clerk at least five (5) 
days prior to the date upon which the applicant desires to begin operation in the Town a sworn 
application in writing on a form to be furnished by the Town Clerk, which shall give the following 
information:  

(1)  Name and description of the mobile food vendor;  

(2)  The local address for the mobile food vendor applicant;  

(3)  The length of time for which the right to do business is desired;  

(4)  Proposed location and hours of operation for the mobile food vendor;  

(5)  Proof of permission to operate on the proposed site, or if the applicant seeks to 
operate on Town property a concurrent application for permission pursuant to Section 5-
75 of this Code.  

(6)  A proposed refuse control plan, including a wastewater disposal plan; and  

(7)  Proof of compliance with all applicable state regulations and health department 
licensing.  

Sec. 5-74. - Investigation and issuance of license.  

(a)  For peddler applications, the following procedure shall be followed:  

(1)  Upon receipt of such application, an investigation shall be conducted at the direction 
of the Town Clerk to determine the applicant's business and whether such application is 
truly for a legitimate business purpose and whether, considering all circumstances, the 
granting of the license will not threaten the health, safety and welfare of the Town.  

(2)  If, as a result of such investigation, it is discovered that the applicant is not intending 
to use the license for a legitimate business purpose or the granting of the license will 
threaten the health, safety and welfare of the Town, then the Town Clerk shall notify the 
applicant of the disapproval of such application and that no license will be issued 
thereunder, giving the reasons therefor.  

(3)  If, as a result of such investigation, the application is found to be satisfactory, the 
Town Clerk shall endorse the same on the application and, upon receipt of the necessary 
fees as set forth hereafter, shall execute and deliver to the applicant a license to carry on 
such business within the corporate limits of the Town for a period, not exceeding thirty 
(30) days, except as hereinafter set forth.  

(4)  The license so issued to a successful applicant shall contain the signature and seal of 
the issuing officer, the type of license issued, the kind of goods to be sold thereunder, the 
date of issuance, the expiration date thereof and a two (2) inch by two (2) inch photograph 
of the applicant.  

(b)  For mobile vending applications, the following procedure shall be followed:  



(1)  The Town Clerk shall investigate and determine whether the requirements for mobile 
food vendors set forth in this Article have been met and whether issuance of the license 
will jeopardize the health, safety and welfare of the Town. In making such a determination, 
the Town Clerk shall consider the following criteria:  

1.  Information contained in the application or supplemental information obtained 
from the applicant is found to be false in any material detail;  

2.  The applicant has failed to complete the application after having been notified 
of any additional information or documents required;  

3.  The location, size, or nature of the mobile food vending will create undue 
vehicular or pedestrian traffic congestion;  

4.  The location, size, or nature of the mobile food vending is incompatible with 
the neighborhood due to noise, hours, odors, or other impacts;  

5.  The applicant has failed to pay costs, fees or deposits for any previous special 
event or demonstration permit; and  

6.  The applicant has failed to abide by the terms or conditions of any previous 
special event or demonstration permit.  

(2)  If, as a result of such investigation, the application is found to be satisfactory, the 
Town Clerk shall endorse the same on the application and, upon receipt of the necessary 
fees as set forth hereafter, shall execute and deliver to the applicant a license to operate a 
mobile vending operation within the corporate limits of the Town for a period of time, not 
exceeding one (1) year, subject to annual renewal.  

Sec. 5-75. - Mobile food vendors operating on Town property.  

(a)  If a mobile food vendor desires to operate on Town property, the application shall be 
submitted to the Board of Trustees for consideration. In determining whether to grant the requested 
license, the Board, at its next available meeting, shall consider the following criteria in addition to 
the criteria set forth in Section 5-74(b)(1) of this Code:  

1.  Whether the mobile food vending operation can operate on Town property without 
interfering with other uses of such property.  

2.  Whether mobile food vending is compatible with the nature and purpose of the subject 
Town property.  

(b)  The Board of Trustees may deny, approve, or approve with conditions that are necessary to 
mitigate the negative impacts of the mobile food vending operation.  

(c)  No mobile food vendor may operate on property owned or controlled by the Town for more 
than three hundred sixty-five (365) days in any calendar year.  

Sec. 5-76. - License fee.  



The license fee, which shall be charged in advance by the Town Clerk, shall be established by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

Sec. 5-77. - Suspension/revocation of license.  

(a)  Licenses issued hereunder may be suspended or revoked by the Board of Trustees, after 
notice and hearing, for any of the following causes:  

(1)  Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the application for the 
license;  

(2)  Any violation of this Code;  

(3)  For peddlers, fraud, misrepresentation or false statement made while carrying on 
their business or conviction of any crime or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; or  

(4)  Conducting the business in an unlawful manner or in such a manner as to constitute 
a breach of the peace or to constitute a threat to the health, safety or general welfare of the 
public.  

(b)  Notice of the hearing for suspension or revocation of a license shall be given in writing, 
setting forth specifically the grounds of complaint and the time and place of hearing. Such notice 
shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to the licensee at their local address as set forth in the application 
at least five (5) days prior to the date set for the hearing.  

(c)  Whether to suspend or revoke a license shall be determined by the Board of Trustees 
depending on the nature and severity of the violation, whether the licensee has had previous 
violations, and other similar factors.  

Sec. 5-78. - Appeal.  

Any person aggrieved by the action of the Police or the Town Clerk in the denial, suspension, or 
revocation of the same shall have the right to appeal to the Board of Trustees. Such appeal shall 
be filed within fourteen (14) days after notice of the action complained of has been mailed to such 
person's last known address, by means of a written statement setting forth fully the grounds for the 
appeal. The Board of Trustees shall set a time and a place for the hearing and shall give notice to 
the appellant in the same manner as provided in Section 5-77(b) of this Code. The decision of the 
Board of Trustees shall be final and conclusive, except as provided by the laws of the State.  

Sec. 5-79. - Expiration of license.  

All licenses issued under the provisions of this Article shall expire on the dates set forth thereon.  

Secs. 5-80—5-90. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE V - Restaurants  

Sec. 5-91. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the following words shall have the following meanings:  



Nonperishable food or drink means any food or drink which, when stored under normal conditions 
without refrigeration, will not support the rapid and progressive growth of microorganisms which 
cause food infections or food intoxication.  

Person means a natural person, partnership, association, company, corporation or organization or 
manager, agent, servant, officer or employee of any of them.  

Restaurant business means any place which is kept or maintained for the purpose of preparing or 
serving food or drink, except that restaurant business does not include:  

a.  Homes containing what is commonly known as the family unit, including guests.  

b. Automated food merchandising enterprises which supply only bottled, canned, 
cartoned or prepackaged nonperishable food or drink and those operations dispensing only 
chewing gum, salted nuts, nuts in their natural protective covering or packaged candies;  

c. Grocery stores and similar establishments where food is not prepared or sold 
routinely for immediate consumption; or  

d. Food or beverage manufacturing, processing or packaging plants which are not 
categorized as restaurant businesses, but are subject to regulatory controls under other 
local, state or federal laws or regulation.  

Sec. 5-92. - License required; fee.  

It is unlawful for any person to engage in any restaurant business without first securing an annual 
restaurant license and paying a license fee as established by resolution of the Board of Trustees. 
This fee is payable at the time of the liquor license approval or issuance of a business license. A 
violation of this Article is punishable by a fine not exceeding four hundred and ninety-nine dollars 
($499.00). Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense.

Sec. 5-93. - License issuance.  

All applicants must comply with the business licensing requirements of the Town in addition to 
the provisions of this Article.  

Sec. 5-94. - Inspections.  

All applications for a restaurant license or renewal shall be accompanied by a current inspection 
report from the County Health Department indicating approval or disapproval by the County 
Health Inspector.  

Secs. 5-95—5-110. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE VI – Regulated Marijuana Business Prohibition 

Sec. 5-111. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  



Colorado Marijuana Code means Chapter 10 of Title 44, Colorado Revised Statutes, as may be 
amended from time to time. 

Marijuana means all parts of the plant of the genus Cannabis whether growing or not, the seeds 
thereof, the resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, manufacture, salt, 
derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, including marijuana 
concentrate, but excluding industrial hemp, fiber produced from the stalks, oil, or cake made from 
the seeds of the plant, sterilized seed of the plant which is incapable of germination, or the weight 
of any other ingredient combined with marijuana to prepare topical or oral administrations, food, 
drink, or other product. 

Medical marijuana means marijuana that is grown and sold for a purpose authorized by section 14 
of article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution. 

Medical marijuana business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado 
Marijuana Code, including without limitation a medical marijuana store, a medical marijuana 
cultivation facility, a medical marijuana products manufacturer, a medical marijuana testing 
facility, a marijuana research and development licensee, a medical marijuana business operator, or 
a medical marijuana transporter. 

Medical marijuana product means a product infused with medical marijuana that is intended for 
use or consumption other than by smoking, including but not limited to edible products, ointments, 
and tinctures. 

Patient and primary caregiver shall have the same meanings as set forth in Article XVIII, Section 
14(1) of the Colorado Constitution.  

Regulated marijuana means medical marijuana, medical marijuana products, retail marijuana, and 
retail marijuana products, and includes without limitation any marijuana concentrate.  

Regulated marijuana business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado 
Marijuana Code to engage in the cultivation, consumption, or sale of regulated marijuana, 
including without limitation any retail marijuana business or medical marijuana business.  

Retail marijuana means marijuana that is cultivated, manufactured, distributed, or sold by a 
licensed retail marijuana business. 

Retail marijuana business means any entity requiring a license pursuant to the Colorado Marijuana 
Code, including without limitation a retail marijuana store, a retail marijuana cultivation facility, 
a retail marijuana products manufacturer, a marijuana hospitality business, a retail marijuana 
hospitality and sales business, a retail marijuana testing facility, a retail marijuana business 
operator, or a retail marijuana transporter.  

Retail marijuana product means a product infused with retail marijuana that is intended for use or 
consumption other than by smoking, including but not limited to edible products, ointments, and 
tinctures. 

Sec. 5-112. - Findings.  



(a) The Colorado Marijuana Code clarifies state law regarding the scope and extent of Article 
XVIII, Section 14 and Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution.  

(b) This Article is necessary to protect and is enacted in furtherance of the public health, safety 
and welfare of the Town.  

(c)  This Article is intended to apply and shall apply to all property, businesses and business 
enterprises operating within the Town, whether stationary, mobile or virtual. 

Sec. 5-113. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is to promote the general public welfare and safety throughout the 
Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado by prohibiting the operation of regulated marijuana 
businesses to protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls.  

Sec. 5-114. – Regulated marijuana businesses prohibited.  

It is unlawful for any person to establish, operate, cause to be operated or permit to be operated a 
regulated marijuana business in the Town. The operation, ownership, establishment or conduct of 
a regulated marijuana business is unlawful and prohibited within the Town of Green Mountain 
Falls, Colorado.  

Sec. 5-115. – Patients and primary caregivers.  

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit, regulate or otherwise impair the protections 
of the use of medical marijuana by patients as provided in Article XVIII, Section 14 of the 
Colorado Constitution, or the provision of medical marijuana by a primary caregiver to a patient 
in accordance with article XVIII, Section 14 of the Colorado Constitution, the Colorado Medical 
Marijuana Code and rules promulgated thereunder. 

Sec. 5-116. - Penalty.  

It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of this Article. Any such violation is 
hereby designed a criminal offense, and any person found guilty of violating the provisions of this 
Article shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished by a fine pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code.  
In addition to other remedies available to the Town, the Town may commence an action to enjoin 
the alleged violation of any provision of this Article, or to authorize and compel the removal, 
termination or abatement of such violation. 

Secs. 5-117—5-130. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE VII - LICENSING OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS 

Sec. 5-131. - Purpose and scope.  

The purpose of this Article is to establish comprehensive licensing provisions for whole residential 
dwelling units made available for rent for a period of time less than thirty (30) days in duration to 
ensure minimum standards to safeguard life or limb, health, property, and public welfare by 
regulating and controlling the use and occupancy, location, and maintenance of residential 



dwellings available for rent. This Article does not apply to the furnishing of lodging services in 
hotels, motels, or lodges.  

Sec. 5-132. - Applicability.  

All owners of residences within residential zone districts, including but not limited to R-1 and R-
2 Districts who rent or lease their entire property for a period of time less than thirty (30) days 
shall comply in full with all terms and conditions contained in this Article. Nothing in this Article 
shall require an owner to apply for a special use permit under Section 16-710 of this Code.  

Sec. 5-133. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

Owner means the record owner of a residential dwelling unit or an authorized agent or designee 
thereof.  

Rent or lease means an agreement or act by which an owner gives to a tenant, for valuable 
consideration, possession and use of their property or a portion thereof for a definite term, at the 
end of which term the owner has an absolute right to retake control and use of the property.  

Short-term rental means the renting or leasing of an entire residential structure for monetary 
consideration for a period of time less than thirty (30) consecutive days, not including a bed and 
breakfast, residency unit, boarding or rooming house, or hotel. The definition does not include 
offering use of one's property to another where no fee is charged or collected.  

Town Manager means the appointed administrative official of the Town government, or, in the 
event of a vacancy, their designee, whose duties and responsibilities shall conform to the 
requirements of Section 2-81 of this Code.  

Sec. 5-134. - License required.  

No owner shall allow any person to rent or lease, sublease or occupy any short-term rental as a 
tenant, renter, lessee, sublessee or otherwise, unless the owner has been issued a valid rental 
property license by the Town. Licenses are permitted in any zone district in the Town where 
residential occupancy is permitted, provided however, that no commercial space shall be used for 
a short-term rental. The short-term rental license must be renewed annually for every premises 
used as a short-term rental. A short-term rental license may be denied or revoked if the owner is 
not in compliance with the terms and conditions of license or any other applicable laws.  

Sec. 5-135. - Taxes.  

All owners of short-term rentals are required to collect and remit sales and other applicable taxes. 
Evidence of issuance of a state sales tax license number is required as a condition of the Town 
Manager's consideration of a short-term rental license application.  

Sec. 5-136. - Business license required.  



All owners of short-term rentals are required to possess a current Town business license for each 
short-term rental property. The business license must be renewed annually. Business license 
requirements under this Section shall conform to the requirements of Article II of this Chapter.  

Sec. 5-137. - License application; procedure; appeals.  

(a)  All owners of short-term rentals must obtain a short-term rental license . Conducting a short-
term rental without a valid license is a violation of this Article. A license application shall be 
provided by the Town, and an applicant shall provide the following information:  

(1)  Owner name, permanent address, and property address;  

(2)  Maximum occupancy of rental guests;  

(3)  Owner representative and contact information;  

(4)  Parking plan for guests indicating the manner in which the maximum permitted 
number of cars shall be parked so as to avoid any conflicts with neighboring properties or 
public right-of-way;  

(5)  Evidence of property and liability insurance;  

(6)  Proof of a valid business license;  

(7)  Proof of a valid sales tax license number;  

(8)  Proof of possession of the licensed premises; or  

(9)  If the applicant does not own the property where the licensed premises is located, the 
applicant must provide written documentation from the property owner allowing short-
term rentals on the licensed premises; and  

(10)  The license application fee set by the Board of Trustees.  

(11)  Other documents as required by the Town on its application form.  

(b)  Licenses are valid until December 31st of each year. The application fee shall be prorated 
on a monthly basis for any application filed for a license period commencing after January 1st 
Subject to the requirements of this Article, licenses may be revoked or renewed.  

(c)  Before issuing a short-term rental license, the applicant shall notify the Town Marshal and 
all owners of real property within one hundred fifty (150) feet of the proposed short-term rental 
property who shall be provided an opportunity to make comment on or object to the issuance of 
the license. The notice shall contain the property location, notice that the full application that may 
be copied and reviewed at the Town Hall, and notice that comments must be received within fifteen 
(15) days from the date on which the notice is given. The notice shall be posted on the property 
and at the Town Hall, and mailed at the applicant's expense.  

(d)  The Town Manager, after reviewing the license application and any public comments or 
objection shall approve, approve with conditions, renew, renew with conditions, deny, or revoke 
the short-term rental license. The Town Manager shall issue the decision within thirty (30) days 



after receiving a complete application and shall report all decisions at the next regular meeting of 
the Board of Trustees. A standard condition of approval shall be that the license, as issued, is 
temporary and conditional until the appeal period, as described in (e) below, has passed, or until 
any such appeal has been decided, whichever is later.  

(e) Either the applicant or a property owner within one hundred fifty (150) feet of the proposed 
short-term rental property may appeal the Town Manager's decision to issue, issue with conditions, 
renew, renew with conditions, revoke, or deny a short-term rental license. Such appeal shall be 
filed with the Town Clerk in writing within fifteen (15) days of the decision being reported to the 
Town Board and shall be heard by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall promptly 
hear and decide all appeals. The decision of the Town Manager (if not timely appealed) or the 
Board of Trustees (if appealed), is the final decision of the Town for purposes of judicial review.  

(f) All permitted short-term rentals are subject to inspection under Section 5-10 of this Code. 
Licenses may be revoked or not renewed by the Town Manager if license conditions and 
requirements are not met or if more than three (3) violations of license conditions or the 
requirements of this Chapter are found within any one (1) license year.  

(g) A short-term rental license is non-transferable and may be used only for the property for 
which it is issued. A short-term rental license is not transferrable upon the sale of the property.  

Sec. 5-138. - Limitations; renewal.  

(a) An owner shall file with the Town a written application for a short-term rental license at 
least sixty (60) days prior to rental of the property. For a property owner operating a short-term 
rental under a prior Town approval, the property owner shall file a written application for a new 
license under this Article within sixty (60) days of the ordinance's effective date.  

(b) The Town shall issue no more than sixty (60) short-term rental licenses. When the cap is 
reached, new license applications will be considered in order of the date received.  

(c) Licenses shall expire on December 31st of each year. To renew a license, Licensees shall 
apply to the Town on forms provided by the Town no later than November 1st of each year.  

(d) In considering issuance or renewal of a short-term rental license, the Town Manager or the 
Town Board, as appropriate, shall consider any conviction for a municipal code violation within 
the past year related to the property to be licensed.  

Sec. 5-139. - Local agent required.  

When the owner of a short-term rental property is not a natural person domiciled within El Paso 
or Teller County, Colorado, the owner shall appoint a natural person who is domiciled within either 
El Paso or Teller County, Colorado, to serve as the local agent of the owner for service of any 
notices related to the property or its license. An owner shall notify the Town in writing of any 
change in the appointment of a local agent within seven (7) days of such change.  

Sec. 5-140. - Fees.  

(a) Applicants for short-term rental licenses, or the renewal thereof, shall pay the fee as set by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees at the time of submitting an application.  



(b) A person wishing to appeal a decision of the Town Manager under this Article shall do so 
in writing to the Town Clerk and shall be the fee as set by resolution of the Town Board.  

Sec. 5-141. - Posting requirements.  

(a) An owner shall post the license, or a true copy thereof, conspicuously within the rental 
property for which such license has been issued.  

(b) An owner shall display its license number on the face of any advertisement. For purposes 
of this Section, the term "advertisement" means the act of drawing the public's attention to a short-
term rental in order to promote the availability of the short-term rental.  

Sec. 5-142. - Safety requirements.  

Each short-term rental shall comply at all times with all applicable building codes, standards and 
regulations.  

Sec. 5-143. - Enforcement.  

(a) It is unlawful to violate any provision this Article.  

(b) The Town may enforce the requirements of this Article by any or all of the following:  

(1) The Town Manager shall issue a warning letter to persons conducting a short-term 
rental without a license.  

(2) The Town Manager may revoke or refuse to renew a short-term rental license for 
any reason provided in this Article and may prohibit an owner from re-applying for a short-
term rental license for one (1) year following revocation or non-renewal.  

(3) Persons found of violating any provision of this Article shall be punished in 
Municipal Court as hereinafter provided; provided, that each separate act in violation of 
this Article, and each and every day or portion thereof during which any separate act in 
violation of this Article is committed, continued, or permitted, shall be deemed a separate 
offense.  

1. The Municipal Court may impose a civil penalty according to a schedule 
adopted by Resolution of the Board of Trustees, not to exceed four hundred and 
ninety-nine dollars ($499.00) per violation. Each day of violation shall constitute a 
separate offense; 

2. The Municipal Court may suspend a portion of the fine if the Court finds 
mitigating circumstances.  

(4) Any remedies provided for in this Article shall be cumulative and not exclusive and 
shall be in addition to any other remedies provided by law.  



CHAPTER 7 - Health, Sanitation and Animals 

ARTICLE I - Nuisances  

Sec. 76-1. - Nuisance defined- Declaration of nuisances.  

AnythingAny thing or activity which is injurious to the health or morals, indecentunreasonably 
annoys or offensive to the senses or an obstruction to the free use of property so as to interfereinterferes 
with the comfortableuse or enjoyment of life or property ispublic or private property or which 
constitutes a health or safety hazard, anything that violates the provisions of this Code, or anything 
declared to be a nuisance and as such by Town ordinance or by statutes or regulations of the State 
shall be abated.  in accordance with the provisions contained herein and, in addition, subject to the 
penalties provided for in Section 6-13. 

(Prior code 8-1-1) 

Sec. 76-2. - County Health Department powers.  

The County Health Department has the full power to take all measures necessary to promote the 
health and cleanliness, to abate all nuisances of every description on public and private property, to abate 
infectious diseases and to remove, detain, isolate or quarantine any person or persons attacked by or 
having any such disease or anyoneexposed thereto and to promulgate such rules and regulations as may 
be necessary to perform its functions. The County Health Department shall have the authority to enforce 
such rules of the Health Department of the State as are applicable to particular situations.  

(Prior code 8-1-2) 

Sec. 7-3. - Investigation.  

The Town Marshal is hereby authorized to investigate any matter at any place within the Town and 
which reasonably appears to be in violation of the provisions of this Chapter.  

(Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

Sec. 7-4. - Right of entry.  

(a)  Whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of this Chapter, or 
whenever the Town Marshal has reasonable cause to believe that there exists in any building or upon 
any premises any condition or violation which makes such building or premises unsafe, dangerous, 
hazardous, unsanitary or constitutes a nuisance, such officer may enter such premises at all 
reasonable times to inspect it or to perform any duty imposed upon the Town Marshal by this Chapter. 
If such building or premises are occupied, the Town Marshal shall first present proper credentials and 
request entry. If such building or premises are unoccupied, the Town Marshal shall first make a 
reasonable effort to locate the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant and request 
entry. If such entry is refused, the officer shall give the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee 
or occupant, or if the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant cannot be located after 
a reasonable effort, the officer shall post upon a conspicuous place upon the premises, a written notice 
of intent to inspect not sooner than twenty-four (24) hours after the time specified in the notice. The 
notice shall state that the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant has the right to 
refuse entry and that, in the event such entry is refused or the officer has been unable to obtain 
permission of the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant, inspection may be made 
only upon issuance of a search or inspection warrant by the Municipal Judge or by a judge of any other 
court having jurisdiction.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(b)  The Town Marshal may appear before the Municipal Judge and, upon a showing of probable cause, 
shall obtain a search warrant entitling such officer to enter the building or upon the premises, using 
such reasonable force as may be necessary to gain entry. The officer applying for such warrant shall 
not be required to demonstrate specific knowledge of the condition of the structure or premises at 
issue in order to obtain a search warrant, but must show some factual or practical circumstances that 
would cause an ordinary prudent person to act. The Municipal Judge shall have the power to issue 
search warrants pursuant to the Colorado Municipal Court Rules of Procedure, upon a showing of 
probable cause of the existence of such condition or nuisance.  

(c)  When the Town Marshal shall have first obtained a search warrant or other remedy provided by law 
to secure entry, no owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant shall fail or neglect, after 
proper request is made, to promptly permit entry by the Town Marshal for the purpose of inspection 
and examination pursuant to this Chapter.  

(d(a)  Whenever the Town has reasonable cause to believe a nuisance exists, an authorized 
representative of the Town may enter upon or into any lot or upon any property, building or 
premises, with the owner's or occupant's permission, to examine the same and to ascertain whether 
any such nuisance exists, and shall be free from any action or liability on account thereof.  If 
permission is denied, the Town shall obtain an order by the Municipal Judge or from a court of 
competent jurisdiction authorizing entry.  
 (b)  Whenever an emergency situation exists in relation to the enforcement of any of the 
provisions of this Chapter, the Town Marshal may enter into any building or upon any premises, 
using such reasonable force as may be necessary. An emergency situation includes any situation 
of imminent danger of loss of, or injury or damage to, life, limb or property, or threat to public 
safety. It is unlawful for any owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of the 
building or premises to deny entry to any officer or to resist reasonable force used by any officer 
acting pursuant to this Chapter.  

(Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

Sec. 7-56-3. - Notice of violation. and abatement.  

(a)  If, after investigation, the Town Marshal has reason to believe that a lot or parcel of land is 
being maintained in violation of this Chapter, the Town Marshal has the discretion to issue a verbal 
warning or a written notice of violation. A written notice shall either be served personally or be 
sent by first-class mail to the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of the 
property. If the written notice is sent by mail, the Town Marshal shall also cause the property where 
the violation of this Chapter is located to be posted in a conspicuous place visible from an adjacent 
public right-of-way. Such notice of violation shall state the date issued, the name of the person to 
whom the notice is issued, the address of the property, the violations cited and notice toset a date 
by which the owner must abate the violation forthwith and be signed by the issuing officer.  
(b)  In case of any such nuisance in or upon any street, alley, sidewalk, highway or public grounds in the 

Town, the Town Marshal may abate the same forthwith without such notice being given.  

(Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

(b) Sec. 7-6. - Issuance of summons and complaint.  

A summons and complaint may be issued to the person or persons named in the notice of violation 
unless satisfactory arrangements for an extension of time have been made with the Town Marshal.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

Sec. 7-7. - Declaration of nuisance by Board of Trustees.  

In the event that any such nuisance is not abated forthwith after the notice herein provided shall be 
given, the Board of Trustees may declare the same to be a nuisance and order the Town Marshal to 
abate the same without delay. The Town Marshal shall have the authority to call for the necessary 
assistance therefor.  

(Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

Sec. 7-8. - Right of Town to enter property, abate nuisance and bill owner for same.  

(a)  Upon the failure, neglect or refusal of the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or 
occupant of the property to remedy the circumstance being maintained in violation of this Chapter, 
the Town Marshal is hereby authorized to enter such property, after giving proper notice of 
violation as set forth in this Chapter, and to remedy the cited violation. The cost of such abatement 
plus an administrative fee of seventy-five dollars ($75.00) shall be collected from the record owner 
of such property and shall apply independently and in addition to the penalty provided for the 
violation of this Chapter.  
(bc)  In the event the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of such property 
fails to pay such costs of abatement within fifteen (15thirty (30) days after billing, a lien may be 
assessed against the property for such costs. The lien hereby created shall be superior and prior to 
other liens regardless of date, except for liens for general property taxes and special assessments. 
The Town Clerk shall certify to the County Treasurer the assessments which are not paid within 
twenty (20thirty (30) days after billing. Ten percent (10%) of the amount shall be added to the 
assessments to pay the cost of collection.  
(d)  In case of any such nuisance in or upon any street, alley, sidewalk, highway or public grounds 
in the Town, the Town may abate the same forthwith without such notice being given.  
(e) nothing set forth in this chapter shall be considered to be a prerequisite for commencing an 
action for such violation in municipal court.  

Sec. (Ord. 02-2008 §1) 

6-4Sec. 7-9. - Penalties.  

Whenever, in any Section of this Article or any regulation promulgated hereunder, the doing of any 
act is required, prohibited or declared to be unlawful and no definite fine or penalty is provided for a 
violation thereof, any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any such Section shall be punished 
pursuant to Section 1-72 of this Code.  

(Prior code 8-1-9) 

Sec. 7-10. - Junkyards and dumping grounds.  

All places used or maintained as junkyards or dumping grounds for the wrecking or 
disassembling of automobiles, trucks, tractors or machinery of any kind, for the storing or leaving 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"



of worn-out, wrecked or abandoned automobiles, trucks, tractors, trailers, boats, housetrailers or 
machinery of any kind or of any of the parts thereof, or for the storing or leaving of any machinery 
or equipment used by contractors, builders or other persons, which places are kept in such manner as 
to essentially interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property by others, arepersonsare hereby 
declared to be a nuisance.  

(Prior code 8-2-1) 

Sec. 7-116-5. - Discharge of nauseous liquids.  

It shall beis unlawful to discharge out of or from or permit to flow, from any house or place, 
foul or nauseous liquids or substances of any kind whatsoever into or upon any adjacent ground 
or lot or into any street, alley or public place in the Town.  

(Prior code 8-2-2) 

Sec. 7-126-6. - Stale matter.  

It shall beis unlawful to keep, collect or use or cause to be kept, collected or used in the 
Town any stale, putrid or stinking fat, grease or compost for a nonhousehold use and in a manner 
which threatens the health and welfare of the Town.  

(Prior code 8-2-3) 

Sec. 6-7-13. - Sewer inlet.  

It shall beis unlawful to deposit in or throw into any sewer, sewer inlet or privy vault that 
shall have a sewer connection any article whatsoever that might cause such sewer, sewer inlet or 
privy vault to become nauseous or offensive to others or injurious to public health.  

(Prior code 8-2-4) 

Sec. 7-14. - Slaughterhouse.  

No commercial slaughterhouse or other place for slaughtering animals shall be kept within this Town.  

(Prior code 8-2-5) 

6-8Sec. 7-15. - Dead animals; removal.  

When any animal shall die in this Town, it shall be the duty of the owner or keeper thereof 
to remove the body of such animal forthwith beyond the limits of the Town. If such body shall 
not forthwith be removed, the same shall be deemed a nuisance and such owner or keeper shall 
cause a nuisance to exist. When the body of any such dead animal shall be in any street, highway 
or public grounds in this Town, it shall be the duty of the Town Marshal to cause such body to be 
removed forthwith beyond the limits of the Town.  

(Prior code 8-2-6) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 7-166-9. - Stagnant ponds.  

Any cellar, vault, drain, sewer, pond of water or other place upon or within any private 
premises or grounds in the Town that shall be nauseous or offensive to others or injurious to public 
health through an accumulation or deposition of nauseous, offensive or foul water or other 
substances, shall be deemed a nuisance. This applies in all cases for which no other specific 
provisions are made in this Article or any other ordinance of the Town.  

(Prior code 8-2-7) 

Sec. 7-176-10. - Open wells, cisterns or excavations.  

It is hereby declared that excavations exceeding five (5) feet in depth, cisterns and wells or 
an excavation used for storage of water are public nuisances unless the same are adequately 
covered with a locked lid or other covering weighing at least sixty (60) pounds or are securely 
fenced with a solid fence to a height of at least five (5) feet, and it shall beis unlawful for any person 
to permit such nuisance to remain on the premises owned or occupied by him or her.  

(Prior code 8-2-8) 

Sec. 7-186-11. - Handbills, posters and placards.  

Any handbill, poster, placard or painted or printed matter which shall be stuck, posted or 
passed upon any public or private house, store or other building or upon any fence, power pole, 
telephone pole or other structure without the permission of the owner, agent or occupant of the 
house, shall be deemed a nuisance and may be abated as provided in this Chapter. 

Sec. .  

(Prior code 8-2-9) 

Sec. 7-19. - Additional provisions.  

The above enumerated provisions of this Article are in no way deemed to be exclusive and anything 
declared a nuisance under Section 7-1 shall be abated in accordance with the provisions contained 
therein and, in addition, subject to the penalties provided for in Section 7-9.  

(Prior code 8-2-10) 

Sec. 7-206-12. - Prohibiting discharge of sewage, effluent or contaminated matter  
(a)  It is unlawful to discharge or to permit or suffer the discharge of sewage, effluent or matter 
contaminated by sewage or effluent, either upon the surface of the ground or into any creek or 
waterway within the Town.  
(b)  The owners of any property where people live, work or congregate shall provide an adequate 
sewage disposal system in good working order and constructed, installed and maintained in 
accordance with rules adopted pursuant to Section 25-10-106, C.R.S., and this Article.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: p0, Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



(c)  The Marshal's Department shall have the authority to have a malfunctioning sewage disposal 
system pumped or repaired, with the expense to be charged to the property owner.  

(Ord. 2001-02 §1) 

Sec. 7-21. - Violation6-13. - Penalty.  

Whenever, in any Section of this Article or any regulation promulgated hereunder, the doing 
of any act is required, prohibited or declared to be unlawful and no definite fine or penalty is 
provided for a violation thereof, any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any such 
Section shall be punished pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute 
injunction, abatement or any other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any 
violation of this chapter in which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and 
attorney fees. Each day that such violation is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute 
a separate offense. The penalty fines for violations existing within Section 7-20 above shall be 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 2001-02 §2) 

Secs. 7-22—7-406-14—6-30. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Refuse  

Sec. 7-416-31. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:  
Refuse means and includes any grass clippings, leaves, hay, straw, manure, shavings, excelsior, 
paper, ashes, rubbish, containers, boxes, glass, cans, bottles, garbage, waste and discarded building 
and construction materials, including but not limited to plaster, broken concrete, bricks, cinder 
blocks, stones, wood, roofing material, wire, metal binding, sacks, loose, discarded or unused 
material, all rubbish of any kind or nature whatsoever and any other materials commonly known 
as rubbish or refuse of any kind or character or by any means known.  
Refuse container means any trash can, dumpster or similar device used for the collection and 
storage of solid waste or recyclable material with food or the scent of food.  
Wildlife means any nondomesticated mammal indigenous to the Ute Pass area, including but not 
limited to bear, deer, elk, raccoon, coyote, fox, skunk, bobcat, mountain lion and porcupine.  
Wildlife-proof enclosure means a fully enclosed structure capable of keeping wildlife out. The 
door shall have a latching device of sufficient design and strength to prevent access by wildlife.  
Wildlife-resistant refuse container means a fully enclosed rigid container with a rigid lid. The lid 
must have a latching mechanism, which limits access to the contents by wildlife. Plastic bags are 
not wildlife-resistant refuse containers.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §I) 

Sec. 7-426-32. - Accumulation and deposit of refuse; prohibited and declared nuisance.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(a) Any accumulation of refuse or deposit of any refuse other than in closed containers, on any 
premises, improved or unimproved, in the Town is prohibited and is hereby declared to be a 
nuisance. No person shall in any manner throw, place, scatter, deposit or bury, or set on fire or 
burn any refuse or other combustible materials, deposit refuse or waste materials or ashes in or 
upon any public street, alley or other public place or upon his or her own premises or the premises 
of another.   

(Prior code 10-1-2) 

Sec. 7-43. - Abatement.  

Whenever the Board of Trustees shall direct, the Town Clerk shall immediately thereafter notify any 
owner of property, his or her agent or any person having charge of such property, in writing, that an order 
has been made by the Board of Trustees requiring the removal of any accumulated refuse from such 
property or b) All refuse shall be removed periodically from all premises within fifteen (15) days 
after service of notice. If such property owner, agent or person having charge of such property shall not 
remove such refuse in accordance with the requirement of such order, the Board of Trustees may order 
that such refuse be removed by the Town Clerk or other agent of the Board of Trustees and assess the 
cost thereof against the property or premises. The amount so assessed shall be a lien upon such 
property until the same is paid; provided that, in case of failure to pay such assessment within ten (10) 
days after the same shall be made, the Town Clerk shall cause a notice of such assessment to be given 
to the owner of such property by publishing in a news-paper in general circulation in the Town for two (2) 
successive weeks, which publication shall contain a notice to such property owner of the amount 
assessed against his or her property and shall designate a time and place when the Board of Trustees 
will hear any objections as to the adjustment and corrections of the amount so assessed. If such 
assessment is not paid within ten (10) days after the time fixed for hearing such objections, and unless 
the same are sustained, the Town Clerk shall certify such assessment to the County Treasurer to be 
placed on the tax list for the current year, to be collected in the same manner as other taxes are collected, 
with ten percent (10%) penalty to defray the cost of collection as provided by the laws of the State.  

(Prior code 10-1-3) 

Sec. 7-44. - Accumulation and deposit of garbage prohibited.  

No person shall deposit or place any garbage, rubbish, waste material or ashes in other than closed 
containers or in such a manner that the same is or tends to become a nuisance or in such a manner as it 
endangers or tends to endanger the public health. No person shall in any manner throw, place, scatter, 
deposit or bury any garbage, rubbish, waste materials or ashes in or upon any public street, alley or other 
public placeor upon his or her own premises or the premises of another.  

(Prior code 10-1-4) 

Sec. 7-45. - Refuse not to be thrown in streets, vacant lots.  

No hay, straw, shavings, excelsior, paper or other combustible material, sod, lawn mowings, leaves, 
weeds, ashes, glass, bottles, broken glass, nails, tacks, wire, cans, rocks, stones or rubbish of any kind or 
nature whatsoever or any other refuse or material shall be thrown or swept into any street, sidewalk, 
gutter, sewer, intake, alley, vacant lot or other property.  

(Prior code 10-1-5) 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 7-46. - Responsibility of owners and lessees for refuse on premises.  

It shall be the duty of every person, whether owner, lessee or renter, of any vacant lot, in the Town 
so that the premises are clean and orderly at all times. All loose, discarded or unused building or 
premises, including any place of business, hotel, restaurant, dwelling house, apartment, tenement or any 
other establishment at all times to maintain the premises in a clean and orderly condition, permitting no 
deposit or accumulation of refuse or materials other than those ordinarily attendant upon the use for 
which such premises are legally intended. Any such accumulation shall constitute a nuisance and shall be 
nonconforming in the use of such premises.  

(Prior code 10-1-6) 

Sec. 7-47. - Building materials to be removed material from construction sites.  

All plaster, broken concrete, bricks, cinder blocks, stones, wood, roofing material, wire or metal 
binding, sacks or loose, discarded or unused material of any kind resulting from the wrecking, 
constructing or reconstructing of any room, basement, wall, fence, sidewalk or building shall be 
promptly removed or discarded in such a manner as not to be scattered about by the wind or 
otherwise and shall be removed by the person responsible for such work. Such person shall be held 
liable for any scattering of such refuse upon adjacent property.  

(Prior code 10-1-7) 

Sec. 7-48. - Removal of refuse from business required.  

Discarded automobile parts, stoves, furniture, wool, hides, junkyard refuse and packing house or 
slaughterhouse refuse shall be removed periodically from such respective establishments by the proprietor 
so that the premises are clean and orderly at all times. Silt and similar deposits from automobile wash racks 
shall be removed by the establishment creating such deposit. Any accumulation of refuse that is highly 
explosive or inflammable which might endanger life or property shall be removed to such places 
as approved by the Town Marshal or the Fire Chief, such removal to be handled by the 
establishments responsible therefor.  

(Prior code 10-1-8) 

Sec. 7-49. - Accumulation and use of manure.  

Other than a light spread of manure which may be applied on lawns or gardens for fertilizing 
purposes, manure shall not be kept on any property for any purpose or kept in any place for an alternative 
use, but shall be either plowed under or removed by the owner, occupant or agent.  

(Prior code 10-1-9) 

Sec. 7-50. - Burning of garbage and waste material.  

No person shall set on fire or burn any garbage, rubbish or waste material or any hay, grass 
clippings or other combustible materials except waste paper in any ash pit or other receptacle or upon the 
ground. Any such act is a nuisance because of smoke and odor.  

(Prior code 10-1-10) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



Sec. 7-516-33. - Wildlife-resistant refuse containers or enclosures required.  

Except for a container which has a minimum of seven (7) days per week pickup, any refuse 
container, regardless of size, including construction site containers that receives, between the dates 
of April 1 and the last day of November, inclusive, refuse which is edible by bears or other wildlife, 
shall be kept closed and secure in either:  

(l)  An approved wildlife-proof enclosure or;  
(2)  A wildlife-resistant refuse container which is stored within a building, house, garage 
or approved wildlife-proof enclosure.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-52. - Maintenance and operation of wildlife-resistant refuse containers and wildlife-proof 
enclosures.  

(a)  Wildlife-resistant refuse containers and wildlife-proof enclosures must be kept closed and secure 
when refuse is not being deposited.  

(b)   If a container or enclosure is damaged, allowing access by wildlife, repairs must be made 
within one (1) week after written notification by the Marshal's office or Town Clerk is received.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-536-34. - Residential refuse disposal.  

(a)  Residents with curbside pickup shall place their refuse containers outside only on the 
morning of pickup. After pickup, the containers must be stored inside the home, garage or wildlife-
proof enclosure by 9:00 p.m.  
(b)  Plastic bags are not considered an acceptable container for refuse edible by wildlife.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-546-35. - Special event refuse disposal.  

Outdoor special event sites shall be kept free from the accumulation of refuse edible by 
wildlife. Refuse must be collected from the grounds at the close of each day's activities and shall 
be deposited in wildlife-proof enclosures or be removed to an appropriate disposal site.   
Sec. 6-36. - Penalty.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-55. - Construction site refuse disposal.  

All construction sites must have a designated container that receives refuse edible by wildlife. This 
container shall be either a wildlife-proof enclosure or a wildlife-resistant container that is securely stored 
inside a trailer, building or a wildlife-proof enclosure.  

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: list1

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-56. - Enforcement.  

(a)  The Marshal's Department may issue a summons and complaint to any person in violation of this 
Chapter.  

(b)  The Marshal's Department shall have the right to inspect property concerning a potential wildlife 
attractant.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Sec. 7-57. - Penalty.  

The penalty fines for violations existing within this Section shall be established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §II) 

Any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any Section hereunder shall be 
punished pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or 
any other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation of this chapter in 
which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and attorney fees. Each day that such 
violation is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate offense subject to the 
penalties provided for in Section 6-13. 
Secs. 7-58—7-706-37—6-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Weeds and Brush  

Sec. 7-716-51. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Article, the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings, 
unless the context indicates otherwise:  

(1)  Brush means any unsightly, useless, troublesome or injurious volunteer growth of 
bushes or shrubbery, which shall include all cuttings from said bushes and shrubbery.  
(2)  Weed means any unsightly, useless, troublesome or injurious herbaceous plant 
including, but not limited to, those undesirable plants commonly known as leafy spurge, 
diffuse knapweed, Russian knapweed and spotted knapweed.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 7-72. - Designation of Undesirable Plant Management Advisory Commission.  

The Board of Trustees is appointed to act as the Undesirable Plant Management Advisory 
Commission for the Town and shall have the duties and responsibilities as provided by state statute.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1)  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



Editor's note— Section 35-5.5-101, C.R.S., establishes the requirements for undesirable plant 
management in the State. 

Sec. 7-736-52. - Declaration of nuisance and removal.  

(a) Any weeds or brush found growing in any lot or tract of land in the Town is hereby declared 
to be a nuisance, and it shall beis unlawful to permit any such weeds or brush to grow or remain in 
any such place.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 7-74. - Duty of property owner to cut.  

(b) It shall be the duty of each and every person owning, occupying or possessing any lots, 
tracts or parcels of land within the Town to cut to the ground all weeds and brush when said weeds 
and brush grow to a height of twelve (12) inches or more.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 7-75. - Removal from Town.  

(c) All weeds and brush cut in accordance with Section 7-74 hereof shall, immediately upon 
being cut, be removed from the Town or otherwise entirely destroyed by the owner of the lot 
upon which the weeds and brush have been cut.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 7-76—7-906-53—6-70. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Animals  

Sec. 7-916-71. - Definitions.  

Whenever in this Chapter the words hereinafter defined or construed in this Section are 
used, they shall, unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the following meanings:  
(1)  Animal Control Officer means the person, persons, firm, club, association, partnership, 
society, corporation or other organization employed or appointed by the Town to carry out and 
enforce the provisions of this Article.  
(2)  At large means:  

a.  Off the premises of the owner, other than on or within a vehicle, and not under the 
control of the owner or a member of his or her immediate family or other competent, 
responsible and/or authorized person by means of a restraining device which keeps the 
animal within ten (10) feet of the controlling party; or  

b.  Creating a nuisance, including but not necessarily limited to, trespassing on private property, 
jumping on, snapping at or otherwise threatening persons or other animals, causing litter by 

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



overturning trash cans or similar misbehavior, defecating on property not the owner's and by 
similar actions of a dangerous and/or damaging nature.  

(3(3) Exotic Animal means an animal that is not a household pet or livestock, is wild in nature 
and may or may not have the ability to inflict bodily harm on humans, including, without 
limitation, snakes in excess of four feet in length.  
(4)  Owner means any person or persons, firm, association, club, corporation, partnership, 
society or any other organization owning, keeping, possessing or harboring animals, or designated 
in such capacity by the owner as hereinafter set forth.  
(45)  Vicious animal means any animal that, unprovoked, bites or attacks persons or other 
animals, either on public or private property, or in a vicious or terrorizing manner approaches any 
person in an apparent attitude of attack upon the streets, sidewalks or any public ground or place.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-926-72. - Running at large prohibited.  

It shall beis unlawful for any owner of any animal to permit the same to run at large within 
the Town.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-936-73. - Impoundment of animals running at large; costs.  

If any animal shall be found running at large, it is hereby made the duty of the Animal Control 
Officer to take up and impound the animal at the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region at the owner's 
expense. An animalmay be impounded and shall not be released until any and all applicable charges 
for the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region and for the Town, as established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees, are paid.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 5-1989 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-946-74. - Disposition and/or adoption of impounded animals.  

If the owner or person entitled to the possession of an animal does not pay any and all 
applicable charges and claim the animal within three (3) calendar days of the date of impoundment, 
the policies and procedures of the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region for disposition, 
including placement for adoption will be followed.  

(Ord. 5-1989 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-95. - Grazing upon public thoroughfare.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to picket, lead or hold any horse, cattle or other livestock on or 
along any street, sidewalk or alley or for any person to picket, lead or hold any horse, cattle or other 
livestock in any manner as to obstruct or impede the full use of said streets, sidewalks or alleys.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



Sec. 7-96. - Hitching animal to public and private property.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to tether or hitch any animal in or upon the streets or other public 
places of the Town or upon the private property of other persons without the permission of the property 
owners.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-976-75. - Cruelty to animals.  

(a) It shall beis unlawful for any person to overdrive, overload, drive when overloaded or 
overwork any animal, cruelly beat, cruelly mutilate or torture any animal, needlessly shoot at, 
wound, capture or in any other manner needlessly molest, injure or kill any animal, or carry, 
transport or keep in a cruel manner any animal, or to cause any of these acts to be done.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

(b) Having the charge and custody of any animal, it is unlawful to fail to provide it with proper 
food, drink or protection from the weather, or abandon it.  

Sec. 7-986-76. - Improper care of animals prohibited.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person owning or keeping an animal to fail to provide it with 
proper food, drink and protection from the weather, with adequate space consistent with normal 
requirements and habits of the animal's size, species and breed, or otherwise neglect to provide 
necessary care of any animal or to cause any of these acts to be done.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person owning or keeping any animal to keep it under conditions 
where its enclosure is overcrowded, unclean or unhealthy, or to cause any of these conditions. An 
enclosure is unclean when it contains more than one (1) day's elimination of each animal enclosed 
therein.  
(c)  It shall beis unlawful for any person owning or keeping any animal to fail to provide proper 
and necessary medical care to said animal when it is injured or in need of said care.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-99. - Abandonment of animals.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to abandon any animal or to cause such to be done.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-1006-77. - Animal fighting prohibited.  

It shall beis unlawful for a person to keep, cause, sponsor, arrange, hold or encourage a 
fight between animals for any purpose.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 7-101. - Supply6-78. - Limit on number of food to enclosed animals.  

In case any animal or animals shall be at any time enclosed or confined and shall continue to be 
without necessary food or water more than twelve (12) consecutive hours, it shall be lawful for any 
person, from time to time and as often as it shall be necessary, to enter into or upon any such enclosure 
in which any such animal or animals shall be confined and supply it with necessary food and water so 
long as it shall remain so confined. Such person shall not be liable to any action for such entry, and the 
reasonable cost of such feed and water may be collected by him or her of the owner of such animal.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-102. - Poisoning/trapping animals prohibited.  

(a)  No person shall poison or distribute poison in any manner with the intent to poison any animal.  

(b)  No person shall use, set, place, maintain or tend any leg-hold trap. The Animal Control Officer shall 
confiscate any leg-hold trap found in violation of this Subsection.  

(c)  No person shall use, set, place, maintain or tend any mechanical trap which is designed or used to 
capture or kill any animal.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-103. - Frightening, shooting, killing, trapping, molesting birds.  

It shall be unlawful for any person at any time within the Town to frighten, shoot at, wound, kill, take, 
capture, ensnare, net, trap or in any other manner molest or injure any bird or in any manner molest or 
injure the nest, young or body of any bird.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-104. - Animals prohibited.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to keep, maintain, possess or harbor within the town mules, 
donkeys, burros, llamas, cattle, sheep, goats, camels, oxen, alpacas, hogs, potbellied pigs, chickens, 
geese, ducks, guinea fowl, or turkeys.  

(b)  It shall be unlawful for any person to keep, maintain, possess or harbor within the corporate limits of 
the Town any living exotic, wild, dangerous or unusual animals including but not limited to poisonous 
reptiles, cougars, cheetahs, bears, skunks, raccoons, wolves, foxes, coyotes, chimpanzees, 
orangutans or any bird which has received State or Federal government designation as an endangered 
species.  

(c)  Regulations regarding possession of dogs can be found in Article 5 of this Chapter. Regulations 
regarding possession of horses can be found in Article 6 of this Chapter. Possession of other typical 
domestic, household animals, such as rabbits, guinea pigs, hamsters, fish, and other similar pets, may 
be permitted at the discretion of the property owner and in conformance with this Code. Nothing herein 
will prevent the Town from enforcing the provisions of this Code, including, but not limited to, Article 
1—Nuisances and Article 4—Animals.  

(d(a) It is unlawful for any resident in the Town to have more than the following number of each 
type of pet unless the residence is licensed as a kennel pursuant to this Code, or unless the 
maximum number is exceeded by pets of less than six months of age:  

 (1) Dogs: four.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



 (2) Cats: four.  

 (3) Rabbits: six.  

 (4) Pot-bellied pigs: three.  

 (5) Ferrets: three 

 (6) Reptiles (non-exotic): four.  

 (7) Hens: six.  

 (8) Horses: two.  

(b) It is unlawful to keep, own, harbor or allow to run free any exotic animal or any livestock 
of a type not listed above within the Town.  

(c)  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, use of 
animals otherwise prohibited may be allowed by special use permit from the Town pursuant to 
Section 16-710 for commercial purposes, subject to such conditions and restrictions as may be 
imposed by the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I; Ord. No. 9-1-2015A, § 1, 9-1-2015) 

Sec. 7-105. - Rabbits restrained.  

It shall be unlawful for any person keeping, maintaining, possessing or harboring within the Town 
any hares or rabbits to fail to keep the same securely enclosed in a pen or building or to permit the same 
to run at large or to go on the premises of another.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-106. - Injured animals.  

In the case of discovering an injured animal, the owner shall be contacted by the Animal Control 
Officer immediately. If the owner cannot be contacted or is not known, the Animal Control Officer shall 
take such injured animal to a licensed veterinarian, with the understanding that the release of said injured 
animal to a veterinarian incurs no financial responsibility on the part of the Town. Said veterinarian shall 
make the determination to treat the injured animal or, if necessary, to humanely dispose of said animal. 
Any costs incurred will be the responsibility of the owner, if found.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-107. - Dead animals.  

When any animal dies in the Town, no person owning or keeping it shall fail to remove the body of 
such animal from the Town or dispose of it in a lawful and sanitary manner.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-1086-79. - Removal of animal excrement.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



The owner, possessor or keeper of any animal that defecates upon public or private property 
belonging to another shall pick up and remove the feces immediately and properly dispose of such 
feces in accordance with Health Department regulations.. Failure to comply with this Section 
constitutes a violation of this Code.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-1096-80. - Noisy animals.  

It is unlawful to harbor or keep any animal which disturbs the peace by unreasonable 
sounds at any time of the day or night.  

(Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Sec. 7-110. - Notice or knowledge of violation of Article not necessary for prosecution of owner.  

For the purpose of prosecution for violations of this Article, it shall not be necessary, in order to 
obtain a conviction, to prove notice or knowledge on the part of the owner of the animal in question that 
such animal was violating any of the provisions of this Article at the time and place charged, it being the 
purpose and intent of this Article to impose strict liability upon the owner of any animal for the actions, 
conduct and condition of the animal.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §I) 

Secs. 7-111—7-1296-81—6-100. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Dogs  

Sec. 7-1306-100. - Definitions.  

Dog means any domesticated animal of the species Canis familaris, or other species of the family 
Canidae over three (3) months of age.  

(Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-1316-101. - License required.  

It is unlawful to own, keep or harbor a dog within the Town unless the same is licensed by 
securing a license for such dog from the Town Clerk on or before January 31 of each year or within 
thirty (30) days after the dog reaches the age of three (3) months. Dogs purchased, obtained or 
otherwise acquired subsequent to January 31 in any calendar year shall be licensed within thirty 
(30) days after becoming such residents to secure a license hereunder. Said license shall be issued 
by the Town Clerk upon application stating the name, breed, color and sex of the dog, and name, 
address and phone number of the owner and upon production of satisfactory evidence that such 
dog has been inoculated against rabies pursuant to prevailing standards of the Colorado 
Department of Public Health or other controlling agency, and upon payment of the license fee.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 7-1326-102. - License fee.  

The annual license fees for dogs within the Town shall be established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-1336-103. - License tag and collar.  

Upon compliance with Section 7-1316-101, the Town Clerk shall issue to the owner of the 
dog a numbered metallic tag, stamped with the number and the year for which issued. Such tag 
shall be securely fastened to said dog's choke chain, collar or harness and must be worn by the dog 
at all times.  

Sec. (Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-134. - Tag to be worn only by licensed dogs.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to affix to the collar or harness of any dog, or permit to remain so 
affixed, a tag evidencing licensing and rabies inoculation except the dog tag issued to that dog at the time 
of issuance of its license or inoculation.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-135. - Records of issuance; duplicated; transfers.  

The Town Clerk shall keep a record of the date of issue of each dog tag provided for in this Article, 
the person to whom such tag is issued and the number thereof. If said tag is lost or destroyed, a duplicate 
tag may be obtained from the Town Clerk upon payment of a fee as established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees. In the event that the ownership or possession of a dog is changed, a new dog tag 
must be obtained, and such new dog tag shall be issued by the Town Clerk upon proof being presented 
that the inoculation and licensing requirements in this Article have been met and upon the payment of a 
fee as established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-136.6-104. - Impoundment generally.  

(a)  It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to impound any dog which is not wearing 
a dog tag as herein provided. It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to impound any dog 
at large.  It shall be lawful for the officer to go upon private property for the purpose of catching 
any dog to be impounded. The Town shall provide notice of impoundment to the owner of such 
dog, if the owner is known, or shall cause notice of impoundment to be posted at the Town 
Marhsal’s office to be posted for seventy-two (72) hours. 
(b)  In the event a dog running at large is not impounded or cannot be caught to be impounded and the 

identity of the owner of such dog is known, the Animal Control Officer or citizen may cite such owner 
in Municipal Court to answer to charges of code violation.  

(c(b)  It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to take any impounded animal to the 
Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-137. - Filing of complaint against dog owner.  

If a dog is impounded, it shall be the duty of the Animal Control Officer to immediately institute 
proceedings on behalf of the Town against the owner of such dog, if known, charging the owner with a 
violation of the appropriate section of this Article. Nothing herein contained shall be construed as 
preventing the Animal Control Officer or any citizen from instituting proceedings for violation of this Article 
where there is no impoundment.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-138. - Notice to owner of dog.  

As soon as practical after the date of impoundment, the Animal Control Officer shall, by regular mail 
or posting at the owner's address in a conspicuous place, give written notice of such impoundment to the 
owner of such dog, if the address of such owner is known. If the address cannot be determined, the 
officer shall cause the notice of impoundment to be posted at the Town Marshal's office for seventy-two 
(72) hours. Whether the notice herein provided is mailed or posted, it shall describe the dog, set forth, the 
date of impoundment and set forth location from which the dog was taken up and the impoundment 
location.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-139. - Procedure for release of impounded dog.  

(c) An impounded dog shall not be released until all applicable fees and penalties, including 
rabies inoculation fees, are paid to all agencies involved. If the dog does not have a Town license, 
said license shall be obtained from the Town Clerk within seventy-two (72) hours after release.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-140. - Refusal of owner to retrieve impounded dog.  

(d) The failure or refusal to retrieve any impounded dog by the owner of said animal shall not 
relieve the person of the duty to pay the impoundment fee and other charges, including medical 
costs, which have been assessed. It shall beis unlawful for the owner of any dog to fail or refuse to 
pay such fees and charges.  

Sec. (Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-141. - Disposal of dog whose owner cannot be located.  

If the owner of an impounded dog cannot be found, disposal of said dog shall be accomplished 
according to procedures set forth by the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 5-1989 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-142. - Redemption fees.  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Tab stops: 
0.44", Left

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold



Any owner of an impounded dog shall pay the Town applicable fees as established by resolution of 
the Board of Trustees, plus any and all license or rabies inoculation fees provided for in this Article, plus 
any impound fees charged by the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region. It shall be unlawful for the 
owner or any animal to fail or refuse to pay such fees and charges.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-143. - Muzzling and confinement of dogs during rabies danger; impoundment of dogs not 
confined or muzzled.  

Whenever it becomes necessary to safeguard the public from the dangers of hydrophobia, the Mayor 
shall have the authority to issue a proclamation ordering every owner of any dog within the Town to 
confine it securely unless such dog shall have a muzzle of sufficient strength to prevent it from biting any 
person. It shall be the duty of the Animal Control Officer and all police officers of the Town to take up and 
impound any dog that may be found during the time so designated by the Mayor as aforesaid, unless 
muzzled or confined as herein provided.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-144.6-105. - Female dogs in heat.  

Any unspayed female dog, while in heat or suspected of being in heat, shall be securely 
confined during such period in the owner's yard, pen or other enclosure. Such yard, pen or other 
enclosure shall be so constructed or situated so as to prevent other dogs from gaining access.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-1456-106. - Vicious dogs.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to own, keep, possess or harbor within the Town a 
vicious dog, as defined in Section 7-91(4). It shall be the duty of the Animal Control Officer to 
impound any dog which is vicious. In the event a vicious dog cannot be caught, without the officer 
exposing himself or herself to danger or personal injury from such dog, it shall be lawful for the 
officer to forthwith destroy such dog without notice to the owner thereof.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-1466-107. - Confinement of biting dogs.  

(a)  The owner of any dog which has bitten or is suspected of having bitten any person, or which 
is suspected of having rabies, shall notify the Animal Control Officer.  
(b)  Any dog which has bitten or is suspected to have bitten any person or which is suspected of 
having rabies shall be confined upon order of the Animal Control OfficerTown for a period of ten 
(10) days for observation. Such dog shall either be confined at the residence of the owner, if such 
confinement can be accomplished without exposing such dog to the public or, at the option of the 
Animal Control OfficerTown, such dog shall be confined at the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak 
Region or a private veterinary hospital at the expense of the owner. It shall beis unlawful for any 
owner of such dog to permit such dog during confinement to come into contact with the public.  

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. (Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-147. - Number of dogs allowed per household.  

It shall be unlawful to keep, maintain, harbor or possess upon the premises of any one (1) household 
more than two (2) dogs, except that if any household keeps, maintains or harbors three (3) licensed dogs 
at the time of passage of this Article (April, 1996), the same three (3) dogs may be maintained upon the 
premises without being in violation of this Section.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-148.6-108. - Barking dogs prohibited.  

No person owning or keeping a dog shall fail to prevent such dog from disturbing the peace 
and quiet of any other person within the Town by loud, and/or persistent barking, baying, howling, 
fighting, yiping, crying, yelping or whining, whether the animal is on or off the owner's or keeper's 
premises.  

Sec. (Ord. 94-03 §I; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-149. - Barking dog; warning required.  

(a)  No6-109. - Penalty.  

 Any person who shall be charged withconvicted of a violation of any Section 7-148 unless a 
written warning has been givenhereunder shall be punished pursuant to the dog ownerSection 1-
42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or the person keeping the dog 
by the Animal Control Officer within the twelve-month period immediately preceding the date of the 
allegedany other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation.  

(b)  The Animal Control Officer shall issue a written warning after receiving a complaint, investigating the 
complaint of this chapter in which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and 
determiningattorney fees. Each day that the peace and quiet of the complainant has been disturbed. 
Complainants must make a written complaint when reporting an alleged such violation including 
name, address and telephone number and must sign the complaint.  

(c)  A warning is sufficient if it recites Section 7-148 and states that a written complaint has been received 
that a dog owned by said person or being kept by said person is disturbing the peace of an individual.  

(d)  A warning is given under this is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate 
offense subject to the penalties provided for in Section if it is personally given to the person owning 
or keeping the dog or if it is mailed first class to such person. The Marshal's Department shall keep all 
records of warnings given, and such records are prima facie evidence that such warnings were given. 6-
13. 

(Ord. 94-03 §II; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Sec. 7-150. - Penalty.  

The penalty fines for violations existing within this Section shall be established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(Ord. 94-03 §IV; Ord. 96-01 §II) 

Secs. 7-151—7-1606-110—6-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Horses  

Sec. 7-1616-121. - Property size requirements.  

Within the Town, horses shall be kept on property which is two and one-half (2 ½) acres 
or larger in size, provided that said animals are fenced back from the property line a minimum of 
ten (10) feet and that all other applicable requirements herein provided are satisfied, except for any 
horse with a permit issued prior to the passage of this Article (April 1996).  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Sec. 7-1626-122. - Enclosures.  

Horses shall be kept in a suitable fenced enclosure, corral or pen in which said animals 
shall be restrained, providing a minimum area of one thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet 
per animal. Said enclosure, corral or pen or any shelter, shed, stable or barn in which horses are 
housed shall be located a minimum distance of seventy-five (75) feet from any neighboring house, 
dwelling or place of business.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Sec. 7-163. - Sanitation.  

The premises upon which horses are kept shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. 
Manure or excrement and straw or bedding shall be removed from enclosures, corrals, pens, shelters, 
stables or barns on a regular basis and shall be temporarily stored at the farthest possible and 
reasonable point upon the property from any house, dwelling, place of business or natural water course. 
Said manure or excrement and straw or bedding shall be removed from Town at least once every week. It 
is the responsibility of the owner of the horses to take whatever actions may be necessary to insure that 
the premises upon which said animals are kept do not become a hazard to public health or welfare due to 
excessive flies, vermin or odor. Said premises shall be subject to inspection by the Animal Control Officer.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Sec. 7-1646-123. - Permit required; fee.  

A permit shall be required for an individual household to keep horses within the Town. 
Upon receiving an application for said permit, the Town Clerk shall request the Animal Control 
Officer to inspect the proposed premises to determine if the requirements provided in this Article 
are satisfied by the applicant. If said requirements are satisfied, a permit shall be issued for one 
(1) calendar year, expiring on January 31 of each year, for which a fee as established by 
resolution of the Board of Trustees shall be charged. The permit is not transferable and shall be 
issued only for the horse listed in the application procedure. If, at any time the premises upon 
which horses are kept fail to satisfy the requirements of this Article, said permit may be revoked 
by the Board of Trustees.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Sec. 7-165. - Number of horses per household.  

It shall be unlawful to keep, maintain or possess upon the premise of any one (1) household more 
than two (2) horses.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Sec. 7-166. - Stable, commercial.  

It shall be unlawful to keep, maintain or possess upon any premises a commercial stable business.  

(Ord. 2-1985 §II; Ord. 96-01 §III) 

Secs. 7-167—7-1806-124—6-135. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Wildlife  

Sec. 7-1816-136. - Feeding of wildlife.  

(a)  No person shall knowingly leave or store any refuse, food product, pet food, grain or salt in 
a manner which would constitute a lure to, attraction to or enticement of wildlife.  
(b)  Bird feeders are allowed. However, between the dates of April 1 and the last day of 
November, all feeders must be suspended on a cable or other device so that they are inaccessible 
to bears and other large mammals. In addition, the area below the feeders must be kept free from 
the accumulation of debris.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §III) 

Sec. 7-1826-137. - Penalty.  

The penalty fines for violations existing within this Article shall be established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 02-2004 §III) 

Any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any Section hereunder shall be punished 
pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or any other 
appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation of this chapter in which event 
the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and attorney fees. Each day that such violation is 
committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate offense subject to the penalties 
provided for in Section 7-9.  

Secs. 7-183—7-2006-138—6-145. - Reserved 

ARTICLE VIII - Trees  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



Sec. 7-2016-146. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is:  
(1)  To provide for the abatement of nuisance trees on public and private property and to 
develop a healthy urban forest and park system of diverse tree species to protect against 
potential pest and disease problems.  
(2)  To encourage effective management of said forest through public education on 
mitigation of wildfire hazards; encourage the creation of defensible space around property 
structures; and maintain public education towards the goal of a healthy, urban forest in 
order to maintain the natural beauty of the Town.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-2026-147. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Chapter, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations 
shall have the meanings given in this Section:  
Infestation control shall mean the process defined herein whereby infested trees may be cut, as per 
recognized Colorado State Forest Service procedures and policies.  
Insect infestation shall mean trees which are infested with mountain pine beetles, Douglas fir 
beetles, the ips beetle, western spruce budworm or other pestilence, such as dwarf mistletoe, which 
endangers the well-being of trees.  
Nuisance trees are defined as trees which pose a threat to public safety or adjacent public property, 
including but not limited to public rights-of-ways or trees which harbor any destructive or 
communicable disease or other pestilence which endangers the well-being of other trees in the 
Town or which are capable of causing an epidemic spread of insect infestation.  
Private trees means any and all trees growing on private property within the Town limits after the 
effective date of the ordinance from which this section or successor sections derives and which are 
not defined or designated in this Article as public trees.  
Public right-of-way means a portion of property reserved for public use and accepted for such use 
by the Town to provide circulation and travel to abutting properties, including but not limited to 
streets, alleys, sidewalks, provisions for public utilities, cut-and-fill slopes and open public spaces.  
Public trees means all trees growing on any public rights-of-way or any public property owned by 
the Town on or after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this Article or its successor 
ordinances. This does not include public utility easements.  
Public utility easement means a portion of land designated for any public, private or cooperatively 
owned line, facility or system for producing, transmitting or distributing communications, power, 
electricity, light, heat, gas, oil products, water or stormwater, which directly or indirectly serves 
the public or any part thereof within the corporate limits of the Town.  
Tree topping means the severe cutting back of limbs to stubs larger than three (3) inches in 
diameter within the tree's crown to such a degree as to remove the normal canopy and disfigure 
the tree.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-203. - Applicability.  

The Board of Trustees shall have exclusive power and authority over all trees, plants and shrubs 
located within public rights-of-way and public property of the Town, and over trees, plants and shrubs 
located on private property that constitute a nuisance as described herein.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-204. - Administration.  

The Town Clerk is hereby appointed to administer and implement this Article. The Town Clerk is 
authorized to investigate any place within the Town which reasonably appears to be in violation of the 
provisions of this Chapter, including the right to enter upon any premises at any reasonable time to make 
an inspection for the purpose of enforcing this Article.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-2056-148. - Trees on public property.  

(a) Except as provided herein, it shall beis unlawful for any person to engage in tree topping in 
or upon public rights-of-way or other public property within the Town. Trees severely damaged 
by storms or other causes, or trees which pose an imminent threat to property or to public safety 
such that other pruning practices are impractical, may be exempted from this Section at the 
discretion of the Town Clerk. No tree on public property shall be pruned, transplanted, or removed 
without written permission from the Town Clerk.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

(b) Any tree located on Town property in the immediate vicinity of any excavation, demolition 
or construction site of any building, structure or utilities work, which has potential for injury, shall 
be protected from such injury utilizing procedures recommended by the Colorado State Forest 
Service or recognized natural resource professional.  
Sec. 7-2066-149. - Control of nuisance trees, private property.  

(a)  Duty to trim trees. The owner, agent, manager, lessee, tenant or occupant of any lot or tract 
of land shall remove or otherwise control any nuisance tree as defined herein, located on such 
property.  
(b)  Upon the discovery of a nuisance tree, the Town Clerk shall cause written notice of violation 
to be served, either personally or by certified mail, to the record owner of the property or to his or 
her agent, manager, tenant, lessee or occupant of the premises. Such notice of violation shall state the 
date issued, the name of the person to whom the notice is issued, the address of the property, the violation 
involved and a time limit of fifteen (15) days given to remove or correct the cause of such violation, and be 
signed by the issuing official of the Town. If the person to be served cannot be determined or located within 
a reasonable period of time, not to exceed fifteen (15) days, or if a notice which has been mailed is returned 
undelivered, the Town Clerk shall cause the property where the violation of this Article is located to be 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



posted in a conspicuous place visible from an adjacent public right-of-way. Such sign shall be posted for a 
minimum of five (5) days, after which time the notice requirements of this Section shall be deemed complete.  
(c)  If, after fifteen (15) days from the date of issuance of the notice of violation of this Article, 
the violation has not been corrected, a summons and complaint may be issued to the person named 
in the notice of violation unless satisfactory arrangements for an extension of time have been made 
with the Town Clerk.. Upon the failure to cut, remove and/or remediate any tree being maintained 
in violation of this Article, the Town is hereby authorized to cause the cutting, removal and/or 
remediation of such tree at the owner's cost in addition to an administrative expense and penalty 
provided for violation of this Article.   
Sec. (d)  Upon the failure or refusal of the record owner, agent, manager, tenant, lessee or occupant to 

cut, remove and/or remediate any tree being maintained in violation of this Article, the Town Clerk is 
hereby authorized to enter such property, after giving proper notice as required herein, and to cause 
the cutting, removal and/or remediation of such tree. The cost of cutting, removal and/or remediation, 
plus an administrative expense in an amount as may be established by resolution of the Town, shall 
be collected from the record owner of such property, in addition to the penalty provided for violation of 
this Article.  

(e)  In the event the record owner or agent of the owner of such property fails to pay such costs of cutting, 
removal and/or remediation of such trees, together with the administrative expense established 
pursuant to this Article, within thirty (30) days after billing, a lien may be assessed against the property 
for such costs. The lien thereby created shall be superior and prior to other liens regardless of date, 
except for liens for general property taxes and special assessments. The Town Clerk shall certify to 
the County Treasurer the assessments which are not paid within thirty (30) days after billing. Ten 
percent (10%) of the amount shall be added to the assessments to pay the cost of collection.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-207. - Control of nuisance trees, public property.  

The Town Clerk is directed by the Board of Trustees, and upon review of the budget for such activity, 
to take appropriate action to remediate nuisance trees located on public property by causing the same to 
be removed, or by taking other remedial action as recommended by the Colorado State Forest Service or 
recognized natural resource professional.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-208. - Abuse or mutilation of public trees.  

It is unlawful for any person to prune, transplant or remove any tree on public property without 
obtaining approval from the Town Clerk.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Sec. 7-209. - Protection of public trees near construction activities.  

Any tree located on Town property in the immediate vicinity of any excavation, demolition or 
construction site of any building, structure or utilities work, which has potential for injury, shall be 
protected from such injury utilizing procedures recommended by the Colorado State Forest Service or 
recognized natural resource professional.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



Sec. 7-210.6-150. - Penalty.  

Persons who fail to comply with any notice issued pursuant to any provision of this Article 
and convicted of a violation of provisions within this Code shall be subject to a fine. In addition, 
the Municipal Judge may order the defendant to remove the diseased or nuisance trees within a 
specified period of time. The penalty fines for violations existing within this Section shall be 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 03-2006 §I)  

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



CHAPTER 7 - Health, Sanitation and Animals 

ARTICLE I - Nuisances  

Sec. 6-1. - Declaration of nuisances.  

Any thing or activity which unreasonably annoys or interferes with the use or enjoyment of 
public or private property or which constitutes a health or safety hazard, anything that violates the 
provisions of this Code, or anything declared to be a nuisance by Town ordinance or by statutes 
or regulations of the State shall be abated in accordance with the provisions contained herein and, 
in addition, subject to the penalties provided for in Section 6-13. 
Sec. 6-2. - Right of entry.  

(a)  Whenever the Town has reasonable cause to believe a nuisance exists, an authorized 
representative of the Town may enter upon or into any lot or upon any property, building or 
premises, with the owner's or occupant's permission, to examine the same and to ascertain whether 
any such nuisance exists, and shall be free from any action or liability on account thereof.  If 
permission is denied, the Town shall obtain an order by the Municipal Judge or from a court of 
competent jurisdiction authorizing entry.  
 (b)  Whenever an emergency situation exists in relation to the enforcement of any of the 
provisions of this Chapter, the Town may enter into any building or upon any premises, using such 
reasonable force as may be necessary. An emergency situation includes any situation of imminent 
danger of loss of, or injury or damage to, life, limb or property, or threat to public safety. It is 
unlawful for any owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of the building or 
premises to deny entry to any officer or to resist reasonable force used by any officer acting 
pursuant to this Chapter.  
Sec. 6-3. - Notice of violation and abatement.  

(a)  If, after investigation, the Town has reason to believe that a lot or parcel of land is being 
maintained in violation of this Chapter, the Town has the discretion to issue a verbal warning or a 
written notice of violation. A written notice shall either be served personally or be sent by first-
class mail to the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of the property. If the 
written notice is sent by mail, the Town shall also cause the property where the violation of this 
Chapter is located to be posted in a conspicuous place visible from an adjacent public right-of-
way. Such notice of violation shall state the date issued, the name of the person to whom the notice 
is issued, the address of the property, the violations cited and set a date by which the owner must 
abate the violation and be signed by the issuing officer.  
(b) Upon the failure, neglect or refusal of the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or 
occupant of the property to remedy the circumstance being maintained in violation of this Chapter, 
the Town is hereby authorized to enter such property, after giving proper notice of violation as set 
forth in this Chapter, and to remedy the cited violation. The cost of such abatement plus an 
administrative fee shall be collected from the record owner of such property and shall apply 
independently and in addition to the penalty provided for the violation of this Chapter.  
(c)  In the event the owner or the owner's agent, manager, lessee or occupant of such property 
fails to pay such costs of abatement within thirty (30) days after billing, a lien may be assessed 
against the property for such costs. The lien hereby created shall be superior and prior to other 



liens regardless of date, except for liens for general property taxes and special assessments. The 
Town Clerk shall certify to the County Treasurer the assessments which are not paid within thirty 
(30) days after billing. Ten percent (10%) of the amount shall be added to the assessments to pay 
the cost of collection.  
(d)  In case of any such nuisance in or upon any street, alley, sidewalk, highway or public grounds 
in the Town, the Town may abate the same forthwith without such notice being given.  
(e) nothing set forth in this chapter shall be considered to be a prerequisite for commencing an 
action for such violation in municipal court.  
Sec. 6-4. - Junkyards and dumping grounds.  

All places used or maintained as junkyards or dumping grounds for the wrecking or 
disassembling of automobiles, trucks, tractors or machinery of any kind, for the storing or leaving 
of worn-out, wrecked or abandoned automobiles, trucks, tractors, trailers, boats, housetrailers or 
machinery of any kind or of any of the parts thereof, or for the storing or leaving of any machinery 
or equipment used by contractors, builders or other personsare hereby declared to be a nuisance.  
Sec. 6-5. - Discharge of nauseous liquids.  

It is unlawful to discharge out of or from or permit to flow, from any house or place, foul 
or nauseous liquids or substances of any kind whatsoever into or upon any adjacent ground or lot 
or into any street, alley or public place in the Town.  
Sec. 6-6. - Stale matter.  

It is unlawful to keep, collect or use or cause to be kept, collected or used in the Town any 
stale, putrid or stinking fat, grease or compost for a nonhousehold use and in a manner which 
threatens the health and welfare of the Town.  
Sec. 6-7. - Sewer inlet.  

It is unlawful to deposit in or throw into any sewer, sewer inlet or privy vault that shall 
have a sewer connection any article whatsoever that might cause such sewer, sewer inlet or privy 
vault to become nauseous or offensive to others or injurious to public health.  
Sec. 6-8. - Dead animals; removal.  

When any animal shall die in this Town, it shall be the duty of the owner or keeper thereof to 
remove the body of such animal forthwith beyond the limits of the Town. If such body shall not 
forthwith be removed, the same shall be deemed a nuisance and such owner or keeper shall cause 
a nuisance to exist. When the body of any such dead animal shall be in any street, highway or 
public grounds in this Town, it shall be the duty of the Town to cause such body to be removed 
forthwith beyond the limits of the Town.  
Sec. 6-9. - Stagnant ponds.  

Any cellar, vault, drain, sewer, pond of water or other place upon or within any private 
premises or grounds in the Town that shall be nauseous or offensive to others or injurious to public 
health through an accumulation or deposition of nauseous, offensive or foul water or other 
substances, shall be deemed a nuisance. This applies in all cases for which no other specific 
provisions are made in this Article or any other ordinance of the Town.  



Sec. 6-10. - Open wells, cisterns or excavations.  

It is hereby declared that excavations exceeding five (5) feet in depth, cisterns and wells or 
an excavation used for storage of water are public nuisances unless the same are adequately 
covered with a locked lid or other covering weighing at least sixty (60) pounds or are securely 
fenced with a solid fence to a height of at least five (5) feet, and it is unlawful for any person to 
permit such nuisance to remain on the premises owned or occupied by him or her.  
Sec. 6-11. - Handbills, posters and placards.  

Any handbill, poster, placard or painted or printed matter which shall be stuck, posted or 
passed upon any public or private house, store or other building or upon any fence, power pole, 
telephone pole or other structure without the permission of the owner, agent or occupant of the 
house, shall be deemed a nuisance and may be abated as provided in this Chapter. 
Sec. 6-12. - Prohibiting discharge of sewage, effluent or contaminated matter  
(a)  It is unlawful to discharge or to permit or suffer the discharge of sewage, effluent or matter 
contaminated by sewage or effluent, either upon the surface of the ground or into any creek or 
waterway within the Town.  
(b)  The owners of any property where people live, work or congregate shall provide an adequate 
sewage disposal system in good working order and constructed, installed and maintained in 
accordance with rules adopted pursuant to Section 25-10-106, C.R.S., and this Article.  
(c)  The Town shall have the authority to have a malfunctioning sewage disposal system pumped 
or repaired, with the expense to be charged to the property owner.  
Sec. 6-13. - Penalty.  

Whenever, in any Section of this Article or any regulation promulgated hereunder, the doing 
of any act is required, prohibited or declared to be unlawful and no definite fine or penalty is 
provided for a violation thereof, any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any such 
Section shall be punished pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute 
injunction, abatement or any other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any 
violation of this chapter in which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and 
attorney fees. Each day that such violation is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute 
a separate offense.  
Secs. 6-14—6-30. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Refuse  

Sec. 6-31. - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:  
Refuse means and includes any grass clippings, leaves, hay, straw, manure, shavings, excelsior, 
paper, ashes, rubbish, containers, boxes, glass, cans, bottles, garbage, waste and discarded building 
and construction materials, including but not limited to plaster, broken concrete, bricks, cinder 
blocks, stones, wood, roofing material, wire, metal binding, sacks, loose, discarded or unused 
material, yard waste, tree waste, biological or non-biological waste, all rubbish of any kind or 



nature whatsoever and any other materials commonly known as rubbish or refuse of any kind or 
character or by any means known.  
Refuse container means any trash can, dumpster or similar device used for the collection and 
storage of solid waste or recyclable material with food or the scent of food.  
Wildlife means any nondomesticated mammal indigenous to the Ute Pass area, including but not 
limited to bear, deer, elk, raccoon, coyote, fox, skunk, bobcat, mountain lion and porcupine.  
Wildlife-proof enclosure means a fully enclosed structure capable of keeping wildlife out. The 
door shall have a latching device of sufficient design and strength to prevent access by wildlife.  
Wildlife-resistant refuse container means a fully enclosed rigid container with a rigid lid. The lid 
must have a latching mechanism, which limits access to the contents by wildlife. Plastic bags are 
not wildlife-resistant refuse containers.  
Sec. 6-32. - Accumulation and deposit of refuse; prohibited and declared nuisance.  

(a) Any accumulation of refuse or deposit of any refuse, including yard and tree waste, other 
than in closed containers, on any premises, improved or unimproved, in the Town is prohibited 
and is hereby declared to be a nuisance. No person shall in any manner throw, place, scatter, 
deposit or bury, or set on fire or burn any refuse or other combustible materials, deposit refuse or 
waste materials or ashes in or upon any public street, alley or other public place or upon his or her 
own premises or the premises of another.   
(b) All refuse shall be removed periodically from all premises in the Town so that the premises 
are clean and orderly at all times. All loose, discarded or unused building material from 
construction sites shall be promptly removed or discarded by the person responsible for such work.  
Any accumulation of refuse that is highly explosive or inflammable which might endanger life or 
property shall be removed to such places as approved by the Town or the Fire Chief, such removal 
to be handled by the establishments responsible therefor. 
Sec. 6-33. - Wildlife-resistant refuse containers or enclosures required.  

Except for a container which has a minimum of seven (7) days per week pickup, any refuse 
container, regardless of size, including construction site containers that receives, between the dates 
of April 1 and the last day of November, inclusive, refuse which is edible by bears or other wildlife, 
shall be kept closed and secure in either:  

(l)  An approved wildlife-proof enclosure or;  
(2)  A wildlife-resistant refuse container which is stored within a building, house, garage 
or approved wildlife-proof enclosure.  

 If a container or enclosure is damaged, allowing access by wildlife, repairs must be made 
within one (1) week after written notification by the Marshal's office or Town is received. 
Sec. 6-34. - Residential refuse disposal.  

(a)  Residents with curbside pickup shall place their refuse containers outside only on the 
morning of pickup. After pickup, the containers must be stored inside the home, garage or wildlife-
proof enclosure by 9:00 p.m.  
(b)  Plastic bags are not considered an acceptable container for refuse edible by wildlife.  



Sec. 6-35. - Special event refuse disposal.  

Outdoor special event sites shall be kept free from the accumulation of refuse edible by 
wildlife. Refuse must be collected from the grounds at the close of each day's activities and shall 
be deposited in wildlife-proof enclosures or be removed to an appropriate disposal site.   
Sec. 6-36. - Penalty.  

Any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any Section hereunder shall be 
punished pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or 
any other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation of this chapter in 
which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and attorney fees. Each day that such 
violation is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate offense subject to the 
penalties provided for in Section 6-13. 
Secs. 6-37—6-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Weeds and Brush  

Sec. 6-51. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Article, the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings, 
unless the context indicates otherwise:  

(1)  Brush means any unsightly, useless, troublesome or injurious volunteer growth of 
bushes or shrubbery, which shall include all cuttings from said bushes and shrubbery.  
(2)  Weed means any unsightly, useless, troublesome or injurious herbaceous plant 
including, but not limited to, those undesirable plants commonly known as leafy spurge, 
diffuse knapweed, Russian knapweed and spotted knapweed.  

Sec. 6-52. - Declaration of nuisance and removal.  

(a) Any weeds or brush found growing in any lot or tract of land in the Town is hereby declared 
to be a nuisance, and it is unlawful to permit any such weeds or brush to grow or remain in any 
such place.  

(b) It shall be the duty of each and every person owning, occupying or possessing any lots, 
tracts or parcels of land within the Town to cut to the ground all weeds and brush when said weeds 
and brush grow to a height of twelve (12) inches or more 

(c) All weeds and brush cut in accordance with Section 7-74 hereof shall, immediately upon 
being cut, be removed from the Town or otherwise entirely destroyed by the owner of the lot 
upon which the weeds and brush have been cut.  

Secs. 6-53—6-70. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Animals  

Sec. 6-71. - Definitions.  



Whenever in this Chapter the words hereinafter defined or construed in this Section are 
used, they shall, unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the following meanings:  
(1)  Animal Control Officer means the person, persons, firm, club, association, partnership, 
society, corporation or other organization employed or appointed by the Town to carry out and 
enforce the provisions of this Article.  
(2)  At large means:  

Off the premises of the owner, other than on or within a vehicle, and not under the control 
of the owner or a member of his or her immediate family or other competent, responsible 
and/or authorized person by means of a restraining device which keeps the animal within 
ten (10) feet of the controlling party; or  

(3) Exotic Animal means an animal that is not a household pet or livestock, is wild in nature 
and may or may not have the ability to inflict bodily harm on humans, including, without 
limitation, snakes in excess of four feet in length.  
(4)  Owner means any person or persons, firm, association, club, corporation, partnership, 
society or any other organization owning, keeping, possessing or harboring animals, or designated 
in such capacity by the owner as hereinafter set forth.  
(5)  Vicious animal means any animal that, unprovoked, bites or attacks persons or other animals, 
either on public or private property, or in a vicious or terrorizing manner approaches any person 
in an apparent attitude of attack upon the streets, sidewalks or any public ground or place.  
Sec. 6-72. - Running at large prohibited.  

It is unlawful for any owner of any animal to permit the same to run at large within the 
Town.  
Sec. 6-73. - Impoundment of animals running at large; costs.  

If any animal shall be found running at large, may be impounded and shall not be released 
until any and all applicable charges are paid.  
Sec. 6-74. - Disposition and/or adoption of impounded animals.  

If the owner or person entitled to the possession of an animal does not pay any and all 
applicable charges and claim the animal within three (3) calendar days of the date of impoundment, 
the policies and procedures of the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region for disposition, 
including placement for adoption will be followed.  
Sec. 6-75. - Cruelty to animals.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person to overdrive, overload, drive when overloaded or overwork 
any animal, cruelly beat, cruelly mutilate or torture any animal, needlessly shoot at, wound, capture 
or in any other manner needlessly molest, injure or kill any animal, or carry, transport or keep in a 
cruel manner any animal, or to cause any of these acts to be done.  

(b) Having the charge and custody of any animal, it is unlawful to fail to provide it with proper 
food, drink or protection from the weather, or abandon it.  

Sec. 6-76. - Improper care of animals prohibited.  



(a)  It is unlawful for any person owning or keeping an animal to fail to provide it with adequate 
space consistent with normal requirements and habits of the animal's size, species and breed, or 
otherwise neglect to provide necessary care of any animal or to cause any of these acts to be done.  
(b)  It is unlawful for any person owning or keeping any animal to keep it under conditions where 
its enclosure is overcrowded, unclean or unhealthy, or to cause any of these conditions. An 
enclosure is unclean when it contains more than one (1) day's elimination of each animal enclosed 
therein.  
(c)  It is unlawful for any person owning or keeping any animal to fail to provide proper and 
necessary medical care to said animal when it is injured or in need of said care.  
Sec. 6-77. - Animal fighting prohibited.  

It is unlawful for a person to keep, cause, sponsor, arrange, hold or encourage a fight 
between animals for any purpose.  
Sec. 6-78. - Limit on number of animals.  

(a) It is unlawful for any resident in the Town to have more than the following number of each 
type of pet unless the residence is licensed as a kennel pursuant to this Code, or unless the 
maximum number is exceeded by pets of less than six months of age:  

 (1) Dogs: four.  

 (2) Cats: four.  

 (3) Rabbits: six.  

 (4) Pot-bellied pigs: three.  

 (5) Ferrets: three 

 (6) Reptiles (non-exotic): four.  

 (7) Hens: six.  

 (8) Roosters: zero/one 

 (9) Horses: two.  

(b) It is unlawful to keep, own, harbor or allow to run free any exotic animal or any livestock 
of a type not listed above within the Town.  

(c)  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code, use of 
animals otherwise prohibited may be allowed by special use permit from the Town pursuant to 
Section 16-710 for commercial purposes, subject to such conditions and restrictions as may be 
imposed by the Board of Trustees.  
Sec. 6-79. - Removal of animal excrement.  



The owner, possessor or keeper of any animal that defecates upon public or private property 
belonging to another shall pick up and remove the feces immediately and properly dispose of such 
feces. Failure to comply with this Section constitutes a violation of this Code.  
Sec. 6-80. - Noisy animals.  

It is unlawful to harbor or keep any animal which disturbs the peace by unreasonable 
sounds at any time of the day or night.  
Secs. 6-81—6-100. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Dogs  

Sec. 6-100. - Definitions.  

Dog means any domesticated animal of the species Canis familaris, or other species of the family 
Canidae over three (3) months of age.  
Sec. 6-101. - License required.  

It is unlawful to own, keep or harbor a dog within the Town unless the same is licensed by 
securing a license for such dog from the Town on or before January 31 of each year or within thirty 
(30) days after the dog reaches the age of three (3) months. Dogs purchased, obtained or otherwise 
acquired subsequent to January 31 in any calendar year shall be licensed within thirty (30) days 
after becoming such residents to secure a license hereunder. Said license shall be issued by the 
Town upon application stating the name, breed, color and sex of the dog, and name, address and 
phone number of the owner and upon production of satisfactory evidence that such dog has been 
inoculated against rabies pursuant to prevailing standards of the Colorado Department of Public 
Health or other controlling agency, and upon payment of the license fee.  
Sec. 6-102. - License fee.  

The annual license fees for dogs within the Town shall be established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  
Sec. 6-103. - License tag and collar.  

Upon compliance with Section 6-101, the Town shall issue to the owner of the dog a 
numbered metallic tag, stamped with the number and the year for which issued. Such tag shall be 
securely fastened to said dog's choke chain, collar or harness and must be worn by the dog at all 
times.  
Sec. 6-104. - Impoundment generally.  

(a)  It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to impound any dog which is not wearing 
a dog tag as herein provided. It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to impound any dog 
at large.  It shall be lawful for the officer to go upon private property for the purpose of catching 
any dog to be impounded. The Town shall provide notice of impoundment to the owner of such 
dog, if the owner is known, or shall cause notice of impoundment to be posted at the Town 
Marhsal’s office to be posted for seventy-two (72) hours. 
(b)  It shall be lawful for the Animal Control Officer to take any impounded animal to the 
Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region.  



(c) An impounded dog shall not be released until all applicable fees and penalties, including 
rabies inoculation fees, are paid to all agencies involved. If the dog does not have a Town license, 
said license shall be obtained from the Town within seventy-two (72) hours after release.  
(d) The failure or refusal to retrieve any impounded dog by the owner of said animal shall not 
relieve the person of the duty to pay the impoundment fee and other charges, including medical 
costs, which have been assessed. It is unlawful for the owner of any dog to fail or refuse to pay 
such fees and charges.  
Sec. 6-105. - Female dogs in heat.  

Any unspayed female dog, while in heat or suspected of being in heat, shall be securely 
confined during such period in the owner's yard, pen or other enclosure. Such yard, pen or other 
enclosure shall be so constructed or situated so as to prevent other dogs from gaining access.  
Sec. 6-106. - Vicious dogs.  

It is unlawful for any person to own, keep, possess or harbor within the Town a vicious 
dog, as defined in Section 7-91(4). It shall be the duty of the Animal Control Officer to impound 
any dog which is vicious. In the event a vicious dog cannot be caught, without the officer exposing 
himself or herself to danger or personal injury from such dog, it shall be lawful for the officer to 
forthwith destroy such dog without notice to the owner thereof.  
Sec. 6-107. - Confinement of biting dogs.  

(a)  The owner of any dog which has bitten or is suspected of having bitten any person, or which 
is suspected of having rabies, shall notify the Animal Control Officer.  
(b)  Any dog which has bitten or is suspected to have bitten any person or which is suspected of 
having rabies shall be confined upon order of the Town for a period of ten (10) days for 
observation. Such dog shall either be confined at the residence of the owner, if such confinement 
can be accomplished without exposing such dog to the public or, at the option of the Town, such 
dog shall be confined at the Humane Society of the Pikes Peak Region or a private veterinary 
hospital at the expense of the owner. It is unlawful for any owner of such dog to permit such dog 
during confinement to come into contact with the public.  
Sec. 6-108. - Barking dogs prohibited.  

No person owning or keeping a dog shall fail to prevent such dog from disturbing the peace 
and quiet of any other person within the Town by loud, and/or persistent barking, baying, howling, 
fighting, yiping, crying, yelping or whining, whether the animal is on or off the owner's or keeper's 
premises.  
Sec. 6-109. - Penalty.  

 Any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any Section hereunder shall be 
punished pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or 
any other appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation of this chapter in 
which event the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and attorney fees. Each day that such 
violation is committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate offense subject to the 
penalties provided for in Section 6-13. 



Secs. 6-110—6-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Horses  

Sec. 6-121. - Property size requirements.  

Within the Town, horses shall be kept on property which is two and one-half (2 ½) acres 
or larger in size, provided that said animals are fenced back from the property line a minimum of 
ten (10) feet and that all other applicable requirements herein provided are satisfied, except for any 
horse with a permit issued prior to the passage of this Article (April 1996).  
Sec. 6-122. - Enclosures.  

Horses shall be kept in a suitable fenced enclosure, corral or pen in which said animals 
shall be restrained, providing a minimum area of one thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet 
per animal. Said enclosure, corral or pen or any shelter, shed, stable or barn in which horses are 
housed shall be located a minimum distance of seventy-five (75) feet from any neighboring house, 
dwelling or place of business.  
Sec. 6-123. - Permit required; fee.  

A permit shall be required for an individual household to keep horses within the Town. 
Upon receiving an application for said permit, the Town shall request the Animal Control Officer 
to inspect the proposed premises to determine if the requirements provided in this Article are 
satisfied by the applicant. If said requirements are satisfied, a permit shall be issued for one (1) 
calendar year, expiring on January 31 of each year, for which a fee as established by resolution of 
the Board of Trustees shall be charged. The permit is not transferable and shall be issued only for 
the horse listed in the application procedure. If, at any time the premises upon which horses are 
kept fail to satisfy the requirements of this Article, said permit may be revoked by the Board of 
Trustees
Secs. 6-124—6-135. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Wildlife  

Sec. 6-136. - Feeding of wildlife.  

(a)  No person shall knowingly leave or store any refuse, food product, pet food, grain or salt in 
a manner which would constitute a lure to, attraction to or enticement of wildlife.  
(b)  Bird feeders are allowed. However, between the dates of April 1 and the last day of 
November, all feeders must be suspended on a cable or other device so that they are inaccessible 
to bears and other large mammals. In addition, the area below the feeders must be kept free from 
the accumulation of debris.  
Sec. 6-137. - Penalty.  

Any person who shall be convicted of a violation of any Section hereunder shall be punished 
pursuant to Section 1-42 of this Code. The Town may institute injunction, abatement or any other 
appropriate action to prevent, enjoin, abate or remove any violation of this chapter in which event 
the Town shall be entitled to recover court costs and attorney fees. Each day that such violation is 



committed or permitted to continue shall constitute a separate offense subject to the penalties 
provided for in Section 7-9.  

Secs. 6-138—6-145. - Reserved 

ARTICLE VIII - Trees  

Sec. 6-146. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Article is:  
(1)  To provide for the abatement of nuisance trees on public and private property and to 
develop a healthy urban forest and park system of diverse tree species to protect against 
potential pest and disease problems.  
(2)  To encourage effective management of said forest through public education on 
mitigation of wildfire hazards; encourage the creation of defensible space around property 
structures; and maintain public education towards the goal of a healthy, urban forest in 
order to maintain the natural beauty of the Town.  

Sec. 6-147. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this Chapter, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations 
shall have the meanings given in this Section:  
Infestation control shall mean the process defined herein whereby infested trees may be cut, as per 
recognized Colorado State Forest Service procedures and policies.  
Insect infestation shall mean trees which are infested with mountain pine beetles, Douglas fir 
beetles, the ips beetle, western spruce budworm or other pestilence, such as dwarf mistletoe, which 
endangers the well-being of trees.  
Nuisance trees are defined as trees which pose a threat to public safety or adjacent public property, 
including but not limited to public rights-of-ways or trees which pose a fire hazard, harbor any 
destructive or communicable disease or other pestilence which endangers the well-being of other 
trees in the Town or which are capable of causing an epidemic spread of insect infestation.  
Private trees means any and all trees growing on private property within the Town limits after the 
effective date of the ordinance from which this section or successor sections derives and which are 
not defined or designated in this Article as public trees.  
Public right-of-way means a portion of property reserved for public use and accepted for such use 
by the Town to provide circulation and travel to abutting properties, including but not limited to 
streets, alleys, sidewalks, provisions for public utilities, cut-and-fill slopes and open public spaces.  
Public trees means all trees growing on any public rights-of-way or any public property owned by 
the Town on or after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this Article or its successor 
ordinances. This does not include public utility easements.  
Public utility easement means a portion of land designated for any public, private or cooperatively 
owned line, facility or system for producing, transmitting or distributing communications, power, 
electricity, light, heat, gas, oil products, water or stormwater, which directly or indirectly serves 
the public or any part thereof within the corporate limits of the Town.  



Tree topping means the severe cutting back of limbs to stubs larger than three (3) inches in 
diameter within the tree's crown to such a degree as to remove the normal canopy and disfigure 
the tree.  
Sec. 6-148. - Trees on public property.  

(a) Except as provided herein, it is unlawful for any person to engage in tree topping in or upon 
public rights-of-way or other public property within the Town. Trees severely damaged by storms 
or other causes, or trees which pose an imminent threat to property or to public safety such that 
other pruning practices are impractical, may be exempted from this Section at the discretion of the 
Town. No tree on public property shall be pruned, transplanted, or removed without written 
permission from the Town.  

(b) Any tree located on Town property in the immediate vicinity of any excavation, demolition 
or construction site of any building, structure or utilities work, which has potential for injury, shall 
be protected from such injury utilizing procedures recommended by the Colorado State Forest 
Service or recognized natural resource professional.  
Sec. 6-149. - Control of nuisance trees, private property.  

(a)  Duty to trim trees. The owner, agent, manager, lessee, tenant or occupant of any lot or tract 
of land shall remove or otherwise control any nuisance tree as defined herein, located on such 
property.  
(b)  Upon the discovery of a nuisance tree, the Town shall cause written notice of violation to be 
served, either personally or by certified mail, to the record owner of the property or to his or her 
agent, manager, tenant, lessee or occupant of the premises.  
(c)  If, after fifteen (15) days from the date of issuance of the notice of violation of this Article, 
the violation has not been corrected, a summons and complaint may be issued to the person named 
in the notice of violation unless satisfactory arrangements for an extension of time have been made 
with the Town. Upon the failure to cut, remove and/or remediate any tree being maintained in 
violation of this Article, the Town is hereby authorized to cause the cutting, removal and/or 
remediation of such tree at the owner's cost in addition to an administrative expense and penalty 
provided for violation of this Article.   
Sec. 6-150. - Penalty.  

Persons who fail to comply with any notice issued pursuant to any provision of this Article 
and convicted of a violation of provisions within this Code shall be subject to a fine. In addition, 
the Municipal Judge may order the defendant to remove the diseased or nuisance trees within a 
specified period of time. The penalty fines for violations existing within this Section shall be 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

 



CHAPTER 8 - Vehicles and Traffic 

ARTICLE I - Model Traffic Code  

Sec. 8-1. - Adoption.  

Pursuant to Parts 1 through 16, inclusive,C.R.S. § 31-15-103 and Parts 18 and 19 of Article 16 of Title 
31 and Part 4 of Article 15 of Title 30, C.R.SC.R.S. § 31-16-201, et seq., there is hereby adopted by 
reference the 20102020 edition of the Model Traffic Code for Colorado, promulgated and 
published as such by the Colorado Department of Transportation, Safety and Traffic Engineering 
Branch, 4201 East Arkansas Avenue, EP 700, Denver, CO 80222., as amended by Section 8-2 
below. The subject matter of the Model Traffic Code relates primarily to comprehensive traffic 
control regulations for the Town. The purpose of this Article and the Code adopted herein is to 
provide a system of traffic regulations generally conforming to similar regulations throughout the 
State and the nation. One (1) copy of the Model Traffic Code adopted herein shall be filed in the 
office of the Town Clerk and may be inspected during regular business hours.  

(Ord. 01-2012 §1) 

Sec. 8-2. - DeletionsAmendments.  

The 20102020 edition of the Model Traffic Code is adopted as if set out at length save and except 
the following articles and/or sections which are declared to be inapplicable to this municipality and are 
therefore expressly deleted: Part 17, Penalties and Procedures.additions, deletions or modifications:  
(Ord. 01-2012 §1)a)  

Sec. 8-3. - Additions or modifications.  

Section 1101(2) is amendedmodified to read as follows:  
"Speed limits within the Town are set at 25 mph on Ute Pass Avenue and Green Mountain 
Falls Road and 20 mph on all other streets unless otherwise posted, as defined in Section 8-
54 of the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code."  

(Ord. 01-2012 §1) 

(b) Part 17, Penalties and Procedures is deleted in its entirety.  
Sec. 8-43. - Application.  

This Article shall apply to every street, alley, sidewalk area, driveway and park and to every other 
public way, public place or public parking area, either within or outside the corporate limits of this 
municipality, the use of which this municipality has jurisdiction and authority to regulate. The 
provisions of Sections 1401, 1402, 1413 and Part 16 of the adopted Model Traffic Code, 
respectively concerning reckless driving, careless driving, eluding a police officer and accidents 
and accident reports shall apply not only to public places and ways but also throughout this 
municipality.  

(Ord. 03-2003 §5) 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



Sec. 8-5. - Interpretation.  

This Article shall be so interpreted and construed as to effectuate its general purpose to conform with 
the State's uniform system for the regulation of vehicles and traffic. Article and section headings of this 
Article and the adopted Model Traffic Code shall not be deemed to govern, limit, modify or in any manner 
affect the scope, meaning or extent of the provision of any article or section thereof.  

(Ord. 03-2003 §8) 

4Sec. 8-6. - Certification.  

The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage of the ordinance codified herein and make not less than 
three (3) copies of the adopted code available for inspection by the public during regular business hours.  

(Ord. 03-2003 §9) 

Sec. 8-7. - Four-way stop signs; Hotel Street and Ute Pass Avenue.  

(a)  Four-way stop signs shall be installed at the intersection of Hotel Street and Ute Pass Avenue in the 
Town and traffic shall be regulated and controlled by said stop signs. All vehicles shall be required to 
stop at the intersection of Hotel Street and Ute Pass Avenue before proceeding.  

(b)  The Maintenance Department and the Marshal's Department shall be and hereby are directed to 
cooperate in the installation and maintenance of said stop signs, and the Marshal's Department is 
hereby directed to enforce the lawful requirement that vehicles stop at the intersection of Hotel Street 
and Ute Pass Avenue prior to proceeding through said intersection.  

(Ord. 6-1982) 

Sec. 8-8. - Speed limits for all streets.  

(a)   Speed limits within the Town shall be set at 25 mph on Ute Pass Avenue and Green 
Mountain Falls Road and 20 mph on all other streets, unless otherwise posted.  
(b)   Signs containing the general speed limit of 2520 mph shall be placed at both entrances to 
the Town.  

(Ord. 9-1988) 

Sec. 8-95. - Civil and criminal violations, right to jury trial, and penalties.  

(a)  (a) It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of this Chapter or of 
the Model Traffic Code for Colorado, as adopted by the Town of Green Mountain Falls.  It is a 
criminal traffic offense for any person to violate any of the following provisions of the 2010 Edition 
of the Model Traffic Code for Colorado as adopted, and from time to time modified, by the Town 
of Green Mountain Falls:, where the offense is deemed a misdemeanor traffic offense under the 
Model Traffic Code or by counterpart State law.   

(1)  When the person is arrested and charged with an offense under this code causing or contributing 
to an accident resulting in injury or death to any person;  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(2)  When the person is arrested upon a charge of failure to stop in the event of an accident causing 
death, personal injuries, or damage to property;  

(3)  Reckless driving;  

(4)  Exceeding the speed limit by more than twenty-four (24) miles per hour;  

(5)  Exhibition of speed or speed contest;  

(6)  In any other event when the provisions of Part 17 of the 2010 Edition of the Model Traffic Code 
for Colorado apply and the person arrested refuses to give his or her written promise to appear 
in court as provided in Section 1707.  

(b)   Except for those violations classified as criminal traffic offenses pursuant to Subsection (a) 
of this Section, all violations of this Chapter or of the 2010 Edition Model Traffic Code for Colorado, 
as adopted by the Town of Green Mountain Falls, are hereby classified as noncriminal traffic 
infractions which shall be deemed to be civil matters. The Colorado Municipal Court Rules of 
Procedure shall apply to proceedings in which the defendant is charged with such noncriminal 
traffic infractions, except that no warrant for arrest shall be issued for the defendant's failure to 
appear when the only violation charged would constitute a noncriminal traffic infraction. Instead, 
the court may enter a judgment of liability by default against the defendant for any such failure to 
appear; assess any penalty and costs established by law; and report the judgment to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Motor Vehicle Division, which may assess points against the defendant's 
driving privileges and may deny an application for or renewal of the defendant's driver's license 
until the judgment and all other lawful costs are satisfied. Further, no writ of mittimus shall issue 
where the only basis for the fine and costs imposed was the finding of guilty or liability for a 
noncriminal traffic infraction.  
(c)   Any defendant charged with a criminal traffic offense, as defined in Subsection (a) of this 
Section, shall have the right to demand a trial by jury upon compliance with the provisions of 
Colorado law and the Colorado Municipal Court Rules of Procedure, except no such right to a jury 
trial shall exist if the prosecutor indicates in writing that the Town will not seek imposition of a jail sentence 
in connection with the matter.. No defendant shall have a right to a trial by jury for any noncriminal 
traffic infraction, as defined in Subsection (b) of this Section. In the event that a defendant is 
charged with more than one (1) traffic violation arising out of the same incident and at least one 
(1) of the charged violations is listed in Subsection (a) of this Section, the defendant shall have the 
right to demand a trial by jury as to all such offenses, which shall be consolidated for purposes of 
trial, except no such right to a jury trial shall exist if the prosecutor indicates in writing that the Town will 
not seek imposition of a jail sentence in connection with any of the violations involved in the matter.  
(d)   Penalties.  

(1)   Any person convicted of a criminal traffic offense, as defined in Subsection (a) of 
this Section, shall be punished by a fine not exceeding two thousand six hundred and fifty 
dollars ($2,650.00), or by imprisonment for not more than ninety (90) daysexceeding one year 
or by both such fine and imprisonment;  
(2)   Any person admitting liability for, found to have committed, or against whom a 
default judgment has been entered for any noncriminal traffic infraction, as defined in 
Subsection (b) of this Section, shall be fined in an amount not exceeding two thousand 
sixfour hundred and fiftyninety-nine dollars ($2,650499.00). The Board of Trustees may set 
and amend specific fines by resolution. No defendant found to have committed any 
noncriminal traffic infraction shall be punished by imprisonment for such infraction.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(e)  Costs and surcharges. The Town of Green Mountain Falls assesses the following court costs and 
surcharges upon each conviction, admission of liability for, finding of guilt of, or entry of default 
judgment for any offense as defined in Subsections (a) or (b) of this Section:  

Court cost per appearance:  $30.00  

Surcharge per offense:  $20.00  

  

(f)  Penalty assessment schedule. The Town of Green Mountain Falls establishes the minimum fines for 
each of the following violations, excluding the additions of costs and surcharges, as follows:  

Speeding 10-19 over  $125.00  

Speeding 20+ over  $200.00  

Careless driving  $125.00  

Failure to stop at a stop sign  $ 75.00  

Seat belts (18 or older)  $ 55.00  

Seat belt (under 18)  $ 75.00  

Compulsory insurance  $500.00  

  

(g)  The amounts set forth above in (d), (e), and (f) of this Section may be adjusted from time to time by 
resolution duly adopted by the Board of Trustees.  

(Ord. 01-2012 §1; Ord. No. 12-15-2015A, § 1, 12-15-2015)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 12-15-2015A, § 1, adopted Dec. 15, 2015, changed the title of § 8-9 
from "Penalties" to read as herein set out. 

Secs. 8-106—8-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Abandoned and Junked Vehicles on Private Property  

Sec. 8-21. - Definitions.  

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation of this Article:  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"



Junk vehicle means any of the following:  
a.   Any inoperable motorized vehicle;  
b.   Any nonmotorized vehicle which is not capable of highway travel in connection 
with its normal power source; or  
c.   Any vehicle not bearing current license plates, unless exempt from registration, to 
be consistent with State statutes regarding licensing and registration.  

Person means any person, firm, partnership, association or corporation.  

Property Private property means any real property within the incorporated limits of the Town which 
is not a street or, highway, or public property of the Town, federal government, county, or state.  
Vehicle means a machine propelled or pulled by power other than human power designed to travel 
along the ground by use of wheels, treads, tracks, runners or slides and shall include,includes 
without limitation, an automobile, truck, motorcycle, tractor, field machinery, bus, camper, utility 
and travel trailer, bulldozer, earth moving or compacting equipment, backhoe or truck bed/box.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §2) 

Sec. 8-22. - Abandoned vehicles.  

No person shall abandon any vehicle within the Town and no person shall leave any vehicle at any 
place within the Town and for such time or under such circumstances as to cause such vehicle 
reasonably to appear to have been abandoned.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §3) 

Sec. 8-23. - Junk vehicles on street.  

No person shall leave any junk vehicle on any street or highway within the Town.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §4) 

privateSec. 8-24. - Junk vehicles on property.  
No person in charge or control of any property within the Town, whether as owner, tenant, 
occupant, lessee or otherwise, shall allow any junk vehicle to remain on such property longer than 
thirty (30) days; except that this Section shall not apply with regard to a vehicle within an enclosed 
building, a vehicle on the premises of a business enterprise operated in a lawful place and manner 
when necessary to the operation of such business enterprise, or a vehicle in an appropriate storage 
place maintained in a lawful manner by the Town.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §5) 

Sec. 8-2523. - Filling stations and garages.  

Repair or dismantling of automobiles and other vehicles and storing of parts and accessories 
thereto shall be permitted as an accessory use to filling stations and garages only when such 
repairing or dismantling is conducted within an entirely enclosed building.  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"



(Ord. 1-1988 §6) 

Sec. 8-2624. - Collector's items.  

Vehicles defined as collector's items by SectionC.R.S. § 42-15-101, C.R.Set seq., shall be allowed, 
subject to the limitation that no more than one (1) vehicle so defined which has not been rebuilt 
shall be kept outside of a building on any property.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §7) 

Sec. 8-2725. - Notice of violation.  

Before a summons and complaint may be issued for violations of this Article, the Town Marshal 
shall deliver a notice to the occupant and owner of the private property, requesting removal of the 
junk/abandoned vehicle from the property within thirty (30) days. If the junk/abandoned vehicle is 
not removed within thirty (30) days, both the owner and the occupant of the property may be issued 
a summons and complaint for violation of this SectionArticle. Delivery of the notice may be in 
person or by certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the owner or occupant at his or 
hertheir last known address, effective upon mailing.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §8) 

Sec. 8-2826. - Impoundment.  

After proper notice as provided in Section 8-2725 above, the Town Marshal is authorized to remove 
or have removed any vehicle left any place in the Town which reasonably appears to be in violation 
of this Article. All costs incurred by such impoundment, including towing expenses, shall be the 
responsibility of the owner and occupant of the property. If such costs are not paid after billing, 
the Town may place a lien against the property upon which the junk/abandoned vehicle was stored 
for the amount of any costs the Town has incurred. Such lien shall remain against the property and 
may be foreclosed through court at the option of the Town.  

(Ord. 1-1988 §9) 

Secs. 8-2927—8-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III – Parking  

Sec. 8-41. - Purpose.  

This Article is enacted in response to the serious adverse effects caused in certain areas and 
neighborhoods of the Town by motor vehicle congestion, particularly parking of motor vehicles 
on the streets of such areas and neighborhoods by nonresidents who do not visit or conduct 
business with residents.  In order to protect these areas and neighborhoods, it is necessary to enact 
parking regulations restricting parking by nonresidents, while providing the opportunity for 
residents to park and do business near their homes.  

Sec. 8-42. - Definitions.  

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation of this Article: 

One-day visitor permit means a permit issued under this Article that is valid for one 24-hour period, 
whose owner or principal operator may not reside within the Town. 

Parking permit means either a residential parking permit issued to residents of the Town pursuant 
to this Article, or a one-day visitor permit issued pursuant to this Article.  

Public street means any road, street, or similar facility under the jurisdiction of and maintained by 
a public agency and open to public travel. 

Residential parking permit means a parking permit issued under this Article to a vehicle whose 
owner or principal operator resides within the Town.  

Area marked for residential parking means an area designated pursuant to Section 8-46 of this 
Article. 
Vehicle means a machine propelled or pulled by power other than human power designed to travel 
along the ground by use of wheels, treads, tracks, runners or slides and shall include, without 
limitation, an automobile, truck, motorcycle, tractor, field machinery, bus, camper, utility and 
travel trailer, bulldozer, earth moving or compacting equipment, backhoe or truck bed/box. 

Sec. 8-43. – Residential Parking Permit Issuance. 

(a) The Town shall issue residential parking permits to residents upon application to the Town 
Clerk and for a fee established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  The application shall 
require, at a minimum, the name of the owner or operator of the vehicle to be permitted, the 
residential address of the owner or operator of the vehicle to be permitted, the owner or operator's 
state driver's license number, and the vehicle make, model and license plate number. The applicant 
shall provide proof of residency as required by the Town Clerk. 

(b) Residential parking permits shall be issued specific to a vehicle listed on the application to 
the Town Clerk.  To be valid, each residential parking permit shall be permanently adhered to the 
inside bottom driver side corner of the windshield of the vehicle to which the residential parking 
permit is registered.  A residential parking permit that is not permanently adhered shall not be a 
valid permit. 

(c) There shall be no limit to the number of residential parking permits issued to a residence, 
provided that no residential parking permit shall be issued for a vehicle whose owner or principal 
operator does not reside at the residence. 

(d) An applicant may obtain a replacement residential parking permit in the same manner and 
for the same fee as the original residential permit upon providing evidence satisfactory to the Town 
Clerk that the original permit has been lost or destroyed. 

(e) Each residential parking permit issued by the Town shall be valid for one year from the 
date of issuance by the Town Clerk.  

Sec. 8-44. – One-Day Visitor Permit Issuance. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(a) The Town shall issue one-day visitor permits to residents upon application to the Town 
Clerk and for a fee established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  The application shall 
require, at a minimum, the name of the resident requesting the one-day visitor permit and the 
residential address of the resident requesting the one-day visitor permit.  The applicant shall 
provide proof of residency as required by the Town Clerk. 

(b) One-day visitor permits shall be issued to residents and are intended for use by guests of 
residents.  One-day visitor permits are not specific to a vehicle upon issuance.  However, to be 
valid, each one-day visitor permit shall be fully filled out in ink or permanent marker and displayed 
inside the vehicle dashboard so that the permit is easily visible and decipherable from outside the 
vehicle.  A one-day visitor permit that does not provide all required information or that is displayed 
improperly shall not be a valid permit. 

(c) Each residence is limited to five (5) packs of one-day visitor permits per calendar year, 
with each pack containing twenty (20) blank permits. 

(d) Each blank one-day visitor permit issued by the Town shall be valid for one year from the 
date of issuance by the Town Clerk.  Once filled out by the resident or guest and placed into use, 
each one-day visitor permit shall be valid for one 24-hour period. 

Sec. 8-45. – Residential Street Parking. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person to park a vehicle on any public street in an area marked for 
residential parking without displaying a valid parking permit issued by the Town authorizing the 
vehicle to be parked in that area.  In addition to any other requirements of this Article, a parking 
permit must be current, displayed at all pertinent times the vehicle is parked, and visible from the 
roadway for the parking tag to be deemed valid.  

(b) The Town Manager shall direct the installation of all necessary signage or pavement 
markings to establish the residential areas in which this Section shall apply. 

(c) The following are exempt from the requirements of this Section:  

(1) A vehicle owned by or operated under contract to a utility and in actual use in the 
construction, operation, removal or repair of utility property or facilities or engaged in 
authorized work; 

(2) A vehicle that is owned by or operated under contract to a federal, state, or local 
governmental agency and was being used in the course of official government business; 

(3) An authorized emergency vehicle; and 

(4) A motor vehicle used for delivery or service business purposes, including without 
limitation vehicles such as moving vans and sanitation, repair, electrical and plumbing 
service vehicles, while conducting business. 

Sec. 8-46. – Designation of Area to be Marked for Residential Parking.  Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(a) The Board of Trustees shall designate by ordinance those residential areas within the Town 
with chronic parking problems as areas to be marked for residential parking.  

(b) The Board of Trustees, in making a determination of designation under this Section, shall 
consider the following criteria: 

(1) The extent to which vehicles parking in the area are vehicles displaying out of state 
or out of town license plates indicating that the vehicle belongs to a nonresident of the 
Town;  

(2) The extent to which residents cannot obtain adequate public street parking adjacent 
to or near their residences because of widespread use of parking spaces by out of town 
vehicles; 

(3) The effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the residents along the public street 
from intensive use of the residential public street, including increased polluted air, 
excessive noise, trash, and refuse caused by the entry and exit of non-resident vehicles; 

(4) The deterioration of the residential environment as a result of traffic congestion and 
insufficient parking in the area, including detriment to the natural rural mountain character 
of such residential areas and neighborhoods and increased hazard to children and other 
pedestrians; 

(5) The extent that the designation of a residential parking permit area would be likely 
to reduce traffic congestion and any other problems identified in this Section; and 

(6) Evidence of support of the residents in the proposed area to be marked for 
residential parking for the institution of a residential parking permit system and the 
willingness of those residents to bear the costs incidental to the issuance of permits 
authorized by this Article.  

(c) As soon as practicable following the adoption of an ordinance designating or extending a 
residential parking permit area, the Town Clerk shall mail to the occupant of every address within 
the area to be marked for residential parking a written notice containing the following information: 

(1) The existence and boundaries of the area to be marked for residential parking; 

(2) The parking restrictions applicable to all vehicles on public streets in the designated 
area; 

(3) The effective date of the ordinance; and 

(4) The procedures and associated fees to obtain parking permits.  

Sec. 8-47. – Parking in Private Driveway or on Private Property. 

It is unlawful for any person to park or stand a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than 
temporarily for the purpose of, and while actually engaged in, loading or unloading, in a private 



driveway or on private property without the express consent of the owner or person in lawful 
possession of such driveway or property. 

Sec. 8-48. – Metered Parking. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person to park a vehicle in any Town-owned or Town-controlled on 
or off-street, paid or permit-required parking lot or parking space at any time without immediately 
depositing or causing to be deposited payment in the parking meter for the time used during the 
applicable hours of operation and on the applicable days of operation of such parking meter, as 
indicated by the sign accompanying such parking meter, or without displaying a valid residential 
parking permit authorizing such vehicle to be parked at the location.  In addition to any other 
requirements of this Article, a parking permit must be current, displayed at all pertinent times the 
vehicle is parked, and visible from the roadway for the parking tag to be deemed valid.  

(b) Vehicles displaying a valid residential parking permit may be parked in a Town-owned or 
Town-controlled on or off-street paid parking lot or parking space without paying the meter.  One-
day visitor parking permits remain subject to the requirements of this Section and must observe all 
requirements when parking in any Town-owned or Town-controlled on or off-street paid parking 
lot or parking space.  

(c) Parking meters shall display the dates and times that parking restrictions are in place and 
shall display the hourly or daily charges which are reasonably necessary to defray the expenses 
incurred incident to this Article. 

(d) The Town Manager shall direct the installation of all parking meters and all necessary 
signage or pavement markings to establish the areas in which this Section shall apply, as follows:  

(1) Official signs indicating that parking is restricted in a Town-owned or Town-
controlled on or off-street parking lot shall be posted at each entrance to the parking lot.  

(2) Official signs indicating that parking is restricted in Town-owned or Town-
controlled on or off-street parking spaces shall be posted where practicable to give notice 
of the restricted area.  Official signs with double arrows shall be posted at intermediate 
points within the restricted area indicating the extent of the restricted area. 

(e) The following are exempt from the requirements of this Section:  

(1) A vehicle owned by or operated under contract to a utility and in actual use in the 
construction, operation, removal or repair of utility property or facilities or engaged in 
authorized work; 

(2) A vehicle that is owned by or operated under contract to a federal, state, or local 
governmental agency and was being used in the course of official government business; 

(3) An authorized emergency vehicle; and 



(4) A motor vehicle used for delivery or service business purposes, including without 
limitation vehicles such as moving vans and sanitation, repair, electrical and plumbing 
service vehicles, while conducting business. 

Sec. 8-49. – Duplication of Parking Permits Prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to duplicate or attempt to duplicate by any means a parking permit 
issued pursuant to this Article.  It is a violation of this Article for any person to display on any 
motor vehicle a duplicate parking permit. 

Sec. 8-50. - Effect of Issuance of Parking Permit. 

A parking permit issued pursuant to this Article does not excuse compliance with any other 
provisions of applicable law relating to parking, including without limitation restricted parking for 
persons with disabilities.  A parking permit shall not guarantee or reserve a parking space within 
an area marked for residential parking.  A permit issued pursuant to this Article shall not authorize 
the standing or parking of any vehicle in any place or during any time when the stopping, standing 
or parking of vehicles is prohibited or set aside for specified vehicle types.  The issuance of a 
parking permit shall not excuse the observance of any traffic regulation. 

Sec. 8-51. – Impoundment. 

The Town is authorized to remove or have removed any vehicle left any place in the Town which 
reasonably appears to be in violation of this Article.  All costs incurred by such impoundment, 
including towing expenses, shall be the responsibility of the owner and occupant of the property.   

Sec. 8-52. – Violations; Penalty. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person to fail to comply with the terms of this Article.  Violations 
shall constitute a civil offense punishable by one or more of the following penalties:  

 
(1) Loss of parking permit privileges;  
 
(2) Impoundment of the vehicle;  
 
(3) Termination of the right to receive residential parking permits in the future; and  
 
(4) A fine not to exceed four hundred ninety-nine dollars ($499.00). 

 
(b) Each separate act in violation of this Article, and each and every day or portion thereof 
during which any separate act in violation of this Article is committed, continued, or permitted, 
shall be deemed a separate offense. 

 
(c) Any remedies provided for in this Article shall be cumulative and not exclusive and shall 
be in addition to any other remedies provided by law. 

 Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



CHAPTER 8 - Vehicles and Traffic 

ARTICLE I - Model Traffic Code  

Sec. 8-1. - Adoption.  

Pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-15-103 and C.R.S. § 31-16-201, et seq., there is hereby adopted by 
reference the 2020 edition of the Model Traffic Code for Colorado, promulgated and published as 
such by the Colorado Department of Transportation, Safety and Traffic Engineering Branch, 4201 
East Arkansas Avenue, EP 700, Denver, CO 80222, as amended by Section 8-2 below. The subject 
matter of the Model Traffic Code relates primarily to comprehensive traffic control regulations for 
the Town. The purpose of this Article and the Code adopted herein is to provide a system of traffic 
regulations generally conforming to similar regulations throughout the State and the nation. One 
(1) copy of the Model Traffic Code adopted herein shall be filed in the office of the Town Clerk 
and may be inspected during regular business hours.  
Sec. 8-2. - Amendments.  

The 2020 edition of the Model Traffic Code is adopted as if set out at length save and except the 
following additions, deletions or modifications:  

(a) Section 1101(2) is modified to read as follows:  
"Speed limits within the Town are set at 25 mph on Ute Pass Avenue and Green Mountain 
Falls Road and 20 mph on all other streets unless otherwise posted, as defined in Section 8-4 
of the Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code."  

(b) Part 17, Penalties and Procedures is deleted in its entirety.  
Sec. 8-3. - Application.  

This Article shall apply to every street, alley, sidewalk area, driveway and park and to every other 
public way, public place or public parking area, either within or outside the corporate limits of this 
municipality, the use of which this municipality has jurisdiction and authority to regulate. The 
provisions of Sections 1401, 1402, 1413 and Part 16 of the adopted Model Traffic Code, 
respectively concerning reckless driving, careless driving, eluding a police officer and accidents 
and accident reports shall apply not only to public places and ways but also throughout this 
municipality.  
Sec. 8-4. - Speed limits for all streets.  

(a) Speed limits within the Town shall be set at 25 mph on Ute Pass Avenue and Green 
Mountain Falls Road and 20 mph on all other streets, unless otherwise posted.  
(b) Signs containing the general speed limit of 20 mph shall be placed at both entrances to the 
Town.  
Sec. 8-5. - Civil and criminal violations, right to jury trial, and penalties.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of this Chapter or of the Model 
Traffic Code for Colorado, as adopted by the Town of Green Mountain Falls.  It is a criminal traffic 
offense for any person to violate any of the provisions of the Model Traffic Code for Colorado as 
adopted, and from time to time modified, by the Town of Green Mountain Falls, where the offense 



is deemed a misdemeanor traffic offense under the Model Traffic Code or by counterpart State 
law.   
(b) Except for those violations classified as criminal traffic offenses pursuant to Subsection (a) 
of this Section, all violations of this Chapter or of the Model Traffic Code for Colorado, as adopted 
by the Town of Green Mountain Falls, are hereby classified as noncriminal traffic infractions 
which shall be deemed to be civil matters. The Colorado Municipal Court Rules of Procedure shall 
apply to proceedings in which the defendant is charged with such noncriminal traffic infractions, 
except that no warrant for arrest shall be issued for the defendant's failure to appear when the only 
violation charged would constitute a noncriminal traffic infraction. Instead, the court may enter a 
judgment of liability by default against the defendant for any such failure to appear; assess any 
penalty and costs established by law; and report the judgment to the Colorado Department of 
Revenue, Motor Vehicle Division, which may assess points against the defendant's driving 
privileges and may deny an application for or renewal of the defendant's driver's license until the 
judgment and all other lawful costs are satisfied. Further, no writ of mittimus shall issue where the 
only basis for the fine and costs imposed was the finding of guilty or liability for a noncriminal 
traffic infraction.  
(c) Any defendant charged with a criminal traffic offense, as defined in Subsection (a) of this 
Section, shall have the right to demand a trial by jury upon compliance with the provisions of 
Colorado law and the Colorado Municipal Court Rules of Procedure. No defendant shall have a 
right to a trial by jury for any noncriminal traffic infraction, as defined in Subsection (b) of this 
Section. In the event that a defendant is charged with more than one (1) traffic violation arising 
out of the same incident and at least one (1) of the charged violations is listed in Subsection (a) of 
this Section, the defendant shall have the right to demand a trial by jury as to all such offenses, 
which shall be consolidated for purposes of trial.  
(d) Penalties.  

(1) Any person convicted of a criminal traffic offense, as defined in Subsection (a) of 
this Section, shall be punished by a fine not exceeding two thousand six hundred and fifty 
dollars ($2,650.00), or by imprisonment not exceeding one year or by both such fine and 
imprisonment; 
(2) Any person admitting liability for, found to have committed, or against whom a 
default judgment has been entered for any noncriminal traffic infraction, as defined in 
Subsection (b) of this Section, shall be fined in an amount not exceeding four hundred and 
ninety-nine dollars ($499.00). The Board of Trustees may set and amend specific fines by 
resolution. No defendant found to have committed any noncriminal traffic infraction shall 
be punished by imprisonment for such infraction.  

Secs. 8-6—8-20. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II - Junked Vehicles on Private Property  

Sec. 8-21. - Definitions.  

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation of this Article:  
Junk vehicle means any of the following:  

a. Any inoperable motorized vehicle; 



b. Any nonmotorized vehicle which is not capable of highway travel in connection 
with its normal power source; or  
c. Any vehicle not bearing current license plates, unless exempt from registration, to 
be consistent with State statutes regarding licensing and registration.  

Private property means any real property within the incorporated limits of the Town which is not 
a street, highway, or public property of the Town, federal government, county, or state.  
Vehicle means a machine propelled or pulled by power other than human power designed to travel 
along the ground by use of wheels, treads, tracks, runners or slides and includes without limitation 
an automobile, truck, motorcycle, tractor, field machinery, bus, camper, utility and travel trailer, 
bulldozer, earth moving or compacting equipment, backhoe or truck bed/box.  
Sec. 8-22. - Junk vehicles on private property.  
No person in charge or control of any property within the Town, whether as owner, tenant, 
occupant, lessee or otherwise, shall allow any junk vehicle to remain on such property longer than 
thirty (30) days; except that this Section shall not apply with regard to a vehicle within an enclosed 
building, a vehicle on the premises of a business enterprise operated in a lawful place and manner 
when necessary to the operation of such business enterprise, or a vehicle in an appropriate storage 
place maintained in a lawful manner by the Town.  
Sec. 8-23. - Filling stations and garages.  

Repair or dismantling of automobiles and other vehicles and storing of parts and accessories 
thereto shall be permitted as an accessory use to filling stations and garages only when such 
repairing or dismantling is conducted within an entirely enclosed building.  
Sec. 8-24. - Collector's items.  

Vehicles defined as collector's items by C.R.S. § 42-15-101, et seq., shall be allowed, subject to 
the limitation that no more than one (1) vehicle so defined which has not been rebuilt shall be kept 
outside of a building on any property.  
Sec. 8-25. - Notice of violation.  

Before a summons and complaint may be issued for violations of this Article, the Town shall 
deliver a notice to the occupant and owner of the private property, requesting removal of the junk 
vehicle from the property within thirty (30) days. If the junk vehicle is not removed within thirty 
(30) days, both the owner and the occupant of the property may be issued a summons and 
complaint for violation of this Article. Delivery of the notice may be in person or by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, addressed to the owner or occupant at their last known address, effective 
upon mailing.  
Sec. 8-26. - Impoundment.  

After proper notice as provided in Section 8-25 above, the Town is authorized to remove or have 
removed any vehicle left any place in the Town which reasonably appears to be in violation of this 
Article. All costs incurred by such impoundment, including towing expenses, shall be the 
responsibility of the owner and occupant of the property. If such costs are not paid after billing, 
the Town may place a lien against the property upon which the junk/abandoned vehicle was stored 



for the amount of any costs the Town has incurred. Such lien shall remain against the property and 
may be foreclosed through court at the option of the Town.  
Secs. 8-27—8-40. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III – Parking  

Sec. 8-41. - Purpose.  

This Article is enacted in response to the serious adverse effects caused in certain areas and 
neighborhoods of the Town by motor vehicle congestion, particularly parking of motor vehicles 
on the streets of such areas and neighborhoods by nonresidents who do not visit or conduct 
business with residents.  In order to protect these areas and neighborhoods, it is necessary to enact 
parking regulations restricting parking by nonresidents, while providing the opportunity for 
residents to park and do business near their homes.  

Sec. 8-42. - Definitions.  

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation of this Article: 

One-day visitor permit means a permit issued under this Article that is valid for one 24-hour period, 
whose owner or principal operator may not reside within the Town. 

Parking permit means either a residential parking permit issued to residents of the Town pursuant 
to this Article, or a one-day visitor permit issued pursuant to this Article.  

Public street means any road, street, or similar facility under the jurisdiction of and maintained by 
a public agency and open to public travel. 

Residential parking permit means a parking permit issued under this Article to a vehicle whose 
owner or principal operator resides within the Town.  

Area marked for residential parking means an area designated pursuant to Section 8-46 of this 
Article. 
Vehicle means a machine propelled or pulled by power other than human power designed to travel 
along the ground by use of wheels, treads, tracks, runners or slides and shall include, without 
limitation, an automobile, truck, motorcycle, tractor, field machinery, bus, camper, utility and 
travel trailer, bulldozer, earth moving or compacting equipment, backhoe or truck bed/box. 

Sec. 8-43. – Residential Parking Permit Issuance. 

(a) The Town, or its authorized agent, shall issue residential parking permits to residents upon 
application to the Town Clerk or authorized agent and for a fee established by resolution of the 
Board of Trustees.  The application shall require, at a minimum, the name of the owner or operator 
of the vehicle to be permitted, the residential address of the owner or operator of the vehicle to be 
permitted, the owner or operator's state driver's license number, and the vehicle make, model and 
license plate number. The applicant shall provide proof of residency as required by the Town 
Clerk. 



(b) Residential parking permits shall be issued specific to a vehicle listed on the application to 
the Town Clerk.  To be valid, each residential parking permit shall be permanently adhered to the 
inside bottom driver side corner of the windshield of the vehicle to which the residential parking 
permit is registered.  A residential parking permit that is not permanently adhered shall not be a 
valid permit. 

(c) There shall be no limit to the number of residential parking permits issued to a residence, 
provided that no residential parking permit shall be issued for a vehicle whose owner or principal 
operator does not reside at the residence. 

(d) An applicant may obtain a replacement residential parking permit in the same manner and 
for the same fee as the original residential permit upon providing evidence satisfactory to the Town 
Clerk that the original permit has been lost or destroyed. 

(e) Each residential parking permit issued by the Town shall be valid for one year from the 
date of issuance by the Town Clerk.  

Sec. 8-44. – One-Day Visitor Permit Issuance. 

(a) The Town shall issue one-day visitor permits to residents upon application to the Town 
Clerk and for a fee established by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  The application shall 
require, at a minimum, the name of the resident requesting the one-day visitor permit and the 
residential address of the resident requesting the one-day visitor permit.  The applicant shall 
provide proof of residency as required by the Town Clerk. 

(b) One-day visitor permits shall be issued to residents and are intended for use by guests of 
residents.  One-day visitor permits are not specific to a vehicle upon issuance.  However, to be 
valid, each one-day visitor permit shall be fully filled out in ink or permanent marker and displayed 
inside the vehicle dashboard so that the permit is easily visible and decipherable from outside the 
vehicle.  A one-day visitor permit that does not provide all required information or that is displayed 
improperly shall not be a valid permit. 

(c) Each residence is limited to five (5) packs of one-day visitor permits per calendar year, 
with each pack containing twenty (20) blank permits. 

(d) Each blank one-day visitor permit issued by the Town shall be valid for one year from the 
date of issuance by the Town Clerk.  Once filled out by the resident or guest and placed into use, 
each one-day visitor permit shall be valid for one 24-hour period. 

Sec. 8-45. – Residential Street Parking. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person to park a vehicle on any public street in an area marked for 
residential parking without displaying a valid parking permit issued by the Town authorizing the 
vehicle to be parked in that area.  In addition to any other requirements of this Article, a parking 
permit must be current, displayed at all pertinent times the vehicle is parked, and visible from the 
roadway for the parking tag to be deemed valid.  



(b) The Town Manager shall direct the installation of all necessary signage or pavement 
markings to establish the residential areas in which this Section shall apply. 

(c) The following are exempt from the requirements of this Section:  

(1) A vehicle owned by or operated under contract to a utility and in actual use in the 
construction, operation, removal or repair of utility property or facilities or engaged in 
authorized work; 

(2) A vehicle that is owned by or operated under contract to a federal, state, or local 
governmental agency and was being used in the course of official government business; 

(3) An authorized emergency vehicle; and 

(4) A motor vehicle used for delivery or service business purposes, including without 
limitation vehicles such as moving vans and sanitation, repair, electrical and plumbing 
service vehicles, while conducting business. 

Sec. 8-46. – Designation of Area to be Marked for Residential Parking.  

(a) The Board of Trustees shall designate by ordinance those residential areas within the Town 
as areas to be marked for residential parking.  

(b) The Board of Trustees, in making a determination of designation under this Section, shall 
consider the following criteria: 

(1) The extent to which vehicles parking in the area are vehicles displaying out of state 
or out of town license plates indicating that the vehicle belongs to a nonresident of the 
Town;  

(2) The extent to which residents cannot obtain adequate public street parking adjacent 
to or near their residences because of widespread use of parking spaces by out of town 
vehicles; 

(3) The effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the residents along the public street 
from intensive use of the residential public street, including increased polluted air, 
excessive noise, trash, and refuse caused by the entry and exit of non-resident vehicles; 

(4) The deterioration of the residential environment as a result of traffic congestion and 
insufficient parking in the area, including detriment to the natural rural mountain character 
of such residential areas and neighborhoods and increased hazard to children and other 
pedestrians; 

(5) The extent that the designation of a residential parking permit area would be likely 
to reduce traffic congestion and any other problems identified in this Section; and 

(6) Evidence of support of the residents in the proposed area to be marked for 
residential parking for the institution of a residential parking permit system and the 



willingness of those residents to bear the costs incidental to the issuance of permits 
authorized by this Article.  

(c) As soon as practicable following the adoption of an ordinance designating or extending a 
residential parking permit area, the Town Clerk shall mail to the occupant of every address within 
the area to be marked for residential parking a written notice containing the following information: 

(1) The existence and boundaries of the area to be marked for residential parking; 

(2) The parking restrictions applicable to all vehicles on public streets in the designated 
area; 

(3) The effective date of the ordinance; and 

(4) The procedures and associated fees to obtain parking permits.  

Sec. 8-47. – Parking in Private Driveway or on Private Property. 

It is unlawful for any person to park or stand a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than 
temporarily for the purpose of, and while actually engaged in, loading or unloading, in a private 
driveway or on private property without the express consent of the owner or person in lawful 
possession of such driveway or property. 

Sec. 8-48. – Metered Parking. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person to park a vehicle in any Town-owned or Town-controlled on 
or off-street, paid or permit-required parking lot or parking space at any time without immediately 
depositing or causing to be deposited an accepted form of payment for the time used during the 
applicable hours of operation and on the applicable days of operation of such parking meter, as 
indicated by the sign accompanying such parking meter, or without displaying a valid residential 
parking permit authorizing such vehicle to be parked at the location.  In addition to any other 
requirements of this Article, a parking permit must be current, displayed at all pertinent times the 
vehicle is parked, and visible from the roadway for the parking tag to be deemed valid.  

(b) Vehicles displaying a valid residential parking permit may be parked in a Town-owned or 
Town-controlled on or off-street paid parking lot or parking space without paying the meter.  One-
day visitor parking permits remain subject to the requirements of this Section and must observe all 
requirements when parking in any Town-owned or Town-controlled on or off-street paid parking 
lot or parking space.  

(c) Parking meters shall display the dates and times that parking restrictions are in place and 
shall display the hourly or daily charges which are reasonably necessary to defray the expenses 
incurred incident to this Article. 

(d) The Town Manager shall direct the installation of all parking meters and all necessary 
signage or pavement markings to establish the areas in which this Section shall apply, as follows:  



(1) Official signs indicating that parking is restricted in a Town-owned or Town-
controlled on or off-street parking lot shall be posted at each entrance to the parking lot.  

(2) Official signs indicating that parking is restricted in Town-owned or Town-
controlled on or off-street parking spaces shall be posted where practicable to give notice 
of the restricted area.  Official signs with double arrows shall be posted at intermediate 
points within the restricted area indicating the extent of the restricted area. 

(e) The following are exempt from the requirements of this Section:  

(1) A vehicle owned by or operated under contract to a utility and in actual use in the 
construction, operation, removal or repair of utility property or facilities or engaged in 
authorized work; 

(2) A vehicle that is owned by or operated under contract to a federal, state, or local 
governmental agency and was being used in the course of official government business; 

(3) An authorized emergency vehicle; and 

(4) A motor vehicle used for delivery or service business purposes, including without 
limitation vehicles such as moving vans and sanitation, repair, electrical and plumbing 
service vehicles, while conducting business. 

Sec. 8-49. – Duplication of Parking Permits Prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to duplicate or attempt to duplicate by any means a parking permit 
issued pursuant to this Article.  It is a violation of this Article for any person to display on any 
motor vehicle a duplicate parking permit. 

Sec. 8-50. - Effect of Issuance of Parking Permit. 

A parking permit issued pursuant to this Article does not excuse compliance with any other 
provisions of applicable law relating to parking, including without limitation restricted parking for 
persons with disabilities.  A parking permit shall not guarantee or reserve a parking space within 
an area marked for residential parking.  A permit issued pursuant to this Article shall not authorize 
the standing or parking of any vehicle in any place or during any time when the stopping, standing 
or parking of vehicles is prohibited or set aside for specified vehicle types.  The issuance of a 
parking permit shall not excuse the observance of any traffic regulation. 

Sec. 8-51. – Impoundment. 

The Town, or its authorized agent, is authorized to remove or have removed any vehicle left any 
place in the Town which reasonably appears to be in violation of this Article.  All costs incurred 
by such impoundment, including towing expenses, shall be the responsibility of the owner and 
occupant of the property.   

Sec. 8-52. – Violations; Penalty. 



(a) It is unlawful for any person to fail to comply with the terms of this Article.  Violations 
shall constitute a civil offense punishable by one or more of the following penalties:  

 
(1) Loss of parking permit privileges;  
 
(2) Impoundment of the vehicle;  
 
(3) Termination of the right to receive residential parking permits in the future; and  
 
(4) A fine not to exceed four hundred ninety-nine dollars ($499.00). 

 
(b) Each separate act in violation of this Article, and each and every day or portion thereof 
during which any separate act in violation of this Article is committed, continued, or permitted, 
shall be deemed a separate offense. 

 
(c) Any remedies provided for in this Article shall be cumulative and not exclusive and shall 
be in addition to any other remedies provided by law. 

 



CHAPTER 10 - General Offenses  

ARTICLE I - General Provisions  

Sec. 10-1. - Adopted.  

Pursuant to Part 2 of Article 16 of Title 31, C.R.S., there is adopted by reference, in part, 
Title 18, C.R.S., officially approved, adopted and published by the State, of which one (1) copy is 
on file at the Town Hall and may be inspected during regular business hours, pursuant to the 
adopted ordinance, to wit: (Ord. 92-04 §1) 
Sec. 10-2. - Legislative purpose.  

It is the purpose of this Chapter to provide for the public health, safety and welfare of the 
Town.  
Sec. 10-3. - Local question.  

It is the intention of the Board of Trustees that the ordinances and provisions of this Chapter 
deal with matters of "local" and "mixed" state and local concern and that no provision of this 
Chapter is to be construed expressly or by implication to permit conduct that is illegal under the 
laws of the State or to prohibit conduct that is expressly permitted by the laws of the State. The 
provisions of this Chapter are to be construed to apply to misdemeanors and other minor and petty 
offenses only and are not to be interpreted to apply to conduct that is defined as a felony under the 
laws of the State.  
Sec. 10-4. - Irreconcilable ordinances.  

If the Board of Trustees enacts an ordinance that is irreconcilable with another provision 
of this Chapter, the ordinance whose effective date is latest prevails.  
Sec. 10-5. - Application of Code.  

(a)  A person is subject to prosecution in Municipal Court for a violation committed through the 
conduct of such person or through the conduct of another for whom such person is legally 
accountable, if:  

(1)  The conduct constitutes a violation and is committed either wholly or partly within 
the Town;  
(2)  The conduct outside the Town constitutes an attempt, as defined by this Chapter, to 
commit a violation within the Town;  
(3)  The conduct outside the Town constitutes a conspiracy to commit a violation within 
the Town, and an act in furtherance of the conspiracy occurs in the Town; or  
(4)  The conduct within the Town constitutes an attempt, solicitation or conspiracy to 
commit in another jurisdiction a violation prohibited under the laws of the Town and such 
other jurisdiction.  

(b)  Whether a violator is in or outside the Town is immaterial to the commission of a violation 
based on an omission to perform a duty imposed by the law of the Town.  



(c)  Town, as used in this Chapter and in any summons, summons and complaint or complaint 
alleging a violation of the Code or any ordinance, includes both the area within the territorial limits 
of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, and also those areas over which extraterritorial 
police power has been granted by the statutes of this State. It is the intent of the Board of Trustees 
to extend the territorial jurisdiction of the Municipal Court as widely as possible. However, where 
specific sections of this Chapter require that the violation occur "within the Town," then the offense 
is limited to the territorial limits of the Town.  
Sec. 10-6. - Classification of violations.  

Violations of this Code shall be classified as misdemeanors, Class 1 petty offenses or Class 
2 petty offenses.  
Sec. 10-7. - Violations.  

(a)  The terms crime, petty offense, offense, misdemeanor and violation, as used in this Code or 
any uncodified ordinance, are synonymous. Any act or omission declared to be a violation or to 
be unlawful or required or prohibited by the phrase "no person shall," or similar mandatory 
language in or by this Code, any ordinance of the Town or any rule promulgated thereunder, 
constitutes a violation.  
(b)  Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Code, an ordinance of the Town or a rule 
promulgated thereunder, every day of a violation of this Code, ordinance or rule constitutes a 
separate violation.  
Sec. 10-68. - Statute of limitations.  

No person shall be prosecuted, tried or punished for any violation under this Code or any 
ordinance unless the action for said violation is instituted within one (1) year of the date of the 
alleged violation, but the statute of limitations within which a prosecution must be instituted shall 
be tolled for any period in which a prosecution is pending against the accused for the same conduct, 
even if the summons, complaint or summons and complaint that commence the prosecution are 
quashed or the proceedings thereon are set aside or reversed on appeal.  
Secs. 10-9—10-20. - Reserved.  

Sec. 10-725. – Violation and penalty. 
The penalty for violation of any provision of this Chapter is as set forth in Section 1-42 of this 

Code, subject to the following: 
(a) A plea of guilty or nolo contendere to the original charge or to a lesser or substituted charge 
shall subject the person so pleading to all fines and/or penalties applicable to the original charge. 
Any restitution ordered by the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any such fine. 
(b) The Municipal Court may award restitution to any victim of any action specified as 
unlawful in this Chapter and may order a person found or pleading guilty to any such violation to 
pay such restitution as ordered by the Municipal Court. Such restitution shall be determined by the 
submission of a bill of costs by the victim to the Municipal Court on a form approved by the 
Municipal Court. Authority is expressly granted to the Municipal Court to order such restitution 
for any and all costs incurred by public safety and/or emergency response agencies of the Town or 

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default) Arial,
10 pt



other governmental or quasi-governmental entities in connection with the initial response to and 
all subsequent follow-up investigations of violations of this Chapter. Any restitution ordered by 
the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any fine and/or imprisonment authorized by this Code 
and shall likewise be applicable to any situation in which a deferred judgment or deferred sentence 
is accepted and/or imposed by the Municipal Court. 
(c) The Municipal Court may order any person convicted of or pleading guilty to any violation 
of this Chapter to perform useful public service not exceeding 100 hours, which may be in addition 
to any other penalty imposed by the Municipal Court.. 

 
Secs. 10-8109—10-20. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE II - Offenses By or Against Public Officers and Government  

Sec. 10-21. - Definitions.  

As used in this Chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:  
(1)  Government includes any branch, subdivision, institution or agency of the 
government of this Town.  
(2)  Governmental function includes any activity which a public servant is legally 
authorized to undertake on behalf of a government.  
(3)  Public servant means any officer or employee of the government, whether elected or 
appointed, and any person participating as an advisor or consultant, engaged in the service 
of process, or otherwise performing a governmental function, but the term does not include 
witnesses.  

Sec. 10-22. - Resisting arrest.  

(a)  A person commits resisting arrestIt is unlawful to resist arrest by knowingly if he or she 
knowingly preventings or attemptings to prevent a peace officer, acting under color of his or her 
official authorityin the discharge of their duty, from effecting an arrest of the actor or another, by:  

(1)  Using or threatening to use physical force or violence against the peace officer or 
another; or  
(2)  Using any other means which creates a substantial risk of causing bodily injury to 
the peace officer or another.  

(b)  It is no defense to prosecution under this Section that the peace officer was attempting to 
make an arrest which in fact was unlawful, if he or she was acting under color of his or her official 
authority and, in attempting to make the arrest, he or she was not resorting to unreasonable or 
excessive force giving rise to the right of self-defense. A peace officer acts under color of his or 
her official authority when, in the regular course of assigned duties, he or she is called upon to 
make, and does make, a judgment in good faith based upon surrounding facts and circumstances 
that an arrest should be made by him or her.  
(c)  Resisting arrest is a misdemeanor.  



Sec. 10-23. - Interference with peace officersObstructing peace officer, deputy marshal, 
firefighter, emergency medical services provider, rescue specialist or volunteer.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person in any way to interfere with or hinder any peace officer, 
marshal or deputy marshal while such person is discharging his or her duties.  
(ab)  A person commits obstructing a peace officer, marshal, firefighter, emergency medical 
service provider, rescue specialist or volunteer when, or fireman who, by using or threatening to 
use violence, force or physical interference or obstacle, he or shesuch person knowingly obstructs, 
impairs or hinders the enforcement of the penal law or the preservation of peace by a peace officer, 
acting under color of his or her official authority, or knowingly obstructs, impairs or hinders the 
prevention, control or abatement of a fire by a fireman, acting under color of his or her official 
authority.any duty of the peace officer, marshal, firefighter, emergency medical services provider, 
rescue specialist or volunteer.  
(bc)  It is no defense to a prosecution under this Section that the peace officer was acting in an 
illegal manner, if he or she was acting under color of his or her official authority, as defined in 
Section 10-22(b) above.  
(cd)  This Section does not apply to obstruction, impairment or hindrance of the making of an 
arrest.  
(e)  Obstructing a peace officer is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-24. -– Duty to aid; rRefusing to aid a peace officer.  

(a)  
 Is is unlawful for aA person eighteen (18) years of age or older commits a Class 1 petty 
offense when, to, upon command by a person known to him or her to be a peace officer, he or she 
unreasonably refuses or fails to aid the peace officer in effecting or securing an arrest or preventing 
the commission by another of any offense.  
Sec. 10-25. – Violation and penalty. 

The penalty for violation of any provision of this Chapter is as set forth in Section 1-4-20 of 
this Code, subject to the following: 
(a) A plea of guilty or nolo contendere to the original charge or to a lesser or substituted charge 
shall subject the person so pleading to all fines and/or penalties applicable to the original charge. 
Any restitution ordered by the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any such fine. 
(b) The Municipal Court may award restitution to any victim of any action specified as 
unlawful in this Chapter and may order a person found or pleading guilty to any such violation to 
pay such restitution as ordered by the Municipal Court. Such restitution shall be determined by the 
submission of a bill of costs by the victim to the Municipal Court on a form approved by the 
Municipal Court. Authority is expressly granted to the Municipal Court to order such restitution 
for any and all costs incurred by public safety and/or emergency response agencies of the Town or 
other governmental or quasi-governmental entities in connection with the initial response to and 
all subsequent follow-up investigations of violations of this Chapter. Any restitution ordered by 
the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any fine and/or imprisonment authorized by this Code 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Commented [KJV1]: Moved to Article I  

https://library.municode.com/co/victor/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CD_ORD_CH1GEPR_ART4GEPE_S1-4-20GEPEVI


and shall likewise be applicable to any situation in which a deferred judgment or deferred sentence 
is accepted and/or imposed by the Municipal Court. 
(c) The Municipal Court may order any person convicted of or pleading guilty to any violation 
of this Chapter to perform useful public service not exceeding 100 hours, which may be in addition 
to any other penalty imposed by the Municipal Court. 
 
Sec. 10-25. - Interference with firemen on duty.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to hinder, obstruct, oppose or interfere with any member 
of the Fire Department while he or she is in the performance of his or her duty.  
Sec. 10-256. - Compounding.  

(a)  A person commits compounding if he or she accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit 
as consideration for:  

(1)  Refraining from seeking prosecution of an offender; or  
(2)  Refraining from reporting to law enforcement authorities the commission or 
suspected commission of any crime or information relating to a crime.  

(b)  Compounding is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-267. - Resisting an officer; assisting an escape; rescuing a prisoner.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to resist any peace officer, marshal, deputy marshal, any 
member of the Marshal's Department or any person duly empowered with police authority while 
in the discharge or apparent discharge of his or her duty or in any way to interfere with or hinder 
him or her in the discharge of his or her duty.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to offer or endeavor to assist any person to escape or to 
attempt to escape from custody, or rescue or attempt to rescue any person in the custody of a peace 
officer, marshal, deputy marshal, member of the Marshal's Department or a person duly 
empowered with police authority. to escape or to attempt to escape from custody.  
(c)  It shall be unlawful for any person to rescue or attempt to rescue any person in the custody 
of a peace officer, marshal, deputy marshal, a member of the Marshal's Department or a person 
duly empowered with police authority.  
Sec. 10-278. - False reporting to authorities.  

(a)  A person commits false reporting to authorities if:  
(1)  He or she knowingly causes a false alarm of fire or other emergency to be transmitted 
to or within an official or volunteer fire department, ambulance service or any other 
government agency which deals with emergencies involving danger to life or property;  
(2)  He or she makes a report or knowingly causes the transmission of a report to law 
enforcement authorities of a crime or other incident within their official concern when he 
or she knows that it did not occur; or  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0", Tab stops:  0", Left

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



(3)  He or she makes a report or knowingly causes the transmission of a report to law 
enforcement authorities pretending to furnish information relating to an offense or other 
incident within their official concern when he or she knows that he or she has no such 
information or knows that the information is false.  

(b)  False reporting to authorities is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-289. - Interference with alarm system; false alarm.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to damage or interfere with any fire alarm system or 
appliance or any part of the same. It shall beis unlawful for any person to make or give a false 
alarm of fire.  
Sec. 10-30. - Duty of citizens to aid peace officers, deputy marshals.  

It shall be the duty of all persons when called upon by a peace officer, marshal, deputy 
marshal or any other member of the Marshal's Department to promptly aid and assist such peace 
officer, marshal, deputy marshal or member in the discharge of his or her duties.  
Sec. 10-2931. - Impersonating an officer, Town officer, or employee.   

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person other than an official marshal or deputy marshal of the 
Town to wear the uniform, apparel or any other insignia of office like, similar to or a colorable 
imitation of that adopted and worn by the official marshal or deputy marshals.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to counterfeit, imitate or cause to be counterfeited, 
imitated or colorably imitated the uniform, apparel or insignia of office used by the Marshal's 
Department.  
(c) Is is unlawful for any person other than an official marshal or deputy marshal of the Town 
to operate a motor vehicle adorned with lights, insignias, or symbols to imitate the official Town 
policemarshal vehicles.  
Sec. 10-32. - Impersonating Town officers and employees.  

(c) It shall beis unlawful for any person to willfully, unlawfully or fraudulently represent 
himself or herself to be a Town officer or an employee of the Town and purporting to perform the 
duties of any such officer or employee when he or she is not an authorized officer or employee of 
the Town.  
Sec. 10-303. - Escapes.  

A person commits a Class 1 petty offense ifIt is unlawful for any person, while being in 
custody or confinement and held for or charged with but not convicted of a misdemeanor or petty 
offense, he or sheto knowingly escapes from said custody or confinement.  
Sec. 10-314. - Interference with official function; entering or remaining on restricted Town 
premises.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person to intentionally, knowingly or recklessly interfere with, 
disrupt, hinder or impede the normal operation of or an official function of the Town, or any 
department or official thereof.  

Formatted: Tab stops:  5.77", Left



Sec. 10-35. - Entering or remaining on restricted Town premises.  

(b) It is unlawful for any person to enter or remain in or on premises of the Town which have 
been posted "Employees Only," "No Admittance" or similar notice without invitation or 
permission of an authorized employee of the Town.  
Sec. 10-36. - Order to refrain from entering or for removal from Town premises.  

(c) It is unlawful for any person to remain in or on any premises of the Town or reenter any 
premises of the Town after the person has been ordered to remove himself or herself from the 
premises or to refrain from entering the premises by an employee of the Town. For purposes of 
this Section, the department head or employee on duty shall have the authority to issue an order 
for any person to remove himself or herself from the premises or to refrain from entering the 
premises.  
Secs. 10-327—10-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Attempt, Conspiracy, Complicity, Accessory  

Sec. 10-51. - Criminal attempt.  

(a)  A person commits criminal attempt if, acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required 
for commission of an offense, he or she engages in conduct constituting a substantial step toward 
the commission of the offense. A substantial step is any conduct, whether act, omission or 
possession, which is strongly corroborative of the firmness of the actor's purpose to complete the 
commission of the offense. Factual or legal impossibility of committing the offense is not a defense 
if the offense could have been committed had the attendant circumstances been as the actor 
believed them to be, nor is it a defense that the crime attempted was actually perpetrated by the 
accused.  
(b)  A person who engages in conduct intending to aid another to commit an offense commits 
criminal attempt if the conduct would establish his or her complicity under Section 18-1-603, 
C.R.S., were the offense committed by the other person, even if the other is not guilty of 
committing or attempting the offense.  
(c)  It is an affirmative defense to a charge under this Section that the defendant abandoned his 
or her effort to commit the crime or otherwise prevented its commission, under circumstances 
manifesting the complete and voluntary renunciation of this criminal intent.  
(d)  Criminal attempt to commit a misdemeanor is a misdemeanor.  
(e)  Criminal attempt to commit a petty offense is a crime of the same class as the offense itself.  
Sec. 10-52. - Conspiracy.  

(a)  A person commits conspiracy to commit a crime if, with the intent to promote or facilitate 
its commission, he or she agreed with another person or persons that they, or one (1) or more of 
them, will engage in conduct which constitutes a crime or an attempt to commit a crime, or he or 
she agreed to aid the other person or persons in the planning or commission of a crime or of an 
attempt to commit such crime.  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



(b)  No person may be convicted of conspiracy to commit a crime, unless an overt act in 
pursuance of that conspiracy is proved to have been done by him or by a person with whom he or 
she conspired.  
(c)  If a person knows that one with whom he or she conspires to commit a crime has conspired 
with another person or persons to commit the same crime, he or she is guilty of conspiring to 
commit a crime with the other person or persons, whether or not he or she knows their identity.  
(d)  If a person conspires to commit a number of crimes, he or she is guilty of only one (1) 
conspiracy so long as such multiple crimes are part of a single criminal episode.  
(e)  Conspiracy to commit a misdemeanor is a misdemeanor.  
(f)  Conspiracy to commit a petty offense is a crime of the same class as the offense itself.  
Sec. 10-53. - Complicity.  

A person is legally accountable as principal for the behavior of another constituting a 
criminal offense if, with the intent to promote or facilitate the commission of the offense, he or she 
aids, abets or advises the other person in planning or committing the offense.  
Sec. 10-54. - Accessory to crime.  

(a)  A person is an accessory to crime if, with intent to hinder, delay or prevent the discovery, 
detection, apprehension, prosecution, conviction or punishment of another for the commission of 
a crime, he or she renders assistance to such person.  
(b)  Render assistance means to:  

(1)  Harbor or conceal the other;  
(2)  Warn such person of impending discovery or apprehension; except that this does not 
apply to a warning given in an effort to bring such person into compliance with the law;  
(3)  Provide such person with money, transportation, weapon, disguise or other thing to 
be used in avoiding discovery or apprehension;  
(4)  By force, intimidation or deception, obstruct anyone in the performance of any act 
which might aid in the discovery, detection, apprehension, prosecution or punishment of 
such person; or  
(5)  Conceal, destroy or alter any physical evidence that might aid in the discovery, 
detection, apprehension, prosecution, conviction or punishment of such person.  

(c)  Being an accessory to crime is a Class 1 petty offense if the offender knows that the person 
being assisted has committed or has been convicted of, or is charged by pending information, 
indictment or complaint with a crime, or is suspected of or wanted for a crime, and if that crime is 
designated by this Code as a misdemeanor of any class.  
Secs. 10-55—10-70. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Offenses Against the Person  

Sec. 10-71. - Menacing.  



A person commits the crime of menacing if, by any threat or physical action, he or she 
knowingly places or attempts to place another person in fear of imminent serious bodily injury. 
Menacing is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-72. - Reckless endangerment.  

A person who recklessly engages in conduct which creates a substantial risk of serious 
bodily injury to another person commits reckless endangerment, which is a misdemeanor..  
Sec. 10-73. - False imprisonment.  

Any person who knowingly confines or detains another without the other's consent and 
without proper legal authority commits false imprisonment. , which is a misdemeanor. This 
Section shall not apply to a peace officer acting in good faith within the scope of his or her duties.  
Secs. 10-74—10-90. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Offenses Against Property  

Sec. 10-91. - Fourth degree arson.  

(a)  A person who knowingly or recklessly starts or maintains a fire or causes an explosion, on 
his or her own property or that of another, and by so doing places any building or occupied 
structure of another in danger of damage, commits fourth degree arson.  
 
(b)  Fourth degree arson is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-92. - Theft.  

(a)  A person commits theft when he or she knowingly obtains or exercises control over anything 
of another without authorization or by threat or deception when the value of the thing is less than 
four hundredone thousand dollars ($4001000.00), and:  

(1)  Intends to deprive the other person permanently of the use or benefit of the thing of 
value;  
(2)  Knowingly uses, conceals or abandons the thing of value in such manner as to deprive 
the other person permanently of its use or benefit;  
(3)  Uses, conceals or abandons the thing of value intending that such use, concealment 
or abandonment will deprive the other person permanently of its use and benefit; or  
(4)  Demands any consideration to which he or she is not legally entitled as a condition 
of restoring the thing of value to the other person.  
 

(b)  Theft is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-93. - Obtaining control over any stolen thing of value - conviction.  



Every person who obtains control over any stolen thing of value, knowing the thing of 
value to have been stolen by another, may be tried, convicted and punished, whether or not the 
principal is charged, tried or convicted.  
Sec. 10-94. - Motor vehicle theft.  

A person who knowingly obtains or exercises control over the motor vehicle of another 
without authorization or by threat or deception commits motor vehicle theft. Motor vehicle theft 
is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-945. - Theft by receiving.  

(a)  A person commits theft by receiving when he or she receives, retains, loans money by pawn 
or pledge on or disposes of anything of value of another, knowing or believing that the thing of 
value has been stolen, and when he or she intends to deprive the lawful owner permanently of the 
use or benefit of the thing of value, where the value of the thing of value is less than four 
hundredone thousand dollars ($4001000.00).  
(b)  Theft by receiving is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-96. - Criminal mischief.  

Any person who knowingly damages the real or personal property of one (1) or more other 
persons in the course of a single criminal episode commits criminal mischief, which is a 
misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-957. - Second and third degree criminal trespass.  

(a) A person commits the crime of second degree criminal trespass if he or she unlawfully 
enters or remains in or upon premises which are enclosed in a manner designed to exclude intruders 
or are fenced, or if he or she knowingly and unlawfully enters or remains in or upon the premises 
of a hotel, motel, condominium or apartment building. Second degree criminal trespass is a 
misdemeanor.  
(b) A person commits the crime of third degree criminal trespass if he or she unlawfully enters 
or remains in or upon premises. 
Sec. 10-98. - Third degree criminal trespass.  

A person commits the crime of third degree criminal trespass if he or she unlawfully enters 
or remains in or upon premises. Third degree criminal trespass is a Class 1 petty offense, but it is 
a misdemeanor if the premises have been classified by the County Assessor for the county in which 
the land is situated as agricultural land pursuant to Section 39-1-102(1.6), C.R.S.  
Sec. 10-969. - Second degree criminal tampering.  

Except as provided in Section 10-97100, a person commits the crime of second degree 
criminal tampering if he or she tampers with property of another with intent to cause injury, 
inconvenience or annoyance to that person or to another, or if he or she knowingly makes 
unauthorized connection with property of a utility. Second degree criminal tampering is a 
misdemeanor.  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Highlight



Sec. 10-97100. - Tampering and unauthorized connection.  

(a)  Any person who connects any pipe, tube, stopcock, wire, cord, socket, motor or other 
instrument or contrivance with any main, service pipe or other medium conducting or supplying 
gas, water or electricity to any building without the knowledge and consent of the person supplying 
such gas, water or electricity commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(b)  Any person who in any manner alters, obstructs or interferes with any meter pit, meter or 
metering device provided for measuring or registering the quantity of gas, water or electricity 
passing through said meter without the knowledge and consent of the person owning said meter 
commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(c)  A person who tampers with property of another with intent to cause injury, inconvenience 
or annoyance to that person or to another, or if he or she knowingly makes unauthorized connection 
with property of a utility, commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(d)  Nothing in this Section shall be construed to apply to any licensed electrical or plumbing 
contractor while performing usual and ordinary services in accordance with recognized customs 
and standards.  
Sec. 10-98101. - Damaging property of anotherprivate property.  

(a)  No person shall knowingly damage the real or personal property of another.  
(b)  This Section does not apply where the damage in the course of a single criminal episode is 
four hundredone thousand dollars ($4001,000.00) or more, is effected by means of fire or 
explosives or is otherwise feloniously caused.  
Sec. 10-99102. - Damaging public property.  

No person shall damage, move, remove, destroy or injure in any manner whatsoever or 
cause to be damaged, moved, removed, destroyed or injured any grass, tree, shrub, plant, flower, 
railing, bridge, culvert, sign, building or any other property whatsoever belonging to the Town or 
under the possession and control of the Town, unless done pursuant to a written permit or contract 
from the Town.  
Sec. 10-1003. - Defacing posted notice.  

Any person whoIt is unlawful for any person to knowingly mars, destroys or removes any 
posted notice authorized by law. commits a Class 1 petty offense.  
Sec. 10-1014. - Littering of public and private property.  

(a)  Any person who deposits, throws or leaves any litter on any public or private property or in 
any waters commits littering.  
(b)  The term litter, as used in this Section, means all rubbish, waste material, refuse, garbage, 
trash, debris or other foreign substances, solid or liquid, of every form, size, kind and description.  
(c)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that:  

(1)  Such property is an area designated by law for the disposal of such material and the 
person is authorized by the proper public authority to so use the property;  



(2)  The litter is placed in a receptacle or container installed on such property for that 
purpose; or  
(3)  Such person is the owner or tenant in lawful possession of such property, or he or 
she has first obtained written consent of the owner or tenant in lawful possession, or the 
act is done under the personal direction of said owner or tenant.  

(d)  The phrase public or private property as used in this Section includes, but is not limited to, 
the right-of-way of any road or highway, any body of water or watercourse, including frozen areas 
or the shores or beaches thereof, any park, playground or building, any refuge, conservation or 
recreation area, and any residential, farm or ranch properties or timberlands.  
(e)  It is in the discretion of the court, upon the conviction of any person and the imposition of a 
fine under this Section, to suspend any or all of the fine in excess of the mandatory minimum fine 
upon the condition that the convicted person gather and remove from specified public property or 
lawful possession thereof any litter found thereon, or upon the condition that the convicted person 
pick up litter at the time prescribed by and a place within the jurisdiction of the court for not less 
than eight (8) hours upon a second or subsequent conviction.  
(f)  Whenever litter is thrown, deposited, dropped or dumped from any motor vehicle in violation 
of this Section, the operator of said motor vehicle is presumed to have caused or permitted the 
litter to be so thrown, deposited, dropped or dumped therefrom.  
Sec. 10-1025. - Criminal use of a noxious substance.  

(a)  Any person who deposits on the land or in the building or vehicle of another, without his or 
her consent, any stink bomb or device, irritant or offensive-smelling substance, with the intent to 
interfere with another's use or enjoyment of the land, building or vehicle. , commits a 
misdemeanor.  
(b)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that a peace officer in the performance of his or her duties 
reasonably used a noxious substance.  
Secs. 10-1036—10-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Offenses Involving Fraud  

Sec. 10-121. - Unlawfully using slugs.  
(a)  A person commits unlawfully using slugs if:  

(1)  With intent to defraud the vendor of property or a service sold by means of a 
coin machine, he or she knowingly inserts, deposits or uses a slug in such machine or 
causes the machine to be operated by any other unauthorized means; or  
(2)  He or she makes, possesses or disposes of a slug or slugs with intent to enable a 
person to use it or them fraudulently in a coin machine.  

(b)  Slug means any object or article which, by virtue of its size, shape or any other quality, 
is capable of being inserted, deposited or otherwise used in a coin machine as an improper 
but effective substitute for a genuine coin, bill or token, and of thereby enabling a person to 
obtain without valid consideration the property or service sold through the machine.  
(c)  Unlawfully using slugs is a misdemeanor.  

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold



Sec. 10-1212. - Fraud by check.  
(a)  A person violates this Section if he or she issues or passes a check or similar sight order for 
the payment of money in an amount less than four hundred one thousand dollars ($4001,000.00), 
knowing that the issuer does not have sufficient funds in or on deposit with the bank or other 
drawee for the payment in full of the check or order, as well as all other checks or orders 
outstanding at the time of issuance.  
(b)  This Section does not relieve the prosecution from the necessity of establishing the required 
knowledge by evidence. However, for purposes of this Section, the issuer's knowledge of 
insufficient funds is presumed, except in the case of a postdated check or order, if:  

(1)  He or she has no account with the bank or other drawee at the time he or she issues 
the check or order; or  
(2)  He or she has insufficient funds upon deposit with the bank or other drawee to pay 
the check or order, on presentation within thirty (30) days after issuance.  

(c)  Insufficient funds means not having a sufficient balance in account with a bank or other 
drawee for the payment of a check or order when the check or order is presented for payment and 
it remains unpaid thirty (30) days after such presentment.  
(d)  A bank shall not be civilly or criminally liable for releasing information relating to the 
issuer's account to a deputy marshal investigating or prosecuting a charge under this Section.  
Secs. 10-1223—10-140. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VII - Offenses Relating to Drugs  

Sec. 10-141. - Definitions.  

As used in this Article, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed hereafter:  
(1)  Controlled substance means a drug or other substance or an immediate precursor which is 
declared to be a controlled substance under this ArticleC.R.S. § 18-18-102, and also includes 
marijuana, marijuana concentrate and cocaine.  
(2)   Drug paraphernalia means all equipment, products, and material of any kind which are 
used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, 
harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, 
analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, 
or otherwise introducing into the human body a controlled substance in violation of the statutes of 
the State of Colorado.means any machine, instrument, tool, equipment or device which is primarily 
designed and intended for one (1) or more of the following:  
a.  To introduce into the human body any controlled substance under circumstances in violation 
of the laws of this State;  
b.  To enhance the effect on the human body of any controlled substance under circumstances in 
violation of the laws of this State;  
c.  To conceal any quantity of any controlled substance under circumstances in violation of the 
laws of this State; or  

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list0, Left



d.  To test the strength, effectiveness or purity of any controlled substance under circumstances 
in violation of the laws of this State.  
(3)      Marijuana means all parts of the plant of the genus cannabis whether growing or not, the 
seeds thereof, the resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, manufacture, 
salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, 
including marijuana concentrate. "Marijuana" does not include industrial hemp, nor does it include 
fiber produced from the stalks, oil, or cake made from the seeds of the plant, sterilized seed of the 
plant which is incapable of germination, or the weight of any other ingredient combined 
with marijuana to prepare topical or oral administrations, food, drink, or other product. 
(4) Marijuana accessories means any equipment, products, or materials of any kind which are 
used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, 
harvesting, composting manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, 
preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, vaporizing, or 
containing marijuana, or ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing marijuana to the human 
body. 

 (5) Observable means observable by a person with or without the aid of special devices. 
 (6) Openly and publicly means activity that is observable by the public or a substantial number 

of the public, which occurs in a place to which the public or a substantial number of the public has 
access without restriction, including but not limited to streets and highways, transportation 
facilities, places of amusement, parks, playgrounds, and the common areas of buildings and other 
facilities. "Openly and publicly" does not include any activity occurring on private residential 
property by the occupant or his or her guests. 

 (7) Public place means a place to which the public or a substantial number of the public has 
access, and includes but is not limited to highways, streets, sidewalks, transportation facilities, 
schools, places of amusement, parks, vehicles on public streets or highways, playgrounds and the 
common areas of public and private buildings and facilities. "Public place" also includes property 
owned, operated, leased or maintained by the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof, 
or property owned, operated, leased or maintained by the Town. 

 
Sec. 10-142. - Possession of drug paraphernalia.  

(a)  A person commits possession of drug paraphernalia if he or she possesses drug paraphernalia 
and intends to use the drug paraphernalia under circumstances in violation of the laws of this State.  
(b) The provisions of this section shall not apply to the possession of marijuana accessories by 
a person that is twenty-one years of age or older, or by a person with a valid medical marijuana 
registration card.  
(cb)  Any person who commits possession of drug paraphernalia commits a Class 2 petty offense.  
Sec. 10-143. - Marijuana—Display, possession, consumption, transferring, distribution, and 
cultivation.Possession of marijuana.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Tab stops:  0.44", Left

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left:  -0.3"

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left:  -0.3", Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.06"

Formatted: Tab stops:  0.38", Left



 (a) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to knowingly possess, use, 
display, purchase, or transport marijuana in any amount; except as allowed by a valid 
medical marijuana registration card.Any person who possesses not more than one (1) ounce of 
marijuana commits a Class 2 petty offense.  

 

(a) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to knowingly possess, use, 
display, purchase, or transport marijuana in any amount; except as allowed by a valid medical 
marijuana registration card.  

(b) It is unlawful for any person twenty-one years of age or older to knowingly:  

 (1) Possess, use, display, purchase, or transport more than one ounce of marijuana, 
except as allowed by a valid medical marijuana registration card; 

 (2) Consume marijuana openly and publicly, or in a manner that endangers others; 

 (3) Transfer, dispense, or sell marijuana, provided, however, that the transfer of one 
ounce or less of marijuana without remuneration to a person who is twenty-one years of age older 
shall not be unlawful, and provided further, that the lawful transfer, dispensing or selling 
of marijuana by; 

 (4) Possess, grow, process, or transport more than six marijuana plants or more than 
three mature, flowering marijuana plants, except as permitted for a licensed retail or 
medical marijuana establishment; or 

 (5) Display marijuana on Town property. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, it shall not be unlawful for a person twenty-
one years of age or older to possess, grow, process, or transport no more than six marijuana plants, 
with three or fewer being mature, flowering plants, provided that the growing takes place in an 
enclosed, locked space, is not conducted openly or publicly, and the marijuana produced by the 
plants on the premises is not made available for sale. 

Sec. 10-144. -– False identification. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to present a false, fictitious, or 
counterfeit identification when purchasing or attempting to purchase marijuana. 

(b) It is unlawful for any person twenty-one years of age or older to present a false, fictitious, 
or counterfeit identification when purchasing or attempting to purchase marijuana. 

Sec. 10-145. -– Procuring marijuana for or by a minor; sales to a minor.  

Formatted: Font: Bold



(a) It is unlawful for any person to purchase for consumption or possession by, to otherwise 
provide for consumption or possession by, or to sell to, any person under the age of twenty-one 
years, marijuana. 

(b) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to possess, attempt to purchase, 
purchase or obtain marijuana, either directly or indirectly, or through an intermediary, by 
misrepresentation of age or by any other means. 

Secs. 10-1464—10-160. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIII - Offenses Relating to Alcoholic Beverages  

Sec. 10-161. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Code, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed hereafter:  
Definitions in this code follow definitions in Colorado liquor code, except where otherwise 
indicated.  
(1)  Alcoholic beverages or alcoholic liquors means malt beverages, vinous or spirituous liquors.  
(2) Ethyl alcohol , also commonly called ethanol, drinking alcohol or simply alcohol , is the 
principal type of alcohol found in alcoholic beverages, produced by the fermentation of sugars by 
yeasts. 
(2)  Fermented malt beverage means any beverage obtained by the fermentation of any infusion 
or decoction of barley, malt, hops or any similar product or any combination thereof in water 
containing not less than one-half of one percent (0.5%) and not more than three and two-tenths 
percent (3.2%) alcohol by weight.  
(3)  Malt liquors includes beer and shall be construed to mean any beverage obtained by the 
alcoholic fermentation of any infusion or decoction of barley, malt, hops or any other similar 
product, or any combination thereof, in water containing more than three and two-tenths percent 
(3.2%) of alcohol by weight.  
(4)  Spirituous liquors means any alcoholic beverage obtained by distillation, mixed with water 
and other substances in solution, and includes among other things brandy, rum, whiskey, gin and 
every liquid or solid, patented or not, containing at least one-half of one percent (0.5%) alcohol 
and which is fit for use for beverage purposes. Any liquid or solid containing beer or wine in 
combination with any other liquor except malt liquors and vinous liquors shall be construed to be 
spirituous liquor.  
(5)  Vinous liquors means wine and fortified wines which contain not less than one-half of one 
percent (0.5%) and not more than twenty-one percent (21%) of alcohol by volume and shall be 
construed to mean alcoholic beverage obtained by the fermentation of the natural sugar contents 
of fruits or other agricultural products containing sugar.  
Sec. 10-162. - Sales near schools.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to sell, offer or expose for sale or gift, beer or any 
vinous, spirituous or malt liquors within a distance of two hundred fifty (250) feet from any private, 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Tab stops:  0.38", Left



public or parochial school, said distance to be computed by direct measurement from the nearest 
property lines. This prohibition shall not, however, affect the rights of any person now holding a 
lawful permit or license to conduct such business within the restricted area hereby established; nor 
shall this prohibition prevent the renewal upon the expiration thereof of any license in effect at this 
time authorizing such business within the restricted area hereby established.  
Sec. 10-163. - Regulations concerning fermented malt beverages.  

(a)  It is unlawful to sell fermented malt beverage to any person under the age of twenty-one (21) 
years, or to any person between the hours of midnight and 5:00 a.m., or for any person under 
twenty-one (21) years to purchase or possess the same. It is unlawful to permit any fermented malt 
beverages to be sold or dispensed by a person under the age of twenty-one (21) years or to permit 
any such person to participate in the sale or dispensing thereof.  
(b)  It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years to represent himself or 
herself to be of the age of twenty-one (21) years or more for the purpose of purchasing within the 
Town any fermented malt beverage.  
(c)  It is unlawful for any person over the age of twenty-one (21) years to purchase or attempt to 
purchase fermented malt beverage for a person under the age of twenty-one (21) years.  
(d)  It is unlawful to fail to display at all times in a prominent place on premises licensed for 
retail sale of fermented malt beverages a printed card with a minimum height of fourteen (14) 
inches and a width of eleven (11) inches, with each letter to be a minimum of one-half (½) inch in 
height, which shall read as follows:  
WARNING  
IT IS ILLEGAL TO SELL 3.2 BEER TO ANY PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF 
AGE, AND IT IS ILLEGAL FOR ANY PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE 
TO POSSESS OR TO ATTEMPT TO PURCHASE THE SAME.  
IDENTIFICATION CARDS WHICH APPEAR TO BE FRAUDULENT WHEN PRESENTED 
BY PURCHASERS MAY BE CONFISCATED BY THE ESTABLISHMENT AND TURNED 
OVER TO A LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY.  
IT IS ILLEGAL IF YOU ARE TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE OR OVER FOR YOU TO 
PURCHASE 3.2 BEER FOR A PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE.  
FINES AND IMPRISONMENT MAY BE IMPOSED BY THE COURTS FOR VIOLATION OF 
THESE PROVISIONS.  
(e)  It shall be unlawful for any minor under twenty-one (21) years of age to have in his or her 
possession fermented malt beverages in public places, including but not limited to, public streets, 
alleys, roads or highways.  
Sec. 10-1634. - Regulations concerning alcoholic beverages.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to sell alcoholic beverages to any person under the age 
of twenty-one (21) years or to permit any alcoholic beverages to be sold or dispensed by a person 
under twenty-one (21) years of age, or to permit any such person to participate in the sale or 
dispensing thereof.  



(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any minor under twenty-one (21) years of age to have in his or her 
possession alcoholic beverages in public places, including but not limited to, public streets, alleys, 
roads or highways. possess or consume ethyl alcohol in the Town.  
(c)  It shall beis unlawful for any person, whether for remuneration or not, to procure for any 
person under twenty-one (21) years of age any article which the person under the age of twenty-
one (21) years of age is forbidden by law to purchase or possess.  
(d) It is unlawful to serve, give away, dispose of, exchange, deliver or permit the sale, serving, 
giving or procuring of any alcoholic beverage to or for any person under the age of 21 years, a 
visibly intoxicated person or a known habitual drunkard. 
Sec. 10-165. - Minors prohibited in taverns; exceptions; signs to be posted.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person who is the proprietor or keeper of a tavern to employ or 
permit any minor under the age of twenty-one (21) years to frequent or be in or about such place 
unless accompanied by such minor's parent or to drink any intoxicating liquors or beer or any other 
fermented malt beverage in or about the same or to engage or participate in any game of billiards 
or any game, bet or wager with any cards or any other gambling device or any other game 
whatsoever in or about such place.  
(b)  It shall be the duty of any person who is the proprietor or keeper of a tavern to post 
conspicuously in his or her place of business the following sign:  

Minors under the age of twenty-one (21) years not allowed here unless accompanied by 
parents.  

Failure to so post sign shall constitute an unlawful act.  

Sec. 10-1646. - Fights at bars or disturbances.  

No licensee shall permit any disturbance, undue noise or unlawful or disorderly act or 
conduct by any person or group of persons upon the premises.  
Sec. 10-1657. - Possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages in public prohibited.  

(a)  No person within the Town limits shall possess an opened container of or consume any malt, 
vinous or spirituous liquor or fermented malt beverage in public, except upon premises licensed 
for consumption of the liquor or beverage involved.  
(b)  For purposes of this Section, opened container means any container other than an original 
closed container as sealed or closed for sale to the public by the manufacturer or bottler of the 
liquor or beverage, or any container other than the sealed container prepared by a retailer for 
alcohol takeout or delivery in conjunction with state law.. If an original container has been 
unsealed, undone or opened in any manner, it is an opened container for purposes of this Section.  
(c)  For purposes of this Section, in public means in or upon any public highway, street, alley, 
walk, parking lot, building, park or other public property or place, whether in a vehicle or not.  
Secs. 10-1668—10-190. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IX - Offenses Against Public Peace, Order and Decency  

Formatted: Tab stops:  0.38", Left

Commented [KJV2]: Could be hard to enforce other than 
through licensing  

Commented [K3]: THERE NEEDS TO BE SOME MENTION OF 
“PICNIC LICENSES” FOR SPECIAL EVENTS SUCH AS WHEN 
THE MOOSE FENCES OFF PART OF THE PARKING LOT FOR 
LARGE EVENTS. ADDITIONALLY, COVID CONSIDERATIONS 
ALLOWED FOR THE SALE OF TO GO BEVERAGES. MIXED 
DRINKS WERE INCLUDED AND CURRENT LEGISLATION 
SEEMS TO BE LEANING TOWARD KEEPING THOSE 
ALLOWANCES IN PLACE. SOME MENTION SHOULD BE 
INCLUDED TO GIVE DIRECTION ON WHAT IS ACCEPTABLE TO 
MEET THE CLOSED CONTAINER REQUIREMENT. – from 
Marshal 
 
This will need to go in business licensing.   
 
44-5-101 perm license change, temporary rules with covid, 
special events,  
 



Sec. 10-191. - Indecent exposure.  

(a)  A person commits indecent exposure if he or she knowingly exposes his or her genitals to 
the view of any person under circumstances in which such conduct is likely to cause affront or 
alarm to the other person .  
(b)  Indecent exposure is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-192. - Storage of flammable liquids.  

It shall beis unlawful to store or cause to be stored or parked any tank vehicle carrying 
flammable liquids or gases upon any streets, ways or avenues of the Town or in any other part of 
the Town, except those areas zoned for such uses.  
Sec. 10-193. - Abandoned containers, wells or cisterns.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to leave or permit to remain outside of any dwellings, 
buildings or other structures or within any unoccupied or abandoned building, structure or dwelling 
under his or her control, in a place accessible to children, any abandoned, unattended or discarded 
ice box, refrigerator or other container which has a door, lid, snap lock or other locking device 
which may not be released from the inside, without first removing said door, lid, snap lock or other 
locking device.  
Sec. 10-194. - Explosives.  

(a) It shall beis unlawful for any person to store within the Town limits any amount of 
gunpowder, blasting powder, nitroglycerine, dynamite or other high five hundred (500) caps or 
other devices used for the detonation of such high explosives; other than gunpowder in conjunction 
with the lawful use of firearms and associated ammunition.  
 
Sec. 10-195. - False alarms.  

Any person who shall intentionally make or give a false alarm of fire shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-196. - Assault.  

(a)  A person commits the crime of assault if he or she causes bodily injury to another person. 
The causing of pain upon another person shall be prima facie evidence of bodily injury.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful to assault another person.  
Sec. 10-197. - Harassment; stalking.  

(a)  A person commits harassment if, with intent to harass, annoy or alarm another person, he or 
she:  

(1)  Strikes, shoves, kicks or otherwise touches a person or subjects him or her to physical 
contact;  
(2)  In a public place directs obscene language or makes an obscene gesture to or at 
another person;  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Commented [K4]: This is in 10-28 and 10-29 



(3)  Follows a person in or about a public place or, without the consent of the owner 
thereof, onto private property or into a private residence;  
(4)   Directly or indirectly initiates communication with a person or directs language 
toward another person, anonymously or otherwise, by telephone, telephone network, data 
network, text message, instant message, computer, computer network, computer system, 
or other interactive electronic medium in a manner intended to harass or threaten bodily 
injury or property damage, or makes any comment, request, suggestion, or proposal by 
telephone, computer, computer network, computer system, or other interactive electronic 
medium that is obscene; orInitiates communication with a person, anonymously or 
otherwise by telephone, in a manner intended to harass or threaten bodily injury or property 
damage, or makes any comment, request, suggestion or proposal by telephone which is 
obscene;  
(5)  Makes a telephone call or causes a telephone to ring repeatedly, whether or not a 
conversation ensues, with no purpose of legitimate conversation;  
(6)  Makes repeated communications at inconvenient hours that invade the privacy of 
another and interfere in the use and enjoyment of another's home or private residence or 
other private property and the abuse or threat tends to incite an immediate breech of the 
peace; or  
(7)  Repeatedly insults, taunts or challenges another in a manner likely to provoke a 
violent or disorderly response.  

(b)  As used in this Section, unless the context otherwise requires, obscene means a patently 
offensive description of ultimate sexual acts or solicitation to commit ultimate sexual acts, whether 
or not said ultimate sexual acts are normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including 
masturbation, cunnilingus, fellatio, anilingus or excretory functions.  
(c)  Harassment is a misdemeanor.  
(cd)  Any act prohibited by Subparagraph (4) of Subsection (a) of this Section may be deemed 
to have occurred or to have been committed at the place at which the telephone call was either 
made or received.  
Sec. 10-198. - Disorderly conduct.  

(a)  A person commits disorderly conduct if he or she intentionally, knowingly or recklessly:  
(1)  Makes a coarse and obviously offensive utterance, gesture or display in a public place 
and the utterance, gesture or display tends to incite an immediate breach of the peace;  
(2)  Abuses or threatens a person in a public place in an obviously offensive manner;  
(3)  Makes unreasonable noise in a public place or near a private residence that he or she 
has no right to occupy;  
(4)  Fights with another in a public place except in an amateur or professional contest of 
athletic skill;  
(5)  Not being a peace officer, displays a deadly weapon in a public place except when 
engaged in lawful target practice or hunting; or  



(6)  Not being a peace officer, displays a deadly weapon in a public place in a manner 
calculated to alarm.  

(b)  It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under Subsection (a)(2) of this Section that the 
actor had significant provocation for his or her abusive or threatening conduct.  
(c)  An offense under Subsection (a)(1) to (a)(3) of this Section is a Class 1 petty offense; and 
an offense under Subsections (a)(4) to (a)(6) is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-199. - Disrupting lawful assembly.  

(a)  A person commits disrupting lawful assembly if, intending to prevent or disrupt any lawful 
meeting, procession or gathering, including religious worship, he or she significantly obstructs or 
interferes with the meeting, procession or gathering by physical action, verbal utterance or any 
other means.  
(b)  Disrupting lawful assembly is a misdemeanor.  
Sec. 10-200. - Disturbing religious worship.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to disquiet or disturb any congregation or assembly for 
religious worship by making a noise, by rude or indecent behavior or by profane discourse within 
their place of worship, or so near the same as to disturb the order or solemnity of the meeting.  
Sec. 10-2001. - Loitering.  

(a)  The word loiter means to be dilatory, to stand idly around, to linger, delay or wander about, 
or to remain, abide or tarry in a public place.  
(b)  A person commits a Class 1 petty offense if he or she:  

(1)  Loiters for the purpose of unlawful gambling;  
(2)  Loiters for the purpose of engaging or soliciting another person to engage in 
prostitution.  
(3)  With intent to interfere with or disrupt the school program or with intent to interfere 
with or endanger schoolchildren, loiters in a school building or on school grounds or within 
one hundred (100) feet of school grounds when persons under the age of eighteen (18) are 
present in the building or on the grounds, not having any reason or relationship involving 
custody of, or responsibility for, a pupil or any other specific legitimate reason for being 
there, and having been asked to leave by a school administrator or his or her representative 
or by a peace officer; or  
(4)  Loiters with one (1) or more persons for the purpose of unlawfully using or 
possessing a controlled substance, as defined in Section 10-141(1) of this Code.  

(c)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that the defendant's acts were lawful and he or she was 
exercising his or her rights of lawful assembly as part of a peaceful and orderly petition for the 
redress of grievance, either in the course of labor disputes or otherwise.  
Sec. 10-202. - Desecration of venerated objects.  



(a)  A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she knowingly desecrates any public monument, 
structure or place of worship or burial or desecrates in a public place any other object of veneration 
by the public or a substantial segment thereof.  
(b)  The term desecrate means defacing, damaging, polluting or otherwise physically mistreating 
in a way that the defendant knows will outrage the sensibilities of persons likely to observe or 
discover his or her action or its result.  
Sec. 10-2013. - Hindering transportation.  

A person commits a misdemeanor if he or sheIt is unlawful for any person to knowingly 
and without lawful authority forcibly stops and hinders the operation of any vehicle used in 
providing transportation services of any kind to the public or to any person, association or 
corporation.  
Sec. 10-204. - Throwing of stones or missiles.  

No person shall throw or shoot any stone or other missile at or upon any person, animal, 
public or private property, building, structure, tree or shrub.  
Sec. 10-205. - Publications inciting hatred and violence.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to publish, distribute or cause to be published or 
distributed any circular, pamphlet, card or dodger, whether anonymous or not, which incites, 
counsels, promotes or advocates hatred, violence or hostility against any person or group or 
persons residing in the Town, by reason of race, color, gender identity, sexual orientation, religion 
or manner of worship.  
Sec. 10-2026. - Disturbance, breach of peace.  

It is unlawful for any person in the Town to make, countenance or assist in the making of 
undue or unnecessary noise, riot, disturbance or breach of peace on public or private property so 
as to disturb or cause to be disturbed the lawful peace and quiet of another person or persons.  
Sec. 10-2037. - Public urination.  

No person shall urinate or defecate when in any park within the Town limits, or on any 
property zoned for residential uses without the express permission of the owner, or within any 
portion of the Town zoned for business, industrial or public uses, unless such voiding is made into 
a receptacle that has been provided for that purpose that stores or disposes of the wastes in a 
sanitary manner and that is enclosed from the view of the general public.  
Secs. 10-2048—10-230. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE X - Offenses Relating to Weapons  

Sec. 10-231. - Unlawfully carrying a concealed weapon.  

(a)  A person commits a misdemeanor if he or sheIt is unlawful for a person to knowingly: and 
unlawfully:  

Commented [K5]: First amendment issues, other laws 
covering this in a narrow way, harassment covers most of 
this.   



(1)  Carries a knife with a blade exceeding 3.5” concealed on or about his or her person; 
or  
(2)  Carries a firearm concealed on or about his or her person.  

(b)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that the defendant was:  
(1)  A person in his or her own dwelling or place of business or on property owned or 
under his or her control at the time of the act of carrying;  
(2)  A person in a private automobile or other private means of conveyance who carries 
a weapon for lawful protection of his, her or another's property, while traveling;  
(3)  A person who, prior to the time of carrying a concealed weapon, has been issued a 
written permit pursuant to law; or  
(4)  A peace officer.  

Sec. 10-232. - Prohibited use of weapons.  

A person commits a misdemeanor if: It is unlawful for any person to:  
(1)  KHe or she knowingly and unlawfully aims a firearm at another person;  
(2)  Recklessly or with criminal negligence, he or she discharges a firearm or shoots a bow and 
arrow;  
(3)  He or she Kknowingly sets a loaded gun, trap or device designed to cause an explosion upon 
being tripped or approached, and leaves it unattended by a competent person immediately present; 
or  
(4)  He or she has in his or herHave in their possession a firearm while he or she is under the 
influence of intoxicating liquor or of a controlled substance, as defined in Section 10-141(1) of 
this Code. Possession of a permit issued under Section 18-12-105.1, C.R.S., is no defense to a 
violation of this Section.  
Secs. 10-233—10-250. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XI - Offenses Relating to Minors  

Sec. 10-251. - Juvenile loitering during nighttime hours.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person under the age of eighteen (18) years to loiter or to 
aimlessly drive or ride about, on or about any street, avenue, highway, road, sidewalk, curb, gutter, 
parking lot, alley, vacant lot, park, playground, yard, building, place of amusement or eating place, 
whether public or private, without the consent or permission of the owner or occupant thereof, 
during the hours ending at 6:00 a.m. and beginning at 12:00 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday mornings 
and beginning at 10:00 p.m. on Sunday night through Thursday night. No violation of this Section 
will have occurred if the person under the age of eighteen (18) years is accompanied by a parent, 
guardian or other adult person over the age of twenty-one (21) years who is authorized by a parent 
or guardian of such juvenile to take said parent's place in accompanying said juvenile for a 
designated period of time and purpose within a specified area.  
(b)  Each violation of the provisions of this Section shall constitute a separate offense.  

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [KJV6]: Make note.  And exception for going 
to and from place of employment 



Sec. 10-252. - Juvenile loitering during nighttime hours; parental responsibility.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for the parent, guardian or other adult person having the care and 
custody of a juvenile under the age of eighteen (18) years to knowingly permit or allow such 
juvenile to loiter or to aimlessly drive or ride about at the places and within the time prohibited by 
Section 10-251. The term knowingly includes knowledge which a parent should be reasonably 
expected to have concerning the whereabouts of a juvenile in that parent or guardian's custody. It 
shall be no defense that a parent, guardian or other person having the care and custody of the 
juvenile was indifferent to the activities, conduct or whereabouts of such juvenile.  
(b)  Each violation of the provisions of this Section shall constitute a separate offense.  
Sec. 10-253. - Parent or guardian aiding, abetting.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to knowingly permit any minor child or children to 
aid, abet or encourage in or to approve, encourage, allow, permit, tolerate or consent to the 
violation by any minor child or children, of any provision of this Article or any ordinances of the 
Town. It is unlawful for any person, after notice that a driver's license of any child has been 
suspended or revoked, to permit such child to operate a motor vehicle during the period that such 
driver's license is suspended. 
Sec. 10-254. - Encouraging delinquency.  

It shall be unlawful for any person, by any act or neglect, to encourage, aid or cause a child 
to come within the purview of the juvenile authorities, and it shall likewise be unlawful for any 
person, after notice that a driver's license of any child has been suspended or revoked, to permit 
such child to operate a motor vehicle during the period that such driver's license is suspended.  
Sec. 10-2545. - Services of others.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years to engage or 
utilize the services of any other person, whether for remuneration or not, to procure any article 
which the minor is forbidden by law to purchase.  
Sec. 10-2556. - Loitering and other acts in or about schools.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to loiter, idle, wander, stroll or play in, about or on 
any public, private or parochial school, college or seminary grounds or buildings, either on foot or 
in or on any vehicle, without having some lawful business therein or thereabout or in connection 
with such school or the employees thereof, or for any person to:  

(1)  Annoy, disturb or otherwise prevent the orderly conduct of classes and activities of 
any such school;  
(2)  Annoy, disturb, assault or molest any student or employee of any such school, college 
or seminary while in any such school building or on any school grounds;  
(3)  Conduct himself or herself in a lewd, wanton or lascivious manner in speech or 
behavior in or about any school building or school grounds; or  
(4)  Park or move a vehicle in the immediate vicinity of or on the grounds of any such 
school, college or seminary for the purpose of annoying or molesting the students or 



employees thereof or in an effort to induce, entice or invite students into such vehicles for 
immoral purposes.  

Secs. 10-2567—10-270. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XII - Noise  

Sec. 10-271. - Noise.  

(a)  The making and creation of excessive, unnecessary or unusually loud noises within the limits 
of the Town is a condition which has existed, and the extent and volume of such noises continue 
to be of concern.  
(b)  The making, creation or maintenance of such excessive, unnecessary, unnatural or unusually 
loud noises which are prolonged, unusual and unnatural in their time, place and use, affect and are 
a detriment to public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity of the residents 
of the Town.  
(c)  The necessity in the public interest for the provisions and prohibitions contained and enacted 
in this Chapter is declared as a matter of legislative determination and public policy, and it is 
further declared that the provisions and prohibitions contained in this Chapter and enacted are in 
pursuance of and for the purpose of securing and promoting the public health, comfort, 
convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity of the residents of the Town.  
Sec. 10-2712. - Prohibited noise.  

(a)  The following noises are prohibited:  
(1)  The sounding of any horn or signaling device on any automotive, motorcycle or other 
vehicle on any street or public or private place for a prolonged time, except as a danger 
warning.  
(2)  The operating or permitting to be played or use of any machine or device for the 
producing or reproducing of sound in such a manner as to exceed the limits in Section 10-
272(b), below.  
(3)  Yelling, shouting, hooting, whistling or singing, particularly between the hours of 
10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., so as to annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort or repose of persons 
in any dwelling, hotel or other type of residence or of any persons in the vicinity.  
(4)  The discharge into the open air of the exhaust of any stationary internal combustion 
engine, motor boat or motor vehicle except through a muffler or other device which will 
effectively prevent loud or explosive noises therefrom.  
(5)  Defect in vehicle or load. The use of any automobile, motorcycle or vehicle so out 
of repair, so loaded or in such manner as to create loud and unnecessary grating, grinding, 
rattling or other noise.  
(6)  Construction or repairing of buildings. The erection (including excavation), 
demolition, alteration or repair of any building other than between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 
except in case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety, and then only 
with a permit from the Town Clerk, which permit may be granted for a period not to exceed 



three (3) days or less while the emergency continues and which permit may be renewed for 
periods of three (3) days or less while the emergency continues.  

(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to make or assist in making any noise tending to 
unreasonably disturb the peace and quiet of persons in the vicinity thereof unless the making and 
continuing of the same cannot be prevented and is necessary for the protection, preservation or 
improvement of property or of the health, safety, life or limb of some person. In applying the 
provisions of this Section, the following noise levels shall create a presumption that the noise 
unreasonably disturbs the peace and quiet of persons in the vicinity thereof:  

Zone  7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.  7:00 p.m. to next 7:00 a.m.  

Residential  55 dB(A)  50 dB(A)  

Commercial  60 dB(A)  55 dB(A)  

 

The noise shall be measured on the A weighing scale on a sound level meter of standard design 
and quality and having characteristics established by the American National Standards Institute.  
For purposes of this Section, measurements with sound level meters shall be made when wind 
velocity is not more than five (5) miles per hour, or twenty-five (25) miles per hour with a 
windscreen. Measurements shall be made at a distance of at least twenty-five (25) feet from a noise 
source located within the public right-of-way, and if the noise source is located on private property 
or property other than the public right-of-way, at the property line of the property on which the 
noise source is located.  
(c)  The following are exemptions to the noises prohibited by Subsection (b):  

(1)  Noises of safety signals, burglar, fire and flood warning devices, and orders given 
through an electronic voice amplifier by a Law Enforcement Officer or by a member of a 
Fire Department.  
(2)  Noises resulting from any authorized emergency vehicle when responding to an 
emergency call.  
(3)  Noises resulting from work authorized by the Town.  
(4)  The electronic amplification of sound emanating from an event authorized by the 
Town.  
(5)  Any other noise resulting from activities of a temporary duration permitted by law 
and for which a license or permit therefore has been granted by the Town in accordance 
with Town policy.  
(6)  Any noise resulting from activities necessary for the compliance with weeds and 
brush regulations of Chapter 7, Article III of this Code, or to mitigate fire or other dangers 
to the property, including but not limited to the use of chainsaws, weed whackers and 
lawnmowers, so long as said activities occur between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.  

Sec. 10-2723. - Waiver.  

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  12 pt



The Board of Trustees will consider requests for waiver of any portion of Sections 10-271 
and 10-272 for an event for which the organizers wish to use electronically amplified sound after 
the hours prescribed within said sections. After hearing all who wish to speak for or against the 
request, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether or not the granting of the waiver will unduly 
disturb the neighborhood in which the event is to take place.  
Sec. 10-274. - Animals.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to use, keep, have in his or her possession or harbor any 
domesticated animals which, by frequent or habitual howling, barking, meowing, squawking or 
otherwise, shall cause annoyance or disturbance to persons in the neighborhood; provided, 
however, that the provisions of this subsection shall not apply to hospitals conducted for the 
treatment of small animals which are approved by the Health Department, or to premises occupied 
or used by the Town pound.  
Sec. 10-2735. - Sirens, whistles, gongs and red lights.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to carry or use upon a vehicle, other than Marshal's or 
Fire Department vehicles or emergency vehicles for public use, any gong, siren, whistle or red 
light similar to that used on ambulances or vehicles of the Marshal's and Fire Departments.  
Sec. 10-2746. - Mufflers.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to operate a motor vehicle which shall not at all times 
be equipped with a muffler upon the exhaust thereof in good working order and in constant 
operation to prevent excessive or unusual noise, and it shall beis unlawful for any person operating 
any motor vehicle to use a cut-out, bypass or similar muffler elimination appliance.  
Secs. 10-2757—10-290. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIII - Fireworks  

Sec. 10-291. - Definitions.  

Fireworks means and includes any article, device or substance prepared for the primary 
purpose of producing a visual or auditory sensation by combustion, explosion, deflagration or 
detonation, including without limitation the following articles and devices commonly known and 
used as fireworks: toy cannons, toy canes in which explosives are used, blank cartridges, the type 
of balloon which requires fire underneath to propel the same, firecrackers, torpedoes, skyrockets, 
roman candles and Day-Globombs. The term fireworks shall not include fountains, pinwheels, toy 
pistols, toy guns, sparklers or torches which do not contain explosive charges or other devices in 
which paper caps manufactured in accordance with United States Interstate Commerce 
Commission regulations for packing and shipping of toy paper caps are used and toy pistol paper 
caps manufactured as provided above.  
Sec. 10-292. - License required.  

No person shall sell at retail any type of fireworks, including fountains, pinwheels, 
sparklers or torches, until he or she has obtained a license from the Board of Trustees.  
Sec. 10-2921. – Fireworks prohibited.  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



The use of fireworks, firecrackers, torpedoes, Roman candles, skyrockets and other 
pyrotechnic displays are prohibited within the corporate limits of the Town; provided however, 
that the Town may from time to time issue special permits allowing public displays sponsored by 
the Town. 

 
Sec. 10-293. - Requirements.  

A license to sell fireworks in the Town shall issue only for such sales as are permitted under 
this Article and state statutes and only when the Board of Trustees has determined that the vendor 
meets the following requirements:  

(1)  That the applicant or, if a corporation, its officers and directors, are of a good moral 
character and reputation; or  
(2)  That the applicant has no plan, intent or scheme to make sales which are prohibited 
by this Article or the state statutes.  

Sec. 10-294. - Duration and fees.  

Such license shall be valid for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of issuance, 
and a fee as established by resolution of the Board of Trustees shall be payable for the issuance or 
renewal of such license.  
Sec. 10-2935. - Unlawful to sell or use.  

Except as otherwise provided in this Article, it shall beis unlawful for any person to offer 
for sale, expose for sale, sell or have in his or her possession with intent to offer for sale, sell or 
use any fireworks within the Town.  
Sec. 10-2946. - Permits.  

The Board of Trustees shall have the power to grant permits within the Town for supervised 
public displays of fireworks by the Town, amusement parks and other organizations and groups 
and to adopt reasonable rules and regulations for the granting of such permits. Application for a 
permit shall be made in writing at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the date of display. Every 
display shall be handled by a competent operator and shall be of such character and so located, 
discharged and fired as not to be hazardous to property or endanger any person. Before a permit is 
granted, the operator and the location and handling of the display shall be approved after 
investigation by the Marshal's Department or an authorized agent thereof. No permit shall be 
transferable or assignable.  
Sec. 10-2957. - Bond.  

A satisfactory bond shall be required of each permittee in the sum of not less than five 
hundred dollars ($500.00), conditioned for the payment of all damages which may be caused either 
to persons or property by reason of the licensed display and arising from the acts of the permittee, 
his or her agents, employees or subcontractors. The aggregate liability of the surety on such bond 
for all damages shall in no event exceed the sum of such bond.  
Sec. 10-2968. - Disposal of unfired fireworks.  



Any fireworks that remain unfired after the display is concluded shall be immediately 
disposed of by the Fire Department in a method which is safe for the discharge of that or those 
particular types of fireworks.  
Sec. 10-2979. - Seizure of fireworks.  

The Marshal's Department shall seize, take and remove, at the expense of the owner, all 
stocks of fireworks or combustibles offered or exposed for sale, stored or held in violation of this 
Article.  
Sec. 10-298300. - Construction.  

This Article shall not be construed to prohibit:  
(1)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in hisor her possession 
with intent to offer for sale or sell, fireworks to any municipality, fair, association, amusement 
park or the governing body of any county or district fair organized under the laws of the State;  
(2)  Any person from using or exploding fireworks in accordance with the provisions in this 
Article or as a part of supervised public display at any county or district fair organized under the 
laws of the State;  
(3)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in hisorher possession 
with intent to offer for sale or sell, any fireworks which are to be sold and are shipped directly out 
of State;  
(4)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or exploding any article, device or substance 
for a purpose other than display, exhibition, noise, amusement or entertainment;  
(5)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or exploding blank cartridges for a show or 
theater or for signal or ceremonial purposes in organized athletics or sports; or  
(6)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or firing toy pistols, toy guns, sparklers or 
torches which do not contain explosive charges or other devices in which paper caps manufactured 
in accordance with United States Interstate Commerce Commission regulation for packing and 
shipping of toy paper caps are used and toy pistol paper caps manufactured as provided in this 
Article.  
Secs. 10-299301—10-320. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIV - House CarsRecreational Vehicles, Trailers and Tents  

Sec. 10-321. - Definitions.  

Whenever in this Article the words hereinafter defined or construed in this Section are used, they 
shall, unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the following meanings:  
Boat trailer shall mean a portable structure used for the transport and out-of-water storage of any 
boat or watercraft.  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



Cargo trailer shall include, but not be limited to, the transport or storage of merchandise, building 
materials, commerce items, vehicles, tools, refrigeration or manufacturing process, whether of an 
enclosed design, flatbed, stake bed or tarpaulin covered.  
Horse trailer or stock trailer shall mean any portable structure designed and intended for the 
transport and temporary shelter of any animal to include, but not inclusive to, horse, cow, llama, 
pig, goat, sheep or similar form of domesticated or wild animal.  
House car shall be defined as a portable structure designed for or capable of human habitation, 
mounted on wheels and being either self-propelled or drawn by a stock motor vehicle or designed 
to be loaded onto or affixed to the bed or chassis of a truck or portable structure mounted on wheels 
and constructed with collapsible partial side walls of fabric, plastic or other pliable material which 
folds for towing by another vehicle and unfolds at a campsite to provide temporary living quarters 
for recreational camping or travel use. The term house car shall include units designated as 
campers, camper buses, motor homes, tent trailers, travel trailers or any other portable structure 
designed for or used for human habitation.  
House trailer as used herein shall mean any structure intended for or capable of human habitation 
and capable of being moved from place to place either by its own power or power supplied by 
some vehicle attached or to be attached thereto, and regardless of whether wheels have been 
removed therefrom and the same set upon a permanent foundation.  
Recreational vehicle  means a vehicular or portable unit mounted on a chassis and wheels, which 
either has its own motive power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle. 
A recreational vehicle is generally not designed or intended for use as a permanent dwelling or 
sleeping place, but is to provide temporary living or sleeping quarters for recreational, camping or 
travel use.  The term recreational vehicle shall include units designated as campers, camper buses, 
motor homes, tent trailers, travel trailers or any other portable structure designed for or used for 
human habitation.  
Tent shall be defined as a collapsible, temporary and portable structure of canvas or other fabric, 
supported internally or externally by wood, metal poles or framework, wire or cable.  
Sec. 10-322. - Placement on public property.  

(a)  No person shall permit any house carrecreational vehicle or trailer to be parked or stand upon 
any public street, alley, park or way of the Town for longer than four (4) hours during any twenty-
four-hour period. However, the Board of Trustees may, by resolution, designate locations within 
the Town on property owned by the Town where house carsrecreational vehicles or trailers may 
be maintained and which house carsrecreational vehicles or trailers may be used for living 
purposes, provided that the same shall pose no threat to the public health and be permitted by the 
County Health Departments.  
(b)  No house carrecreational vehicle or trailer shall be permitted to be parked upon any street 
within the corporate limits of the Town so as to extend outward into the street a distance in excess 
of ten (10) feet measured at right angles with the curb or to project into or obstruct any traffic lane.  
(c)  No person shall cause or permit any tent to be erected upon any public street, alley, park or 
way of the Town.  
Sec. 10-323. - Placement on private property.  

Commented [K7]: RV 

Commented [K8]: RV 



(a)  No person shall maintain or permit to be maintained any house carrecreational vehicle upon 
any private property within the Town when the same is used for living purposes.  
(b)  No person shall cause or permit any tent to be erected and/or maintained on private property 
when the same is used for living purposes for a period exceeding three (3) days.  
Sec. 10-324. - Inhabiting house trailersrecreational vehicles.  

(a)  The Board of Trustees hereby finds and declares the keeping or maintenance of house trailers 
on private property for the purpose of actual abode therein within the corporate limits of the Town 
to be a public nuisance.  
(b)  Hereafter, it shall beis unlawful for any person to keep, maintain or permit to be kept or 
maintained on property owned or leased by such person, within the corporate limits of the Town, 
any house trailer used for the actual purpose of human habitation; provided, however, that it shall 
beis lawful for any and all persons to maintain and store privately owned house trailers or other 
mobile abodes, including but not limited to pickup campers, camping trailers, cargo trailers, horse 
and stock trailers and boat trailers, provided that said named trailers do not exceed twenty-two (22) 
feet in actual length, and further provided that said mobile abodes, house trailers, pickup campers 
and camping trailers so stored shall not be used as supplemental abodes, extra sleeping rooms or 
living quarters in any respect while the same are stored on private property within the Town.  
ARTICLE XV - [Restriction of all Open Fires and Open Burning]  

Sec. 10-325. - Purpose.  

The purpose of this Ordinance is to preserve and protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, by restricting open fires 
and open burning in the Town of Green Mountain Falls in order to prevent forest fires given the 
high danger of such fires as a result of atmospheric conditions, including lack of moisture, and 
other local conditions.  
Sec. 10-326. - Interpretation.  

This Ordinance shall be so interpreted and construed as to effectuate its general purpose to 
preserve and protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls, Colorado, by restricting open fires and open burning in order to prevent forest 
fires given the high danger of such fires in the area.  
Sec. 10-327. - Definitions.  

(a)  Open fire or open burning. For purposes of this Ordinance, open fires or open burning shall 
be defined as any outdoor fire, including, but not limited to, campfires, warming fires, cooking 
fires, charcoal grill fires, fires in outdoor wood burning appliances, the use of explosives, outdoor 
welding or operating an acetylene or other torch with open flame other than in an area cleared of 
all flammable materials, fireworks of all kinds or brands, and the prescribed burning of fence lines 
or rows, fields, farmlands, rangelands, wildlands, trash, and debris.  
(b)  Fire restriction evaluation guidelines. That set of evaluation criteria currently in use by local 
Federal, State and local fire suppression/management agencies for monitoring fuel moistures, fire 



danger class, current impacts on suppression resources, current fire cause types, fire weather 
forecasts, and other indicators of predicted fire danger.  
Sec. 10-328. - Stage I restrictions.  

Prohibits the following activities:  
(1)  Open burning, excepting fires and campfires within permanently constructed fire 
grates in developed campgrounds and picnic grounds, charcoal grills and permanent 
outdoor fireplaces at private residences in areas cleared of all flammable materials.  
(2)  The sale or use of fireworks; as defined in Section 10-2921.  
(3)  Outdoor smoking except within an enclosed vehicle or building, a developed 
recreation site or while stopped in an area at least three (3) feet in diameter that is barren 
or cleared of all flammable materials.  
(34)  Launching of model rockets.  
(45)  Portable wood burning firepits or fire rings.  
(56)  Chimineas.  
(67)  Outdoor charcoal grills and permanent outdoor fireplace constructed with a spark 
arrestor on the chimney shall be allowed during Stage I restrictions, provided they are at 
private residences and in an area cleared of all flammable materials including dry 
vegetation.  
(7) The lighting of emergency flares or roadside fuses.   

Sec. 10-329. - Stage II restrictions.  

Prohibits the following activities:  
(1)  All open burning as defined in Stage I and all prohibited activies listed in Section 10-
328..  
(2)  Outdoor smoking except within an enclosed vehicle or building.  
(3)  Outdoor grilling with charcoal.  

Sec. 10-330. - Unlawful acts.  

During Stage I or Stage II restrictions, it shall beis unlawful for any person to build, 
maintain, attend or use an open fire, conduct an open burn, conduct sales of fireworks, or engage 
in outdoor smoking other than as explicitly allowed herein, in the Town of Green Mountain Falls 
including public, private, state, and applicable federal lands.  
Sec. 10-331. - Requirements when and where outdoor fires are permitted.  

(1)  The outdoor fires must be attended at all times.  
(2)  Attendees of an outdoor fire must have a suitable extinguisher nearby such as: a functioning 

garden hose, an extinguisher or dry chemical extinguisher.  
(3)  An outdoor fire must be at least twenty (20) feet from structures, including all buildings.  



Sec. 10-332. - Exceptions/exemptions.  

(a)  The following shall not be in violation:  
• Commercial or community fireworks displays properly permitted.  

• Fires contained within liquid-fueled or gas-fueled stoves.  

• Indoor fireplaces and wood-burning stoves installed and maintained in compliance with all 
applicable codes and ordinances.  

• Chainsaws with appropriate spark arrestors.  

• Outdoor charcoal grills and permanent outdoor fireplace constructed with a spark arrestor 
on the chimney shall be allowed during Stage I restrictions, provided they are at private 
residences and in an area cleared of all flammable materials including dry vegetation.  

(b)  The burning of irrigation ditches is prohibited by this Ordinance.  
(c)  Any Federal, State, or local officer, or member of a rescue or firefighting force organized, 
employed or contracted by a Federal, State or local firefighting, military, or police protection 
service in the performance of an official duty.  
(d)  Any further exemptions to either the meaning of terms or the enforcement of this Ordinance 
shall be granted only by the Fire Chief, and only if the proposed action is deemed to be safe and 
mitigable in the Fire Chief's sole discretion based on best fire safety practices.  
Sec. 10-333. - Implementation of stages.  

The Fire Chief or his or her designee may monitor fire danger conditions and coordinate 
with Federal, State and local fire agencies to determine the appropriate stage of restrictions. When 
the established Fire Restriction Evaluation Guidelines indicate that enforcement of this Ordinance 
under Stage I restrictions should be reinstated, or that restrictions should be upgraded to Stage II 
restrictions, the Town of Green Mountain Falls' Public Information Officer or his or her designee 
shall coordinate with the Fire Chief and provide notification to the public through a general press 
release to local television, radios and print media, as well as posting at the Green Mountain Falls 
Town Hall. Likewise, when conditions indicate a reduction in restrictions from Stage II to Stage 
I, or the suspension of enforcement, the same notification to the public shall occur.  
Sec. 10-334. - Enforcement agencies/prosecution.  

This Ordinance shall be enforced by the Green Mountain Falls Marshal, or his or her 
deputies, including thereby the administering agencies of the State and Federal lands located 
therein, and they shall have authority to order any person to immediately cease any violation of 
this Ordinance. This authority shall include, but not be limited to, the right to issue a penalty 
assessment notice and the right to take such person or persons into temporary custody. Any further 
exception to the enforcement ability of this Ordinance by the administering agency shall be granted 
only by the administering agency, and only if the proposed action is deemed by the Fire Chief or 
the State or Federal administering agency to be safe or mitigable.  
Sec. 10-335. - Penalties.  



It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions adopted in this Article. 
Violation of this Ordinance shall be a misdemeanor under Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code. 
The penalties for violation of this adopted Code are as set forth in in Section 1-42 of this Code.a 
resolution or subsequent modifications thereof.  
Secs. 10-336—10-340. - Reserved.  

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default) Arial,
10 pt



CHAPTER 10 - General Offenses  

ARTICLE I - General Provisions  

Sec. 10-1. - Adopted.  

Pursuant to Part 2 of Article 16 of Title 31, C.R.S., there is adopted by reference, in part, 
Title 18, C.R.S., officially approved, adopted and published by the State, of which one (1) copy is 
on file at the Town Hall and may be inspected during regular business hours, pursuant to the 
adopted ordinance, to wit: (Ord. 92-04 §1) 
Sec. 10-2. - Legislative purpose.  

It is the purpose of this Chapter to provide for the public health, safety and welfare of the 
Town.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-3. - Local question.  

It is the intention of the Board of Trustees that the ordinances and provisions of this Chapter 
deal with matters of "local" and "mixed" state and local concern and that no provision of this 
Chapter is to be construed expressly or by implication to permit conduct that is illegal under the 
laws of the State or to prohibit conduct that is expressly permitted by the laws of the State. The 
provisions of this Chapter are to be construed to apply to misdemeanors and other minor and petty 
offenses only and are not to be interpreted to apply to conduct that is defined as a felony under the 
laws of the State.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-4. - Irreconcilable ordinances.  

If the Board of Trustees enacts an ordinance that is irreconcilable with another provision 
of this Chapter, the ordinance whose effective date is latest prevails.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-5. - Application of Code.  

(a)  A person is subject to prosecution in Municipal Court for a violation committed through the 
conduct of such person or through the conduct of another for whom such person is legally 
accountable, if:  

(1)  The conduct constitutes a violation and is committed either wholly or partly within 
the Town;  
(2)  The conduct outside the Town constitutes an attempt, as defined by this Chapter, to 
commit a violation within the Town;  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(3)  The conduct outside the Town constitutes a conspiracy to commit a violation within 
the Town, and an act in furtherance of the conspiracy occurs in the Town; or  
(4)  The conduct within the Town constitutes an attempt, solicitation or conspiracy to 
commit in another jurisdiction a violation prohibited under the laws of the Town and such 
other jurisdiction.  

(b)  Whether a violator is in or outside the Town is immaterial to the commission of a violation 
based on an omission to perform a duty imposed by the law of the Town.  
(c)  Town, as used in this Chapter and in any summons, summons and complaint or complaint 
alleging a violation of the Code or any ordinance, includes both the area within the territorial limits 
of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, and also those areas over which extraterritorial 
police power has been granted by the statutes of this State. It is the intent of the Board of Trustees 
to extend the territorial jurisdiction of the Municipal Court as widely as possible. However, where 
specific sections of this Chapter require that the violation occur "within the Town," then the offense 
is limited to the territorial limits of the Town.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-6. - Classification of violations.  

Violations of this Code shall be classified as misdemeanors, Class 1 petty offenses or Class 2 petty 
offenses.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-7. - Violations.  

(a)  The terms crime, petty offense, offense, misdemeanor and violation, as used in this Code or any 
uncodified ordinance, are synonymous. Any act or omission declared to be a violation or to be unlawful 
or required or prohibited by the phrase "no person shall," or similar mandatory language in or by this 
Code, any ordinance of the Town or any rule promulgated thereunder, constitutes a violation.  

(b)  Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Code, an ordinance of the Town or a rule promulgated 
thereunder, every day of a violation of this Code, ordinance or rule constitutes a separate violation.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-8. - Statute of limitations.  

No person shall be prosecuted, tried or punished for any violation under this Code or any 
ordinance unless the action for said violation is instituted within one (1) year of the date of the 
alleged violation, but the statute of limitations within which a prosecution must be instituted shall 
be tolled for any period in which a prosecution is pending against the accused for the same conduct, 
even if the summons, complaint or summons and complaint that commence the prosecution are 
quashed or the proceedings thereon are set aside or reversed on appeal.  

Sec. 10-7. (Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Bold



– Violation and penalty. 
The penalty for violation of any provision of this Chapter is as set forth in Section 1-2 of this 

Code, subject to the following: 
(a) A plea of guilty or nolo contendere to the original charge or to a lesser or substituted charge 
shall subject the person so pleading to all fines and/or penalties applicable to the original charge. 
Any restitution ordered by the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any such fine. 
(b) The Municipal Court may award restitution to any victim of any action specified as 
unlawful in this Chapter and may order a person found or pleading guilty to any such violation to 
pay such restitution as ordered by the Municipal Court. Such restitution shall be determined by the 
submission of a bill of costs by the victim to the Municipal Court on a form approved by the 
Municipal Court. Authority is expressly granted to the Municipal Court to order such restitution 
for any and all costs incurred by public safety and/or emergency response agencies of the Town or 
other governmental or quasi-governmental entities in connection with the initial response to and 
all subsequent follow-up investigations of violations of this Chapter. Any restitution ordered by 
the Municipal Court shall be in addition to any fine and/or imprisonment authorized by this Code 
and shall likewise be applicable to any situation in which a deferred judgment or deferred sentence 
is accepted and/or imposed by the Municipal Court. 
(c) The Municipal Court may order any person convicted of or pleading guilty to any violation 
of this Chapter to perform useful public service, which may be in addition to any other penalty 
imposed by the Municipal Court. 
Secs. 10-98—10-20. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE II - Offenses By or Against Public Officers and Government  

Sec. 10-21. - Definitions.  

As used in this Chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:  
(1)  Government includes any branch, subdivision, institution or agency of the 
government of this Town.  
(2)  Governmental function includes any activity which a public servant is legally 
authorized to undertake on behalf of a government.  
(3)  Public servant means any officer or employee of the government, whether elected or 
appointed, and any person participating as an advisor or consultant, engaged in the service 
of process, or otherwise performing a governmental function, but the term does not include 
witnesses.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-22. - Resisting arrest.  

(a)  A person commits resistingIt is unlawful to resist arrest if he or sheby knowingly 
preventspreventing or attemptsattempting to prevent a peace officer, acting under colorin the 
discharge of his or her official authoritytheir duty, from effecting an arrest of the actor or another, by:  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(1)  Using or threatening to use physical force or violence against the peace officer or 
another; or  
(2)  Using any other means which creates a substantial risk of causing bodily injury to 
the peace officer or another.  

(b)  It is no defense to prosecution under this Section that the peace officer was attempting to 
make an arrest which in fact was unlawful, if he or she was acting under color of his or her official 
authority and, in attempting to make the arrest, he or she was not resorting to unreasonable or 
excessive force giving rise to the right of self-defense. A peace officer acts under color of his or 
her official authority when, in the regular course of assigned duties, he or she is called upon to 
make, and does make, a judgment in good faith based upon surrounding facts and circumstances 
that an arrest should be made by him or her.  
(c)  Resisting arrest is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-23. - Interference with peace officers, deputy marshals.  

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person in any way to interfere with or hinder any- Obstructing peace 
officer, marshal or deputy marshal while such person is discharging his or her duties, firefighter, 
emergency medical services provider, rescue specialist or volunteer.  

(ba)  A person commits obstructing a peace officer or fireman who, marshal, firefighter, 
emergency medical service provider, rescue specialist or volunteer when, by using or threatening 
to use violence, force or physical interference or obstacle, he or shesuch person knowingly 
obstructs, impairs or hinders the enforcement of any duty of the penal law or the preservation of peace 
by a peace officer, acting under color of his or her official authority, or knowingly obstructs, impairs or 
hinders the prevention, control or abatement of a fire by a fireman, acting under color of his or her official 
authoritymarshal, firefighter, emergency medical services provider, rescue specialist or volunteer.  
(cb)  It is no defense to a prosecution under this Section that the peace officer was acting in an 
illegal manner, if he or she was acting under color of his or her official authority, as defined in 
Section 10-22(b) above.  
(dc)  This Section does not apply to obstruction, impairment or hindrance of the making of an 
arrest.  
(e)  ObstructingSec. 10-24. – Duty to aid; refusing to aid a peace officer.  
 Is is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

unlawful for aSec. 10-24. - Refusing to aid a peace officer.  

A person eighteen (18) years of age or older commits a Class 1 petty offense whento, upon command 
by a person known to him or her to be a peace officer, he or she unreasonably refusesrefuse or 
failsfail to aid the peace officer in effecting or securing an arrest or preventing the commission by 
another of any offense.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-25. - Interference with firemen on duty.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to hinder, obstruct, oppose or interfere with any member of the 
Fire Department while he or she is in the performance of his or her duty.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-26. - Compounding.  

(a)  A person commits compounding if he or she accepts or agrees to accept any pecuniary benefit 
as consideration for:  

(1)  Refraining from seeking prosecution of an offender; or  
(2)  Refraining from reporting to law enforcement authorities the commission or 
suspected commission of any crime or information relating to a crime.  

(b)  Compounding is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-2726. - Resisting an officer; assisting an escape; rescuing a prisoner.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to resist any peace officer, marshal, deputy marshal, any 
member of the Marshal's Department or any person duly empowered with police authority while 
in the discharge or apparent discharge of his or her duty or in any way to interfere with or hinder 
him or her in the discharge of his or her duty.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to offer or endeavor to assist any person into escape or 
to attempt to escape from custody, or rescue or attempt to rescue any personin the custody of a 
peace officer, marshal, deputy marshal, member of the Marshal's Department or a person duly 
empowered with police authority to escape or to attempt to escape from custody. . 
(c)  It shall be unlawful for any person to rescue or attempt to rescue any person in the custody of a peace 

officer, marshal, deputy marshal, a member of the Marshal's Department or a person duly empowered 
with police authority.  

(Prior code 8-8-7) 

Sec. 10-2827. - False reporting to authorities.  

(a)  A person commits false reporting to authorities if:  
(1)  He or she knowingly causes a false alarm of fire or other emergency to be transmitted 
to or within an official or volunteer fire department, ambulance service or any other 
government agency which deals with emergencies involving danger to life or property;  
(2)  He or she makes a report or knowingly causes the transmission of a report to law 
enforcement authorities of a crime or other incident within their official concern when he 
or she knows that it did not occur; or  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(3)  He or she makes a report or knowingly causes the transmission of a report to law 
enforcement authorities pretending to furnish information relating to an offense or other 
incident within their official concern when he or she knows that he or she has no such 
information or knows that the information is false.  

(b)  False reporting to authorities is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-2928. - Interference with alarm system; false alarm.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to damage or interfere with any fire alarm system or 
appliance or any part of the same. It shall beis unlawful for any person to make or give a false alarm 
of fire.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-30. - Duty of citizens to aid peace officers, deputy marshals.  

It shall be the duty of all persons when called upon by a peace officer, marshal, deputy marshalor 
any other member of the Marshal's Department to promptly aid and assist such peace officer, marshal, 
deputy marshalor member in the discharge of his or her duties.  

(Prior code 8-8-8) 

Sec. 10-3129. - Impersonating an officer. , Town officer, or employee.   

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person other than an official marshal or deputy marshalofmarshal 
of the Town to wear the uniform, apparel or any other insignia of office like, similar to or a 
colorable imitation of that adopted and worn by the official marshal or deputy marshals.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to counterfeit, imitate or cause to be counterfeited, 
imitated or colorably imitated the uniform, apparel or insignia of office used by the Marshal's 
Department.  

(Prior code 8-8-9) 

Sec. 10-32. - Impersonating Town officers and employees.  

(c) Is is unlawful for any person other than an official marshal or deputy marshal of the Town 
to operate a motor vehicle adorned with lights, insignias, or symbols to imitate the official Town 
marshal vehicles.  
(c) It shall beis unlawful for any person to willfully, unlawfully or fraudulently represent 
himself or herself to be a Town officer or an employee of the Town and purporting to perform the 
duties of any such officer or employee when he or she is not an authorized officer or employee of 
the Town.  

(Prior code 8-8-10) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Tab stops:  5.77", Left

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 10-33. - Escapes30. - Escape.  

AIt is unlawful for any person commits a Class 1 petty offense if, while being in custody or 
confinement and held for or charged with but not convicted of a misdemeanor or petty offense, he 
or sheto knowingly escapesescape from said custody or confinement.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-3431. - Interference with official function; entering or remaining on restricted Town 
premises.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person to intentionally, knowingly or recklessly interfere with, 
disrupt, hinder or impede the normal operation of or an official function of the Town, or any 
department or official thereof.  

(Ord. 04-2010 §1) 

Sec. 10-35. - Entering or remaining on restricted Town premises.  

(b) It is unlawful for any person to enter or remain in or on premises of the Town which have 
been posted "Employees Only," "No Admittance" or similar notice without invitation or 
permission of an authorized employee of the Town.  

(Ord. 04-2010 §1) 

Sec. 10-36. - Order to refrain from entering or for removal from Town premises.  

(c) It is unlawful for any person to remain in or on any premises of the Town or reenter any 
premises of the Town after the person has been ordered to remove himself or herself from the 
premises or to refrain from entering the premises by an employee of the Town. For purposes of 
this Section, the department head or employee on duty shall have the authority to issue an order 
for any person to remove himself or herself from the premises or to refrain from entering the 
premises.  

(Ord. 04-2010 §1) 

Secs. 10-3732—10-50. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III - Attempt, Conspiracy, Complicity, Accessory  

Sec. 10-51. - Criminal attempt.  

(a)  A person commits criminal attempt if, acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required 
for commission of an offense, he or she engages in conduct constituting a substantial step toward 
the commission of the offense. A substantial step is any conduct, whether act, omission or 
possession, which is strongly corroborative of the firmness of the actor's purpose to complete the 
commission of the offense. Factual or legal impossibility of committing the offense is not a defense 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



if the offense could have been committed had the attendant circumstances been as the actor 
believed them to be, nor is it a defense that the crime attempted was actually perpetrated by the 
accused.  
(b)  A person who engages in conduct intending to aid another to commit an offense commits 
criminal attempt if the conduct would establish his or her complicity under Section 18-1-603, 
C.R.S., were the offense committed by the other person, even if the other is not guilty of 
committing or attempting the offense.  
(c)  It is an affirmative defense to a charge under this Section that the defendant abandoned his 
or her effort to commit the crime or otherwise prevented its commission, under circumstances 
manifesting the complete and voluntary renunciation of this criminal intent.  
(d)  Criminal attempt to commit a misdemeanor is a misdemeanor.  

(e)  Criminal attempt to commit a petty offense is a crime of the same class as the offense itself.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-52. - Conspiracy.  

(a)  A person commits conspiracy to commit a crime if, with the intent to promote or facilitate 
its commission, he or she agreed with another person or persons that they, or one (1) or more of 
them, will engage in conduct which constitutes a crime or an attempt to commit a crime, or he or 
she agreed to aid the other person or persons in the planning or commission of a crime or of an 
attempt to commit such crime.  
(b)  No person may be convicted of conspiracy to commit a crime, unless an overt act in 
pursuance of that conspiracy is proved to have been done by him or by a person with whom he or 
she conspired.  
(c)  If a person knows that one with whom he or she conspires to commit a crime has conspired 
with another person or persons to commit the same crime, he or she is guilty of conspiring to 
commit a crime with the other person or persons, whether or not he or she knows their identity.  
(d)  If a person conspires to commit a number of crimes, he or she is guilty of only one (1) 
conspiracy so long as such multiple crimes are part of a single criminal episode.  
(e)  Conspiracy to commit a misdemeanor is a misdemeanor.  

(f)  Conspiracy to commit a petty offense is a crime of the same class as the offense itself.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-53. - Complicity.  

A person is legally accountable as principal for the behavior of another constituting a 
criminal offense if, with the intent to promote or facilitate the commission of the offense, he or she 
aids, abets or advises the other person in planning or committing the offense.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"



Sec. 10-54. - Accessory to crime.  

(a)  A person is an accessory to crime if, with intent to hinder, delay or prevent the discovery, 
detection, apprehension, prosecution, conviction or punishment of another for the commission of 
a crime, he or she renders assistance to such person.  
(b)  Render assistance means to:  

(1)  Harbor or conceal the other;  
(2)  Warn such person of impending discovery or apprehension; except that this does not 
apply to a warning given in an effort to bring such person into compliance with the law;  
(3)  Provide such person with money, transportation, weapon, disguise or other thing to 
be used in avoiding discovery or apprehension;  
(4)  By force, intimidation or deception, obstruct anyone in the performance of any act 
which might aid in the discovery, detection, apprehension, prosecution or punishment of 
such person; or  
(5)  Conceal, destroy or alter any physical evidence that might aid in the discovery, 
detection, apprehension, prosecution, conviction or punishment of such person.  

(c)  Being an accessory to crime is a Class 1 petty offense if the offender knows that the person being 
assisted has committed or has been convicted of, or is charged by pending information, indictment or 
complaint with a crime, or is suspected of or wanted for a crime, and if that crime is designated by this 
Code as a misdemeanor of any class.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-55—10-70. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV - Offenses Against the Person  

Sec. 10-71. - Menacing.  

A person commits the crime of menacing if, by any threat or physical action, he or she 
knowingly places or attempts to place another person in fear of imminent serious bodily injury. 
Menacing is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-72. - Reckless endangerment.  

A person who recklessly engages in conduct which creates a substantial risk of serious 
bodily injury to another person commits reckless endangerment, which is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-73. - False imprisonment.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



Any person who knowingly confines or detains another without the other's consent and 
without proper legal authority commits false imprisonment, which is a misdemeanor.. This Section 
shall not apply to a peace officer acting in good faith within the scope of his or her duties.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-74—10-90. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE V - Offenses Against Property  

Sec. 10-91. - Fourth degree arson.  

(a)  A person who knowingly or recklessly starts or maintains a fire or causes an explosion, on 
his or her own property or that of another, and by so doing places any building or occupied 
structure of another in danger of damage, commits fourth degree arson.  
(b)  Fourth degree arson is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-92. - Theft.  

(a)  A person commits theft when he or she knowingly obtains or exercises control over anything 
of another without authorization or by threat or deception when the value of the thing is less than 
four hundred dollars ($4001000.00), and:  

(1)  Intends to deprive the other person permanently of the use or benefit of the thing of 
value;  
(2)  Knowingly uses, conceals or abandons the thing of value in such manner as to deprive 
the other person permanently of its use or benefit;  
(3)  Uses, conceals or abandons the thing of value intending that such use, concealment 
or abandonment will deprive the other person permanently of its use and benefit; or  
(4)  Demands any consideration to which he or she is not legally entitled as a condition 
of restoring the thing of value to the other person.  

(b)  Theft is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-93. - Obtaining control over any stolen thing of value - conviction.  

Every person who obtains control over any stolen thing of value, knowing the thing of 
value to have been stolen by another, may be tried, convicted and punished, whether or not the 
principal is charged, tried or convicted.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-94. - Motor vehicle theft.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



A person who knowingly obtains or exercises control over the motor vehicle of another without 
authorization or by threat or deception commits motor vehicle theft. Motor vehicle theft is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-95. - Theft by receiving.  

(a)  A person commits theft by receiving when he or she receives, retains, loans money by pawn 
or pledge on or disposes of anything of value of another, knowing or believing that the thing of 
value has been stolen, and when he or she intends to deprive the lawful owner permanently of the 
use or benefit of the thing of value, where the value of the thing of value is less than four hundred 
dollars ($4001000.00).  
(b)  Theft by receiving is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-96. - Criminal mischief.  

Any person who knowingly damages the real or personal property of one (1) or more other persons 
in the course of a single criminal episode commits criminal mischief, which is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-9795. - Second and third degree criminal trespass.  

(a) A person commits the crime of second degree criminal trespass if he or she unlawfully 
enters or remains in or upon premises which are enclosed in a manner designed to exclude intruders 
or are fenced, or if he or she knowingly and unlawfully enters or remains in or upon the premises 
of a hotel, motel, condominium or apartment building. Second degree criminal trespass is a 
misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-98. - Third degree criminal trespass.  

(b) A person commits the crime of third degree criminal trespass if he or she unlawfully enters 
or remains in or upon premises. Third degree criminal trespass is a Class 1 petty offense, but it is a 
misdemeanor if the premises have been classified by the County Assessor for the county in which the land 
is situated as agricultural land pursuant to Section 39-1-102(1.6), C.R.S.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-9996. - Second degree criminal tampering.  

Except as provided in Section 10-10097, a person commits the crime of second degree 
criminal tampering if he or she tampers with property of another with intent to cause injury, 
inconvenience or annoyance to that person or to another, or if he or she knowingly makes 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



unauthorized connection with property of a utility. Second degree criminal tampering is a 
misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-10097. - Tampering and unauthorized connection.  

(a)  Any person who connects any pipe, tube, stopcock, wire, cord, socket, motor or other 
instrument or contrivance with any main, service pipe or other medium conducting or supplying 
gas, water or electricity to any building without the knowledge and consent of the person supplying 
such gas, water or electricity commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(b)  Any person who in any manner alters, obstructs or interferes with any meter pit, meter or 
metering device provided for measuring or registering the quantity of gas, water or electricity 
passing through said meter without the knowledge and consent of the person owning said meter 
commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(c)  A person who tampers with property of another with intent to cause injury, inconvenience 
or annoyance to that person or to another, or if he or she knowingly makes unauthorized connection 
with property of a utility, commits tampering and unauthorized connection, which is unlawful.  
(d)  Nothing in this Section shall be construed to apply to any licensed electrical or plumbing 
contractor while performing usual and ordinary services in accordance with recognized customs 
and standards.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-10198. - Damaging private property of another.  

(a)  No person shall knowingly damage the real or personal property of another.  
(b)  This Section does not apply where the damage in the course of a single criminal episode is 
four hundred dollars ($4001,000.00) or more, is effected by means of fire or explosives or is 
otherwise feloniously caused.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-10299. - Damaging public property.  

No person shall damage, move, remove, destroy or injure in any manner whatsoever or 
cause to be damaged, moved, removed, destroyed or injured any grass, tree, shrub, plant, flower, 
railing, bridge, culvert, sign, building or any other property whatsoever belonging to the Town or 
under the possession and control of the Town, unless done pursuant to a written permit or contract 
from the Town.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-103100. - Defacing posted notice.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



Any It is unlawful for any person whoto knowingly mars, destroysmar, destroy or 
removesremove any posted notice authorized by law commits a Class 1 petty offense. . 

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-104101. - Littering of public and private property.  

(a)  Any person who deposits, throws or leaves any litter on any public or private property or in 
any waters commits littering.  
(b)  The term litter, as used in this Section, means all rubbish, waste material, refuse, garbage, 
trash, debris or other foreign substances, solid or liquid, of every form, size, kind and description.  
(c)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that:  

(1)  Such property is an area designated by law for the disposal of such material and the 
person is authorized by the proper public authority to so use the property;  
(2)  The litter is placed in a receptacle or container installed on such property for that 
purpose; or  
(3)  Such person is the owner or tenant in lawful possession of such property, or he or 
she has first obtained written consent of the owner or tenant in lawful possession, or the 
act is done under the personal direction of said owner or tenant.  

(d)  The phrase public or private property as used in this Section includes, but is not limited to, 
the right-of-way of any road or highway, any body of water or watercourse, including frozen areas 
or the shores or beaches thereof, any park, playground or building, any refuge, conservation or 
recreation area, and any residential, farm or ranch properties or timberlands.  
(e)  It is in the discretion of the court, upon the conviction of any person and the imposition of a 
fine under this Section, to suspend any or all of the fine in excess of the mandatory minimum fine 
upon the condition that the convicted person gather and remove from specified public property or 
lawful possession thereof any litter found thereon, or upon the condition that the convicted person 
pick up litter at the time prescribed by and a place within the jurisdiction of the court for not less 
than eight (8) hours upon a second or subsequent conviction.  
(f)  Whenever litter is thrown, deposited, dropped or dumped from any motor vehicle in violation 
of this Section, the operator of said motor vehicle is presumed to have caused or permitted the 
litter to be so thrown, deposited, dropped or dumped therefrom.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-105102. - Criminal use of a noxious substance.  

(a)  Any person who deposits on the land or in the building or vehicle of another, without his or 
her consent, any stink bomb or device, irritant or offensive-smelling substance, with the intent to 
interfere with another's use or enjoyment of the land, building or vehicle, commits a misdemeanor..   
(b)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that a peace officer in the performance of his or her duties 
reasonably used a noxious substance.  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-106103—10-120. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI - Offenses Involving Fraud  

Sec. 10-121. - Unlawfully using slugs.  

(a)  A person commits unlawfully using slugs if:  

(1)  With intent to defraud the vendor of property or a service sold by means of a coin machine, he 
or she knowingly inserts, deposits or uses a slug in such machine or causes the machine to be 
operated by any other unauthorized means; or  

(2)  He or she makes, possesses or disposes of a slug or slugs with intent to enable a person to use 
it or them fraudulently in a coin machine.  

(b)  Slug means any object or article which, by virtue of its size, shape or any other quality, is capable of 
being inserted, deposited or otherwise used in a coin machine as an improper but effective substitute 
for a genuine coin, bill or token, and of thereby enabling a person to obtain without valid consideration 
the property or service sold through the machine.  

(c)  Unlawfully using slugs is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-122. - Fraud by check.  
(a)  A person violates this Section if he or she issues or passes a check or similar sight order for 
the payment of money in an amount less than four hundred dollars ($4001,000.00), knowing that 
the issuer does not have sufficient funds in or on deposit with the bank or other drawee for the 
payment in full of the check or order, as well as all other checks or orders outstanding at the time 
of issuance.  
(b)  This Section does not relieve the prosecution from the necessity of establishing the required 
knowledge by evidence. However, for purposes of this Section, the issuer's knowledge of 
insufficient funds is presumed, except in the case of a postdated check or order, if:  

(1)  He or she has no account with the bank or other drawee at the time he or she issues 
the check or order; or  
(2)  He or she has insufficient funds upon deposit with the bank or other drawee to pay 
the check or order, on presentation within thirty (30) days after issuance.  

(c)  Insufficient funds means not having a sufficient balance in account with a bank or other 
drawee for the payment of a check or order when the check or order is presented for payment and 
it remains unpaid thirty (30) days after such presentment.  
(d)  A bank shall not be civilly or criminally liable for releasing information relating to the 
issuer's account to a deputy marshal investigating or prosecuting a charge under this Section.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-123122—10-140. - Reserved. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: list0

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



ARTICLE VII - Offenses Relating to Drugs  

Sec. 10-141. - Definitions.  

As used in this Article, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed hereafter:  
(1)  Controlled substance means a drug or other substance or an immediate precursor which is 
declared to be a controlled substance under this ArticleC.R.S. § 18-18-102, and also includes 
marijuana, marijuana concentrate and cocaine.  

(2)   Drug paraphernalia means any machine, instrument, tool,all equipment or device which is 
primarily designed , products, and material of any kind which are used, intended for one 
(1)use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, harvesting, 
manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, 
analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, 
inhaling, or more of the following:  

a.  To introduceotherwise introducing into the human body anya controlled substance 
under circumstances in violation of the laws of this State;  

b.  To enhance the effect on the human body of any controlled substance under circumstances in 
violation of the lawsstatutes of thisthe State;  of Colorado. 

c.  To conceal any quantity of any controlled substance under circumstances in violation of the 
laws of this State; or  

d.  To test the strength, effectiveness or purity of any controlled substance under circumstances 
in violation of the laws of this State.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

(3)     Marijuana means all parts of the plant of the genus cannabis whether growing or not, the 
seeds thereof, the resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, manufacture, 
salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, 
including marijuana concentrate. "Marijuana" does not include industrial hemp, nor does it include 
fiber produced from the stalks, oil, or cake made from the seeds of the plant, sterilized seed of the 
plant which is incapable of germination, or the weight of any other ingredient combined 
with marijuana to prepare topical or oral administrations, food, drink, or other product. 
(4) Marijuana accessories means any equipment, products, or materials of any kind which are 
used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, 
harvesting, composting manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, 
preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, vaporizing, or 
containing marijuana, or ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing marijuana to the human 
body. 

 (5) Observable means observable by a person with or without the aid of special devices. 
 (6) Openly and publicly means activity that is observable by the public or a substantial number 

of the public, which occurs in a place to which the public or a substantial number of the public has 
access without restriction, including but not limited to streets and highways, transportation 
facilities, places of amusement, parks, playgrounds, and the common areas of buildings and other 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: list1

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



facilities. "Openly and publicly" does not include any activity occurring on private residential 
property by the occupant or his or her guests. 

 (7) Public place means a place to which the public or a substantial number of the public has 
access, and includes but is not limited to highways, streets, sidewalks, transportation facilities, 
schools, places of amusement, parks, vehicles on public streets or highways, playgrounds and the 
common areas of public and private buildings and facilities. "Public place" also includes property 
owned, operated, leased or maintained by the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof, 
or property owned, operated, leased or maintained by the Town. 

Sec. 10-142. - Possession of drug paraphernalia.  

(a)  A person commits possession of drug paraphernalia if he or she possesses drug paraphernalia 
and intends to use the drug paraphernalia under circumstances in violation of the laws of this State.  
(b)  Any person who commits The provisions of this section shall not apply to the possession of 

drug paraphernalia commits a Class 2 petty offense.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-143. - Possession of marijuana.  

Any  accessories by a person that is twenty-one years of age or older, or by a person with a valid 
medical marijuana registration card.  
Sec. 10-143. - who possesses not Marijuana—Display, possession, consumption, transferring, 
distribution, and cultivation.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to knowingly possess, use, 
display, purchase, or transport marijuana in any amount; except as allowed by a valid medical 
marijuana registration card.  

(b) It is unlawful for any person twenty-one years of age or older to knowingly:  

 (1) Possess, use, display, purchase, or transport more than one (1) ounce of  marijuana 
commits, except as allowed by a Class 2 petty offense. valid medical marijuana registration card; 

 (2) Consume marijuana openly and publicly, or in a manner that endangers others; 

 (3) Transfer, dispense, or sell marijuana, provided, however, that the transfer of one 
ounce or less of marijuana without remuneration to a person who is twenty-one years of age older 
shall not be unlawful, and provided further, that the lawful transfer, dispensing or selling 
of marijuana by; 

 (4) Possess, grow, process, or transport more than six marijuana plants or more than 
three mature, flowering marijuana plants, except as permitted for a licensed retail or 
medical marijuana establishment; or 

 (5) Display marijuana on Town property. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Hanging:  0.06"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, it shall not be unlawful for a person twenty-
one years of age or older to possess, grow, process, or transport no more than six marijuana plants, 
with three or fewer being mature, flowering plants, provided that the growing takes place in an 
enclosed, locked space, is not conducted openly or publicly, and the marijuana produced by the 
plants on the premises is not made available for sale. 

Sec. (Ord. 92-04 §1) 

10-144. - False identification. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to present a false, fictitious, or 
counterfeit identification when purchasing or attempting to purchase marijuana. 

(b) It is unlawful for any person twenty-one years of age or older to present a false, fictitious, 
or counterfeit identification when purchasing or attempting to purchase marijuana. 

Sec. 10-145. - Procuring marijuana for or by a minor; sales to a minor.  

(a) It is unlawful for any person to purchase for consumption or possession by, to otherwise 
provide for consumption or possession by, or to sell to, any person under the age of twenty-one 
years, marijuana. 

(b) It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one to possess, attempt to purchase, 
purchase or obtain marijuana, either directly or indirectly, or through an intermediary, by 
misrepresentation of age or by any other means. 

Secs. 10-144146—10-160. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VIII - Offenses Relating to Alcoholic Beverages  

Sec. 10-161. - Definitions.  

For purposes of this Code, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed hereafter:  
Definitions in this code follow definitions in Colorado liquor code, except where otherwise 
indicated.  
(1)  Alcoholic beverages or alcoholic liquors means malt beverages, vinous or spirituous liquors.  
(2) Ethyl alcohol , also commonly called ethanol, drinking alcohol or simply alcohol , is the 
principal type of alcohol found in alcoholic beverages, produced by the fermentation of sugars by 
yeasts. 
(2)  Fermented malt beverage means any beverage obtained by the fermentation of any infusion 
or decoction of barley, malt, hops or any similar product or any combination thereof in water 
containing not less than one-half of one percent (0.5%) and not more than three and two-tenths 
percent (3.2%) alcohol by weight.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



(3)  Malt liquors includes beer and shall be construed to mean any beverage obtained by the 
alcoholic fermentation of any infusion or decoction of barley, malt, hops or any other similar 
product, or any combination thereof, in water containing more than three and two-tenths percent 
(3.2%) of alcohol by weight.  
(4)  Spirituous liquors means any alcoholic beverage obtained by distillation, mixed with water 
and other substances in solution, and includes among other things brandy, rum, whiskey, gin and 
every liquid or solid, patented or not, containing at least one-half of one percent (0.5%) alcohol 
and which is fit for use for beverage purposes. Any liquid or solid containing beer or wine in 
combination with any other liquor except malt liquors and vinous liquors shall be construed to be 
spirituous liquor.  
(5)  Vinous liquors means wine and fortified wines which contain not less than one-half of one 
percent (0.5%) and not more than twenty-one percent (21%) of alcohol by volume and shall be 
construed to mean alcoholic beverage obtained by the fermentation of the natural sugar contents 
of fruits or other agricultural products containing sugar.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-162. - Sales near schools.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to sell, offer or expose for sale or gift, beer or any 
vinous, spirituous or malt liquors within a distance of two hundred fifty (250) feet from any private, 
public or parochial school, said distance to be computed by direct measurement from the nearest 
property lines. This prohibition shall not, however, affect the rights of any person now holding a 
lawful permit or license to conduct such business within the restricted area hereby established; nor 
shall this prohibition prevent the renewal upon the expiration thereof of any license in effect at this 
time authorizing such business within the restricted area hereby established.  

(Prior code 8-6-8; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-163. - Regulations concerning fermented malt beverages.  

(a)  It is unlawful to sell fermented malt beverage to any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years, 
or to any person between the hours of midnight and 5:00 a.m., or for any person under twenty-one 
(21) years to purchase or possess the same. It is unlawful to permit any fermented malt beverages to 
be sold or dispensed by a person under the age of twenty-one (21) years or to permit any such person 
to participate in the sale or dispensing thereof.  

(b)  It is unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years to represent himself or herself to 
be of the age of twenty-one (21) years or more for the purpose of purchasing within the Town any 
fermented malt beverage.  

(c)  It is unlawful for any person over the age of twenty-one (21) years to purchase or attempt to purchase 
fermented malt beverage for a person under the age of twenty-one (21) years.  

(d)  It is unlawful to fail to display at all times in a prominent place on premises licensed for retail sale of 
fermented malt beverages a printed card with a minimum height of fourteen (14) inches and a width of 
eleven (11) inches, with each letter to be a minimum of one-half (½) inch in height, which shall read 
as follows:  

WARNING  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



IT IS ILLEGAL TO SELL 3.2 BEER TO ANY PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE, AND IT IS ILLEGAL FOR 
ANY PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE TO POSSESS OR TO ATTEMPT TO PURCHASE THE SAME.  

IDENTIFICATION CARDS WHICH APPEAR TO BE FRAUDULENT WHEN PRESENTED BY PURCHASERS MAY BE 
CONFISCATED BY THE ESTABLISHMENT AND TURNED OVER TO A LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY.  

IT IS ILLEGAL IF YOU ARE TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE OR OVER FOR YOU TO PURCHASE 3.2 BEER FOR A 
PERSON UNDER TWENTY-ONE YEARS OF AGE.  

FINES AND IMPRISONMENT MAY BE IMPOSED BY THE COURTS FOR VIOLATION OF THESE PROVISIONS.  

(e)  It shall be unlawful for any minor under twenty-one (21) years of age to have in his or her possession 
fermented malt beverages in public places, including but not limited to, public streets, alleys, roads or 
highways.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-164. - Regulations concerning alcoholic beverages.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to sell alcoholic beverages to any person under the age 
of twenty-one (21) years or to permit any alcoholic beverages to be sold or dispensed by a person 
under twenty-one (21) years of age, or to permit any such person to participate in the sale or 
dispensing thereof.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any minor under twenty-one (21) years of age to havepossess or 
consume ethyl alcohol in his or her possession alcoholic beverages in public places, including but not 
limited to, public streets, alleys, roads or highways.the Town.  
(c)  It shall beis unlawful for any person, whether for remuneration or not, to procure for any 
person under twenty-one (21) years of age any article which the person under the age of twenty-
one (21) years of age is forbidden by law to purchase or possess.  

(Prior code 8-6-13; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-165. - Minors prohibited in taverns; exceptions; signs to be posted.  

(a)  d) It shall beis unlawful to serve, give away, dispose of, exchange, deliver or permit the sale, 
serving, giving or procuring of any alcoholic beverage to or for any person who is the proprietor 
or keeper of a tavern to employ or permit any minor under the age of twenty-one (21) years to 
frequent or be in or about such place unless accompanied by such minor's parent or to drink any 
intoxicating liquors or beer or any other fermented malt beverage in or about the same or to engage 
or participate in any game of billiards or any game, bet or wager with any cards or any other gambling 
device or any other game whatsoever in or about such place.  

(b)  It shall be the duty of any, a visibly intoxicated person who is the proprietor or keeper of a tavern 
to post conspicuously in his or her place of business the following sign: or a known habitual drunkard. 

Minors under the age of twenty-one (21) years not allowed here unless accompanied by parents.  

Failure to so post sign shall constitute an unlawful act.  

(Prior code 8-6-4) 

Sec. 10-166164. - Fights at barbars or disturbances.  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Tab stops: 
0.38", Left

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



No licensee shall permit any disturbance, undue noise or unlawful or disorderly act or 
conduct by any person or group of persons upon the premises.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-167165. - Possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages in public prohibited.  

(a)  No person within the Town limits shall possess an opened container of or consume any malt, 
vinous or spirituous liquor or fermented malt beverage in public, except upon premises licensed 
for consumption of the liquor or beverage involved.  
(b)  For purposes of this Section, opened container means any container other than an original 
closed container as sealed or closed for sale to the public by the manufacturer or bottler of the 
liquor or beverage., or any container other than the sealed container prepared by a retailer for 
alcohol takeout or delivery in conjunction with state law. If an original container has been 
unsealed, undone or opened in any manner, it is an opened container for purposes of this Section.  
(c)  For purposes of this Section, in public means in or upon any public highway, street, alley, 
walk, parking lot, building, park or other public property or place, whether in a vehicle or not.  

(Ord. 98-02 §I) 

Secs. 10-168166—10-190. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IX - Offenses Against Public Peace, Order and Decency  

Sec. 10-191. - Indecent exposure.  

(a)  A person commits indecent exposure if he or she knowingly exposes his or her genitals to 
the view of any person under circumstances in which such conduct is likely to cause affront or 
alarm to the other person.  
(b)  Indecent exposure is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-192. - Storage of flammable liquids.  

It shall beis unlawful to store or cause to be stored or parked any tank vehicle carrying 
flammable liquids or gases upon any streets, ways or avenues of the Town or in any other part of 
the Town, except those areas zoned for such uses.  

(Prior code 8-5-1) 

Sec. 10-193. - Abandoned containers, wells or cisterns.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to leave or permit to remain outside of any dwellings, 
buildings or other structures or within any unoccupied or abandoned building, structure or dwelling 
under his or her control, in a place accessible to children, any abandoned, unattended or discarded 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Commented [KJV1]: Could be hard to enforce other than 
through licensing  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Commented [K2]: THERE NEEDS TO BE SOME MENTION OF 
“PICNIC LICENSES” FOR SPECIAL EVENTS SUCH AS WHEN 
THE MOOSE FENCES OFF PART OF THE PARKING LOT FOR 
LARGE EVENTS. ADDITIONALLY, COVID CONSIDERATIONS 
ALLOWED FOR THE SALE OF TO GO BEVERAGES. MIXED 
DRINKS WERE INCLUDED AND CURRENT LEGISLATION 
SEEMS TO BE LEANING TOWARD KEEPING THOSE 
ALLOWANCES IN PLACE. SOME MENTION SHOULD BE ...

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



ice box, refrigerator or other container which has a door, lid, snap lock or other locking device 
which may not be released from the inside, without first removing said door, lid, snap lock or other 
locking device.  

(Prior code 8-5-3) 

Sec. 10-194. - Explosives.  

 It shall beis unlawful for any person to store within the Town limits any amount of 
gunpowder, blasting powder, nitroglycerine, dynamite or other high five hundred (500) caps or 
other devices used for the detonation of such high explosives; other than gunpowder in conjunction 
with the lawful use of firearms and associated ammunition.  

(Prior code 8-5-5) 

Sec. 10-195. - False alarms.  

Any person who shall intentionally make or give a false alarm of fire shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor.  

(Prior code 8-5-6) 

Sec. 10-196. - Assault.  

(a)  A person commits the crime of assault if he or she causes bodily injury to another person. 
The causing of pain upon another person shall be prima facie evidence of bodily injury.  
(b)  It shall beis unlawful to assault another person.  

(Prior code 8-5-7; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-197. - Harassment; stalking.  

(a)  A person commits harassment if, with intent to harass, annoy or alarm another person, he or 
she:  

(1)  Strikes, shoves, kicks or otherwise touches a person or subjects him or her to physical 
contact;  
(2)  In a public place directs obscene language or makes an obscene gesture to or at 
another person;  
(3)  Follows a person in or about a public place or, without the consent of the owner 
thereof, onto private property or into a private residence;  
(4)  Initiates Directly or indirectly initiates communication with a person or directs 
language toward another person, anonymously or otherwise, by telephone, telephone 
network, data network, text message, instant message, computer, computer network, 
computer system, or other interactive electronic medium in a manner intended to harass or 
threaten bodily injury or property damage, or makes any comment, request, suggestion, or 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



proposal by telephone which, computer, computer network, computer system, or other 
interactive electronic medium that is obscene; or 
(5)  Makes a telephone call or causes a telephone to ring repeatedly, whether or not a 
conversation ensues, with no purpose of legitimate conversation;  
(6)  Makes repeated communications at inconvenient hours that invade the privacy of 
another and interfere in the use and enjoyment of another's home or private residence or 
other private property and the abuse or threat tends to incite an immediate breech of the 
peace; or  
(7)  Repeatedly insults, taunts or challenges another in a manner likely to provoke a 
violent or disorderly response.  

(b)  As used in this Section, unless the context otherwise requires, obscene means a patently 
offensive description of ultimate sexual acts or solicitation to commit ultimate sexual acts, whether 
or not said ultimate sexual acts are normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including 
masturbation, cunnilingus, fellatio, anilingus or excretory functions.  
(c)  Harassment is a misdemeanor.  

(d(c)  Any act prohibited by Subparagraph (4) of Subsection (a) of this Section may be deemed 
to have occurred or to have been committed at the place at which the telephone call was either 
made or received.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. 97-05, §§I, II) 

Sec. 10-198. - Disorderly conduct.  

(a)  A person commits disorderly conduct if he or she intentionally, knowingly or recklessly:  
(1)  Makes a coarse and obviously offensive utterance, gesture or display in a public place 
and the utterance, gesture or display tends to incite an immediate breach of the peace;  
(2)  Abuses or threatens a person in a public place in an obviously offensive manner;  
(3)  Makes unreasonable noise in a public place or near a private residence that he or she 
has no right to occupy;  
(4)  Fights with another in a public place except in an amateur or professional contest of 
athletic skill;  
(5)  Not being a peace officer, displays a deadly weapon in a public place except when 
engaged in lawful target practice or hunting; or  
(6)  Not being a peace officer, displays a deadly weapon in a public place in a manner 
calculated to alarm.  

(b)  It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under Subsection (a)(2) of this Section that the 
actor had significant provocation for his or her abusive or threatening conduct.  
(c)  An offense under Subsection (a)(1) to (a)(3) of this Section is a Class 1 petty offense; and an offense 

under Subsections (a)(4) to (a)(6) is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



Sec. 10-199. - Disrupting lawful assembly.  

(a)  A person commits disrupting lawful assembly if, intending to prevent or disrupt any lawful 
meeting, procession or gathering, including religious worship, he or she significantly obstructs or 
interferes with the meeting, procession or gathering by physical action, verbal utterance or any 
other means.  
(b)  Disrupting lawful assembly is a misdemeanor.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-200. - Disturbing religious worship.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to disquiet or disturb any congregation or assembly for religious 
worship by making a noise, by rude or indecent behavior or by profane discourse within their place of 
worship, or so near the same as to disturb the order or solemnity of the meeting.  

(Prior code 8-5-13) 

Sec. 10-201. - Loitering.  

(a)  The word loiter means to be dilatory, to stand idly around, to linger, delay or wander about, 
or to remain, abide or tarry in a public place.  
(b)  A person commits a Class 1 petty offense if he or she:  

(1)  Loiters for the purpose of unlawful gambling;  
(2)  Loiters for the purpose of engaging or soliciting another person to engage in 
prostitution.  
(3)  With intent to interfere with or disrupt the school program or with intent to interfere 
with or endanger schoolchildren, loiters in a school building or on school grounds or within 
one hundred (100) feet of school grounds when persons under the age of eighteen (18) are 
present in the building or on the grounds, not having any reason or relationship involving 
custody of, or responsibility for, a pupil or any other specific legitimate reason for being 
there, and having been asked to leave by a school administrator or his or her representative 
or by a peace officer; or  
(4)  Loiters with one (1) or more persons for the purpose of unlawfully using or 
possessing a controlled substance, as defined in Section 10-141(1) of this Code.  

(c)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that the defendant's acts were lawful and he or she was 
exercising his or her rights of lawful assembly as part of a peaceful and orderly petition for the 
redress of grievance, either in the course of labor disputes or otherwise.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1; Ord. No. 12-20-2016B, § 1, 12-20-2016) 

Sec. 10-202. - Desecration of venerated objects.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(a)  A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she knowingly desecrates any public monument, structure 
or place of worship or burial or desecrates in a public place any other object of veneration by the public 
or a substantial segment thereof.  

(b)  The term desecrate means defacing, damaging, polluting or otherwise physically mistreating in a way 
that the defendant knows will outrage the sensibilities of persons likely to observe or discover his or 
her action or its result.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-203201. - Hindering transportation.  

AIt is unlawful for any person commits a misdemeanor if he or sheto knowingly and without 
lawful authority forcibly stopsstop and hindershinder the operation of any vehicle used in providing 
transportation services of any kind to the public or to any person, association or corporation.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-204. - Throwing of stones or missiles.  

No person shall throw or shoot any stone or other missile at or upon any person, animal, public or 
private property, building, structure, tree or shrub.  

(Prior code 8-5-19) 

Sec. 10-205. - Publications inciting hatred and violence.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to publish, distribute or cause to be published or distributed any 
circular, pamphlet, card or dodger, whether anonymous or not, which incites, counsels, promotes or 
advocates hatred, violence or hostility against any person or group or persons residing in the Town, by 
reason of race, color, religion or manner of worship.  

(Prior code 8-5-20) 

Sec. 10-206202. - Disturbance, breach of peace.  

It is unlawful for any person in the Town to make, countenance or assist in the making of 
undue or unnecessary noise, riot, disturbance or breach of peace on public or private property so 
as to disturb or cause to be disturbed the lawful peace and quiet of another person or persons.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-207203. - Public urination.  

No person shall urinate or defecate when in any park within the Town limits, or on any 
property zoned for residential uses without the express permission of the owner, or within any 
portion of the Town zoned for business, industrial or public uses, unless such voiding is made into 
a receptacle that has been provided for that purpose that stores or disposes of the wastes in a 
sanitary manner and that is enclosed from the view of the general public.  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"



(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-208204—10-230. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE X - Offenses Relating to Weapons  

Sec. 10-231. - Unlawfully carrying a concealed weapon.  

(a)  A It is unlawful for a person commits a misdemeanor if he or sheto knowingly and unlawfully::  
(1)  Carries a knife with a blade exceeding 3.5” concealed on or about his or her person; 
or  
(2)  Carries a firearm concealed on or about his or her person.  

(b)  It shall beis an affirmative defense that the defendant was:  
(1)  A person in his or her own dwelling or place of business or on property owned or 
under his or her control at the time of the act of carrying;  
(2)  A person in a private automobile or other private means of conveyance who carries 
a weapon for lawful protection of his, her or another's property, while traveling;  
(3)  A person who, prior to the time of carrying a concealed weapon, has been issued a 
written permit pursuant to law; or  
(4)  A peace officer.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-232. - Prohibited use of weapons.  

AIt is unlawful for any person commits a misdemeanor if:to:  
(1)  He or she knowinglyKnowingly and unlawfully aimsaim a firearm at another person;  
(2)  Recklessly or with criminal negligence, he or she dischargesdischarge a firearm or 
shootsshoot a bow and arrow;  
(3)  He or she knowingly setsKnowingly set a loaded gun, trap or device designed to cause an 
explosion upon being tripped or approached, and leavesleave it unattended by a competent person 
immediately present; or  
(4)  He or she hasHave in his or hertheir possession a firearm while he or she is under the influence 
of intoxicating liquor or of a controlled substance, as defined in Section 10-141(1) of this Code. 
Possession of a permit issued under Section 18-12-105.1, C.R.S., is no defense to a violation of 
this Section.  

(Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Secs. 10-233—10-250. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XI - Offenses Relating to Minors  

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...
Formatted ...



Sec. 10-251. - Juvenile loitering during nighttime hours.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for any person under the age of eighteen (18) years to loiter or to 
aimlessly drive or ride about, on or about any street, avenue, highway, road, sidewalk, curb, gutter, 
parking lot, alley, vacant lot, park, playground, yard, building, place of amusement or eating place, 
whether public or private, without the consent or permission of the owner or occupant thereof, 
during the hours ending at 6:00 a.m. and beginning at 12:00 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday mornings 
and beginning at 10:00 p.m. on Sunday night through Thursday night. No violation of this Section 
will have occurred if the person under the age of eighteen (18) years is accompanied by a parent, 
guardian or other adult person over the age of twenty-one (21) years who is authorized by a parent 
or guardian of such juvenile to take said parent's place in accompanying said juvenile for a 
designated period of time and purpose within a specified area.  
(b)  Each violation of the provisions of this Section shall constitute a separate offense.  

(Prior code 8-6-5; Ord. 97-03 §I) 

Sec. 10-252. - Juvenile loitering during nighttime hours; parental responsibility.  

(a)  It shall beis unlawful for the parent, guardian or other adult person having the care and 
custody of a juvenile under the age of eighteen (18) years to knowingly permit or allow such 
juvenile to loiter or to aimlessly drive or ride about at the places and within the time prohibited by 
Section 10-251. The term knowingly includes knowledge which a parent should be reasonably 
expected to have concerning the whereabouts of a juvenile in that parent or guardian's custody. It 
shall be no defense that a parent, guardian or other person having the care and custody of the 
juvenile was indifferent to the activities, conduct or whereabouts of such juvenile.  
(b)  Each violation of the provisions of this Section shall constitute a separate offense.  

(Prior code 8-6-6; Ord. 97-03 §II) 

Sec. 10-253. - Parent or guardian aiding, abetting.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to knowingly permit any minor child or children to aid, 
abet or encourage in or to approve, encourage, allow, permit, tolerate or consent to the violation 
by any minor child or children, of any provision of this Article or any ordinances of the Town.  

(Prior code 8-6-7) 

Sec. 10-254. - Encouraging delinquency.  

It shall be unlawful for any person, by any act or neglect, to encourage, aid or cause a child to come 
within the purview of the juvenile authorities, and it shall likewise beIt is unlawful for any person, after 
notice that a driver's license of any child has been suspended or revoked, to permit such child to 
operate a motor vehicle during the period that such driver's license is suspended.  

(Prior code 8-6-9) 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Commented [KJV3]: Make note.  And exception for going 
to and from place of employment 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt



Sec. 10-255254. - Services of others.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years to engage or 
utilize the services of any other person, whether for remuneration or not, to procure any article 
which the minor is forbidden by law to purchase.  

(Prior code 8-6-12) 

Sec. 10-256255. - Loitering and other acts in or about schools.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to loiter, idle, wander, stroll or play in, about or on any 
public, private or parochial school, college or seminary grounds or buildings, either on foot or in 
or on any vehicle, without having some lawful business therein or thereabout or in connection with 
such school or the employees thereof, or for any person to:  

(1)  Annoy, disturb or otherwise prevent the orderly conduct of classes and activities of 
any such school;  
(2)  Annoy, disturb, assault or molest any student or employee of any such school, college 
or seminary while in any such school building or on any school grounds;  
(3)  Conduct himself or herself in a lewd, wanton or lascivious manner in speech or 
behavior in or about any school building or school grounds; or  
(4)  Park or move a vehicle in the immediate vicinity of or on the grounds of any such 
school, college or seminary for the purpose of annoying or molesting the students or 
employees thereof or in an effort to induce, entice or invite students into such vehicles for 
immoral purposes.  

(Prior code 8-6-14) 

Secs. 10-257256—10-270. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XII - Noise  

Sec. 10-271. - Noise.  

(a)  The making and creation of excessive, unnecessary or unusually loud noises within the limits of the 
Town is a condition which has existed, and the extent and volume of such noises continue to be of 
concern.  

(b)  The making, creation or maintenance of such excessive, unnecessary, unnatural or unusually loud 
noises which are prolonged, unusual and unnatural in their time, place and use, affect and are a 
detriment to public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity of the residents of the 
Town.  

(c)  The necessity in the public interest for the provisions and prohibitions contained and enacted in this 
Chapter is declared as a matter of legislative determination and public policy, and it is further declared 
that the provisions and prohibitions contained in this Chapter and enacted are in pursuance of and for 
the purpose of securing and promoting the public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and 
prosperity of the residents of the Town.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(Prior code 8-8-1; Ord. 94-02 §I) 

Sec. 10-272. - Prohibited noise.  

(a)  The following noises are prohibited:  
(1)  The sounding of any horn or signaling device on any automotive, motorcycle or other 
vehicle on any street or public or private place for a prolonged time, except as a danger 
warning.  
(2)  The operating or permitting to be played or use of any machine or device for the 
producing or reproducing of sound in such a manner as to exceed the limits in Section 10-
272(b), below.  
(3)  Yelling, shouting, hooting, whistling or singing, particularly between the hours of 
10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., so as to annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort or repose of persons 
in any dwelling, hotel or other type of residence or of any persons in the vicinity.  
(4)  The discharge into the open air of the exhaust of any stationary internal combustion 
engine, motor boat or motor vehicle except through a muffler or other device which will 
effectively prevent loud or explosive noises therefrom.  
(5)  Defect in vehicle or load. The use of any automobile, motorcycle or vehicle so out 
of repair, so loaded or in such manner as to create loud and unnecessary grating, grinding, 
rattling or other noise.  
(6)  Construction or repairing of buildings. The erection (including excavation), 
demolition, alteration or repair of any building other than between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 
except in case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety, and then only 
with a permit from the Town Clerk, which permit may be granted for a period not to exceed 
three (3) days or less while the emergency continues and which permit may be renewed for 
periods of three (3) days or less while the emergency continues.  

(b)  It shall beis unlawful for any person to make or assist in making any noise tending to 
unreasonably disturb the peace and quiet of persons in the vicinity thereof unless the making and 
continuing of the same cannot be prevented and is necessary for the protection, preservation or 
improvement of property or of the health, safety, life or limb of some person. In applying the 
provisions of this Section, the following noise levels shall create a presumption that the noise 
unreasonably disturbs the peace and quiet of persons in the vicinity thereof:  

Zone  7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.  7:00 p.m. to next 7:00 a.m.  

Residential  55 dB(A)  50 dB(A)  

Commercial  60 dB(A)  55 dB(A)  

  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified



The noise shall be measured on the A weighing scale on a sound level meter of standard design 
and quality and having characteristics established by the American National Standards Institute.  
For purposes of this Section, measurements with sound level meters shall be made when wind 
velocity is not more than five (5) miles per hour, or twenty-five (25) miles per hour with a 
windscreen. Measurements shall be made at a distance of at least twenty-five (25) feet from a noise 
source located within the public right-of-way, and if the noise source is located on private property 
or property other than the public right-of-way, at the property line of the property on which the 
noise source is located.  
(c)  The following are exemptions to the noises prohibited by Subsection (b):  

(1)  Noises of safety signals, burglar, fire and flood warning devices, and orders given 
through an electronic voice amplifier by a Law Enforcement Officer or by a member of a 
Fire Department.  
(2)  Noises resulting from any authorized emergency vehicle when responding to an 
emergency call.  
(3)  Noises resulting from work authorized by the Town.  
(4)  The electronic amplification of sound emanating from an event authorized by the 
Town.  
(5)  Any other noise resulting from activities of a temporary duration permitted by law 
and for which a license or permit therefore has been granted by the Town in accordance 
with Town policy.  
(6)  Any noise resulting from activities necessary for the compliance with weeds and 
brush regulations of Chapter 7, Article III of this Code, or to mitigate fire or other dangers 
to the property, including but not limited to the use of chainsaws, weed whackers and 
lawnmowers, so long as said activities occur between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.  

(Prior code 8-8-1; Ord. 94-02 §§II—IV; Ord. No. 9-1-2015C, § 1, 9-1-2015) 

Sec. 10-273272. - Waiver.  

The Board of Trustees will consider requests for waiver of any portion of Sections 10-271 
and 10-272 for an event for which the organizers wish to use electronically amplified sound after 
the hours prescribed within said sections. After hearing all who wish to speak for or against the 
request, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether or not the granting of the waiver will unduly 
disturb the neighborhood in which the event is to take place.  

(Ord. 94-02 §VI) 

Sec. 10-274. - Animals.  

It shall be unlawful for any person to use, keep, have in his or her possession or harbor any 
domesticated animals which, by frequent or habitual howling, barking, meowing, squawking or otherwise, 
shall cause annoyance or disturbance to persons in the neighborhood; provided, however, that the 
provisions of this subsection shall not apply to hospitals conducted for the treatment of small animals 
which are approved by the Health Department, or to premises occupied or used by the Town pound.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0", Space Before: 
12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold



(Prior code 8-8-1) 

Sec. 10-275273. - Sirens, whistles, gongs and red lights.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to carry or use upon a vehicle, other than Marshal's or 
Fire Department vehicles or emergency vehicles for public use, any gong, siren, whistle or red 
light similar to that used on ambulances or vehicles of the Marshal's and Fire Departments.  

(Prior code 8-8-1) 

Sec. 10-276274. - Mufflers.  

It shall beis unlawful for any person to operate a motor vehicle which shall not at all times 
be equipped with a muffler upon the exhaust thereof in good working order and in constant 
operation to prevent excessive or unusual noise, and it shall beis unlawful for any person operating 
any motor vehicle to use a cut-out, bypass or similar muffler elimination appliance.  

(Prior code 8-8-1) 

Secs. 10-277275—10-290. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIII - Fireworks  

Sec. 10-291. - Definitions.  

Fireworks means and includes any article, device or substance prepared for the primary 
purpose of producing a visual or auditory sensation by combustion, explosion, deflagration or 
detonation, including without limitation the following articles and devices commonly known and 
used as fireworks: toy cannons, toy canes in which explosives are used, blank cartridges, the type 
of balloon which requires fire underneath to propel the same, firecrackers, torpedoes, skyrockets, 
roman candles and Day-Globombs. The term fireworks shall not include fountains, pinwheels, toy 
pistols, toy guns, sparklers or torches which do not contain explosive charges or other devices in 
which paper caps manufactured in accordance with United States Interstate Commerce 
Commission regulations for packing and shipping of toy paper caps are used and toy pistol paper 
caps manufactured as provided above.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-292. - License required– Fireworks prohibited.  
No person shall sell at retail any type of fireworks, including fountains, pinwheels, sparklers or 

torches, until he or she has obtained a license from the Board of Trustees.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-293. - Requirements.  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: p0, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



A license to sell fireworks in the Town shall issue only for such sales as are permitted under this 
Article and state statutes and only when the Board of Trustees has determined that the vendor meets the 
following requirements:  

(1)  That the applicant or, if a corporation, its officers and directors, are of a good moral character 
and reputation; or  

(2)  That the applicant has no plan, intent or scheme to make sales which are prohibited by this 
Article or the state statutes.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-294. - Duration and fees.  

Such license shall be valid for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of issuance, and a fee as 
established by resolution of the Board of Trustees shall be payable for the issuance or renewal of such 
license.  

(Prior code 8-5-4; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-295. The use of fireworks, firecrackers, torpedoes, Roman candles, skyrockets and 
other pyrotechnic displays are prohibited within the corporate limits of the Town; provided 
however, that the Town may from time to time issue special permits allowing public displays 
sponsored by the Town. 
Sec. 10-293. - Unlawful to sell or use.  

Except as otherwise provided in this Article, it shall beis unlawful for any person to offer 
for sale, expose for sale, sell or have in his or her possession with intent to offer for sale, sell or 
use any fireworks within the Town.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-296294. - Permits.  

The Board of Trustees shall have the power to grant permits within the Town for supervised 
public displays of fireworks by the Town, amusement parks and other organizations and groups 
and to adopt reasonable rules and regulations for the granting of such permits. Application for a 
permit shall be made in writing at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the date of display. Every 
display shall be handled by a competent operator and shall be of such character and so located, 
discharged and fired as not to be hazardous to property or endanger any person. Before a permit is 
granted, the operator and the location and handling of the display shall be approved after 
investigation by theMarshal'sDepartment oranauthorizedthe Marshal's Department or an authorized 
agent thereof. No permit shall be transferable or assignable.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-297295. - Bond.  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



A satisfactory bond shall be required of each permittee in the sum of not less than five 
hundred dollars ($500.00), conditioned for the payment of all damages which may be caused either 
to persons or property by reason of the licensed display and arising from the acts of the permittee, 
his or her agents, employees or subcontractors. The aggregate liability of the surety on such bond 
for all damages shall in no event exceed the sum of such bond.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-298296. - Disposal of unfired fireworks.  

Any fireworks that remain unfired after the display is concluded shall be immediately 
disposed of by the Fire Department in a method which is safe for the discharge of that or those 
particular types of fireworks.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-299297. - Seizure of fireworks.  

The Marshal's Department shall seize, take and remove, at the expense of the owner, all 
stocks of fireworks or combustibles offered or exposed for sale, stored or held in violation of this 
Article.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Sec. 10-300298. - Construction.  

This Article shall not be construed to prohibit:  
(1)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in hisor her possession 
with intent to offer for sale or sell, fireworks to any municipality, fair, association, amusement 
park or the governing body of any county or district fair organized under the laws of the State;  
(2)  Any person from using or exploding fireworks in accordance with the provisions in this 
Article or as a part of supervised public display at any county or district fair organized under the 
laws of the State;  
(3)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in hisorher possession 
with intent to offer for sale or sell, any fireworks which are to be sold and are shipped directly out 
of State;  
(4)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or exploding any article, device or substance 
for a purpose other than display, exhibition, noise, amusement or entertainment;  
(5)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or exploding blank cartridges for a show or 
theater or for signal or ceremonial purposes in organized athletics or sports; or  
(6)  Any person from offering for sale, exposing for sale, selling or having in his or her 
possession with intent to offer for sale or sell or using or firing toy pistols, toy guns, sparklers or 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



torches which do not contain explosive charges or other devices in which paper caps manufactured 
in accordance with United States Interstate Commerce Commission regulation for packing and 
shipping of toy paper caps are used and toy pistol paper caps manufactured as provided in this 
Article.  

(Prior code 8-5-4) 

Secs. 10-301299—10-320. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE XIV - House CarsRecreational Vehicles, Trailers and Tents  

Sec. 10-321. - Definitions.  

Whenever in this Article the words hereinafter defined or construed in this Section are used, they 
shall, unless the context requires other uses, be deemed to have the following meanings:  
Boat trailer shall mean a portable structure used for the transport and out-of-water storage of any 
boat or watercraft.  
Cargo trailer shall include, but not be limited to, the transport or storage of merchandise, building 
materials, commerce items, vehicles, tools, refrigeration or manufacturing process, whether of an 
enclosed design, flatbed, stake bed or tarpaulin covered.  
Horse trailer or stock trailer shall mean any portable structure designed and intended for the 
transport and temporary shelter of any animal to include, but not inclusive to, horse, cow, llama, 
pig, goat, sheep or similar form of domesticated or wild animal.  
House car shall be defined as a Recreational vehicle  means a vehicular or portable structure designed 
for or capable of human habitation,unit mounted on wheels and being either self-propelled or drawn by a 
stock motor vehicle or designed to be loaded onto or affixed to the bed or chassis of a truck or portable 
structureand wheels, which either has its own motive power or is mounted on wheels and constructed 
with collapsible partial side walls of fabric, plastic or other pliable material which folds for towing by or 
drawn by another  vehicle and unfolds at a campsite. A recreational vehicle is generally not designed 
or intended for use as a permanent dwelling or sleeping place, but is to provide temporary living 
or sleeping quarters for  recreational, camping or travel use.  The term house carrecreational 
vehicle shall include units designated as campers, camper buses, motor homes, tent trailers, travel 
trailers or any other portable structure designed for or used for human habitation.  

House trailer as used herein shall mean any structure intended for or capable of human 
habitation and capable of being moved from place to place either by its own power or power supplied 
by some vehicle attached or to be attached thereto, and regardless of whether wheels have been 
removed therefrom and the same set upon a permanent foundation.  

Tent shall be defined as a collapsible, temporary and portable structure of canvas or other fabric, 
supported internally or externally by wood, metal poles or framework, wire or cable.  

(Amendment to Ord. 76 §1, 1962; Ord. 2-1988 §1; Ord. 03-2008 §1) 

Sec. 10-322. - Placement on public property.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Commented [K4]: RV 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



(a)  No person shall permit any house carrecreational vehicle or trailer to be parked or stand upon 
any public street, alley, park or way of the Town for longer than four (4) hours during any twenty-
four-hour period. However, the Board of Trustees may, by resolution, designate locations within 
the Town on property owned by the Town where house carsrecreational vehicles or trailers may 
be maintained and which house carsrecreational vehicles or trailers may be used for living 
purposes, provided that the same shall pose no threat to the public health and be permitted by the 
County Health Departments.  
(b)  No house carrecreational vehicle or trailer shall be permitted to be parked upon any street 
within the corporate limits of the Town so as to extend outward into the street a distance in excess 
of ten (10) feet measured at right angles with the curb or to project into or obstruct any traffic lane.  
(c)  No person shall cause or permit any tent to be erected upon any public street, alley, park or 
way of the Town.  

(Ord. 2-1988 §2; Ord. 03-2008 §1) 

Sec. 10-323. - Placement on private property.  

(a)  No person shall maintain or permit to be maintained any house carrecreational vehicle upon 
any private property within the Town when the same is used for living purposes.  
(b)  No person shall cause or permit any tent to be erected and/or maintained on private property 
when the same is used for living purposes for a period exceeding three (3) days.  

(Ord. 2-1988 §3; Ord. 92-04 §1) 

Sec. 10-324. - Inhabiting house trailersrecreational vehicles.  

(a)  The Board of Trustees hereby finds and declares the keeping or maintenance of house trailers 
on private property for the purpose of actual abode therein within the corporate limits of the Town 
to be a public nuisance.  
(b)  Hereafter, it shall beis unlawful for any person to keep, maintain or permit to be kept or 
maintained on property owned or leased by such person, within the corporate limits of the Town, 
any house trailer used for the actual purpose of human habitation; provided, however, that it shall 
beis lawful for any and all persons to maintain and store privately owned house trailers or other 
mobile abodes, including but not limited to pickup campers, camping trailers, cargo trailers, horse 
and stock trailers and boat trailers, provided that said named trailers do not exceed twenty-two (22) 
feet in actual length, and further provided that said mobile abodes, house trailers, pickup campers 
and camping trailers so stored shall not be used as supplemental abodes, extra sleeping rooms or 
living quarters in any respect while the same are stored on private property within the Town.  

(Amendment to Ord. 76 §§2, 3, 1962; Ord. 03-2008 §1) 

ARTICLE XV - [Restriction of all Open Fires and Open Burning]  

Sec. 10-325. - Purpose.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



The purpose of this Ordinance is to preserve and protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green Mountain Falls, Colorado, by restricting open fires 
and open burning in the Town of Green Mountain Falls in order to prevent forest fires given the 
high danger of such fires as a result of atmospheric conditions, including lack of moisture, and 
other local conditions.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-326. - Interpretation.  

This Ordinance shall be so interpreted and construed as to effectuate its general purpose to 
preserve and protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Green 
Mountain Falls, Colorado, by restricting open fires and open burning in order to prevent forest 
fires given the high danger of such fires in the area.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-327. - Definitions.  

(a)  Open fire or open burning. For purposes of this Ordinance, open fires or open burning shall 
be defined as any outdoor fire, including, but not limited to, campfires, warming fires, cooking 
fires, charcoal grill fires, fires in outdoor wood burning appliances, the use of explosives, outdoor 
welding or operating an acetylene or other torch with open flame other than in an area cleared of 
all flammable materials, fireworks of all kinds or brands, and the prescribed burning of fence lines 
or rows, fields, farmlands, rangelands, wildlands, trash, and debris.  
(b)  Fire restriction evaluation guidelines. That set of evaluation criteria currently in use by local 
Federal, State and local fire suppression/management agencies for monitoring fuel moistures, fire 
danger class, current impacts on suppression resources, current fire cause types, fire weather 
forecasts, and other indicators of predicted fire danger.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-328. - Stage I restrictions.  

Prohibits the following activities:  
(1)  Open burning, excepting fires and campfires within permanently constructed fire 
grates in developed campgrounds and picnic grounds, charcoal grills and permanent 
outdoor fireplaces at private residences in areas cleared of all flammable materials.  
(2)  The sale or use of fireworks; as defined in Section 10-291.  
(3)  Outdoor smoking except within an enclosed vehicle or building, a developed 
recreation site or while stopped in an area at least three (3) feet in diameter that is barren 
or cleared of all flammable materials.  
(4)  Launching of model rockets.  
(5)  Portable wood burning firepits or fire rings.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"



(6)  Chimineas.  
(7)  Outdoor charcoal grills and permanent outdoor fireplace constructed with a spark 
arrestor on the chimney shall be allowed during Stage I restrictions, provided they are at 
private residences and in an area cleared of all flammable materials including dry 
vegetation.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-329. - Stage II restrictions.  

Prohibits the following activities:  
(1)  All open burning as defined in Stage I.  
(2)  Outdoor smoking except within an enclosed vehicle or building.  
(3)  Outdoor grilling with charcoal.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-330. - Unlawful acts.  

During Stage I or Stage II restrictions, it shall beis unlawful for any person to build, 
maintain, attend or use an open fire, conduct an open burn, conduct sales of fireworks, or engage 
in outdoor smoking other than as explicitly allowed herein, in the Town of Green Mountain Falls 
including public, private, state, and applicable federal lands.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-331. - Requirements when and where outdoor fires are permitted.  

(1)  The outdoor fires must be attended at all times.  
(2)  Attendees of an outdoor fire must have a suitable extinguisher nearby such as: a functioning 

garden hose, an extinguisher or dry chemical extinguisher.  
(3)  An outdoor fire must be at least twenty (20) feet from structures, including all buildings.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-332. - Exceptions/exemptions.  

(a)  The following shall not be in violation:  
• Commercial or community fireworks displays properly permitted.  

• Fires contained within liquid-fueled or gas-fueled stoves.  

• Indoor fireplaces and wood-burning stoves installed and maintained in compliance with all 
applicable codes and ordinances.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified



• Chainsaws with appropriate spark arrestors.  

• Outdoor charcoal grills and permanent outdoor fireplace constructed with a spark arrestor 
on the chimney shall be allowed during Stage I restrictions, provided they are at private 
residences and in an area cleared of all flammable materials including dry vegetation.  

(b)  The burning of irrigation ditches is prohibited by this Ordinance.  
(c)  Any Federal, State, or local officer, or member of a rescue or firefighting force organized, 
employed or contracted by a Federal, State or local firefighting, military, or police protection 
service in the performance of an official duty.  
(d)  Any further exemptions to either the meaning of terms or the enforcement of this Ordinance 
shall be granted only by the Fire Chief, and only if the proposed action is deemed to be safe and 
mitigable in the Fire Chief's sole discretion based on best fire safety practices.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-333. - Implementation of stages.  

The Fire Chief or his or her designee may monitor fire danger conditions and coordinate 
with Federal, State and local fire agencies to determine the appropriate stage of restrictions. When 
the established Fire Restriction Evaluation Guidelines indicate that enforcement of this Ordinance 
under Stage I restrictions should be reinstated, or that restrictions should be upgraded to Stage II 
restrictions, the Town of Green Mountain Falls' Public Information Officer or his or her designee 
shall coordinate with the Fire Chief and provide notification to the public through a general press 
release to local television, radios and print media, as well as posting at the Green Mountain Falls 
Town Hall. Likewise, when conditions indicate a reduction in restrictions from Stage II to Stage 
I, or the suspension of enforcement, the same notification to the public shall occur.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-334. - Enforcement agencies/prosecution.  

This Ordinance shall be enforced by the Green Mountain Falls Marshal, or his or her 
deputies, including thereby the administering agencies of the State and Federal lands located 
therein, and they shall have authority to order any person to immediately cease any violation of 
this Ordinance. This authority shall include, but not be limited to, the right to issue a penalty 
assessment notice and the right to take such person or persons into temporary custody. Any further 
exception to the enforcement ability of this Ordinance by the administering agency shall be granted 
only by the administering agency, and only if the proposed action is deemed by the Fire Chief or 
the State or Federal administering agency to be safe or mitigable.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, § 1, 9-17-2013) 

Sec. 10-335. - Penalties.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Bold



It is unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions adopted in this Article. Violation 
of this Ordinance shall be a misdemeanor under Green Mountain Falls Municipal Code. The penalties 
for violation of this adopted Code are as set forth in a resolution or subsequent modifications thereof.  

(Ord. No. 02-2013, §in Section 1, 9-17-2013) 

-42 of this Code.
Secs. 10-336—10-340. - Reserved.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES AGENDA MEMO 

 

DATE: 07.30.2021 AGENDA NO 8 SUBJECT: Recommendation to 
acquire and install a Keith Haring 
Fitness Court at Pool Park Presented by: Jesse Stroope, Chair of the PRT Committee 

 
 
Keith Haring Fitness Court Project 
 
Chris Keesee, representing the Kirkpatrick Family Fund, brought to the Towns attention the opportunity 
to own a fitness court that would also display the work of the artist Keith Haring. The proposed location 
for the fitness court would be adjacent to the other recreational facilities in Pool Park. See attached 
documents for details about the court and the proposed location. 
 
The Kirkpatrick Family Fund would make a grant to the Town of Green Mountain Falls to acquire the 
fitness court for the amount of $200,000 which would cover the purchase price of the fitness court, 
installation and a five-year license for the Keith Haring Artwork. The Kirkpatrick Family Fund would be 
responsible for the selection and cost related to future art and applicable licenses for a subsequent period 
of twenty years.   
 
The Kirkpatrick Family Fund would require a memo of understanding outlining the town’s 
responsibilities/commitment in the acquisition, installation, and operation of the fitness court. The Town 
of Green Mountain Falls would agree to provide the following supports for the fitness court: 
 
a. Year round, daily access to restroom facilities in the park 
b. Wi-Fi internet to access the app and any supplemental training information for the fitness court   
c. A schedule for monitoring the fitness court equipment for maintenance and safety 
d. Provide a plan to the Kirkpatrick Family Fund to manage ongoing upkeep and maintenance of the park 
plus priorities for future improvements of Pool Park grounds and recreation facilities. This is to include 
information on the restrooms, and upgrades to the park shown in the attached diagram.   
e. Confirm that the park is ADA compliant 
f. Secure $20,000 in funding to install the concrete pad required for the fitness court 
   
The Parks, Recreation, and Trails Committee is recommending to the BOT to conditionally approve 
HGMFF’s acquisition and installation of the Fitness Court at Pool Park on the conditions that the Town 
enter a memorandum of understanding with HGMFF and also address and confirm complete bullet points 
a through f of this memo. 











Green Mountain Falls, CO

321Iconic Sites Accessibility Connectivity
To support the campaigns’ 
initiative of world class free 
fitness for all, the Fitness 
Court should be placed in a 
publicly accessible area. 

The Fitness Court is 
designed as a piece of 
healthy infrastructure 
that pairs with city parks, 
trails and pedestrian 
infrastructure.

Visibility plays a key role 
in bringing power and 
excitement to the Fitness 
Court. 

Q UA L I F Y  YO U R  S I T E  F O R  F U N D I N G

SITE SELECTIONS



LEGEND

High activity level

Low activity level green mountain falls, co Population
563

NATIONAL FITNESS CAMPAIGN’S

PEDESTRIAN ACTIVITY MAPPING
2021 Aggregated Anonymous Data Set



S I T E  S T U DY  A N D  AC T I V I T Y  M A P P I N G

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN - OP 1
Green Mountain Falls, CO

Parallel Parking

Split Rail Fence

Sidewalk

Existing Trees

Proposed Trees

Flex Plaza with tables 
and seating

Conceptual Site Plan : Not for Construction

Keith Haring Fitness Court





Green Mountain Falls 
COLORADO 

 OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

10516 Green Mountain Falls Road 
PO Box 524 
Green Mountain Falls, CO 80819 
www.gmfco.us 
 
 

 
To: GMF Board of Trustees 

From:  Angie Sprang, Town Manager 

Date: 3 August 2021 

Re: PPRTA Ballot Questions for November 2022 Ballot  

 
Background/Discussion 

The Town of Green Mountain Falls is a member of the Pikes Peak Regional Transportation Authority. The Pikes Peak 
Rural Transportation Authority (PPRTA) is a collaborative effort among five regional governments to improve and 
maintain roads and support public transit. The other four members of PPRTA are the cities of Colorado Springs and 
Manitou Springs, El Paso County, and the Town of Ramah. The Town of Calhan recently applied for membership. 
GMF supported their application, which is still being processed.  

The PPRTA focuses on improving the area’s most significant transportation concern, which is maintaining the aging 
infrastructure – roads, bridges, and drainage systems – in safe, reliable condition for public use. A major issue is 
maintaining roads and bridges that are already subject to overuse because of increasing population growth.  

As part of carrying out the organizations mission, seeking funding, the PPRTA puts questions on the voters’ ballot for 
registered voters to vote on. GMF ballot question concepts were discussed at the Board of Trustees meeting in Green 
Mountain Falls on June 1st, 2021. After guidance from the Board at the June 1st, 2021 meeting, Staff worked with 
PPRTA to produce draft items to added to the November 2022 PPRTA ballot in preparation of the PPRTAs 2025 – 
2034 Plan. The following bullets should cover the remaining road improvement projects in the GMF 2019 
Comprehensive Plan.  

Proposed November 2022 PPRTA Ballot Questions – for 2025 – 2034 Plan 
• El Paso Trail & Iona Avenue Roads Improvement 
• El Paso Avenue Bridge Replacement 
• Belvidere Avenue Improvements 
• Ute Pass Improvements 
• Roadway Drainage Plan & Improvements 
• Intersection Improvements 
• Roadway Safety & Traffic Operations 
• Bridge Improvements  

 
Town Staff requests that the Board of Trustees approve the above bulleted list for recommended inclusion on the 
PPRTA November 2022 ballot, and for inclusion in the 2025 – 2034 PPRTA plan.  

 
Recommendations/Conclusion 

Town Staff recommends the following motion:  
I move to approve the proposed November 2022 PPRTA Ballot Questions as written and recommends the list 
of projects be included in the 2025 – 2034 PPRTA plan.  

 

 
 

http://www.gmfco.us/


 

 
 
 
Tuesday, August 3rd, 2021 
 
Rick Sonnenberg, PPRTA Manager 
Pikes Peak Rural Transportation Authority (PPRTA) 
15 S. 7th St.  
Colorado Springs, CO 80905 
 
Re:  PPRTA Ballot Questions for November 2022 Ballot 
 
Dear Mr. Sonnenberg: 
 
On Tuesday, August 3rd, 2021 the Board of Trustees for the Town of Green Mountain Falls, 
Colorado voted in support of adding the following questions to the November 2022 ballot, and for 
inclusion in the 2025 – 2034 PPRTA plan.  
 

Proposed November 2022 PPRTA Ballot Questions – for 2025 – 2034 Plan 
• El Paso Trail & Iona Avenue Roads Improvement 
• El Paso Avenue Bridge Replacement 
• Belvidere Avenue Improvements 
• Ute Pass Improvements 
• Roadway Drainage Plan & Improvements 
• Intersection Improvements 
• Roadway Safety & Traffic Operations 
• Bridge Improvements  

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
Angie Sprang 
Town Manager 
 
cc: GMF Board of Trustees 



              The Town of       Green Mountain Falls 

                     P.O. Box 524, 10290 E. El Paso Ave., Green Mountain Falls, CO 80819, (719) 684-7850 

 
August 12, 2021 

 

Memo To: PPRTA Board of Directors 

From:  Angie Sprang, Town Manager 

Re:  PPRTA 2021 Second Budget Amendment 

The PPRTA 2021 Town of Green Mountain Falls maintenance portion of the additional revenue 
estimate for the 2nd budget amendment is $7,330.  The total maintenance budget of $78,682    
will be spent on road enhancements, chemicals and materials. 

The following chart illustrates that The Town received a 2021 PPRTA Capital revenue allocation 
for 2021 including the additional $11,634 allocation of the 2nd amendment to the PPRTA budget.  
The proposed capital budget is as follows: 

     Belvedere Ave.  Stilling Basins 

2020 Unspent Budget-Carryover                 $0           $151,306 

2020 Revenue in excess of budget                    0               11,343  

2021 Original budget Allocation                    0               63,084 

2021 Revenue Allocation-Amend #1        0     5,923  

2021 Revenue Allocation -Amend #2                    0                    11,634 

Total Amended Budget                    $0            $243,290  

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

CC:   Town of Green Mountain Falls Board of Trustees 
  
  



Report of Town of Green Mountain Falls Representative to Pikes Peak Rural Transportation Authority, 
Citizens’ Advisory Committee 

August 4, 2021 Meeting 

1. PPRTA Tax Revenues 

Revenue for May, the last month reported, again substantially exceeded budgeted projections.  Actual 
for the month was $11.898 million, vs. budget of $9.510 million.  YTD revenue exceeds budget by 
$11.660 million, and this is on a budget that was already increased by $11 million earlier this year.  The 
CAC was told that there will be another request to the Board to increase the budget again.  The city 
engineer said that they have capacity for additional projects, so a further increase to the budget is 
manageable.  The County Engineer stated that it is advantageous to get as much into 2021 as possible, 
because it is typical that better prices can be gotten for materials contracted for at the end of the year 
rather than at the beginning of the following year. 

2. PPRTA Membership 

Calhan is considering joining PPRTA.  There appear to be concerns among some of the existing members 
about dilution of their voting power on the Board.  The City of Colorado Springs, El Paso County, and the 
City of Manitou Springs all approved the addition of Calhan, contingent, however, upon those entities 
retaining “sufficient representation.”  It is possible Calhan could hold an election, get approval to join, 
but then be rejected if agreement about the new proportions of representation cannot be reached by 
the existing members.  Advice and opinions about weighted voting will be presented in executive 
session to the PPRTA Board on August 11.  It is possible that the Board will have to take drafts of what 
the voting representation would look like after the addition of Calhan back to their communities’ 
governing boards for approval after that meeting. 

3.  Federal Transportation Funding 

It was planned to have an update on Federal infrastructure funding, but because John Liasatos, who was 
to present, had a conflict, this was postponed.  It was additionally felt by PPACG staff that, since there is 
much negotiation yet to be done in the U.S. House and Senate, there was really no solid information to 
present. 

4. State of Colorado SB 260 and its Implementation 

SB 260 has been signed into law.  The topic of greenhouse gas (GHG) rules was discussed.  CDOT is 
currently preparing GHG rules for public comment, and the rules are expected to be finalized in 
November.  Each council of governments area within the state will have a GHG cap.  If the COG is at or 
over its cap, no projects that create additional lane capacity will be approved.  Mitigation efforts will be 
required to get the GHG levels down before the project can proceed.  There is also the risk that approval 
can be rescinded if GHG levels are exceeded while a project is under way.  Since, under the IGA, all “A” 
level projects must be completed before any “B” level projects can be funded, there was a serious 
concern that PPRTA would not be able to proceed with all the projects possible if some projects on the 
“A” were denied approval due to GHG rules.  

  



5. Contracts 

All seven contracts and change orders submitted for approval by the City of Colorado Springs, El Paso 
County, and the City of Manitou Springs were approved by the CAC.  All were pretty straightforward, 
with the exception of the Marksheffel Road bridge over Sand Creek, for which the change order was for 
a negative $87,467.23 because the construction work required less of certain unit-cost materials. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 



Green Mountain Falls 
COLORADO 

 OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

10516 Green Mountain Falls Road 
PO Box 524 
Green Mountain Falls, CO 80819 
www.gmfco.us 
 
 

 
To: GMF Board of Trustees 

From:  Angie Sprang, Town Manager 

Date: 3 August 2021 

Re: Ballot Questions for November 2021 Ballot  

 
Background/Discussion 

On June 1st, 2021 Staff presented a Budget Update to the Board of Trustees. During that presentation discussion ensued 
regarding the financial challenges the Town has been facing for many years. Staff and the Trustees discussed 
opportunities for revenue expansion to meet the needs and expectations of the town. To continuing offering services 
and meet the expectations of the town’s people revenues will have to increase. The alternative is to cut services, which 
are already below the basic standard of expectations due to budgetary constraints; OR, to change the expectations of 
the town.  

The Town recently instituted a managed parking program. The program is geared specifically toward hikers/visitors 
to our beautiful historic town to pay into our system; so, at some point in the future, the Town may afford proper 
infrastructure (e.g. bathrooms and trash receptacles) to support visitors. 

Additionally, on June 1st, 2021 the Board requested that staff open a discussion regarding November 2021 ballot 
questions that have the potential to raise revenues for the Town, so that the Town can provide the level of service 
expected by its citizens. The following are ballot question points for discussion. 

November 2021 Ballot Question Ideas 
• Increase in Occupational Tax – related to STRs 
• Increase in Property Tax  
• Increase in Sales Tax  
• Increase the cap on STR Licensing/Licenses – Current cap is 60 STRs, and all licenses are taken.  

 
April 2022 Ballot Question Ideas 

• Marijuana Tax (see attached sample)  
• Marijuana Licensing Addition – Advisory question? (see attached sample ordinance)  
• Changing the election from April to November 2022 will save the Town approximately $6-8k, and the County 

would take on some of the workload.  
 

If the Board would like to consider putting Marijuana on the ballot it would be realistic to work through a Marijuana 
ordinance drafting procedure and put the item(s) on the April 2022 ballot. Please see the sample ordinance attached. 
There are many considerations to be discussed.  
 
Example ballot question language: Do you support an increase in property/sales taxes? OR Do you support an increase 
in property/sales taxes for YYY?  

 
El Paso County has been informed that the Town will be participating in the November 2021 election adding ballot 
questions to the November 2021 ballot. We are on a deadline to complete this objective. The following is a Process 
Overview for Ballot Language Approval: 

◦ Brainstorm List Together Today 
◦ Town Attorney DRAFT legislation (if necessary), Non-TABOR and TABOR Ballot Questions 
◦ Ballot Questions Set By Resolution at BOT Meeting 

 
 

http://www.gmfco.us/


◦ Friday before the 45th day before elections: Written TABOR comments filed by Town Clerk C.R.S. § 1-7-
901; Colo. Const. Art. X §20(3)(b)(v) 

◦ 43 days before election: Last day for TC to summarize comments in support/opposition C.R.S. § 1-7-903(3) 
◦ 30 days before election: Last day for TC to mail TABOR notices Colo. Const. Art. X §20(3)(b) 
◦ 25 days before election: Last day to withdrawal TABOR issue from Ballot C.R.S. § 1-5-208(2) 
◦ Election Day 
◦ Adopt Implementing Legislation for Issue 
◦ Effective Date 30 days after Adoption of Legislation 

 
Recommendations/Conclusion 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the concept of specific ballot questions per discussion this evening for 
official drafting by the Town Attorney.  



 

Economic Development Department 

 

 

Crystal LaTier, Executive Director 
719-520-6484 

Economic Development Department 
Nine East Vermijo Avenue 

Colorado Springs, CO 80903 
www.ElPasoCo.com 

 

  

Board of County Commissioners 
Holly Williams, District 1  
Carrie Geitner, District 2  
Stan VanderWerf, District 3   
Longinos Gonzalez, Jr., District 4  
Cami Bremer, District 5 

 
 

 
July 30, 2021 
 
Green Mountain Falls 
Attention: Jane Newberry 
PO Box 524 
Green Mountain Falls, CO 80819 
 
Dear Ms. Newberry, 
 
On behalf of the El Paso County Board of County Commissioners and the El Paso County Community Development Advisory 
Board, I am pleased to inform you that your application for the Community Development Block Grant Program has been 
selected to be funded during the 2021 fiscal year. 
 
On July 27, 2021, the Board of County Commissioners approved the award of one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000) 
for the Access for All Phase I project as described in your application. 
  
We are looking forward to working with you on your project, as we fulfill the mission of providing decent, affordable housing, 
establishing and maintaining suitable living environments and expanding economic opportunities in our County. El Paso County 
supports this mission by working with local governments, community organizations, businesses, and others to build the 
organizational, entrepreneurial and physical capacity needed for community and economic improvement.  As a CDBG 
Subrecipient, you are an integral part of that mission. 
 
Please be advised that you CANNOT begin to incur administrative or program costs associated with the project until: 

 
 The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban development has given final approval on the El Paso County Community 

Development Block Grant Annual Action Plan, which includes specifics on your program/project. 
 

 An Environmental Review has been completed and funds have been released by the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development.  

 
 You have received a ‘Notice to Proceed’ letter from the El Paso County CDBG Program. 
 
Please note that we have submitted our Annual Action Plan, including the specifics of your project/program and are awaiting 
final approval from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. Your agency will be contacted once this final 
approval has been received and funds have been released. Until then, please again note that you CANNOT begin to incur 
administrative or program costs associated with the program/project.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have further questions.   
 
Thank you and congratulations! 

      
Crystal LaTier       Chloe Lomprey 
Executive Director      Community Development Analyst 
crystallatier@elpasoco.com                                                                 chloelomprey@elpasoco.com 
719-520-6484       719-520-6249 
 

 

mailto:tiffanycolvert@elpasoco.com


1

Matt Gordon

From: Jane Newberry <gmfnewberry@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, August 13, 2021 4:06 PM
To: Matt Gordon; Angie Sprang; katharine guthrie; GMF Chris; margaret Peterson
Subject: Fwd: Fw: Free outdoor gym with artwork.

 
Comments for correspondence.  Please forward to Sunde as well‐‐ 
 
Thanks, 
 
Jane 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Chris Frandina   
Date: Fri, Aug 13, 2021 at 1:07 PM 
Subject: Fw: Free outdoor gym with artwork. 
To: gmfnewberry@gmail.com <gmfnewberry@gmail.com> 
 

 
 

From: Chris Frandina 
Sent: Friday, August 13, 2021 11:35 AM 
To: gmftrustee.newberry@gmail.com <gmftrustee.newberry@gmail.com> 
Subject: Free outdoor gym with artwork.  
  
Dear Mayor Newberry: 
 
I am contacting you to express my concern for an inclusion in the last Board meeting summarized by 
Carolyn Bowers concerning a proposal for an outdoor gym with artwork in the public parks.  I could not see 
minutes from the 8/3/21 meeting addressing this proposal nor an agenda for the 8/17/21 meeting where this 
proposal is to be voted on.   I am not sure what percentage of the residential population know of this 
proposal. 
 
Considering the dire state of the Town's current infrastructure and the residential concerns/feedback for the 
past six months or more, further communication is essential. 
 
The Board members need to concentrate on the significant funding and solutions needed to repair/rebuild our 
roads and drainage throughout Town.   The Town has little public recreational space as it is and it is not known 
what the community needs may be in the future for these areas.    As the Board and staff members were told 
at the 8/3/21 Board meeting, the Sallie Bush Community Building's septic system is in a portion of the tennis 
court park.  El Paso County Department of Health regulations for septic system repair/expansion have changed 
considerably in the last 20 years.  If the Sallie Bush building system needed future repairs/expansion or if the 
pool building had similar issues, public space is essential.  The public space fences around Town need 
replacement and/or maintenance, Town road and informational signs also need maintenance.   The lake 



2

area/Gazebo structure need considerable maintenance funding.  As you drive throughout our community, the 
list goes on and on. 
 
I am not sure we will be prepared for the hundreds of visitors to the community next year to view the James 
Turrell Skyspace installation. 
 
Existing infrastructure needs to be the top priority at this critical period for our community.  Long term 
agreements  on public land are not beneficial to the community.   Community feedback for any public land 
proposals is essential in order for the Board of Trustees to make comprehensive decisions. 
 
Sincerely,    
Chris Frandina 
10485 Mountain Avenue 



1

Matt Gordon

From: Jane Newberry <gmfnewberry@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, August 16, 2021 10:44 AM
To: Matt Gordon; Angie Sprang; GMF Chris
Subject: Fwd: Proposed fitness court

Just to bring everyone in the loop on this ‐ for correspondence, please. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Jane 

‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Lana Fox   
Date: Sat, Aug 14, 2021 at 4:15 PM 
Subject: Proposed fitness court 
To: Jane Newberry <gmfnewberry@gmail.com>, Margaret Peterson  , Katharine Guthrie 

, Sunde King   
 
 
Dear Mayor and Board of Trustees, 
 
I am very concerned about the proposed Fitness Court that was presented at the last Board Meeting. Please consider 
the Sallie Bush septic system that is very close to where the fitness court is planned. I am concerned that if Sallie Bush 
needed to do any improvements or repairs there could be a real problem.  
 
The park is not that big to have a big concrete slab replace green grass for 20 years! The heat alone that will be 
generated by the concrete will make the park much hotter!  
 
 l also do not think large graffiti art is aesthetically appropriate for our community. I feel a suburban community which 
has lots of concrete would more suited for this fitness court. 
 
Lastly I don’t feel that most of the people who live here are aware of this proposal and it is not appropriate to push a 20 
year commitment through without the community’s input! 
 
I would much rather see the Kirkpatrick Foundation use their $200,000 for an existing infrastructure need and Mr. 
Penman use his $20,000 to repair the entrance to the Post Office. 
 
Thank you for time, 
 
Lana Fox 
 
 
 
Sent from my iPad 


	Agenda
	Accounts Payable
	Minutes
	Fitness Court Continued
	PPRTA Ballot Questions
	November 2021 Ballot Questions
	Code Rewrite Memo
	Chapter 1 Compare
	Chapter 1 Clean
	Chapter 2 Compare
	Chapter 2 Clean
	Chapter 3 Compare
	Chapter 3 Clean
	Chapter 5 Compare
	Chapter 5 Clean
	Chapter 6 Compare
	Chapter 6 Clean
	Chapter 8 Compare
	Chapter 8 Clean
	Chapter 10 Clean
	Chapter 10 Compare
	Correspondence



